#### Rochester Institute of Technology

## **RIT Digital Institutional Repository**

Theses

6-18-2024

## III-Nitride Nanowire Deep-Ultraviolet Light Emitting Diodes

Bryan Melanson bcm9356@rit.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://repository.rit.edu/theses

#### **Recommended Citation**

Melanson, Bryan, "III-Nitride Nanowire Deep-Ultraviolet Light Emitting Diodes" (2024). Thesis. Rochester Institute of Technology. Accessed from

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the RIT Libraries. For more information, please contact repository@rit.edu.

# RIT

# III-Nitride Nanowire Deep-Ultraviolet Light Emitting Diodes

by

Bryan Melanson

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Microsystems Engineering

> Microsystems Engineering Program Kate Gleason College of Engineering

Rochester Institute of Technology Rochester, New York June 18<sup>th</sup>, 2024

#### III-Nitride Nanowire Deep-Ultraviolet Light Emitting Diodes

by

#### **Bryan Melanson**

#### **Committee Approval:**

We, the undersigned committee members, certify that we have advised and/or supervised the candidate on the work described in this dissertation. We further certify that we have reviewed the dissertation manuscript and approve it in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Microsystems Engineering.

Dr. Jing Zhang Associate Professor	Date
Dr. Stefan F. Preble Professor	Date
Dr. Seth Hubbard Professor	Date
Dr. Parsian K. Mohseni Associate Professor	Date
Dr. Karl Hirschman Professor	Date

#### **Certified by:**

Dr. Stefan F. Preble Director, Microsystems Engineering Program Date

#### ABSTRACT

Kate Gleason College of Engineering Rochester Institute of Technology

**Degree**: Doctor of Philosophy

**Program**: Microsystems Engineering

Authors Name: Bryan Melanson

**Advisors Name: Jing Zhang** 

#### Dissertation Title: III-Nitride Nanowire Deep-Ultraviolet Light Emitting Diodes

Deep-Ultraviolet (DUV) Light Emitting Diodes (LEDs) emitting invisible light at wavelengths below 280 nm, have seen increased research interest over the last decade. Of their many potential applications, pathogen neutralization is perhaps the most presently relevant in the post-COVID era. While the high energy light of DUV LEDs has been found particularly effective at destroying viruses and bacteria without the need for application of chemical agents, the poor efficiencies of DUV LEDs currently prevent their widespread adoption in these applications. While a number of factors contribute to the poor efficiency of DUV LEDs, light extraction is perhaps the most significant and difficult to address. The polarization of light emitted by DUV LEDs make it difficult to extract from the conventional "mesa" structures which form the overwhelming majority of LEDs. An alternative to mesas is to use arrays of closely spaced nano- or micro-structures connected in parallel, which have been shown both experimentally and by simulations to have significantly enhanced light extraction efficiency.

In this work, the feasibility of using plasma etched arrays of nano- and microstructures as alternatives to conventional mesa structures for emission of DUV light is investigated. New techniques for fabricating nanowire and micropillar array LEDs are developed, and a novel "inverse taper" crystallographic wet etch phenomenon which occurs in high Al-content AlGaN is discovered, described, and leveraged in device fabrication. The first reported demonstration of dry-etched, electrically driven, DUV emitting nanowire array LEDs is described in detail, in addition to the first demonstration of DUV emitting micro-LEDs based a novel AlGaN-delta-GaN active region previously designed by our research group.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Successfully completing this Ph.D. has been the crowning achievement of nearly 26 years of more or less continuous education spanning the majority of my life. It took nearly six years for me to complete this degree, six years which have been filled with the most difficult challenges I've ever faced. Without the support of family, educators, and friends, this journey would have been impossible.

I would first like to thank my parents, Thomas and Sheri Melanson. The sacrifices you've made in support of my education over the last 26 years have been innumerable. The hours you spent helping me with homework and taking me to afterschool sports in pre-school through high school, the financial and emotional support you provided through college and graduate school... For all of this I can never thank you enough. Thanks, as well, to my sister, Jenna Melanson, who started undergrad three years after me and will finish her own Ph.D. only a year from now.

To my research advisor, Prof. Jing Zhang, your mentorship over the past six years has been invaluable to me. The flexibility you've given your students along with your continual guidance and support of my research efforts has made graduate school a very enjoyable experience for me and has contributed immensely to my growth as a research scientist. It has been my honor to be one of your earliest Ph.D. students, and I'm sure many more will follow after me.

Many thanks to all the lab mates who have come and gone over the years; Cheng Liu, Matthew Hartensveld, Vijay Thirupakuzi Vangipuram, Matthew Seitz, Jacob Boisvere, and William Huang (unofficial). The hours spent together in the cleanroom, our (cold, windowless) test lab, and in the office discussing fab problems, physics, and everything else imaginable have taught me many things and have made my doctoral career a much more enjoyable experience.

I would also like to thank Prof. Stephan Preble, Prof. Seth Hubbard, Prof. Parsian Mohseni, Prof. Karl Hirschman, and Prof TBD for serving on my dissertation committee. Thanks, as well, to Lisa Zimmerman and the staff of RIT cleanroom. Thank you to all the friends who have stuck with me over the years, some from as far back as elementary school. Although most of you now live a continent away, the nights spent playing Halo, Apex, Smite, Battlefield, and countless other games despite our threehour time difference have always made it easy to de-stress after a long day of classes or research.

I also greatly appreciate funding support from the RIT Microsystems Engineering Department and from the National Science Foundation.

# CONTENTS

LIST OF	TABLES	X
LIST OF	FIGURES	xi
СНАРТЕ	CR 1: Introduction to Deep-Ultraviolet LEDs	1
1.1	Light Emitting Diodes	1
1.1.1	History	1
1.1.2	Fundamentals	2
1.1.3	Efficiencies	10
1.2	Ultraviolet Light	15
1.3	Applications of Ultraviolet Light	17
1.4	The AlGaN Materials System	19
1.5	Efficiency Limitations of Deep-Ultraviolet Light-Emitting Diodes	22
1.5.1	Carrier Injection Efficiency	23
1.5.2	The Quantum Confined Stark Effect and Radiative Recombination Efficiency.	25
1.5.3	Emission Polarization and Light Extraction Efficiency	26
1.6	Motivations and Dissertation Organization	28
СНАРТЕ	CR 2: Approaches for Light Extraction Enhancement in Deep-Ultraviolet LEE	)s34
2.1	Planar Devices	34
2.1.1	Substrate Patterning and Surface Roughening	35
2.1.2	Photonic Crystals and Reflective Contacts	37
2.1.3	Microlens Arrays and Nanostructuring	39
2.1.4	p-AlGaN Contact Layers	40
2.2	Nanowires	41
2.2.1	Epitaxial Nanowires	43
2.2.2	Etched Nanowires	46
СНАРТЕ	R 3: LED Fabrication and Process Development	56
3.1	Fabrication Process Overview	56
3.1.1	Mesa LEDs	56
3.1.2	Nanowire LEDs	59
3.2	Epitaxial Growth	64
3.3	Photolithography	66
3.3.1	Nanosphere Lithography	68
3.3.2	Contact Lithography	69
3.3.3	g-line Projection Lithography	70

3.3.4	h-line Laser Direct Write Lithography	71
3.3.5	Liftoff Lithography	72
3.4	Dry Etching	73
3.5	Wet Etching	76
3.6	Thin Film Deposition	81
3.6.1	Thermal Evaporation	81
3.6.2	Electron Beam Evaporation	
3.6.3	Sputtering	
3.6.4	Dielectric Deposition	
3.7	Interlayer Dielectric Application and Planarization	85
3.7.1	PDMS Etchback	86
3.7.2	TEOS Planarization and Etchback	87
3.8	Physical Characterization	91
3.8.1	Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM)	
3.8.2	Atomic Force Microscopy (AFM)	94
3.9	Electrical and Optical Characterization	95
СНАРТЕ	R 4: Deep-Ultraviolet Nanowire Array Light Emitting Diodes	99
4.1	Electrically Driven Nanowire Array LEDs Emitting at 286 nm	
4.1.1	Introduction	99
4.1.2	Nanowire Array LED Fabrication	
4.1.3	Device Characterization	107
4.1.4	Conclusions	112
4.2	Flexible DUV Nanowire Array LEDs Emitting at 292 nm	114
4.2.1	Introduction	114
4.2.2	Nanowire Formation	115
4.2.3	Nanowire Liftoff and Characterization	119
4.2.4	Conclusions	124
4.3	Simulation Analysis of DUV LED Light Extraction Efficiency	125
4.3.1	Introduction	125
4.3.2	Simulation Methodology	
4.3.3	Simulation Results for Microstructures Emitting at 270 nm	131
4.3.4	Simulation Results for Nanostructures Emitting at 270 nm	141
4.3.5	Conclusion	147
4.4	AlGaN-delta-GaN µLEDs Emitting at 262 nm	149
4.4.1	Introduction	149

4.4.2	μLED Fabrication	152
4.4.3	Device Characterization	159
4.4.4	Conclusions	166
4.5	Process Development for Future Micropillar/Nanowire Array LEDs	168
4.5.1	Introduction	
4.5.2	TEOS Planarization Process Development	
4.5.3	Micropillar Array Fabrication Process Development	177
4.6	Future Work	197
4.6.1	High Aspect Ratio Micropillar and Nanowire LEDs Leveraging TEOS Plan	narization
		197
4.6.2	Packaging and EQE Characterization of DUV LEDs	
4.6.3	Exploring the Effects of Device Size on Emission Wavelength Shift in AlC InGaN Active Region Devices	GaN and 199
4.6.4	Microtransfer Printing of DUV Nanowire LEDs	
СНАРТЕ	R 5: Visible Wavelength GaN Optoelectronic Devices	213
5.1	InGaN/delta-InN Quantum Wells for High Efficiency Red Emission	
5.1.1	Introduction	
5.1.2	Simulation Methodology	
5.1.3	Simulation Results	217
5.1.4	Conclusions	
5.2	Micropillar Array LEDs Emitting at 520 nm	229
5.2.1	Introduction	
5.2.2	Micropillar Array Fabrication	
5.2.3	Device Characterization	
5.2.4	Conclusions	234
5.3	Passive Matrix µLED Arrays Emitting at 540 nm	
5.3.1	Introduction	
5.3.2	µLED Array Fabrication	
5.3.3	Device Characterization	
5.3.4	Conclusions	
5.4	Nanowire Quantum Dot Single Photon Emitters	
5.4.1	Introduction	
5.4.2	Nanowire Fabrication Process	254
5.4.3	Emitter Characterization	257
5.4.4	Conclusions	

5.5	SiO <sub>2</sub> Nanosphere Arrays for Light Out-Coupling	
5.5.1	Introduction	
5.5.2	Simulation Results	
5.5.3	Experimental Results	
5.5.4	Conclusions	

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.3.1: Photoresist Process Parameters.	68
Table 3.4.1: Dry Etch Process Parameters	75

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1.1: Conduction (CB) and valence (VB) band alignments for metals, semiconductors,
and insulators4
Figure 1.1.2: Electron-hole recombination in a generic PN quantum well. Band bending is not
shown for simplicity
Figure 1.1.3: Representative structure of modern blue LED. Layer thicknesses are approximate
and shown layer thicknesses are not to scale
Figure 1.1.4: The three primary electron-hole recombination mechanisms likely to occur within
the quantum wells of LEDs
Figure 1.1.5: Light extraction from a simplified LED structure. Ten photons are emitted from a
point-source in the center of the active region, with lines terminating in arrows representing
escaping photons, and lines terminating in X's representing photons reabsorbed by the
structure14
Figure 1.2.1: Electromagnetic spectrum between 10 and 1000 nm, showing the wavelength ranges
of V-UV, UV-C, UV-B, and UV-A light16
Figure 1.3.1: Applications of ultraviolet light categorized by wavelength and output power
[13]18
Figure 1.4.1: Bandgap energy vs lattice parameter for III-V semiconductors and their alloys
[19]20
Figure 1.4.2: The wurtzite unit cell of GaN showing Ga atoms in white and N atoms in yellow
[23]21
Figure 2.1.1: EQEs of planar UV LEDs developed in the past 20 years, showing the trend of EQE

increasing with wavelength. The dip in EQE around 320 nm is due primarily to lack of research
interest in this wavelength range [1]35
Figure 2.1.2: SEM images showing a patterned sapphire substrate (a) [17] and surface roughening
of GaN (b) [13]
Figure 2.1.3: An SEM image of a photonic crystal fabricated in AlGaN using a combination of wet
and dry etching [23]
Figure 2.1.4: SEM images showing SiO <sub>2</sub> /PS microlens arrays (a-b) [35,36] and nanostructured
AlGaN (c) [44]
Figure 2.2.1: Schematic showing extraction (arrow) or absorption (x) of light in a planar mesa
DUV LED (a), and a nanowire DUV LED (b)42
Figure 2.2.2: SEM images of epitaxial AlGaN nanowires grown using MBE (a) [58] and MOCVD
(b) [66]44
Figure 2.2.3: SEM images of epitaxial AlGaN nanowires grown using MBE and selective area
epitaxy [68,69]45
Figure 2.2.4: SEM images showing top-down fabrication GaN nanowires (a) [70] and AlGaN
nanowires fabricated in the SMFL (b)47
Figure 3.1.1: Mesa LED fabrication process flow with color coded process steps
Figure 3.1.2: Mesa LED fabrication schematic showing mesa etching and metallization steps (not
to scale)
Figure 3.1.3: Nanowire LED fabrication process flow with color coded process steps60
Figure 3.1.4: Nanowire LED fabrication schematic showing dry etch, wet etch, metallization, and
dielectric planarization steps (not to scale)

**Figure 3.3.1**: 700 nm SiO<sub>2</sub> nanospheres on a GaN surface (a). 3 μm tall GaN nanowires formed using 700 nm SiO<sub>2</sub> nanospheres as a dry etch mask (b)......68

**Figure 3.7.3**: SEM images of micropillars (2.5  $\mu$ m diameter, 2  $\mu$ m height, 10  $\mu$ m pitch) after 0 planarization cycles, h = 1.62  $\mu$ m (a), 1 planarization cycle, h = 610 nm (b), 2 planarization cycles, h = 76 nm (c), and 3 planarization cycles, h = 24 nm (d)......91

**Figure 4.1.1**: Fabrication process schematic, abbreviated, not to scale. (a) Bulk epistack following patterning of the Ni dry etch hardmask (SiO2 layer omitted). (b) Single nanowire following dry

**Figure 4.1.2**: SEM images showing AlGaN nanowires at various points in the fabrication process. Nanowires after dry etch (a), and 1 min (b), 5 min (c), 10 min (d), 20 min (e), 30 min (f), 45 min (g), and 60 min (h) in 0.8 wt.% aqueous KOH at 80°C.....103

**Figure 4.2.1**: (a) Simplified DUV LED epitaxial layer stack (not to scale). Nanowire formation process showing (b) deposition of the Ni hard mask, (c) the  $Cl_2/Ar$  dry etch, (d) 5 min of wet etching in 40% AZ400K at 80°C, and (d) 70 min of wet etching in 40% AZ400K at 80°C.....116

**Figure 4.2.3**: (a) Wurtzite unit cell highlighting the (0001) c-plane surface, (b) wurtzite unit cell highlighting the ( $10\overline{1}0$ ) m-plane and semi-polar planes attacked by the AZ400K etch......119

 Figure 4.3.2: Cross sectional schematic showing a generalized representation of a simulated nanowire.

 .130

**Figure 4.4.2**: Not-to-scale cross sectional representation of a completed µLED device......153

**Figure 4.4.3**: SEM images of 10  $\mu$ m  $\mu$ LED mesas taken at 85° (a) and 80° (b,c) off normal. Roughness of the p-GaN surface and micro-trenching are highlighted in (b)......155

Figure 4.4.7: Normalized EL spectra for individual 30 $\mu m$ (a) and 10 $\mu m$ (b) $\mu LEDs$ at various
current densities. Emission peaks for 30 $\mu m$ and 10 $\mu m$ devices at their maximum measured current
densities were located at 264.3 nm and 262 nm respectively. Emission linewidths at maximum
measured current densities were 13.6 nm and 7.1 nm respectively161
Figure 4.4.8: Normalized EL spectra for individual 30 µm and 10 µm µLEDs at 200
A/cm <sup>2</sup> 162
Figure 4.4.9: Current voltage characteristics for 30 $\mu$ m and 10 $\mu$ m $\mu$ LEDs between 0 and 25
V164
Figure 4.4.10: Measured (a) and adjusted (b) light output power as a function of current density
for 10 µm (dashed) and 30 µm (solid) µLEDs164
Figure 4.4.11: Measured (a) and adjusted (b) wall plug efficiency as a function of current density
for 10 $\mu m$ (dashed) and 30 $\mu m$ (solid) $\mu LEDs.$ The onset of efficiency droop was found to occur at
200 A/cm <sup>2</sup> for 10 $\mu m$ devices and at 83 A/cm <sup>2</sup> for 30 $\mu m$ devices. A WPE value of 1.0 is equal to
100% efficiency
Figure 4.5.1: SEM images showing micropillars (2 µm diameter, 2 µm height, 10 µm pitch)
following dry etching and KOH treatment (a), and subsequently after 5 $\mu m$ (b), 7 $\mu m$ (c), and 9 $\mu m$
(d) of conformal TEOS deposition. Images a, b1, c1, and d1 where taken at $45^{\circ}$ off normal, while
b2, c2, and d2 were taken normal to the sample surface
Figure 4.5.2: Cross sectional schematic showing the TEOS planarization process. (a) TEOS
deposited over an array of micropillars, surface topology in the TEOS layer is evident. (b)
Photoresist is coated over the TEOS surface and self-planarizes. (c) A fluorine plasma etch with
1:1 selectivity between photoresist and TEOS is used to etch back photoresist and TEOS at equal

rates. (d) The now planarized TEOS surface is further etched back using any TEOS plasma etch.

Figure 4.5.6(j-l): PECVD deposition of 2 µm of conformal TEOS (j), coating of a semi-self-
planarizing photoresist layer onto the TEOS surface (k), planarization of the TEOS surface using a
F dry etch (l)
Figure 4.5.6(m-o): Etchback of the planarized TEOS surface (m), exposure of the micropillars (n),
etching of the field TEOS to expose the n-contact (o)
Figure 4.5.6(p-q): Conformal deposition of Ni to form to connect each array of micropillars in
parallel (p), testing of a completed device (q)
<b>Figure 4.5.7</b> : SEM images of 1.5 µm micropillars on a 2 µm pitch following AZ400K etching (a),
and 1.25 $\mu m$ micropillars on a 2.5 $\mu m$ pitch following deposition of the 40 nm Ni p-contact and
30/100 nm Cr/Au n-contact (b)187
Figure 4.5.8: SEM images of a 20x20 array of 1.25 µm micropillars on a 2.5 µm pitch following
n-metal deposition
Figure 4.5.9: SEM images showing the intersection between regions of exposed n-AlGaN,
annealed Ni, and Cr/Au on annealed Ni (a), and a near cross sectional view of an 800 nm micropillar
covered with 40 nm Ni and 30/100 nm Cr/Au (b)
Figure 4.5.10: SEM images showing the TEOS surface over the same micropillar array as
deposited (a), and after 1 (b) and 3 (c) planarization cycles
Figure 4.5.11: SEM images showing the TEOS surface over micropillar arrays following 500 nm
etchback (a), 1000 nm etchback (b), and 1500 nm etchback (c)
Figure 4.5.12: SEM images showing the Cr/Au covered surfaces of micropillars following
successful etchback of the TEOS
Figure 4.5.13: SEM images highlighting the issues which can occurs during planarization of TEOS

over isolated arrays of micropillars. (a) shows a large, dense array in which the corner regions have

Figure 5.1.6: Material gain as a function of n for an  $In_{0.15}Ga_{0.85}N/In_{0.38}Ga_{0.62}N$  QW (black) and an $In_{0.15}Ga_{0.85}N/In_{0.3}Ga_{0.7}N/delta-InN$  QW (red). Inset shows the optical gain spectra at $n = 5x10^{18}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>.Figure 5.2.1: Fabrication process schematic for green nanowire LEDs (not to scale).231Figure 5.2.2: SEM images show the nanowire arrays after the hydroxyl-based wet etchstep.232Figure 5.2.3: EL spectra of a micropillar array LED at various current densities, showing a peakemission wavelength of ~550 nm and a linewidth of ~60 nm.233Figure 5.2.4: Optical images of the illuminated nanowire arrays taken using a microscopecamera.234Figure 5.3.1: Cross sectional schematic of the passive matrix display fabrication process, showing

Figure 5.3.4: SEM images showing passive matrix displays prior to trench planarization (a,b),
following trench planarization (c), and following p-interconnect formation (d-h). (a, b, d, and e) are
imaged at 70° off-normal, while (c, f, g, and h) are imaged at 80° off-normal246
Figure 5.3.5: Leakage current as a function of trench width. (inset) Leakage current as a function
of applied bias for a 40 µm wide trench247
Figure 5.3.6: (a) Current voltage characteristics for 10, 30, and 60 $\mu$ m $\mu$ LEDs. (b)
Electroluminescence spectra of a 60 $\mu$ m $\mu$ LED driven at between 1 mA and 9 mA, showing peak
emission at ~515 and a FHWM of ~32 nm248
Figure 5.3.7: (a) Blueshift characteristics for a 60 $\mu$ m $\mu$ LED driven at 10 V and 1-30 mA. A
blueshift of 13 nm is observed when drive current is increased from 1 mA to 30 mA. (b) Size
dependent EL characteristics for devices driven at 10V and 10 mA. A moderate blueshift of 6 nm
is observed between the 30 $\mu m$ and 120 $\mu m$ $\mu LEDs249$
Figure 5.3.8: CIE 1931 coordinates of 60 $\mu$ m devices driven between 140 A/cm <sup>2</sup> and 830
A/cm <sup>2</sup>
<b>Figure 5.3.9</b> : Illuminated $\mu$ LEDs in a 4x4 passive matrix display. $\mu$ LEDs have dimensions of 60
$\mu$ m, with an x pitch/y pitch/trench width of 180/90/50 $\mu$ m. In (a-c), single pixels are driven at 10mA
by applying 10 V to the p-interconnect pad (anode), while the corresponding n-interconnect pad
(cathode) is held at ground. In (d-f), columns are driven at 25 mA and illuminated by holding their
common anode at ground while applying 20 V to the anode of another column. This reverse-biases
the column to which 20 V is applied, and increases the turn on voltage of the grounded
column

Figure 5.4.1: Nanowire QD SPE fabrication schematic (not to scale)......255

Figure 5.5.7: SEM images of 700 nm SiO <sub>2</sub> nanosphere (a) and nanohemisphere (b) arrays, formed
through spin-coating of aqueous nanosphere solutions and subsequent RIE and PECVD $SiO_2$
deposition in the case of (b). Insets show the sample surfaces at 45°274
Figure 5.5.8: EL spectra for 700 nm nanospheres (a) and nanohemispheres (b) plotted taken at
normal incidence between 260 nm and 315 nm. The much larger $\eta_{\text{EXT}}$ enhancement of the
nanohemisphere array is evidenced by the larger variation in the maxima of the curves for samples
with and without nanohemispheres
Figure 5.5.9: Angle-dependent EL data for 700 nm nanospheres, showing a clear increase in
emission intensity at low angles less than 30° for samples with nanospheres when compared to
samples with no nanospheres

#### **CHAPTER 1: Introduction to Deep-Ultraviolet LEDs**

#### **1.1 Light Emitting Diodes**

Light Emitting Diodes (LEDs) have emerged over the past few decades as integral components of modern technologies, and can be found in almost every application imaginable. Their compactness, efficiency, and long lifespan makes them perfect replacements for incandescent and fluorescent light sources, and advancements in LED manufacturing technology have gradually made them cheap enough to replace these more conventional light sources in bulk lighting applications in the industrial, commercial, and residential sectors. Recent reports by the United States Department of Energy (DOE) estimate that LEDs will account for more than 84% of all lighting installations in the United States by 2035, saving nearly \$1 trillion USD per year in energy costs [1]. As such, continued development of LED technologies, in particular the improvement of LED efficiencies over a wide range of emission wavelengths is of critical importance to the energy security of the United States and the world as a whole, and will also be a crucial tool for reducing energy consumption and combating the effects of climate change.

#### 1.1.1 History

Electrically driven solid-state light emission was first observed in the early twentieth century, and was termed "electroluminescence," which, in contrast to incandescence (also known as heat glow) is defined as the emission of light by a material at room temperature when subjected to an external electrical bias [2]. Electroluminescence was first observed by Henry Joseph Round in 1907 while investigated SiC crystals for use in early crystal-detector radios [3]. Development of the first SiC LED was reported in 1928

by Oleg Lossev [4], but it was not until the late 1960s that advancements in SiC fabrication allowed for p-n junction blue LEDs emitting around 470 nm to be produced [2]. Over the next few decades SiC LEDs were gradually phased out of commercial use due to severe efficiency limitations produced by SiC's indirect bandgap. During the 1950s and 1960s, GaAs, AlGaAs, and GaAsP, were investigated and developed for use in longer wavelength light emitters with much higher efficiencies, with the first red emitting LED based on AlGaAs developed in 1962 [2]. Blue light emission from GaN was first reported in 1971 by Pankove et al., with GaN and InGaN based LEDs further refined by Nobel laureate Nakamura et al. in 1993, allowing for extremely high brightness, high efficiency emission of blue and green light from this materials system [2,5,6]. AllnGaP was first developed in the 1980s for use in visible light lasers, but was later adapted for use in high efficiency, red emitting LEDs [2]. Today, state of the art light emitting diodes are based on AlInGaN alloys for ultraviolet, blue, and green emission, and AlInGaP alloys for red and infrared emission, with modern advancements in LED technology being mostly incremental and driven by improvements in material quality, light extraction efficiency, and active region design.

#### 1.1.2 Fundamentals

Light Emitting Diodes operate on a phenomenon known as "recombination," in which a free electron within a semiconductor crystal relaxes from an "excited" energy state to a lower energy state, emitting a photon of energy equal to the energy difference between the excited state and relaxed state. In semiconductor device physics this process is typically described in terms of electron and "hole" recombination, where a hole is the localized absence of an electron with the valence band of a semiconductor. In a semiconductor at equilibrium, all available states in the valence band are filled by electrons, however, electrons can be excited to states above the valence band, in the so called "conduction band" through absorption of thermal, optical, or kinetic energy. Heating of a semiconductor to very high temperatures can cause electrons in the valence band to absorb enough thermal energy to be "excited" in the unoccupied states in the conduction band, where they are unbound from the nuclei of the atomic lattice, and can participate in conduction, hence the name "conduction band." Likewise, when a semiconductor is exposed to an external light source, electrons in the valence band can absorb incident photons and, if the energy of the absorbed photon is greater than the bandgap ( $E_g$ ) (the energy separation between the edges of the valence and conduction bands) of the semiconductor, can be excited into the conduction band. Excitation to the conduction band can also occur if an electron absorbs sufficient kinetic energy from an impactor, such as another electron or ion.

Figure 1.1.1 shows the alignment of the conduction bands (CB) and valence bands (VB) for a metal (left), a semiconductor (middle), and an insulator (right). A material's classification as a metal, semiconductor, or insulator is entirely dependent upon its bandgap, or lack thereof. In metals, the conduction and valence bands overlap, giving the bandgap a value of  $E_g = 0$  eV, and as a consequence the valence electrons in metals can participate in conduction, being only loosely bound to local atomic lattice sites. In a semiconductor, a small bandgap exists between the edges of the conduction and valence bands. In an insulator, the bandgap is much larger, effectively preventing any excitation of electrons into the conduction band except by very high temperatures or very high energy photons. The distinction between semiconductors and insulators is hazy, but



Figure 1.1.1: Conduction (CB) and valence (VB) band alignments for metals, semiconductors, and insulators.

semiconductors are generally defined as having bandgaps of  $E_g < 4 \text{ eV}$ , with any material of  $E_g > 4 \text{ eV}$  being classed as an insulator.

When an electron is excited to the conduction band, it leaves behind a "hole" in the valence band, a quasi-particle with no physical mass which exists as a consequence of unscreened nuclear charge. In most cases, excited electrons will rapidly relax back into the valence band in what is termed electron-hole recombination. In this process, the electron loses potential energy, recombining with and annihilating a hole and emitting light in the process. It is important to note that light emission only occurs during electron-hole recombination in semiconductors with a "direct-bandgap." In direct-bandgap semiconductors the conduction band minimum ( $E_c$ ) and valence band maximum ( $E_v$ ) are not separated in *k*-space, allowing electrons to recombine into the valence band without a change in momentum. In "indirect-bandgap" semiconductors,  $E_c$  and  $E_v$  are not aligned in *k*-space, and recombination involves a change in momentum is what is referred to a "phonon-assisted" electron-hole recombination. Whether a semiconductor is direct- or

indirect-bandgap ultimately determines its usefulness as a light emitter, with indirect bandgap semiconductors such as Si and Ge being incapable of emitting light, while direct-bandgap semiconductors such as GaN and GaAs see widespread use in lasers, LEDs, and photodetectors. More information on electron-hole recombination in LEDs can be found in *Light-Emitting Diodes* Chapter 2 [2].

The most useful property of semiconductors, and the one which allows them to be used to fabricate transistors, LEDs, lasers, and other electrically driven devices, is doping, or the ability to change the majority charge carrier through inclusion of impurities in the crystal lattice. In a semiconductor, a dopant impurity acts as either a donor or acceptor depending on its valence number. In silicon, with a valence of four, boron, with a valence of three, will act as an electron acceptor, substituting for a Si atom in the crystal lattice and becoming a negatively charged lattice site, while creating a mobile hole which can participate in conduction. Likewise, phosphorus, with a valence of five, will act as an electron donor, substituting for a Si atom in the crystal lattice and becoming a positively charged lattice site, while creating a mobile electron which can participate in conduction. By controlling the type and concentration of impurities in a semiconductor, it is possible to change the majority charge carrier responsible for conduction and flow of electric charge in the material while also drastically increasing the concentration of charge carriers available to participate in conduction. Un-doped semiconductors are referred to as "intrinsic," with only the naturally occurring free electrons and holes being available to participate in conduction. Intrinsic semiconductors generally have very high resistivity because the concentrations of mobile charges carriers are very low, and behave much like insulators from an electrical perspective. Doped semiconductors are referred to as

"extrinsic," because the majority of their mobile charge carriers, either electrons or holes, are contributed by dopant atoms. High dopant concentrations can lead to multiple order of magnitude improvements in free charge concentration within a semiconductor, massively reducing its resistivity and causing it to behave more like a metal from an electrical perspective. If a semiconductor is doped primarily with electron acceptors, it is termed a p-type material, while if it is doped primarily with electron donors, it is termed an n-type material. In p-type semiconductors, holes are the majority charge carrier, and although holes have no physical mass, they do have what is referred to as "hole effective mass" ( $\mu_h$ ) which is a description of how they interact with, and move within, the crystal lattice. In n-type semiconductors, electrons are the majority charge carrier, and behave according to the electron effective mass ( $\mu_e$ ) of the material. The effective masses of electrons and holes is different for all semiconductors, and plays a crucial role in determining their conductivity/resistivity. More information on semiconductor doping can be found in *Silicon VLSI Technology* Chapter 1 [7].

Any direct-gap semiconductor is generally capable of emitting light through electron-hole recombination when excited by either high energy photons (photoluminescence (PL)), incident electrons or ions (cathodoluminescence (CL)), or an electric current (electroluminescence (EL)). However, a device which requires high energy light or an electron/ion beam to itself emit light is of very limited practical usefulness. Light emitting diodes are, by definition, semiconductor devices which emit light through electroluminescence, in which electrons and holes are injected into the semiconductor from an external current source and recombine within it to emit light. While it is possible of any bulk, un-doped direct-gap semiconductor to emit light when subjected to high enough applied voltage and current density, this process is very inefficient. As such, more complex engineering approaches based on "PN-diodes" are needed to fabricate high efficiency LEDs. In a light-emitting PN-diode, positive bias is applied to a region of p-type semiconductor, while negative bias/ground is applied to an n-type region. Because each of these regions has a majority charge carrier, it is difficult for electron-hole recombination to occur in them due to a lack of minority charge carriers. For example, in the n-type region there are many majority carrier electrons, but very few minority carrier holes, so it is rare for electron hole recombination to occur. This allows the n- and p-type regions to be used to "funnel," in a sense, the majority charge carriers in each region toward the junction between the regions, as can be seen in Figure 1.1.2. When the majority charge carriers reach the junction, they are finally able to recombine with one another. The physics of PN-junctions is much more complex than has been explained here, but is beyond the scope of this explanation. More information on the physics of PN-junctions and their use in transistors and other electrical devices can be found in *Microelectronics* Chapter 1 [8].

While fabrication of LEDs using simple PN-junctions is possible, most modern LEDs rely on structures known as "quantum wells" (QWs) to confine recombination to certain regions and determine their emission wavelength. In a simple QW LED, a thin layer of un-doped lower bandgap material is sandwiched between two "barrier" layers of higher bandgap, with one side being p-doped and the other n-doped, as can be seen in Figure 1.1.2. Holes are supplied into the QW from the p-doped side, while electrons are supplied from the n-doped side. Under normal operation, electrons and holes occupy the quantum well at the same time, recombining from their respective ground states in the quantum well to produce light, as is shown in Figure 1.1.2. The advantage of using a quantum



Figure 1.1.2: Electron-hole recombination in a generic PN quantum well. Band bending is not shown for simplicity.

rather than a PN-junction is that recombination is confined almost entirely to the region of the quantum well, which allows the emission wavelength to be tuned very precisely through variation of the alloy composition/bandgap of the QW region. Modern high-performance LEDs utilize multiple quantum wells (MQWs) to increase the volume in which recombination occurs and allow efficient operation at higher current densities.

Modern LEDs are typically fabricated starting with epitaxial growth of single-crystalline layers of doped semiconductor on a substrate wafer. The vast majority of LEDs manufactured in 2021 are based on the GaN/InGaN materials system. In the case of GaN/InGaN LEDs, which generally emit between 365 nm and 600 nm, metal-organic chemical vapor deposition (MOCVD) or molecular beam epitaxy (MBE) is used to grow layers of GaN and InGaN on a sapphire, SiC, or Si substrate wafer anywhere from 50 to 200 mm in diameter at higher temperature. Doping of various layers is accomplished during the growth process, negating the need for external doping methods used in

fabrication of Si-based microelectronics. Growth generally consists of an AIN buffer layer grown on the substrate, followed by growth of several microns of n-doped GaN (n-GaN), a MQW active region consisting of alternating GaN barrier layers and InGaN QWs, several hundred nanometers of p-doped GaN (p-GaN), and a few dozen nanometers of p<sup>+</sup>-doped GaN (p<sup>+</sup>-GaN), as can be seen in Figure 1.1.3. Following growth of this "epistack," a photolithography and a plasma dry etch are used to pattern and etch features called mesas, with the etch terminating within the n-GaN layer. Metal contacts are then deposited, with the p-contact located on top of the mesa in contact with the p<sup>+</sup>-GaN surface, and the n-contact located on the n-GaN surface exposed by the dry etch as shown in Figure 1.1.3. The wafer is then diced to produce many small LED "die," generally between 100  $\mu$ m and 2 mm on a side, and the die are "packaged" to allow them to be used in a wide range of applications. Packaging usually consists of mounting the die to a small printed circuit board



Figure 1.1.3: Representative structure of modern blue LED. Layer thicknesses are approximate and shown layer thicknesses are not to scale.
(PCB), making electrical connections between the PCB and the metal contacts on the die, and finally encapsulating the LED is a transparent material to protect it from the environment and increase light extraction.

# 1.1.3 Efficiencies

As with any modern electrical device, efficiency is a key consideration during the design and fabrication of LEDs. With LEDs becoming increasingly dominant in high power applications such as area lighting, even an increase of a few percent in device efficiency is worth extensive research and development costs. LEDs are most commonly characterized in terms of their external quantum efficiency, or EQE, which is a ratio of the number of electrons injected into a device to the number of photons which are emitted into free space. Wall-plug efficiency (WPE), also called the radiant efficiency, is another commonly used term, and is a ratio of the radiant flux of an LED to the electrical input power. WPE can be determined by multiplying the EQE of the LED by its "feeding efficiency," which is itself a ratio of the average photon energy to the energy imparted to a charge carrier pair by the LEDs power source. While both EQE and WPE are often used when quantifying the overall efficiency of an LED, other, more specific terms are needed to determine the location(s) of efficiency so that the design of the LED can be improved [2]. EQE is commonly defined as the product of three components, the carrier injection efficiency ( $\eta_{INJ}$ ), radiative recombination efficiency ( $\eta_{RAD}$ ), and light extraction efficiency  $(\eta_{EXT})$ . It is also common for  $\eta_{INJ}$  and  $\eta_{RAD}$  to be combined into a term called "internal quantum efficiency" or IQE, with EQE then being the product of IQE and  $\eta_{EXT}$ .

#### 1.1.3.1 Carrier Injection Efficiency ( $\eta_{INJ}$ )

 $\eta_{INJ}$  quantifies the ratio of charge carriers injected into the device at the n- and p-contacts to the number of charge carriers which successfully make it to the active region for recombination.  $\eta_{INJ}$  is lowered by a number of phenomena, including thermal losses due to contact and series resistance, recombination of carriers in the bulk region of the LEDs, surface recombination, and trapping of charge carriers at defect sites. In general,  $\eta_{INJ}$  can be improved through optimization of the electrical contacts, reduction of crystal defects and general improvement of the growth process, and passivation of exposed surfaces to reduce surface recombination [2].

#### 1.1.3.2 Radiative Recombination Efficiency ( $\eta_{RAD}$ )

Once electrons and holes reach the active region, the ratio of recombination events which result in emission of a photon of energy  $E_g$  is given by  $\eta_{RAD}$ . While radiative recombination is much more likely to occur in the active region compared to the bulk regions of the LED, non-radiative recombination can still occur, lowering the  $\eta_{INJ}$  of the LED. In the active region, electron-hole recombination can occur via three primary mechanisms, as shown in Figure 1.1.4. The first is trap-assisted non-radiative recombination, a type of Shockley-Read-Hall (SRH) recombination, in which an electron relaxes to a "trap" state ( $E_T$ ) within the bandgap of the QW, and then relaxes again from that trap state to the valence band to recombine with a hole. This process occurs more frequently in materials with high defect density in which many trap states exist [2]. The time dependent dynamics of carrier recombination in the quantum well (as well as in the bulk regions) are governed by a property know as carrier lifetime ( $\tau$ ). The radiative carrier lifetime,  $\tau_R$ , determines the average time taken for a carrier to experience radiative

recombination within the quantum well, while the non-radiative carrier lifetime,  $\tau_{NR}$ , determines the average time taken for a carrier to experience non-radiative recombination, usually via a trap state. As such,  $\eta_{RAD}$  can be increased by increasing  $\tau_{NR}$  or by decreasing  $\tau_{R}$ , and can be estimated using equation 1.1.1. In SRH trap assisted non-radiative

$$\eta_{RAD} = \frac{\tau_R^{-1}}{\tau_R^{-1} + \tau_{NR}^{-1}} \tag{1.1.1}$$

recombination, the effectiveness of a trap state as a non-radiative recombination center is dictated by its position within the bandgap. Deep-level traps (DLTs) located near the middle of the bandgap are more effective recombination centers, and as such, high concentrations of DLTs generally reduce  $\tau_{NR}$ , thus reducing  $\eta_{RAD}$ , making reduction of DLT density during the growth process critical for achieving high radiative recombination efficiency. Temperature also has a strong impact on  $\eta_{RAD}$ . As  $\tau_{NR}$  is correlated inversely with temperature, increasing temperature in the active region will decrease  $\eta_{RAD}$ . By cooling as semiconductor to cryogenic (liquid nitrogen or helium temperatures) trap states can be "frozen out" as  $\tau_{NR}$  is exponentially increased, allowing for realization of the highest achievable values for  $\eta_{RAD}$ . Carrier lifetimes in LEDs are usually measured using a technique known as cryogenic time-resolved photoluminescence (cryo-TRPL), in which carrier pairs in cryogenically cooled samples are excited by rapid pulses of light with energy greater than the active region bandgap. By analyzing the photoluminescence decay curve recorded by a spectrometer,  $\tau_R$  and  $\tau_{NR}$  can be extracted.

The second mechanism is Auger recombination, in which the energy released during relaxation of an electron to the valence band is dissipated through excitation of an electron high into the conduction band or excitation of a hole deep into the valence band as can be seen in Figure 1.1.4. The excited carriers eventually lose their excess energy



Figure 1.1.4: The three primary electron-hole recombination mechanisms likely to occur within the quantum wells of LEDs.

through emission of phonons while relaxing back to their ground states near the conduction or valence band edges. This process is non-radiative as well, and becomes more dominant at higher carrier densities due to a rate dependence on the cube of carrier density. While an ideal QW is un-doped, there is rarely parity between the concentrations of electrons and holes injected from either side of the QW region due to differences in the n- and p-dopant activation energies, carrier mobilities, and other factors. In GaN for example, Mg, with a large activation energy, is used as a p-dopant, and as such fewer holes are injected into GaN/InGaN QWs than electrons, leading to conditions where Auger recombination usually results in excitation of electrons above conduction band edge due to electrons being much more numerous in the QW [2].

The third, desired mechanism, is radiative recombination, in which an electron from the conduction band recombines directly with a hole in the valence band, emitting a photon with energy equal to the difference between the conduction band and valence band ground states. A high recombination rate is desired in all LEDs, and extensive research into maximizing it has been conducted over the past several decades. In general, the radiative recombination rate is dependent upon the concentrations of electrons and holes within the QW, as well as upon a constant called the bimolecular recombination coefficient, which varies between materials.

# 1.1.3.3 Light Extraction Efficiency (*η*EXT)

The third component of EQE is light extraction efficiency, or  $\eta_{EXT}$ , which is a simple ratio of the number of photons which escape the LED structure into free space to the total number of photons emitted from the active region. Figure 1.1.5 shows 10 photons emitted from a simplified LED structure. Orange lines terminating in arrows represent photons which escape into free space, while lines terminating in X's represent photons which are reabsorbed by the structure. In this example, 6/10 of the photons are reabsorbed, while 4/10 escape, giving the LED in Figure 1.1.5 an extraction efficiency of  $\eta_{EXT} = 40\%$ .



Figure 1.1.5: Light extraction from a simplified LED structure. Ten photons are emitted from a point-source in the center of the active region, with lines terminating in arrows representing escaping photons, and lines terminating in X's representing photons reabsorbed by the structure.

Light extraction efficiency is influenced by a number of parameters, including the polarization of emitted light, indices of refraction of the materials composing the LED, roughness of exterior surfaces and interior material interfaces, substrate composition and patterning (or lack thereof), and size and reflectivity of metal contacts. Light extraction efficiencies of state-of-the-art blue LEDs are currently approaching 90%, while shorter wavelength ultraviolet LEDs and longer wavelength red LEDs tend to have much poorer extraction efficiencies. Research aimed at improving the  $\eta_{EXT}$  of longer and shorter wavelengths has intensified in recent years, as demand for native red emitters and deep-ultraviolet (DUV) LEDs grows.

#### **1.2 Ultraviolet Light**

Ultraviolet (UV) light is typically defined as having wavelengths between 100 and 400 nm. As shorter wavelengths correspond to higher photon energy, many UV wavelengths are harmful to humans and other organism due to the ability of high energy photons to sever DNA base pairs and cause other damage to cells. UV light can be divided into four emission regimes, UV-A (315-400 nm), UV-B (280-315 nm), UV-C (200-280 nm), and vacuum-UV (V-UV) (100-200 nm), as shown in Figure 1.2.1. Some debate exists on whether wavelengths below 100 nm should be classified as extreme-UV (EUV) or soft x-rays, with most physics fields referring to < 100 nm as soft x-ray while semiconductor engineers generally use the term EUV. Exposure to UV-A and UV-B wavelengths is very common, with low UV-A and UV-B intensities present in sunlight at the earth's surface. UV-A represents around 3% of sunlight reaching the earth's surface, and around 90% of UV light which reaches the earth's surface, due mostly to its longer wavelengths experiencing less absorption in the atmosphere than shorter UV-B

wavelengths [9]. In humans, and most organisms, UV-A wavelengths penetrate further into the skin, and are responsible for acceleration of aging effects such as dermal discoloration wrinkling [9]. UV-B on the other hand, is absorbed almost immediately after impinging on skin, and is primarily responsible for more serious damage leading to skin cancers.



Figure 1.2.1: Electromagnetic spectrum between 10 and 1000 nm, showing the wavelength ranges of V-UV, UV-C, UV-B, and UV-A light.

While UV-B light is blocked almost entirely by window glass and sunscreen, longer wavelength UV-A light penetrates window glass and is unaffected by many traditional sunscreens [9]. UV-C, also referred to as deep-ultraviolet (DUV) light has been shown to have acute side effects in humans, causing near-instantaneous burns to the skin and eyes at higher intensities. The shorter wavelengths of UV-C light mean that it cannot penetrate deeply into skin, and is therefore less likely than UV-B to cause cancer. While most damage caused by UV-C light is temporary, exposure to high intensities can cause permanent blindness [9]. Human exposure to UV-C wavelengths is extremely rare, as all solar UV-C

radiation is absorbed by the earth's ozone layer. Exposure to UV-C light is attributed to artificial sources, such as tanning booths, mercury lamps, lasers, and other light sources.

The shortest wavelength, highest energy UV light (not accounting for EUV), is V-UV with wavelengths between 100-200 nm placing it on the upper edge of the x-ray spectrum. V-UV light is extremely hazardous to humans, causing painful burns and temporary blindness near instantaneously even at low exposure intensities [10]. V-UV photon energy is also high enough to permanently damage synthetic materials such as silicone rubbers and other plastics over the span of days or weeks [11]. The name 'vacuum-UV" derives from the fact that V-UV radiation is found almost exclusively in the vacuum of space, as it is aggressively absorbed by oxygen molecules in Earth's atmosphere. While V-UV radiation is rarely a threat to humans, its presence is space and ability to damage synthetic materials means it must be taken into consideration when designing components for spacecraft and satellites.

### **1.3 Applications of Ultraviolet Light**

Despite the hazards of UV light to humans and other organisms, it sees widespread use in many different applications, from remote sensing to pathogen neutralization. UV light has been used for over 100 years to treat various medical conditions in humans, and until the invention of the UV LED several decades ago, mercury vapor arc lamps were the sole source of ultraviolet light [12]. Today, mercury lamps remain the dominant source of UV light for most applications, although improvements in the efficiencies of semiconductor-based UV LEDs and lasers are allowing them to gain traction in many applications. Common uses of UV-A wavelengths include curing of adhesives and resins, 3D-printing, optical sensing, g-, h-, and i-line lithography, and medical uses such as blood gas analysis [13]. UV-B wavelengths generally see use in indoor, artificial plant lighting in greenhouses and hydroponics gardens, as well as in medical treatments and tanning [13]. UV-C/DUV wavelengths are often referred to as "germicidal" UV, and see extensive use in applications such as water purification and surface sterilization due to the ability of high energy UV-C photons to penetrate the cell walls of microorganisms and destroy their DNA [13–15]. This beneficial property of UV-C light is currently driving its implementation in a multitude of applications such as wastewater recycling, kitchen appliances, air conditioning, and sterilization of foods and medical equipment [13]. Room-scale disinfection using UV-C light has also gained traction in the wake of the COVID-19



Figure 1.3.1: Applications of ultraviolet light categorized by wavelength and output power. Reprinted with permission [13].

pandemic, with airlines, transportation services, and hospitals experimenting with use of high-power UV-C light sources for sterilizing the interiors of planes, buses, trains, and hospital rooms. In addition to its germicidal applications, UV-C light also sees use in various sensing applications such as solar blind photodetectors and cutting-edge excimer laser photolithography [13,16]. As the efficiencies of UV LEDs continue to improve, most applications will slowly transition away from using mercury lamps, leading to the eventual domination of the market by UV LEDs.

#### 1.4 The AlGaN Materials System

Ultraviolet light emission requires the use of ultra-wide bandgap (UWBG) materials, such as AlGaN, B-Ga<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, ZnO, and diamond [17,18]. However, most research on UV-LEDs is based exclusively on the ternary (three element) AlGaN materials system, a subset of the larger, quaternary AlGaInN system, as shown in Figure 1.4.1. AlGaN is a ternary alloy of binary (two element) AlN and GaN, and its direct bandgap can be tuned between that of AlN (~6 eV/200 nm) and GaN (~3.4 eV/365 nm) [2,13]. This allows AlGaN LEDs to cover the entirely of the UV-C and UV-B ranges, as well as the majority of the UV-A range through engineering of the Al content of the active region. Adding In to form a quaternary AlGaInN (four element) alloy allows this materials system to cover the entirety of the UV and visible spectrum, and even emit well into the near infrared (NIR) thanks to the 0.7 eV/1700 nm bandgap of InN as is shown in Figure 1.4.1. Compared to the other III-V materials systems shown on the right side of Figure 1.4.1, which span only from green wavelengths into the NIR, AlGaInN has the largest tunable emission range of any know semiconductor materials system, and sees the widest use by far in the fabrication of UV, blue, and green LEDs [2].



Figure 1.4.1: Bandgap vs lattice parameter for III-V semiconductors and their alloys [19].

AlGaN and AlGaInN alloys have a hexagonal wurtzite crystal structure, in contrast to the zinc-blende structures found in most other III-V semiconductors. Figure 1.4.2 shows a GaN unit cell, with Ga atoms shown in gray and nitrogen atoms in yellow. While cubic zinc-blende AlGaInN crystals can also be grown, the wurtzite form is the most thermodynamically stable and is dominant in all applications [20]. In wurtzite GaN, all Ga atoms are bonded to four N atoms, and vice versa, with an ABAB stacking order [2]. The electronegativities of Ga and N are 1.81 and 3.04 respectively [21], with electrons attracted more strongly to the to the N atom leading to formation of a dipole moment at the location of each bond. While dipole moments exist in the bonds of almost all compound materials, centrosymmetric crystals have inversion symmetry which nullifies the long-range effects of these dipolar bonds. However, wurtzite GaN is non-centrosymmetric and lacks inversion symmetry, leading to formation of a net electric dipole in each unit cell, which in turn causes a net polarization to develop along the <0001> direction (vertical axis in Figure 1.4.2), also known as the c-axis [20,22]. This dipole induced polarization is referred to as "spontaneous polarization" ( $P_{SP}$ ) and is partially responsible for a number of undesirable properties in GaN.



Figure 1.4.2: The wurtzite unit cell of GaN showing Ga atoms in white and N atoms in red [23].

Alloying of GaN with either Al, In, or both to form AlGaN, InGaN, or AlGaInN, is straightforward from the standpoint of crystal geometry. During growth of the crystal through use of metal organic chemical vapor deposition (MOCVD) or molecular beam epitaxy (MBE), Al or In can be added in controlled amounts to form an alloy. In AlGaN for example, Al atoms will replace the Ga atoms at some of the sites in the crystal lattice, leading to formation of a crystal with electrical and optical properties between those of GaN and AlN. A material containing both Al and Ga is generally written as  $Al_xGa_{1-x}N$ , where x refers to the mole fraction of Al. For example, AlGaN which contains 40% Al and

60% Ga is written as  $Al_{0.4}Ga_{0.6}N$ . Alloying of compound semiconductors is critically important, especially for applications which rely on bandgap tuning to produce specific wavelengths for use in LEDs, lasers, and other optical devices. In a general sense, the bandgap of an AlGaN alloy can be roughly determined through linear interpolation of the bandgap values of AlN and GaN (6 eV and 3.4 eV respectively), through use of what is commonly referred to as Vegard's Law (1.5.1).

$$E_{q}(Al_{x}Ga_{1-x}N) = xE_{q}(AlN) + (1-x)E_{q}(GaN)$$
(1.5.1)

While this formula is generally accurate, there is some deviation from this strictly linear interpolation as is evident from the bowed lines in Figure 1.4.1. In order to accurately determine the bandgaps of ternary and quaternary alloys, "bowing parameters" based on experimental data must be used to modify Vegard's Law [24]. The semi-linear interpolation approach of Vegard's law can also be used to determine other properties of alloys, such as lattice constants, thermal conductivities, extinction coefficients, and many others, with different sets of bowing parameters needed for each property.

# 1.5 Efficiency Limitations of Deep-Ultraviolet Light-Emitting Diodes

The efficiencies of DUV LEDs have been, and continue to be, the primary factor prohibiting their widespread adoption in many applications. Compared to GaN/InGaN blue LEDs, which often have EQEs in excess of 80% [25], AlGaN based DUV LEDs usually have EQEs in the single digits or lower [26,27], with the current record being 20% at 275 nm [28]. Modern commercial DUV LEDs have EQEs of only a few percent. The poor efficiencies of DUV LEDs can be attributed to a few primary factors, including poor carrier injection efficiency, internal polarization fields within AlGaN QWs, and poor light

extraction efficiency. Of these three issues,  $\eta_{EXT}$  is the most severe and the most difficult to address.

# 1.5.1 Carrier Injection Efficiency

As described in Section 1.1.3.1, carrier injection efficiency,  $\eta_{INJ}$ , quantifies the ratio of charge carriers injected into the device at the n- and p-contacts to the number of charge carriers which successfully make it to the active region for recombination. Achieving high  $\eta_{INJ}$  in AlGaN DUV LEDs is challenging for a number of reasons. The first is poor p-type doping of AlGaN, which leads to high p-AlGaN resistivity and low carrier concentration. Like in GaN/InGaN LEDs, Mg is used as a p-type dopant for AlGaN. The high activation energy of Mg dopant atoms of between 200 and 600 meV, means that only a very small fraction of them are ionized/activated at room temperature [29,30]. This means that even for physical doping in excess of  $10^{20}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>, hole concentrations can be lower than  $10^{17}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> at room temperature since the room temperature thermal energy (kT) of 26 meV is at best an order of magnitude lower than the activation energy of the Mg dopant atoms [29,30]. Despite significant efforts to increase the effectiveness of p-type doping, the resistivity of p-type AlGaN still remains very high compared to that of p-GaN, and actively limits the IQE of DUV LEDs. Efforts to increase hole concentration in p-AlGaN through physical doping of Mg to near degenerate levels has the downside of producing marked increases in defect density, creating point defects which can act as recombination centers in the bulk p-AlGaN outside of the QW, further limiting  $\eta_{INJ}$  [2]. One method that has been explored to improve the series resistance of AlGaN LEDs is the use of lower resistivity p-GaN in place of p-AlGaN. While this approach is effective at reducing series resistance and increasing the IQE of DUV LEDs, it negatively impacts  $\eta_{EXT}$  as p-GaN, with its lower

bandgap of around 3.4 eV, strongly absorbs DUV light. Other techniques for improving p-type resistivity, such as polarization doping [31], short period superlattices [32], and alternative p-type materials such as hexagonal boron-nitride (h-BN) [33] are also under investigation.

In addition to difficulties with p-type doping, electron overflow also decreases  $\eta_{INJ}$  in AlGaN DUV LEDs. As a result of the imbalance of electron and hole concentrations on the n- and p-sides of the QW/MQW, more electrons are injected into the QW than holes. This accumulation of electrons, especially at high injection current densities, eventually leads to "electron overflow," in which excess electrons leak into the p-type region, neutralizing holes and further lowering the injection rate of holes into the QW [34]. Electron overflow is usually combated through use of an electron blocking layer (EBL), which improves the confinement of electrons within the QW/MQW region, at the tradeoff of lowering hole injection efficiency. Extensive effort has been devoted to engineering of the electron blocking layer to maximize electron confinement while maintaining a minimal impact on hole injection. Recent approaches include use of AlN inserted EBLs [35], superlattice EBLs [36], and engineering of the last QB in tandem with the EBL [34].

The wide bandgap of the AlGaN used in DUV LEDs also causes contact resistance issues. It is difficult to obtain a sufficiently low p-AlGaN/metal barrier height to allow for truly ohmic I-V characteristics, which further impacts  $\eta_{INJ}$  [37]. Contacts with large barrier heights, termed "Schottky contacts," introduce an additional voltage drop to the device, raising the turn on voltage. High work function metals such as Ni, Au, Pt, and Pd are most commonly used, with Ni/Au being the most common [37,38]. Despite extensive investigation and optimization of different metal stacks to obtain more ohmic contacts, the most effective approach to reducing p-contact resistance is to grow a thin layer (< 50 nm) of highly doped p-GaN on top of the p-AlGaN, which allows much lower contact resistance to be achieved. However, this reduced contact resistance comes at the tradeoff of increased absorption of DUV light by the p-GaN layer [37,38].

#### 1.5.2 The Quantum Confined Stark Effect and Radiative Recombination Efficiency

One of the limiting problems of DUV LEDs is the quantum confined stark effect (QCSE), a phenomenon in which the high strength internal electric fields in AlGaN QWs confine the electron and hole wavefunctions to opposite sides of the QW, which reduces the electron-hole wavefunction overlap and reduces the spontaneous emission radiative recombination rate ( $R_{sp}$ ). Reduction of  $R_{sp}$  directly reduces  $\eta_{RAD}$  by reducing the probability of radiative recombination events, meaning that a higher proportion of electron-hole recombination events are non-radiative. A number of different approaches have been investigated as a means to alleviate the QCSE, including the use of non-/semi-polar AlGaN grown on non-/semi-polar substrates [39], staggered AlGaN QWs [40], strain-compensated AlGaN QWs [41], type-II AlGaN QWs [42], and AlGaN-delta-GaN QWs [43]. Of these approaches, many have been found quite effective at either reducing internal electric field intensity or increasing electron-hole wavefunction overlap through band structure engineering.

In addition to mitigating the QCSE to improve  $R_{sp}$ ,  $\eta_{RAD}$  can also be improved by reducing the probability of non-radiative recombination events. As described in Section 1.1.3.2, SRH recombination is the primary non-radiative recombination mechanism at low to moderate current densities. SRH recombination relies on the presence of crystal defects, which act as trap states within the bandgap, allowing electrons to recombine indirectly into the valance band without producing a photon. In AlGaN, crystal defects are usually related to threading dislocations (TDDs) which originate from lattice mismatch between the AlGaN epitaxial layers and the substrate (usually sapphire) [44,45]. Growth of low TDD AlGaN layers has seen significant improvement over the past decade as growth techniques have advanced, and several research groups have demonstrated that IQE can be increased from less than 1% to more than 60% through a two order of magnitude reduction in active region TDD from  $10^{10}$  cm<sup>-2</sup> to  $10^8$  cm<sup>-2</sup> [28,46–48]. These results show that it is critically important to reduce TDD to at least  $10^8$  cm<sup>-2</sup> in order to achieve high IQE in DUV LEDs.

# 1.5.3 Emission Polarization and Light Extraction Efficiency

The most significant issue hindering the efficiency of DUV LEDs is light extraction efficiency. Conventional GaN/InGaN blue LEDs can have extraction efficiencies in excess of 80% [29], while DUV LEDs typically have extraction efficiencies of less than 10%. This is due several issues, including a large refractive index difference between AlGaN and air, which limits the escape cone for light [49], absorption of light by the p-GaN often grown to improve p-contact resistance, reabsorption of light by the QW and defects, and undesirable TM-polarization due to valence band mixing.

The high refractive index of AlGaN alloys, generally between 2.6 and 2.8 in the DUV range [50], severely limits the ability of photons generated within the QW to escape the LED into free space. Escape of photons from an LED is governed by Snell's Law, a simple relation between angle of incidence of a photon on a material interface and the refractive indices of the materials on either side of said interface. Manipulation of Snell's Law yields a formula for the "critical angle,"  $\theta_c$ , given below, measured with respect to the surface normal of the interface, where  $n_1$  is the refractive index of the material in which the

light is propagating (air), and n<sub>2</sub> is the refractive index of the material in which the light is generated (AlGaN).

$$\theta_c = \sin^{-1} \left( n_1 / n_2 \right) \tag{1.5.2}$$

It is evident from equation 1.5.2 that the larger the difference between  $n_1$  and  $n_2$ , the smaller the critical angle. Light incident upon the interface with an angle greater than  $\theta_c$  will be completely reflected in a phenomenon referred to a "total internal reflection" (TIR). For light crossing an interface from AlGaN ( $n \sim 2.5$ ) into air ( $n_{air} = 1$ ), the critical angle is  $\theta_c = 23.6^\circ$ . The concept of a critical angle can be translated into that of an "escape cone" in three-dimensional space through rotation of the critical angle around the surface normal, giving rise to a cone outside of which all light incident on the interface will be completed reflected. The solid angle encompassed by this escape cone can, in turn, be used to calculate light extraction efficiency theoretically. Equation 1-3 gives the  $\eta_{EXT}$  as a function of  $\theta_c$ .

$$\eta_{EXT} = 1/2 \left( 1 - \cos(\theta_c) \right) \tag{1.5.3}$$

From equation 1.5.3, a critical angle of  $23.6^{\circ}$  translates to an extraction efficiency of  $\eta_{EXT} = 4.18\%$ , which is extremely poor. In additional to this geometric constraint, absorption of DUV light by the p-GaN layer, which has a much lower bandgap (~3.4 eV) than the AlGaN QW, and defect sites in the epitaxial layers also plays a significant role in lowering the extraction efficiency of DUV LEDs.

Transverse magnetic (TM) polarized photons have their magnetic field component in plane/parallel with the QW layer, and have a greatly reduced effective critical angle, making them much more difficult to extract from a conventional, planar mesa LED. While

visible light LEDs emit almost no TM-polarized photons, the same is not true for DUV LEDs. The fraction of photons with TM-polarization increases with Al-content due to a phenomenon called valence band mixing. In valance band mixing, rearrangement of the valence subbands, primarily the heavy hole (HH), light hole (LH), and crystal-field split-off hole (CH) bands occurs as the Al content of an AlGaN QW is increased. In GaN and low Al-content AlGaN, most electrons recombine into the HH subband, which has a band edge closest to that of the conduction band. As Al content is increased, the HH, LH, and CH subbands move closer to one another, until the CH subband eventually rises above the HH and LH subbands at an Al content of ~70% [51]. Light emission from a CB-HH recombination event is transverse electric (TE) polarized, with the electric field component of the emitted photon in-plane with the QW (perpendicular to the AlGaN c-axis) [52]. On the other hand, light emission from a CB-CH recombination event is transverse magnetic (TM) polarized, with the magnetic field component of the emitted photon in-plane with the QW [52]. As such, as emission wavelength is decreased by increasing the Al-content of the AlGaN QW,  $\eta_{EXT}$  decreases due to an increase the fraction of photons with TM-polarization. This issue can be addressed, in theory, through the use of delta-QW designs, which alter the polarization properties of the QW to reduce the fraction of photons emitted with TM-polarization [43,53].

# **1.6 Motivations and Dissertation Organization**

Many obstacles still exist in the development of high efficiency ultraviolet LEDs. In 2024, the penetration of UV LEDs, in particular DUV LEDs, into many of their potential applications remains very limited due to the low efficiencies of these emitters, especially when compared to their blue emitting counterparts. Chapter 1 has introduced relevant

background information, providing a summary of LED fundamentals and the limitations of modern DUV LEDs. Chapter 2 will provide a summary of the current state of DUV LEDs, and the different methods currently being implemented to improve light extraction efficiency. This will include discussion of fabrication approaches such as surface roughening and substrate patterning, photonic crystals and reflective contacts, microlens arrays and nanostructuring, p-AlGaN contact layers, and nanowire arrays. Chapter 3 will introduce and give detailed descriptions of experimental methods and fabrication processes for light emitting diodes in the facilities available on the campus of the Rochester Institute of Technology. Detailed process information for photolithography, dry etching, wet etching, metallization, dielectric deposition, and physical and electro-optical characterization will be provided in order to allow for replication of presented results. Chapter 4 covers the core research of this dissertation; the development of top-down fabricated, electrically driven DUV nanowire array LEDs and micro-LEDs. Also included in Chapter 4 is an finite-difference time-domain (FDTD) simulation study of light extraction efficiency which explores the effects of micro/nanostructure geometry and light polarization on extraction efficiency. While much research has been performed on epitaxially grown nanowire array DUV LEDs, no top-down fabricated, electrically driven DUV nanowire/nanostructure array LEDs have yet been demonstrated in literature. This dissertation presents the first realizations of such devices. Chapter 4 concludes with a summary of future prospects and directions for this research. Chapters 5 compiles projects not directly related to DUV LEDs, including simulation-based development of InGaN/delta-InN quantum wells for high efficiency red emission, green emitting

micropillar arrays LEDs, passive matrix micro-LED displays, nanowire quantum dot single photon emitters, and nanosphere arrays for enhanced light outcoupling for mesa LEDs.

# **Chapter 1 References**

- 1. "Energy Savings Forecast of Solid-State Lighting in General Illumination Applications," 128 (2018).
- 2. E. F. Schubert, *Light-Emitting Diodes*, 2nd ed. (Cambridge University Press, 2006).
- 3. H. J. Round, "A Note on Carborundum," Electrical World **49**, 309 (1907).
- 4. O. V. Lossev, "CII. Luminous carborundum detector and detection effect and oscillations with crystals," The London, Edinburgh, and Dublin Philosophical Magazine and Journal of Science **6**(39), 1024–1044 (1928).
- 5. J. Cho, J. H. Park, J. K. Kim, and E. F. Schubert, "White light-emitting diodes: History, progress, and future: White light-emitting diodes," Laser & Photonics Reviews 11(2), 1600147 (2017).
- 6. S. Nakamura and M. Krames, "History of Gallium–Nitride-Based Light-Emitting Diodes for Illumination," Proceedings of the SPIE **101**(10), 2211 (2013).
- 7. J. D. Plummer, M. D. Deal, and P. B. Griffin, *Silicon VLSI Technology: Fundamentals, Practice and Modeling* (Prentice Hall, 2000).
- 8. D. A. Neamen, *Microelectronics: Circuit Analysis and Design* (McGraw-Hill, 2010).
- 9. E. R. Gonzaga, "Role of UV Light in Photodamage, Skin Aging, and Skin Cancer: Importance of Photoprotection," American Journal of Clinical Dermatology **10**(Supplement 1), 19–24 (2009).
- 10. W. Szeto, W. C. Yam, H. Huang, and D. Y. C. Leung, "The efficacy of vacuum-ultraviolet light disinfection of some common environmental pathogens," BMC Infect Dis **20**(1), 127 (2020).
- 11. J. A. Dever, B. A. Banks, and L. Yan, "Effects of Vacuum Ultraviolet Radiation on DC93-500 Silicone," Journal of Spacecraft and Rockets **43**(2), 386–392 (2006).
- 12. S. I. Ahmad, L. Christensen, and E. Baron, "History of UV Lamps, Types, and Their Applications," in *Ultraviolet Light in Human Health, Diseases and Environment*, S. I. Ahmad, ed., Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology (Springer International Publishing, 2017), pp. 3–11.
- 13. M. Kneissl, T.-Y. Seong, J. Han, and H. Amano, "The emergence and prospects of deepultraviolet light-emitting diode technologies," Nat. Photonics **13**(4), 233–244 (2019).
- 14. L. M. Hinds, C. P. O'Donnell, M. Akhter, and B. K. Tiwari, "Principles and mechanisms of ultraviolet light emitting diode technology for food industry applications," Innovative Food Science & Emerging Technologies **56**, 102153 (2019).
- 15. K. Song, M. Mohseni, and F. Taghipour, "Application of ultraviolet light-emitting diodes (UV-LEDs) for water disinfection: A review," Water Research **94**, 341–349 (2016).
- 16. L.-Z. Qiu, S.-Y. Wei, H.-S. Xu, Z.-X. Zhang, Z.-Y. Guo, X.-G. Chen, S.-Y. Liu, D. Wu, and L.-B. Luo, "Ultrathin Polymer Nanofibrils for Solar-Blind Deep Ultraviolet Light Photodetectors Application," Nano Lett. **20**(1), 644–651 (2020).
- J. Y. Tsao, S. Chowdhury, M. A. Hollis, D. Jena, N. M. Johnson, K. A. Jones, R. J. Kaplar, S. Rajan, C. G. V. de Walle, E. Bellotti, C. L. Chua, R. Collazo, M. E. Coltrin, J. A. Cooper, K. R. Evans, S. Graham, T. A. Grotjohn, E. R. Heller, M. Higashiwaki, M. S. Islam, P. W. Juodawlkis, M. A. Khan, A. D. Koehler, J. H. Leach, U. K. Mishra, R. J. Nemanich, R. C. N. Pilawa-Podgurski, J. B. Shealy, Z. Sitar, M. J. Tadjer, A. F. Witulski, M. Wraback, and J. A. Simmons, "Ultrawide-Bandgap Semiconductors: Research Opportunities and Challenges," Advanced Electronic Materials 4(1), 1600501 (2018).
- 18. S. Koizumi, K. Watanabe, M. Hasegawa, and H. Kanda, "Ultraviolet Emission from a Diamond pn Junction," Science **292**(5523), 1899–1901 (2001).
- 19. M. Á. Caro Bayo, "Theory of elasticity and electric polarization effects in the group-III nitrides," PhD Dissertation, University College Cork (2013)

- D. Carvalho, K. Müller-Caspary, M. Schowalter, T. Grieb, T. Mehrtens, A. Rosenauer, T. Ben, R. García, A. Redondo-Cubero, K. Lorenz, B. Daudin, and F. M. Morales, "Direct Measurement of Polarization-Induced Fields in GaN/AlN by Nano-Beam Electron Diffraction," Sci Rep 6(1), 28459 (2016).
- 21. J. Emsley, *The Elements*, 3rd edition (Oxford University Press, 1998).
- 22. S.-H. Park and S.-L. Chuang, "Spontaneous polarization effects in wurtzite GaN/AlGaN quantum wells and comparison with experiment," Appl. Phys. Lett. **76**(15), 1981–1983 (2000).
- 23. T. Kente and S. D. Mhlanga, "Gallium nitride nanostructures: Synthesis, characterization and applications," Journal of Crystal Growth **444**, 55–72 (2016).
- 24. S. R. Lee, A. F. Wright, M. H. Crawford, G. A. Petersen, J. Han, and R. M. Biefeld, "The band-gap bowing of AlxGa1–xN alloys," Appl. Phys. Lett. **74**(22), 3344–3346 (1999).
- 25. M. Auf der Maur, A. Pecchia, G. Penazzi, W. Rodrigues, and A. Di Carlo, "Efficiency Drop in Green InGaN / GaN Light Emitting Diodes: The Role of Random Alloy Fluctuations," Phys. Rev. Lett. **116**(2), 027401 (2016).
- H. Amano, R. Collazo, C. D. Santi, S. Einfeldt, M. Funato, J. Glaab, S. Hagedorn, A. Hirano, H. Hirayama, R. Ishii, Y. Kashima, Y. Kawakami, R. Kirste, M. Kneissl, R. Martin, F. Mehnke, M. Meneghini, A. Ougazzaden, P. J. Parbrook, S. Rajan, P. Reddy, F. Römer, J. Ruschel, B. Sarkar, F. Scholz, L. J. Schowalter, P. Shields, Z. Sitar, L. Sulmoni, T. Wang, T. Wernicke, M. Weyers, B. Witzigmann, Y.-R. Wu, T. Wunderer, and Y. Zhang, "The 2020 UV emitter roadmap," J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. 53(50), 503001 (2020).
- 27. S. Zhao, J. Lu, X. Hai, and X. Yin, "AlGaN Nanowires for Ultraviolet Light-Emitting: Recent Progress, Challenges, and Prospects," Micromachines **11**(2), 125 (2020).
- 28. T. Takano, T. Mino, J. Sakai, N. Noguchi, K. Tsubaki, and H. Hirayama, "Deep-ultraviolet light-emitting diodes with external quantum efficiency higher than 20% at 275 nm achieved by improving light-extraction efficiency," Appl. Phys. Express **10**(3), 031002 (2017).
- 29. M. Kneissel and J. Rass, *III-Nitride Ultraviolet Emitters: Technology and Applications* (Springer International Publishing, 2016).
- 30. P. Pampili and P. J. Parbrook, "Doping of III-nitride materials," Materials Science in Semiconductor Processing 62, 180–191 (2017).
- 31. P. Kivisaari, J. Oksanen, and J. Tulkki, "Polarization doping and the efficiency of III-nitride optoelectronic devices," Appl. Phys. Lett. **103**(21), 211118 (2013).
- 32. S. M. Islam, K. Lee, J. Verma, V. Protasenko, S. Rouvimov, S. Bharadwaj, H. (Grace) Xing, and D. Jena, "MBE-grown 232–270 nm deep-UV LEDs using monolayer thin binary GaN/AlN quantum heterostructures," Appl. Phys. Lett. **110**(4), 041108 (2017).
- D. A. Laleyan, S. Zhao, S. Y. Woo, H. N. Tran, H. B. Le, T. Szkopek, H. Guo, G. A. Botton, and Z. Mi, "AlN/h-BN Heterostructures for Mg Dopant-Free Deep Ultraviolet Photonics," Nano Lett. 17(6), 3738–3743 (2017).
- Z. Liu, H. Yu, Z. Ren, J. Dai, C. Chen, and H. Sun, "Polarization-engineered AlGaN last quantum barrier for efficient deep-ultraviolet light-emitting diodes," Semicond. Sci. Technol. 35(7), 075021 (2020).
- S. Liu, C. Ye, X. Cai, S. Li, W. Lin, and J. Kang, "Performance enhancement of AlGaN deepultraviolet light-emitting diodes with varied superlattice barrier electron blocking layer," Appl. Phys. A 122(5), 527 (2016).
- X. Chen, Y. Yin, D. Wang, and G. Fan, "Investigation of AlGaN-Based Deep-Ultraviolet Light-Emitting Diodes with AlInGaN/AlInGaN Superlattice Electron Blocking Layer," Journal of Elec Materi 48(4), 2572–2576 (2019).
- 37. Z. F. Hu, X. Y. Li, and Y. Zhang, "Characteristics of Ni/Au/Ni/Au ohmic contact in a p-AlGaN/GaN semiconductor," IOP Conf. Ser.: Mater. Sci. Eng. **770**, 012018 (2020).

- T. Passow, R. Gutt, M. Maier, W. Pletschen, M. Kunzer, R. Schmidt, J. Wiegert, D. Luick, S. Liu, K. Köhler, and J. Wagner, "Ni/Ag as low resistive ohmic contact to p-type AlGaN for UV LEDs," in K. P. Streubel, H. Jeon, L.-W. Tu, and N. Linder, eds. (2010), p. 76171I.
- S. Zhao, A. T. Connie, M. H. T. Dastjerdi, X. H. Kong, Q. Wang, M. Djavid, S. Sadaf, X. D. Liu, I. Shih, H. Guo, and Z. Mi, "Aluminum nitride nanowire light emitting diodes: Breaking the fundamental bottleneck of deep ultraviolet light sources," Sci Rep 5(1), 8332 (2015).
- 40. M. Zhang, Y. Li, S. Chen, W. Tian, J. Xu, X. Li, Z. Wu, Y. Fang, J. Dai, and C. Chen, "Performance improvement of AlGaN-based deep ultraviolet light-emitting diodes by using staggered quantum wells," Superlattices and Microstructures **75**, 63–71 (2014).
- H. Zhao, R. A. Arif, Y. Ee, and N. Tansu, "Self-Consistent Analysis of Strain-Compensated InGaN–AlGaN Quantum Wells for Lasers and Light-Emitting Diodes," IEEE Journal of Quantum Electronics 45(1), 66–78 (2009).
- 42. Y. Li, Y. Zhu, M. Wang, H. Deng, and H. Yin, "Improvement of TE-polarized emission in type-II InAlN–AlGaN/AlGaN quantum well," Chinese Phys. B **28**(9), 097801 (2019).
- 43. C. Liu, B. Melanson, and J. Zhang, "AlGaN-Delta-GaN Quantum Well for DUV LEDs," Photonics 7(4), (2020).
- 44. M. A. Moram, C. S. Ghedia, D. V. S. Rao, J. S. Barnard, Y. Zhang, M. J. Kappers, and C. J. Humphreys, "On the origin of threading dislocations in GaN films," Journal of Applied Physics **106**(7), 073513 (2009).
- V. Iglesias, M. Porti, C. Couso, Q. Wu, S. Claramunt, M. Nafría, E. Miranda, N. Domingo, G. Bersuker, and A. Cordes, "Threading dislocations in III-V semiconductors: Analysis of electrical conduction," in 2015 IEEE International Reliability Physics Symposium (2015), p. CD.4.1-CD.4.6.
- 46. H. Hirayama, S. Fujikawa, N. Noguchi, J. Norimatsu, T. Takano, K. Tsubaki, and N. Kamata, "222–282 nm AlGaN and InAlGaN-based deep-UV LEDs fabricated on high-quality AlN on sapphire," physica status solidi (a) **206**(6), 1176–1182 (2009).
- 47. H. Hirayama, T. Yatabe, N. Noguchi, T. Ohashi, and N. Kamata, "231–261nm AlGaN deepultraviolet light-emitting diodes fabricated on AlN multilayer buffers grown by ammonia pulse-flow method on sapphire," Appl. Phys. Lett. **91**(7), 071901 (2007).
- 48. H. Hirayama, S. Fujikawa, and N. Kamata, "Recent Progress in AlGaN-Based Deep-UV LEDs," Electronics and Communications in Japan **98**(5), 1–8 (2015).
- 49. M. Anani, H. Abid, Z. Chama, C. Mathieu, A. Sayede, and B. Khelifa, "InxGa1–xN refractive index calculations," Microelectronics Journal **38**(2), 262–266 (2007).
- J. F. Muth, J. D. Brown, M. A. L. Johnson, Z. Yu, R. M. Kolbas, J. W. Cook, and J. F. Schetzina, "Absorption Coefficient and Refractive Index of GaN, AlN and AlGaN Alloys," MRS Internet j. nitride semicond. res. 4(S1), 502–507 (1999).
- 51. C. Liu, "Polarization Engineering for Deep-Ultraviolet Light-Emitting Diodes," Theses (2020).
- 52. J. Zhang, H. Zhao, and N. Tansu, "Effect of crystal-field split-off hole and heavy-hole bands crossover on gain characteristics of high Al-content AlGaN quantum well lasers," Appl. Phys. Lett. **97**(11), 111105 (2010).
- 53. J. Zhang, H. Zhao, and N. Tansu, "Large optical gain AlGaN-delta-GaN quantum wells laser active regions in mid- and deep-ultraviolet spectral regimes," Appl. Phys. Lett. **98**(17), 171111 (2011).
- 54. "Synopsys Rsoft," (2021).

# CHAPTER 2: Approaches for Light Extraction Enhancement in Deep-Ultraviolet LEDs

## **2.1 Planar Devices**

As discussed in Section 1.5.3, light extraction efficiency is the most significant hurdle hindering the development of high efficiency deep-ultraviolet LEDs. As such, there have been extensive research efforts directed at improving light extraction from DUV LEDs over the past ten years. The vast majority of these efforts have focused on methods of improving light extraction from conventional mesa LEDs, with many finding moderate success. Figure 2.1.1 summarizes the current status of DUV LED research. The majority of DUV LEDs have EQEs of 1-5% [1], with the current record standing at 20% (at 275 nm), fabricated by Takano et. al. using a combination of efficiency enhancement techniques [2]. Typical mesa DUV LEDs conform to two paradigms. Top emitting devices are LEDs which are designed to emit light away from the growth substrate (usually sapphire), and as such must minimize the area of the mesa covered by the metal p-contact. Bottom emitting devices are LEDs designed to emit light through their growth substrate. These devices typically use reflective p-contact layers to cover the entire top of the mesa in order to minimize escape of light from the top of the LED. The methods available to increase light extraction efficiency depend on the intended emission direction of the LED and are summarized in the following sections.



Figure 2.1.1: EQEs of planar UV LEDs developed in the past 20 years, showing the trend of EQE increasing with wavelength. The dip in EQE around 320 nm is due primarily to lack of research interest in this wavelength range. Reprinted with permission [1].

## 2.1.1 Substrate Patterning and Surface Roughening

Substrate patterning and surface roughening are commonly used techniques not only for fabrication of DUV LEDs but also for visible wavelength LEDs [2–9]. Substrate patterning usually consists of patterning the top of the sapphire substrate prior to growth of the AlGaN epitaxial layers. The primary purpose of substrate patterning is not actually to increase  $\eta_{EXT}$ , but rather to improve the quality of the AlGaN growth and reduce strain and strain related defects in the AlGaN epitaxial layers [2–9]. The added benefit of increasing  $\eta_{EXT}$  comes when it is used in a bottom emitting LED, where light extraction across the sapphire/(AlGaN/AlN) interface is aided by the presence of a non-planar interface interrupted by a periodic array of micro/nanostructures. Patterning of the sapphire is usually achieved using a SiO<sub>2</sub> masked dry etch of the sapphire using a Cl<sub>2</sub> plasma to form periodic arrays of structures between several hundred nanometers and several microns in diameters as can be seen in Figure 2.1.2(a). Patterned sapphire substrates are commonly used in the fabrication of commercial LEDs and were also used in the fabrication of the highest EQE DUV LED to date, emitting at 275 nm with an approximate EQE of 20% [2]. Substrate patterning is not desirable for use in surface emitting DUV LEDs, as it decreases the reflectivity of the sapphire/(AlGaN/AlN) interface, reducing the amount of light which can be extracted from the top of the LED.

Surface roughening is also a commonly used approach for increasing light extraction in both DUV LED and visible light LEDs [10–16]. In top emitting LEDs, surface roughening is generally accomplished by performing a rough dry etch of the p-GaN surface, followed by a short hydroxyl-based wet etch which leads to formation of either etch pits or nano-pyramids, as seen in Figure 2.1.2(b). These small structures disrupt the total internal reflection (TIR) or light incident upon the p-GaN/air interface, increasing the effective escape cone of the light and increasing extraction efficiency. While it is possible to use surface roughening for top emitting DUV LEDs in the manner described above, it is more commonly used in bottom emitting devices. For example, the bottom of the sapphire substrate can be roughened using dry etching, wet etching, or mechanical abrasion in order widen the escape cone for light crossing the sapphire/air interface in bottom emitting DUV LEDs. Additionally, some devices which use laser liftoff (LLO) to separate the AlGaN



Figure 2.1.2: SEM images showing a patterned sapphire substrate (a) [17] and surface roughening of GaN (b) [13]. Reprinted with permission [13, 17].

epitaxial layers from the sapphire substrate make use of surface roughening to improve extraction of light from the n-AlGaN surface [11,13]. In these devices, the LED structure is fabricated and metallized before being removed from the growth substrate and inverted on a carrier wafer, with the n-AlGaN layer now on top [11,13]. A hydroxyl-based wet etch is then used to form the nano-pyramid structures shows in Figure 2.1.2(b), increasing  $\eta_{EXT}$ [11,13].

## 2.1.2 Photonic Crystals and Reflective Contacts

Photonic crystals have been investigated as means to either reflect or transmit light at what would otherwise be a planar interface. A photonic crystal (PC) is a periodic array of micro/nanostructures which interacts with photons in a similar manner to how an atomic lattice interacts with electrons. A photonic crystal can be designed to either reflect or transmit certain wavelengths of light by altering the size and pitch of the micro/nanostructures. This allows PCs to be used as either reflective layers in bottom emitting LEDs, or as extraction assisting layers in top emitting LEDs [18–26]. In bottom to reflect light out through the substrate [20]. In a top emitting LED, a transmissive photonic crystal can be fabricated on top of the p-GaN layer to aid in extraction of light from the top of the LED [23]. Figure 2.1.3 shows a photonic crystal fabricated in AlGaN using a combination of  $Cl_2$  based dry etching and hydroxyl-based wet etching.



Figure 2.1.3: An SEM image of a photonic crystal fabricated in AlGaN using a combination of wet and dry etching. Reprinted with permission [23].

While PCs can in theory be more reflective than a layer of metal, one major downside is the added complexity and number of process steps required to form a reflective photonic crystal. As such, reflective metal contacts are more commonly used to increase light extraction in bottom emitting devices [2,27–33]. Optimization of metal contact reflectivity considers several factors, including thickness of the metal layers included in the contact stack, the extinction coefficients of the metals, the deposition method used, and the work function of the metals. Often times the most reflective metal for a certain wavelength cannot be used as a contact because its work function does not allow it to form an ohmic contact the n-AlGaN, p-AlGaN, or p-GaN beneath it, which negatively effects

the electrical properties of the LED and increases turn-on voltage. Common metals/metal stacks used as reflective p-contacts include Pd/Al [31], Ni/Au [29], and Ni/Al [27], while Cr/Al [28,29] and Al/Ti [30] are commonly used as reflective n-contacts.

## 2.1.3 Microlens Arrays and Nanostructuring

Microlens arrays have also been investigated as means to enhance light extraction from top emitting LEDs [34–43]. The advantage of microlens arrays is that they avoid the need for any sort of lithography or added process steps. Microlens arrays are typically fabricated by spin-coating nanosphere solutions onto the surface of the LED. Given the right concentration and spin speed these nanospheres will self-align to produce hexagonally close packed arrays with very good long- and short-range uniformity. SiO<sub>2</sub> nanospheres are often used as they have a refractive index between that of air and AlGaN, producing a sort of "graded index" profile which aids in light extraction. Polystyrene (PS) is then spin coated over the nanospheres to fill in between them and eliminate gaps between the spheres and the LED surface as shown in Figs. 2.4(a-b). The similar refractive indices of SiO<sub>2</sub> and PS (1.46 and 1.58 respectively) allow the resulting structures to act like lenses, disrupting total internal reflection and enhancing  $\eta_{EXT}$  [38].



Figure 2.1.4: SEM images showing SiO<sub>2</sub>/PS microlens arrays (a-b) [35,36] and nanostructured AlGaN (c) [44]. Reprinted with permission [35, 36, 44] © Optical Society of America, © IEEE.

Surface nanostructuring is also sometimes used to improve light extraction [44-46]. In contrast to substrate pattering, surface roughening, or photonic crystal formation, surface nanostructuring can be performed on either p-AlGaN, n-AlGaN, or sapphire, allowing it to be used in either top or bottom emitting devices. Surface roughening does not attempt to reflect or transmit light like a photonic crystal and is essentially a less refined version of the former, which serves only to disrupt total-internal reflection and widen the escape cone of light. Surface nanostructuring can be performed either by patterning and etching the p-/n-AlGaN or sapphire surfaces, or by depositing another material such as SiO<sub>2</sub> or Si<sub>3</sub>N<sub>4</sub> and forming nanostructure arrays in that layer. An SEM image of nanostructured AlGaN is shown in Figure 2.1.4(c) and appears similar to a photonic crystal or microlens array.

# 2.1.4 p-AlGaN Contact Layers

Use of a p-GaN contact has a significant negative impact on light extraction in DUV LEDs [47]. The 365 nm (3.4 eV) bandgap of GaN is much lower than that of the DUV light emitted by the LED QW, and thus strongly absorbs the emitted light. Most DUV LEDs use a highly doped p-GaN contact layer to improve contact resistance due to difficulties in obtaining sufficient Mg dopant ionization in p-AlGaN. As such a trade-off exists between  $\eta_{EXT}$  and IQE. Recently research has been focused on replacing the p-GaN contact layer with a "transparent" p-AlGaN layer which is both transparent to the emitted light and doped sufficiently to allow for sufficiently low resistivity and formation of an ohmic p-contact [2,47–53]. As the high activation energy of Mg dopant atoms in p-AlGaN appears to be a permanent barrier to attainment of low resistance conventional p-AlGaN contact layers, complex new approaches such as polarization doping have recently been explored as means to reduce resistivity [52,54–56]. Polarization doping utilizes compositional grading during

the growth process to decrease the Al fraction of the p-AlGaN layer along the growth direction, leading to a net negative polarization charge [55]. This has been found to dramatically improve the p-type conductivity of these graded AlGaN films when compared to conventional Mg-doped AlGaN. It is likely that advancements in p-AlGaN growth will soon allow the benefits of a transparent p-AlGaN layer to supersede its current drawbacks of higher resistivity and contact resistance.

#### 2.2 Nanowires

While many advances have been made in improving the light extraction efficiency of mesa DUV LEDs over the past decade, there remain significant challenges facing these devices. Mesa LEDs become fundamentally limited at shorter wavelengths as TM-polarized emission becomes more prevalent as described in Section 1.5.3. TM-polarized emission is much more difficult to extract from the tops of mesa LEDs, as the transverse magnetic component of TM-polarized photons drastically reduces their effective escape angle when compared to that of TE-polarized photons. Fortunately, TM-polarized light is much easier to extract through vertical surfaces, such as mesa sidewalls. Unfortunately, the dimensions of mesa LEDs are usually large enough that photons are reabsorbed by either the p-GaN layer or materials defects before they reach the edges of the mesa. The simple solution to this is to simply reduce the dimensions of the mesa so that TM-polarized photons can escape through the mesa sidewalls before being absorbed. Micro-LEDs are a perfect example of this, and generally have much higher extraction efficiencies than larger LEDs with dimensions on the order of 100+ microns. For bulk lighting applications, which



Figure 2.2.1: Schematic showing extraction (arrow) or absorption (x) of light in a planar mesa DUV LED (a), and a nanowire DUV LED (b).

make up the majority of applications for DUV LEDs, using many individually addressed micro-LEDs is very cost prohibitive. While the high costs associated with micro-LEDs can be tolerated for applications such as ultra-high resolution near eye displays and wearable devices, the same cannot be said for DUV LED arrays meant to purify water or neutralize pathogens in a hospital. As such, a simpler method of increasing the "sidewall area" of DUV LEDs is needed and can be accomplished through use of nanowire arrays. Figure 2.2.1 shows the effects of nanowire formation on extraction of light from a DUV LED. In the mesa LED in Figure 2.2.1(a), the majority of light is trapped inside the LED structure by TIR and is absorbed before it can escape through the mesa sidewalls. In the nanowire

shown in Figure 2.2.1(b), almost all light is able to escape due to the reduced lateral dimensions of the structure.

While nanowires undoubtedly enable large increases in extraction efficiency, especially for TM-polarized light, they come at the tradeoff of reduced active region area. For example, a 100x100  $\mu$ m mesa LED has an active region volume of 10,000 um<sup>2</sup>. A 100x100  $\mu$ m nanowire array consisting of 1  $\mu$ m diameter nanowires with a pitch of 2  $\mu$ m would have an active region area of only 1,960  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup>, less than 1/5 that of the mesa LED. As such, the reduction of active region area must be considered when making claims of improved extraction efficiency and EQE. Another factor that must be considered is the far field radiation pattern of nanowires arrays, which quantifies the direction with which light is emitted. These factors must all ultimately be considered when designing nanowire DUV LEDs, however the main focus of current DUV nanowire LED research is the optimization of light extraction efficiency. There are two methods of fabrication nanowires: bottom-up epitaxial growth, and top-down etching. The following sections discuss these approaches, giving the pros and cons of each.

#### 2.2.1 Epitaxial Nanowires

The majority of research on DUV nanowire LEDs has thus far centered on epitaxially grown nanowires created using metal organic chemical vapor deposition (MOCVD) or molecular beam epitaxy (MBE) [26,57–67]. The main advantage of this approach is that, given the ability to grow AlGaN nanowires with in-situ doping, very little additional fabrication is required. Epitaxial growth of nanowires requires extensive knowledge and optimization of growth parameters such as temperature, gas flow/atom flux rates, and growth substrate surface preparation. Epitaxial growth of nanowires results in formation of densely packed, disordered arrays of irregular nanowires as shown can be seen in Figure 2.2.2. As previously stated, the advantage of this approach is that once the nanowires are grown, very little additional fabrication must be performed to produce an electrically driven device. Because the nanowires are so closely packed, it is possible to simply deposit a thin metal contact on top of the nanowire array to act as the p-contact. Unfortunately, the non-uniformity of these arrays makes the nearly impossible to ensure that all nanowires are electrically connected. Gaps between nanowires create discontinuities in the metal layer, which create longer resistive pathways to some regions of the area addressed by the p-contact. The metal layer must remain thin in order to be transparent to UV light and thus cannot effectively bridge the gaps between nanowires. The lack of a transparent conductive material which is transparent in the DUV range necessitates the use of metal in formation of the p-contact, and severely limits the



Figure 2.2.2: SEM images of epitaxial AlGaN nanowires grown using MBE (a) [58] and MOCVD (b) [66]. Reprinted with permission [58, 66].

performance of these disordered nanowire array LED. Indium tin oxide (ITO) is a transparent conductive material which can be used as a p-contact for visible light LEDs, however its bandgap of ~4 eV means it strongly absorbs DUV light and thus cannot be

used in DUV LEDs. Additionally, the close proximity of these nanowires makes light trapping a significant issue. Light emitted from the nanowire sides is easily trapped within the nanowire array with no way to escape, eliminating the key advantage nanowire LEDs are supposed to have over mesa LEDs. Selective area epitaxy (SAE) can be used to avoid many of the issues present in disordered arrays of epitaxial nanowires [68,69]. In SAE,



Figure 2.2.3: SEM images of epitaxial AlGaN nanowires grown using MBE and selective area epitaxy. Reprinted with permission [68, 69].

patterns are first created on the growth substrate using a material such as  $SiO_2$ , permitting growth of nanowires in some areas and preventing in others. This allows the locations in which nanowires form to be controlled, as shown in Figure 2.2.3. While this technique eliminates many of the issues with disordered nanowire growth, it significantly increases the complexity of the fabrication process [68,69].

In order to obtain nanowires with diameters less than several hundred nanometers, high resolution photolithography must be performed to create the SAE growth mask. Additionally, as can be seen in Figure 2.2.3(a), the uniformity of SAE grown nanowires is still not perfect. While DUV emitting nanowires have been created using MBE and SAE,
no electrically driven devices have yet been creating using this approach, which is still in its relative infancy compared to growth of disordered nanowire DUV LEDs [68,69]. The primary difficulty lies in electrically addressing the tops of nanowires which are spaced very far apart compared to the tightly packed, disordered arrays in Figure 2.2.2.

To date, the EQEs of epitaxial DUV nanowire LEDs have been much lower than those of mesa DUV LEDs due in part to the aforementioned issues. Reported EQEs from DUV LEDs range from 0.012% at 242 nm [58] to 0.4% at 275 nm [59]. While these results obviously cannot match those of mesa devices, it is important to keep in mind that the body of research on DUV nanowire LEDs is much smaller than that of DUV mesa LEDs. DUV nanowire LEDs are still more or less in their infancy, and recent advancements in material growth and fabrication processes will almost certainly lead to significant advancements in DUV nanowire LED EQE in the coming years.

# 2.2.2 Etched Nanowires

A little explored alternative to epitaxial growth of nanowires for LEDs is top-down etching. In this approach, subtractive process are used to form nanowires from a bulk epitaxial stack [70–72]. Etching allows for formation of perfectly uniform arrays of nanowires using the processes developed and perfected by the semiconductor industry over the past half century. Instead of using unreliable epitaxial growth, nanowires are sculpted from a planar epitaxial stack in the same way that mesa LEDs are fabricated. This eliminates uncertainties regarding nanowire position, spacing, and quality. To date, only a few etched nanowire LEDs have been reported, with none of these emitting within the DUV range. Figure 2.2.4(a) shows the GaN nanowires of a yellow emitting nanowire LED,



Figure 2.2.4: SEM images showing top-down fabrication GaN nanowires (a) [70] and AlGaN nanowires fabricated in the SMFL (b). Reprinted with permission [70].

which were fabricated via a combination of dry and wet etching [70]. Figure 2.2.4(b) shows AlGaN nanowires fabricated by our research group in the SMFL.

Top-down etching not only improves the average quality of nanowires, but also opens the door to potential nanowire array displays, wherein individual nanowires are addressed individually. While DUV LEDs are of little use for displays, individually addressable DUV nanowire LEDs could be of use in various on chip photonics applications in which high energy photons are required. The ability to easily control nanowire location on wafer and ensure high nanowire yield could allow for easy integration with on chip waveguides and other wafer level optical components. In many ways, etched nanowires are similar to the micro-LEDs currently being developed for ultra-high resolution near eye displays, and are, in a sense, very small, high aspect ratio micro-LEDs. One of the biggest benefits of the top-down fabrication approach is the ability to control the spacing of nanowires to eliminate light trapping. Nanowires spaced many hundreds of nanometers or even microns apart are expected to experience negligible light trapping [73,74], which may allow them to achieve the high EQEs which have eluded epitaxially grown nanowire DUV LEDs.

While it is not the focus of this research, it is important to also briefly discuss the cost-proposition of nanowire/micropillar devices. In general, an LED can be operated either for maximum power output per unit emitting area, or for maximum power efficiency. An example of the first, maximum power, use case might be for area lighting of a warehouse or sports facility. Here, the efficiency of the LED is not as important as its ability to illuminate a large area as cost effectively as possible. If power consumption is not a primary concern, and maximum luminous output power is desired from a fixture of limited size, light output power density (LOP density) becomes the primary consideration. As the cost of an LED depends primarily on the die size (i.e. how many yielding die can be produced per wafer), a higher LOP density corresponds to a more cost-effective device. An example of the second, maximum power efficiency, use case might be in a space-based application where device production cost is irrelevant, but in which power is generated by solar panels and is extremely limited. In this case, LOP density may be inconsequential compared to the efficiency of the LED.

Consider an example in which an 100x100  $\mu$ m emissive area (10,000  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup>) is available. If this entire area can be converted into a mesa LED with an EQE of 5%, or alternatively into a nanowire array with an EQE of 30%, the relative total LOP of these two different design approaches depends on the "fill factor" of the nanowire array. This fill factor can be calculated by dividing the cross-sectional area of a single nanowire by the square of the pitch of the nanowire array (assuming a square array). If, for example, each nanowire has a diameter of 1  $\mu$ m, and the array has a pitch of 5  $\mu$ m, this fill factor will be 3.14%. In other words, 96.86% of the active region has been removed. Alternatively, if the nanowire diameter is 1  $\mu$ m and array pitch is 2  $\mu$ m, the fill factor is 19.6%, and 80.4% of the active region has been removed. It is quite evident then, that despite the EQE of the nanowires being 6x that of the mesa, the total output power of that 100x100  $\mu$ m region, if formed into a nanowire array, can be significantly lower than a 100x100  $\mu$ m mesa. If the mesa is assumed to output 1 W of optical power, a 1/5  $\mu$ m diameter/pitch nanowire array will output 0.0314\*6 = 0.19 W, while a 1/2  $\mu$ m diameter/pitch nanowire array will output 0.196\*6 = 1.18 W. By removing much of the active region through dry etching in order to increase the EQE of a device, the total output power of the device is significantly reduced unless the efficiency gain is high enough to offset this loss in active region area.

In the current year (2024), the efficiencies of nanowire devices are much lower than those of mesa devices, as previously described, so from a cost consideration standpoint, they are not viable for either type of application (max power or max efficiency). It is almost certain than nanowire array LEDs, either grown epitaxially or formed using dry etching, will never become cost competitive with mesa LEDs for maximum power applications. The gap is simply too wide and massive efficiency enhancements over mesa LEDs would be required to make nanowire devices competitive. However, given further improvements in the efficiencies of nanowire and micropillar array devices, they may eventually become viable in applications in which efficiency is the primary or sole consideration. One such application may be in water purification/sterilization in remote or underdeveloped regions. For example, a remote village without access to potable water could be supplied with a small solar panel and a UV water sterilization system. In this power limited case, a nanowire DUV LED with an EQE of 20% may be more viable than a mesa LED with an EQE of 10% depending on the maximum current and voltage deliverable by the solar panel.

While this cost-proposition analysis may paint a seemingly bleak picture for the future of nanowire and micropillar array DUV LEDs, it is important to keep in mind that both mesa and nanowire/micropillar DUV LEDs are still in their infancy compared to other light sources such as mercury lamps and visible light LEDs. Future research advancements may introduce new physical principles, growth techniques, and fabrication approaches which upset our current understanding of DUV LEDs entirely. Likewise, furthering our understanding of nanowire/micropillar devices has, and will continue to aid in the development and improvement of mesa devices, and vice versa. The DUV LED research field is ultimately a collaborative environment, and no research truly goes to waste.

The core of the research presented in this dissertation involves the development of electrically driven, etched DUV nanowire/nanostructure array LEDs. Over the last five years our research group has made significant progress in the design and associated fabrication process development for these devices. In 2021, we published the first demonstration of etched, electrically driven DUV nanowire array LEDs in *AIP Advances* [75]. Subsequent research efforts have improved upon the devices discussed in that publication by utilizing improved epitaxies, more robust dielectric spacer layers, improved wet etch passivation, and improved contact metallization. Chapter 3 will discuss in depth the fabrication processes used to fabricate DUV nanowire LEDs in the RIT SMFL, while Chapter 4 will present our simulation and experimental results for these devices.

# **Chapter 2 References**

- 1. M. Kneissl, T.-Y. Seong, J. Han, and H. Amano, "The emergence and prospects of deepultraviolet light-emitting diode technologies," Nat. Photonics **13**(4), 233–244 (2019).
- 2. T. Takano, T. Mino, J. Sakai, N. Noguchi, K. Tsubaki, and H. Hirayama, "Deep-ultraviolet light-emitting diodes with external quantum efficiency higher than 20% at 275 nm achieved by improving light-extraction efficiency," Appl. Phys. Express **10**(3), 031002 (2017).
- 3. Y. K. Ooi and J. Zhang, "Light Extraction Efficiency Analysis of Flip-Chip Ultraviolet Light-Emitting Diodes With Patterned Sapphire Substrate," IEEE Photonics Journal **10**(4), (2017).
- 4. K. Tadatomo, H. Okagawa, Y. Ohuchi, T. Tsunekawa, Y. Imada, M. Kato, and T. Taguchi, "High Output Power InGaN Ultraviolet Light-Emitting Diodes Fabricated on Patterned Substrates Using Metalorganic Vapor Phase Epitaxy," **40**(6), 4 (2001).
- 5. P. Dong, J. Yan, J. Wang, Y. Zhang, C. Geng, T. Wei, P. Cong, Y. Zhang, J. Zeng, Y. Tian, L. Sun, Q. Yan, J. Li, S. Fan, and Z. Qin, "282-nm AlGaN-based deep ultraviolet lightemitting diodes with improved performance on nano-patterned sapphire substrates," Applied Physics Letters **102**(24), 241113 (2013).
- 6. D. S. Wuu, W. K. Wang, W. C. Shih, R. H. Horng, C. E. Lee, W. Y. Lin, and J. S. Fang, "Enhanced output power of near-ultraviolet InGaN-GaN LEDs grown on patterned sapphire substrates," IEEE Photonics Technology Letters **17**(2), 288–290 (2005).
- D. Lee, J. W. Lee, J. Jang, I.-S. Shin, L. Jin, J. H. Park, J. Kim, J. Lee, H.-S. Noh, Y.-I. Kim, Y. Park, G.-D. Lee, Y. Park, J. K. Kim, and E. Yoon, "Improved performance of AlGaNbased deep ultraviolet light-emitting diodes with nano-patterned AlN/sapphire substrates," Appl. Phys. Lett. **110**(19), 191103 (2017).
- M. Kim, T. Fujita, S. Fukahori, T. Inazu, C. Pernot, Y. Nagasawa, A. Hirano, M. Ippommatsu, M. Iwaya, T. Takeuchi, S. Kamiyama, M. Yamaguchi, Y. Honda, H. Amano, and I. Akasaki, "AlGaN-Based Deep Ultraviolet Light-Emitting Diodes Fabricated on Patterned Sapphire Substrates," Appl. Phys. Express 4(9), 092102 (2011).
- 9. Y. Muramoto, M. Kimura, and S. Nouda, "Development and future of ultraviolet lightemitting diodes: UV-LED will replace the UV lamp," Semicond. Sci. Technol. **29**(8), 084004 (2014).
- 10. H. Hirayama, N. Maeda, and J. I. Lee, "FDTD analysis of the light extraction efficiency of OLEDs with a random scattering layer," Optics Express **22**(1), 498–507 (2014).
- Y. J. Sung, Y. J. Sung, Y. J. Sung, M.-S. Kim, H. Kim, S. Choi, Y. H. Kim, M.-H. Jung, R.-J. Choi, Y.-T. Moon, J.-T. Oh, H.-H. Jeong, G. Y. Yeom, G. Y. Yeom, and G. Y. Yeom, "Light extraction enhancement of AlGaN-based vertical type deep-ultraviolet light-emitting-diodes by using highly reflective ITO/Al electrode and surface roughening," Opt. Express, OE 27(21), 29930–29937 (2019).
- 12. B. K. Saifaddin, M. Iza, H. Foronda, A. Almogbel, C. J. Zollner, F. Wu, A. Alyamani, A. Albadri, S. Nakamura, S. P. DenBaars, and J. S. Speck, "Impact of roughening density on the light extraction efficiency of thin-film flip-chip ultraviolet LEDs grown on SiC," Opt. Express **27**(16), A1074 (2019).
- 13. T. Fujii, Y. Gao, R. Sharma, E. L. Hu, S. P. DenBaars, and S. Nakamura, "Increase in the extraction efficiency of GaN-based light-emitting diodes via surface roughening," Appl. Phys. Lett. **84**(6), 855–857 (2004).
- 14. Y. Guo, Y. Zhang, J. Yan, H. Xie, L. Liu, X. Chen, M. Hou, Z. Qin, J. Wang, and J. Li, "Light extraction enhancement of AlGaN-based ultraviolet light-emitting diodes by substrate sidewall roughening," Applied Physics Letters **111**(1), 011102 (2017).
- 15. J. Chen, J. R. Grandusky, M. C. Mendrick, S. R. Gibb, and L. J. Schowalter, "Improved photon extraction by substrate thinning and surface roughening in 260 nm pseudomorphic

ultraviolet light emitting diodes," in 2012 Lester Eastman Conference on High Performance Devices (LEC) (2012), pp. 1–4.

- M. A. Bergmann, J. Enslin, M. Guttmann, L. Sulmoni, N. L. Ploch, F. Hjort, T. Kolbe, T. Wernicke, M. Kneissl, and Å. Haglund, "Increased Light Extraction of Thin-Film Flip-Chip UVB LEDs by Surface Texturing," ACS Photonics 10(2), 368–373 (2023).
- 17. J.-H. Lee, J.-T. Oh, S.-B. Choi, Y.-C. Kim, H.-I. Cho, and J.-H. Lee, "Enhancement of InGaN-Based Vertical LED With Concavely Patterned Surface Using Patterned Sapphire Substrate," IEEE Photonics Technology Letters **20**(5), 345–347 (2008).
- 18. Y. J. Lee, S. H. Kim, and Y. R. Do, "A high-extraction-efficiency nanopatterned organic light-emitting diode," Applied Physics Letters **82**, 3779–3781 (2003).
- 19. T. N. Oder, K. H. Kim, J. Y. Lin, and H. X. Jiang, "III-nitride blue and ultraviolet photonic crystal light emitting diodes," Appl. Phys. Lett. **84**(4), 466–468 (2004).
- 20. Y. Kashima, N. Maeda, E. Matsuura, M. Jo, T. Iwai, T. Morita, M. Kokubo, T. Tashiro, R. Kamimura, Y. Osada, H. Takagi, and H. Hirayama, "High external quantum efficiency (10%) AlGaN-based deep-ultraviolet light-emitting diodes achieved by using highly reflective photonic crystal on p-AlGaN contact layer," Appl. Phys. Express **11**(1), 012101 (2018).
- 21. J. Shakya, K. H. Kim, J. Y. Lin, and H. X. Jiang, "Enhanced light extraction in III-nitride ultraviolet photonic crystal light-emitting diodes," Appl. Phys. Lett. **85**(1), 142–144 (2004).
- 22. K. W. A. Chee, W. Guo, J. R. Wang, Y. Wang, Y. Chen, and J. Ye, "Tuning photonic crystal fabrication by nanosphere lithography and surface treatment of AlGaN-based ultraviolet light-emitting diodes," Materials & Design **160**, 661–670 (2018).
- 23. W. Shin, A. Pandey, X. Liu, Y. Sun, and Z. Mi, "Photonic crystal tunnel junction deep ultraviolet light emitting diodes with enhanced light extraction efficiency," Opt. Express **27**(26), 38413 (2019).
- T. B. Lim, K. H. Cho, Y. H. Kim, and Y. C. Jeong, "Enhanced light extraction efficiency of OLEDs with quasiperiodic diffraction grating layer," Optics Express 24(16), 17950–17959 (2016).
- 25. Y. Takashima, M. Tanabe, M. Haraguchi, and Y. Naoi, "Highly polarized emission from a GaN-based ultraviolet light-emitting diode using a Si-subwavelength grating on a SiO2 underlayer," Optics Communications **369**, 38–43 (2016).
- 26. M. S. Alias, B. Janjua, C. Zhao, D. Priante, A. A. Alhamoud, M. Tangi, L. M. Alanazi, A. A. Alatawi, A. M. Albadri, A. Y. Alyamani, T. K. Ng, and B. S. Ooi, "Enhancing the Light-Extraction Efficiency of an AlGaN Nanowire Ultraviolet Light-Emitting Diode by Using Nitride/Air Distributed Bragg Reflector Nanogratings," IEEE Photonics J. 9(5), 1–8 (2017).
- N. Maeda, M. Jo, and H. Hirayama, "Improving the Efficiency of AlGaN Deep-UV LEDs by Using Highly Reflective Ni/Al p-Type Electrodes," Phys. Status Solidi A 215(8), 1700435 (2018).
- H. Zhang, W. Zhang, S. Zhang, M. Shan, Z. Zheng, A. Wang, L. Xu, F. Wu, J. Dai, and C. Chen, "Improved Reliability of AlGaN-Based Deep Ultraviolet LED With Modified Reflective N-Type Electrode," IEEE Electron Device Letters 42(7), 978–981 (2021).
- 29. Y. Gao, Q. Chen, S. Zhang, H. Long, J. Dai, H. Sun, and C. Chen, "Enhanced Light Extraction Efficiency of AlGaN-Based Deep Ultraviolet Light-Emitting Diodes by Incorporating High-Reflective n-Type Electrode Made of Cr/Al," IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices **66**(7), 2992–2996 (2019).
- T. Inazu, S. Fukahori, C. Pernot, M. H. Kim, T. Fujita, Y. Nagasawa, A. Hirano, M. Ippommatsu, M. Iwaya, T. Takeuchi, S. Kamiyama, M. Yamaguchi, Y. Honda, H. Amano, and I. Akasaki, "Improvement of Light Extraction Efficiency for AlGaN-Based Deep Ultraviolet Light-Emitting Diodes," Jpn. J. Appl. Phys. 50, 122101 (2011).
- 31. H. K. Cho, I. Ostermay, U. Zeimer, J. Enslin, T. Wernicke, S. Einfeldt, M. Weyers, and M. Kneissl, "Highly Reflective p-Contacts Made of Pd-Al on Deep Ultraviolet Light-Emitting Diodes," IEEE Photonics Technology Letters **29**(24), 2222–2225 (2017).

- 32. X. Zheng, X. Wu, R. Yang, C. Tong, C. Zhong, F. Gao, Y. Lin, G. Chen, Y. Lu, Z. Chen, and W. Guo, "Enhanced light output power from AlGaN-based deep ultraviolet LEDs achieved by a four-in-one mesa structure," Applied Physics Letters **123**(5), 051104 (2023).
- 33. Y. Tian, H. Wang, X. Kang, L. Zhang, S. Tian, J. Wu, and T. Yu, "The mesa design guidance based on the effective range of the mesa sidewall reflector towards high-efficiency AlGaN-based DUV LEDs," Micro and Nanostructures **186**, 207737 (2024).
- P. Zhu, G. Liu, J. Zhang, and N. Tansu, "FDTD Analysis on Extraction Efficiency of GaN Light-Emitting Diodes With Microsphere Arrays," J. Display Technol., JDT 9(5), 317–323 (2013).
- 35. P. Zhu, C.-K. Tan, W. Sun, and N. Tansu, "Aspect ratio engineering of microlens arrays in thin-film flip-chip light-emitting diodes," Appl. Opt., AO **54**(34), 10299–10303 (2015).
- X.-H. Li, R. Song, Y.-K. Ee, P. Kumnorkaew, J. F. Gilchrist, and N. Tansu, "Light Extraction Efficiency and Radiation Patterns of III-Nitride Light-Emitting Diodes With Colloidal Microlens Arrays With Various Aspect Ratios," IEEE Photonics Journal 3(3), 489–499 (2011).
- 37. Y.-K. Ee, P. Kumnorkaew, R. A. Arif, H. Tong, J. F. Gilchrist, and N. Tansu, "Light extraction efficiency enhancement of InGaN quantum wells light-emitting diodes with polydimethylsiloxane concave microstructures," Opt. Express, OE **17**(16), 13747–13757 (2009).
- 38. Y.-K. Ee, R. A. Arif, N. Tansu, P. Kumnorkaew, and J. F. Gilchrist, "Enhancement of light extraction efficiency of InGaN quantum wells light emitting diodes using SiO2/polystyrene microlens arrays," Appl. Phys. Lett. **91**(22), 221107 (2007).
- Y.-K. Ee, P. Kumnorkaew, R. A. Arif, H. Tong, H. Zhao, J. F. Gilchrist, and N. Tansu, "Optimization of Light Extraction Efficiency of III-Nitride LEDs With Self-Assembled Colloidal-Based Microlenses," IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Quantum Electronics 15(4), 1218–1225 (2009).
- X.-H. Li, P. Zhu, G. Liu, J. Zhang, R. Song, Y.-K. Ee, P. Kumnorkaew, J. F. Gilchrist, and N. Tansu, "Light Extraction Efficiency Enhancement of III-Nitride Light-Emitting Diodes by Using 2-D Close-Packed \$\hboxTiO\_2\$ Microsphere Arrays," Journal of Display Technology 9(5), 324–332 (2013).
- 41. M. Khizar, Z. Y. Fan, K. H. Kim, J. Y. Lin, and H. X. Jiang, "Nitride deep-ultraviolet lightemitting diodes with microlens array," Appl. Phys. Lett. **86**(17), 173504 (2005).
- 42. Y. Peng, X. Guo, R. Liang, Y. Mou, H. Cheng, M. Chen, and S. Liu, "Fabrication of Microlens Arrays with Controlled Curvature by Micromolding Water Condensing Based Porous Films for Deep Ultraviolet LEDs," ACS Photonics **4**(10), 2479–2485 (2017).
- 43. C. W. Jeon, E. Gu, C. Liu, J. M. Girkin, and M. D. Dawson, "Polymer microlens arrays applicable to AlInGaN ultraviolet micro-light-emitting diodes," IEEE Photonics Technology Letters **17**(9), 1887–1889 (2005).
- 44. W. Guo, Z. Yang, J. Li, X. Yang, Y. Zhang, J. Wang, K. W. A. Chee, P. Gao, and J. Ye, "Enhancing light coupling and emission efficiencies of AlGaN thin film and AlGaN/GaN multiple quantum wells with periodicity-wavelength matched nanostructure array," Nanoscale **9**(40), 15477–15483 (2017).
- 45. M. S. Alias, M. Tangi, J. A. Holguín-Lerma, E. Stegenburgs, A. A. Alatawi, I. Ashry, R. C. Subedi, D. Priante, M. K. Shakfa, T. K. Ng, and B. S. Ooi, "Review of nanophotonics approaches using nanostructures and nanofabrication for III-nitrides ultraviolet-photonic devices," JNP 12(4), 043508 (2018).
- 46. C. Ma, M. Feng, J. Wang, R. Zhou, Q. Sun, J. Liu, Y. Huang, H. Gao, Y. Zhou, and H. Yang, "Fabrication of AlGaN nanostructures by nanolithography on ultraviolet LEDs grown on Si substrates," Nanotechnology **30**(18), 185201 (2019).
- 47. S. Li, M.-C. Shen, S. Lai, Y. Dai, J. Chen, L. Zheng, L. Zhu, G. Chen, S.-H. Lin, K.-W. Peng, Z. Chen, and T. Wu, "Impacts of p-GaN layer thickness on the photoelectric and thermal

performance of AlGaN-based deep-UV LEDs," Opt. Express, OE **31**(22), 36547–36556 (2023).

- 48. M. Jo, N. Maeda, and H. Hirayama, "Enhanced light extraction in 260 nm light-emitting diode with a highly transparent p-AlGaN layer," Appl. Phys. Express **9**(1), 012102 (2016).
- 49. N. Maeda and H. Hirayama, "Realization of high-efficiency deep-UV LEDs using transparent p-AlGaN contact layer," physica status solidi c **10**(11), 1521–1524 (2013).
- 50. M. Ajmal Khan, N. Maeda, M. Jo, Y. Akamatsu, R. Tanabe, Y. Yamada, and H. Hirayama, "13 mW operation of a 295–310 nm AlGaN UV-B LED with a p-AlGaN transparent contact layer for real world applications," Journal of Materials Chemistry C **7**(1), 143–152 (2019).
- 51. J. Yun and H. Hirayama, "Investigation of the light-extraction efficiency in 280 nm AlGaNbased light-emitting diodes having a highly transparent p-AlGaN layer," Journal of Applied Physics **121**(1), 013105 (2017).
- T. Kolbe, A. Knauer, J. Rass, H. K. Cho, S. Hagedorn, F. Bilchenko, A. Muhin, J. Ruschel, M. Kneissl, S. Einfeldt, and M. Weyers, "234 nm far-ultraviolet-C light-emitting diodes with polarization-doped hole injection layer," Applied Physics Letters **122**(19), 191101 (2023).
- 53. X. Sun, J. Liu, Y. Huang, C. Liu, X. Zhan, H. Gao, Q. Sun, Q. Xu, and H. Yang, "Improved external quantum efficiency of deep UV LEDs with an ultra-thin AlGaN last quantum barrier by controlling the desorption-kinetics process," Appl. Phys. Express 16(11), 111004 (2023).
- 54. L. Gao, F. Xie, and G. Yang, "Numerical study of polarization-doped AlGaN ultraviolet lightemitting diodes," Superlattices and Microstructures **71**, 1–6 (2014).
- 55. S. Rathkanthiwar, P. Reddy, B. Moody, C. Quiñones-García, P. Bagheri, D. Khachariya, R. Dalmau, S. Mita, R. Kirste, R. Collazo, and Z. Sitar, "High p-conductivity in AlGaN enabled by polarization field engineering," Applied Physics Letters **122**(15), 152105 (2023).
- Y.-W. Cao, Q.-J. Lv, T.-P. Yang, T.-T. Mi, X.-W. Wang, W. Liu, and J.-L. Liu, "Realization of high-efficiency AlGaN deep ultraviolet light-emitting diodes with polarization-induced doping of the p-AlGaN hole injection layer," Chinese Phys. B 32(5), 058503 (2023).
- 57. S. Zhao, A. T. Connie, M. H. T. Dastjerdi, X. H. Kong, Q. Wang, M. Djavid, S. Sadaf, X. D. Liu, I. Shih, H. Guo, and Z. Mi, "Aluminum nitride nanowire light emitting diodes: Breaking the fundamental bottleneck of deep ultraviolet light sources," Sci Rep **5**(1), 8332 (2015).
- 58. S. Zhao, S. M. Sadaf, S. Vanka, Y. Wang, R. Rashid, and Z. Mi, "Sub-milliwatt AlGaN nanowire tunnel junction deep ultraviolet light emitting diodes on silicon operating at 242 nm," Appl. Phys. Lett. **109**(20), 201106 (2016).
- 59. S. M. Sadaf, S. Zhao, Y. Wu, Y.-H. Ra, X. Liu, S. Vanka, and Z. Mi, "An AlGaN Core–Shell Tunnel Junction Nanowire Light-Emitting Diode Operating in the Ultraviolet-C Band," Nano Lett. **17**(2), 1212–1218 (2017).
- 60. H. Q. T. Bui, R. T. Velpula, B. Jian, M. R. Philip, H. D. Tong, T. R. Lenka, and H. P. T. Nguyen, "High-performance nanowire ultraviolet light-emitting diodes with potassium hydroxide and ammonium sulfide surface passivation," Appl. Opt. **59**(24), 7352 (2020).
- 61. S. Zhao, M. Djavid, and Z. Mi, "Surface Emitting, High Efficiency Near-Vacuum Ultraviolet Light Source with Aluminum Nitride Nanowires Monolithically Grown on Silicon," Nano Lett. **15**(10), 7006–7009 (2015).
- 62. T. F. Kent, S. D. Carnevale, A. T. M. Sarwar, P. J. Phillips, R. F. Klie, and R. C. Myers, "Deep ultraviolet emitting polarization induced nanowire light emitting diodes with Al  $_x$  Ga  $_{1-x}$  N active regions," Nanotechnology **25**(45), 455201 (2014).
- 63. R. T. Velpula, B. Jain, M. R. Philip, H. D. Nguyen, R. Wang, and H. P. T. Nguyen, "Epitaxial Growth and Characterization of AlInN-Based Core-Shell Nanowire Light Emitting Diodes Operating in the Ultraviolet Spectrum," Sci Rep **10**(1), 2547 (2020).
- 64. A. T. M. G. Sarwar, B. J. May, J. I. Deitz, T. J. Grassman, D. W. McComb, and R. C. Myers, "Tunnel junction enhanced nanowire ultraviolet light emitting diodes," Appl. Phys. Lett. **107**(10), 101103 (2015).

- S. Zhao, S. Y. Woo, S. M. Sadaf, Y. Wu, A. Pofelski, D. A. Laleyan, R. T. Rashid, Y. Wang, G. A. Botton, and Z. Mi, "Molecular beam epitaxy growth of Al-rich AlGaN nanowires for deep ultraviolet optoelectronics," APL Materials 4(8), 086115 (2016).
- 66. Z. Mi, S. Zhao, S. Y. Woo, M. Bugnet, M. Djavid, X. Liu, J. Kang, X. Kong, W. Ji, H. Guo, Z. Liu, and G. A. Botton, "Molecular beam epitaxial growth and characterization of Al(Ga)N nanowire deep ultraviolet light emitting diodes and lasers," J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. 49(36), 364006 (2016).
- 67. Y. Ra, S. Kang, and C. Lee, "Ultraviolet Light-Emitting Diode Using Nonpolar AlGaN Core-Shell Nanowire Heterostructures," Advanced Optical Materials **6**(14), 1701391 (2018).
- M. Brubaker, B. Spann, K. Genter, A. Roshko, P. Blanchard, T. Harvey, K. Bertness, and J. Weber, "Core-shell p-i-n GaN nanowire LEDs by N-polar selective area growth," in *Low-Dimensional Materials and Devices 2018*, N. P. Kobayashi, A. A. Talin, A. V. Davydov, and M. S. Islam, eds. (SPIE, 2018), p. 1.
- 69. M. D. Brubaker, K. L. Genter, A. Roshko, P. T. Blanchard, B. T. Spann, T. E. Harvey, and K. A. Bertness, "UV LEDs based on *p–i–n* core–shell AlGaN/GaN nanowire heterostructures grown by N-polar selective area epitaxy," Nanotechnology **30**(23), 234001 (2019).
- G. T. Wang, Q. Li, J. J. Wierer, D. D. Koleske, and J. J. Figiel, "Top-down fabrication and characterization of axial and radial III-nitride nanowire LEDs," physica status solidi (a) 211(4), 748–751 (2014).
- 71. M. Hartensveld and J. Zhang, "Monolithic Integration of GaN Nanowire Light-Emitting Diode With Field Effect Transistor," IEEE Electron Device Lett. **40**(3), 427–430 (2019).
- 72. N. Yulianto, A. D. Refino, A. Syring, N. Majid, S. Mariana, P. Schnell, R. A. Wahyuono, K. Triyana, F. Meierhofer, W. Daum, F. F. Abdi, T. Voss, H. S. Wasisto, and A. Waag, "Wafer-scale transfer route for top-down III-nitride nanowire LED arrays based on the femtosecond laser lift-off technique," Microsyst Nanoeng **7**(1), 32 (2021).
- 73. Q. Jiao, Z. Chen, Y. Feng, S. Li, S. Jiang, J. Li, Y. Chen, T. Yu, X. Kang, B. Shen, and G. Zhang, "The effects of nanocavity and photonic crystal in InGaN/GaN nanorod LED arrays," Nanoscale Res Lett **11**(1), 340 (2016).
- 74. S. Fox, S. O'Kane, S. Lis, and D. Allsopp, "Designing InGaN/GaN nano-LED arrays for étendue-limited applications: Designing InGaN/GaN nano-LED arrays for étendue-limited applications," Phys. Status Solidi C **12**(4–5), 456–459 (2015).
- 75. B. Melanson, M. Hartensveld, C. Liu, and J. Zhang, "Realization of electrically driven AlGaN micropillar array deep-ultraviolet light emitting diodes at 286 nm," AIP Advances **11**(9), 095005 (2021).

## **CHAPTER 3: LED Fabrication and Process Development**

#### **3.1 Fabrication Process Overview**

Light emitting diodes can be fabricated using the same techniques and tools that are used in mass production of silicon based integrated circuits (ICs), and can thus benefit from the decades of refinement and billions of dollars of research which have made silicon ICs one of the most scalable technologies in the world. The LEDs in this dissertation were fabricated in the Semiconductor and Microsystems Fabrication Laboratory (SMFL) at the Rochester Institute of Technology (RIT), an academic cleanroom facility serving both research groups and industrial users. This chapter will outline process flows used in fabrication of both conventional mesa LEDs and nanowire LEDs, and then give detailed information on process parameters in subsequent sections to allow for replication of the experimental work described in this dissertation.

#### 3.1.1 Mesa LEDs

Mesa LED fabrication begins with preparation and cleaning of a 2-inch (50 mm) wafer or wafer piece. The wafers used in this study were grown by a commercial vendor (Precision Micro-optics) using MOCVD, as III-Nitride growth capabilities are not available at RIT. Wafer/piece (hereafter "sample") cleaning is performed using either an industry standard RCA clean (1:1:5 NH<sub>4</sub>OH/H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>/DI 5 min + DI 2 min + 1:1:6 HCl/H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>/DI 5 min + DI 2 min) or a solvent clean where the sample is immersed sequentially in acetone (5 min), isopropyl alcohol (IPA) (2 min), and DI water (2 min). Following the clean, the sample is dried with a nitrogen gun.



# Mesa LED Fabrication Process Flow

Figure 3.1.1: Mesa LED fabrication process flow with color coded process steps.

Next the mesa level lithography is performed. The sample is first baked at 170°C for 3 min to remove hydrophilic surface states and is then given sufficient time to cool (~2 min) before photoresist is applied through spin-coating. Alternatively, HMDS (hexamethyldisilazane) can be applied through vapor deposition to remove hydrophilic surface states and improve the adhesion of photoresist to the sample surface. The photoresist is then patterned using either laser direct write lithography (LDW), contact lithography, or projection lithography, depending on the desired resolution and availability of tools. The photoresist is then developed, and the resulting patterns are used to mask a Cl<sub>2</sub>/BCl<sub>3</sub>/Ar dry etch of the underlying epitaxial layers to a depth of ~300 nm. This shallow dry etch typically results in the formation of minor micromasking (etch grass), as can be

seen in Figure 3.1.2(c), as well as damage to the sidewalls of the mesa, necessitating the use of a hydroxyl-based crystallographic wet etch which serves to remove both micromasking and mesa sidewall damage (Figure 3.1.2(d)). This hydroxyl-based etch is performed by immersing the sample in ~40% AZ400K, a KOH containing photoresist developer (~2% KOH by weight), at 80°C for ~30 min).



**Mesa LED Fabrication Schematic** 

Figure 3.1.2: Mesa LED fabrication schematic showing mesa etching and metallization steps (not to scale).

The n-metal lift-off lithography is then performed, with the sample again baked and cooled before photoresist is coated. Liftoff resist (LOR) is coated first, followed by conventional photoresist. The resist is patterned and developed, and the n-metal stack, typically 30/100 nm Ti/Al or Cr/Au, is deposited using either thermal or electron beam evaporation. The sample is then immersed in N-Methyl-2-pyrrolidone (NMP) for ~24 hours to "liftoff" the metal on top of the photoresist, leaving it only in the lithographically defined locations (Figure 3.1.2(e)). This metal-liftoff process is then repeated to pattern the p-metal current spreading layer, which consists of  $\sim 20-50$  nm of Ni, which serves to spread current over the entirety of the mesa surface with minimal impact on light extraction (Figure 3.1.2(f)). Finally, the p-contact metal, typically a small area of 100 nm Au, is patterned in the center of the mesa using this same liftoff process (Figure 3.1.2(g)). At this point the mesa LED is ready for testing, which is performed using a manual probe station and parameter analyzer. Two probes are brought into contact with the sample and are placed on the p- and n-contacts as shown in Figure 3.1.2(h). A positive bias is applied to the p-contact probe while the n-contact probe is held at ground in order to apply forward bias and illuminate the LED Figure 3.1.2(i).

#### 3.1.2 Nanowire LEDs

Nanowire LED fabrication uses the same process and tools as mesa LED fabrication, but is fundamentally different. Instead of etching a large mesa structure and placing metal pads at the base (n-contact) and top (p-contact), a continuous array of nanowires is formed across the entire wafer. A universal n-contact is then deposited over the entire wafer, followed by a dielectric layer which exposes the tips of the nanowires.



# **Nanowire LED Fabrication Process Flow**

Figure 3.1.3: Nanowire LED fabrication process flow with color coded process steps.

Nanowires are then connected in parallel through patterning of the thin Ni p-contact in order to form LEDs or arbitrary size and wire count.

Nanowire LED fabrication likewise begins with preparation and cleaning of sample obtained from a commercial vendor. Sample cleaning is performed using either an industry standard RCA clean (1:1:5 NH<sub>4</sub>OH/H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>/DI 5 min + DI 2 min + 1:1:6 HCl/H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>/DI 5 min + DI 2 min) or a solvent clean where the sample is immersed sequentially in acetone (5 min), isopropyl alcohol (IPA) (2 min), and DI water (2 min). Following the clean, the sample is dried with a nitrogen gun. Following sample cleaning, SiO<sub>2</sub>, more specifically



Figure 3.1.4: Nanowire LED fabrication schematic showing dry etch, wet etch, metallization, and dielectric planarization steps (not to scale).

tetraethyl orthosilicate (TEOS), is deposited across the entire sample using plasma-enhanced chemical vapor deposition (PECVD) to a thickness of ~300 nm (Figure 3.1.4(b)). The sample is then baked at 170°C for 3 min to remove hydrophobic surface states and is then given sufficient time to cool (~2 min) before application of LOR and photoresist. The resist is then patterned and developed, and Ni is deposited to a thickness

of ~100-200 nm (depending on the desired etch depth) using electron beam evaporation. The sample is then immersed in NMP for ~30 min to achieve liftoff the Ni. The Ni remaining on the sample will consist of discrete arrays of dots, ranging from 500 nm to 10  $\mu$ m depending on the quality of the photolithography, which act as a double dry etch hard mask for etching of both the TEOS layer and the underlying GaN/AlGaN epitaxial layers (Figure 3.1.4(c)). The TEOS layer is then dry etched using a CHF<sub>3</sub>/CF<sub>4</sub> plasma, with the etch self-terminating at the p-GaN layer as fluorine-based plasma has an extremely low etch rate against GaN (Figure 3.1.4(d)). The GaN/AlGaN etch is then performed using a Cl<sub>2</sub>/BCl<sub>3</sub>/Ar plasma to etch to a depth of between 500 nm and 6  $\mu$ m. This deep, high aspect ratio etch of AlGaN results in extensive micromasking, as shown in Figure 3.1.4(e), as well as extensive damage to the tapered sidewalls of the nanowires.

After completion of the dry etches, the sample is immersed in an aqueous hydroxyl-based solution consisting of 40% AZ400K at 80°C for up to 60 min. This crystallographic wet etch removes the micromasking and tapered base from the nanowires by attacking the semi-polar and non-polar wurtzite crystal planes of GaN and AlGaN, allowing for attainment of nanowires with perfectly vertical sidewalls, as shown in Figure 3.1.4(f). The sample, now free of micromasking, is ready for n-metal deposition. The vertical sidewalls of the nanowires allow for use of a "universal" n-metal, i.e. an un-patterned, continuous metal layer covering the entirety of the sample. This is possible because the nanowires themselves can act as a sort of shadow mask, preventing metal deposition on their own sidewalls, while allowing metal to coat the entirely of the exposed n-AlGaN at their bases. This technique only works if the metal deposition is almost perfectly directional, with the sample held stationary directly above the evaporation source.

A metal stack consisting of 30/100 nm Ti/Al/Au or Cr/Au is deposited using either thermal or electron beam evaporation, although thermal evaporation is preferred as it is the most directional (Figure 3.1.4(g)).

Following deposition of the n-metal, the sample is immersed in 10:1 buffered oxide etch (BOE) for ~5 min. The BOE rapidly etches the TEOS layer underlying the "metal cap," which consists of ~300 nm of metal after the addition of the n-metal stack onto the Ni dry etch hardmask. Removal of this metal cap is critically important, as a 300 nm metal layer will completely block the escape of light from the top of the nanowire. As the TEOS layer is etched by the BOE, the metal caps are removed from the nanowires and washed away in solution as shown in Figure 3.1.4(h), leaving "clean" nanowires with p-GaN exposed at their tips. Use of Au as the final layer of the n-metal stack is important, as Au is inert in BOE and will not etch, allowing it to protect the underlying metals, which have slow but finite etch rates in BOE.

Following removal of the metal caps, polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS) is spin-coated to a thickness of ~7  $\mu$ m, covering the nanowires completely and self-planarizing to form a level surface as shown in Figure 3.1.4(i). The PDMS is then baked at 90°C for 11 min to crosslink the polymer and drive out any remaining solvent. A CF<sub>4</sub>/O<sub>2</sub> plasma is then used to perform an "etch-back" of the PDMS until the tips of the nanowires are exposed (Figure 3.1.4(j)). This process is time consuming and must be performed with great caution so as not to etch the PDMS too far, which will result in shorting of the QW layer. When nearing the tips of the nanowires, a scanning electron microscope (SEM) is used to inspect the sample at 10-20 s etch time increments to determine if the nanowire tips have been exposed. The etched-back PDMS serves as an "interlayer dielectric," isolating the n-metal at the base of the nanowires from the tips of the nanowires. Once the nanowire tips are exposed, the sample is coated with LOR and photoresist, and then patterned and developed. A thin, 20-40 nm layer of Ni is then deposited using thermal evaporation, serving as the p-contact and connecting nanowires in parallel to form nanowire array LEDs (Figure 3.1.4(k)). The sample is then tested using a manual probe station and parameter analyzer. Two probes are brought into contact with the sample, with one probe penetrating the PDMS layer to make contact to the n-metal, while the other probe is placed with extreme care to make contact to the thin p-metal layer. One disadvantage of using PDMS as an interlayer dielectric is its mechanical instability. PDMS is quite pliable at room temperature, and can be easily penetrated with an electrical probe, meaning that great care must be taken to avoid poking through the thin Ni layer when placing the p-contact probe. Once the probes are positioned, a positive bias is applied to the p-contact probe while the n-contact probe is held at ground in order to apply forward bias and illuminate the LED (Figure 3.1.4(l)).

#### **3.2 Epitaxial Growth**

The first step in the fabrication of any LED is epitaxial growth of the light emitting structure. This is usually accomplished through use of metal organic chemical vapor deposition (MOCVD) or molecular beam epitaxy (MBE), techniques which allow for growth of nearly all III-V and III-Nitride materials with in-situ doping. MOCVD has seen widespread industrial adoption over the past few decades, as it is much more scalable than MBE and can support higher wafer throughputs [1]. Despite this, MBE does have several advantages over MOCVD. Unlike MOCVD, MBE has the ability to produce atomically abrupt material interfaces using physical shutters, which can instantly cut off the delivery of reactants/precursors to the sample surface. Despite exceptional advances in MOCVD

technology, the gas phase delivery of reactants characteristic of MOCVD systems can never achieve the same level of atomic abruptness as the physical deposition of MBE [2]. Additionally, because MBE system operate under extremely high vacuum, it is possible to use in situ growth characterization tools such as reflection high-energy electron diffraction (RHEED) to monitor the growth of epitaxial layers in real time. MOCVD tools, which operate under much higher reaction chamber pressure, cannot use this sort of in situ growth monitoring [2].

The lack of III-Nitride growth capabilities at RIT requires the use of external suppliers and collaborators. Precision Micro-optics, a commercial vendor based in Boston, MA, USA, provided almost all epitaxial wafers used in the research presented in this dissertation unless stated otherwise. These wafers were grown using MOCVD on either single side polished (SSP) or double side polished (DSP) sapphire wafers of thickness 430  $\mu$ m (SSP) or 250  $\mu$ m (DSP). A typical epitaxial stack for a DUV LED is shown in Figure 3.2.1. A 1-2  $\mu$ m AlN buffer layer is first grown on a sapphire substrate to provide a



Figure 3.2.1: Representative DUV LED epitaxial stack grown either by MOCVD or MBE (not to scale).

"virtual substrate" of intermediate lattice constant, to reduce the amount of strain related dislocations, primarily threading dislocations (TDDs) generated during growth of the n-AlGaN layer. A 1-3 μm n-AlGaN layer, doped with Si, is then grown on the AlN buffer layer, followed by growth of the MQW, which consists of a series of 5-20 nm barrier layers and 1-5 nm QWs. An electron-blocking layer (EBL) is then grown, consisting of high Al-content AlGaN, to a thickness of 10-30 nm to impede leakage of electrons into the p-AlGaN. A 50-200 nm p-AlGaN layer is then grown, followed (sometimes) but a highly doped p-GaN layer to improve p-contact resistance. The compositions of the various layers vary depending on the desired emission wavelength, but QW Al composition generally varies between 40% and 70% for emission wavelengths of between 280 nm to 240 nm. Figure 3.2.1 shows a not-to-scale schematic of a representative DUV LED epitaxial stack.

#### 3.3 Photolithography

Photolithography is a critically important process in the fabrication of LEDs and all other microelectronic devices. It is, in the simplest sense, the use of light to create patterns on a wafer or sample. This is accomplished using a photosensitive polymer called "photoresist" (PR), which is applied to the sample through a process called "spin-coating" in which the PR, usually of similar consistency to syrup, is dispensed onto the middle of the sample with a syringe or pipet. The sample is then spun at several thousand rpm for 30-60 seconds in order to spread the PR over the entire sample surface. The spin speed and acceleration determine the thickness to which the PR will coat, which is typically in the range of several hundred nanometers to around ten microns. Higher viscosity resists will coat thicker than lower viscosity resist at the same spin speed. After the sample is coated with PR, it is "soft-baked" at around 100°C for several minutes in order to drive out any solvent remaining the thinned layer of PR. The PR layer is then exposed to ultraviolet light in order to transfer patterns onto the sample. Photoresist contains photosensitive chemicals, which undergo chemical reactions when exposed to certain wavelengths of UV light. In a "positive" PR, regions exposed to UV light will undergo chemical reactions that break bonds in the polymer chains, making those regions soluble in certain chemicals which will not dissolve the unexposed resist. Likewise, in "negative" PR, regions exposed to UV light will crosslink, becoming insoluble in chemicals which would otherwise dissolve the unexposed resist.

The wavelength of light needed to expose different resists depends on the photosensitive compound used. Photoresist is designed to be sensitive to a specific wavelength or wavelength range. Only a handful of wavelengths exist in the UV range which are suitable for use in photolithography. These include the mercury lamp emission lines (436 nm g-line, 405 nm h-line, and 365 nm i-line), as well as excimer laser emission wavelengths (351 nm XeF, 248 nm KrF, 193 nm ArF, 157 nm F<sub>2</sub>, and many others) [3]. After the sample is exposed, it is subjected to a "post-exposure bake" (PEB), which provides the thermal energy necessary for completion of the chemical reactions initiated by UV light exposure. The sample is then immersed in a "developer," which dissolves the exposed areas of positive PRs, or the unexposed areas of negative PRs. At this point, the pattern is now present on the sample surface, and can be used to mask a wet or dry etch of the sample. A summary of the coating, baking, exposure, and development parameters for the various PRs used in this dissertation is provided in Table 3.1, while more detailed descripted of the various lithography techniques available at the SMFL are given in the following sections.

	Туре	Coat	Coat	Coating	Soft-bake	Heidelberg	PEB	Develo
	(POS or	Speed	Time	Thickness	temp/time	Exp. Pwr.	temp/time	p time
	NEG)	(rpm)	(s)	(nm)	(°C/s)	(mW)	(°C/s)	(s)
AZ 1512	POS	3000	30	~1500	100/120	70	110/120	120
AZ 1505	POS	4500	30	~500	100/120	55	110/120	60
AZ MIR 701	POS	3000	30	~1100	100/120	220	110/60	60
LOR 5A	NA	2700	45	~600	170/300	NA	NA	+60

Table 3.3.1: Photoresist Process Parameters

## 3.3.1 Nanosphere Lithography

While photolithography is the most commonly used technique for producing nanometer or micron-sized features on a sample, another technique known as "nanosphere lithography" can also be used. In nanosphere lithography, an aqueous solution of nanospheres (SiO<sub>2</sub> nanospheres in this dissertation) is spin coated onto the surface of the sample. The density of nanospheres remaining on the surface after spin coating depends primarily concentration of spheres in the coated solution. The sample can then be dry etched using the randomly positioned spheres as an etch mask capable of withstanding fairly deep etches into GaN with a Cl<sub>2</sub>/BCl<sub>3</sub>/Ar plasma. This approach is ideal for optimizing dry etch recipes and determining etch rates for new materials as it is much



Figure 3.3.1: 700 nm SiO<sub>2</sub> nanospheres on a GaN surface (a).  $3 \mu m$  tall GaN nanowires formed using 700 nm SiO<sub>2</sub> nanospheres as a dry etch mask (b).

simpler and easier to perform than photolithography. The obvious downside is that the nanospheres are located randomly on the surface of the sample, and cannot withstand very deep etches as effectively as a Ni hardmask can. Figure 3.3.1 shows nanospheres on GaN (Figure 3.3.1(a)) and nanowires formed using nanospheres as a dry etch mask (Figure 3.3.1(b)).

# 3.3.2 Contact Lithography

The simplest form of photolithography is contact lithography, in a which glass plate covered in patterns made of a thin layer of chrome is placed directly in contact with the sample. The UV light source is then used to illuminate this "contact mask" such that areas of the mask not covered in chrome will allow light to pass through, exposing the sample, while chrome-covered areas reflect the light, protecting those areas of the underlying sample. The chrome mask is created by first covering the entire glass plate in a thin layer of chrome. A special PR is then coated over the chrome, and extremely high-resolution electron beam lithography (or laser direct write lithography) is used to expose the resist with the desired patterns. The PR is then developed and used to mask a wet etch of the underlying chrome, which transfers the desired patterns into the chrome layer. Contact lithography is cheap, simple, and relatively fast, but has limited resolution, making it ideal of fabrication of devices with large dimensions that do not require extremely precise alignment. Two contact aligners are available in the to our research group, a Suss MA-150 mask aligner with an i-line filter, capable of features sizes down to  $1 \mu m$ , and a Suss MJB4 mask aligner capable of features down to 2 µm.

#### 3.3.3 g-line Projection Lithography

Projection lithography is similar to contact lithography in that it uses a chrome mask to define the desired patterns. In projection lithography, UV light is collimated using a condenser lens and directed onto the mask. After passing through the mask the light is focused by an objective lens and demagnified by reducing optics before exposing the sample [3]. The use of reduction optics allows the dimensions of features on the mask to be reduced in size on the sample [3]. For example, 5x reduction projection lithography can use a mask with 10 µm lines to write 2 µm lines on the sample. Projection lithography is typically achieved using a tool called a stepper, which moves the sample around on a piezo-driven stage beneath the optical column to allow different parts of the wafer to be exposed. Since most projection lithography systems use reduction optics to achieve higher resolution, it is not possible to expose the entire sample at once, and as such, a series of identical "die" are exposed on the sample by moving to beneath the optical column of the stepper using the piezo stage. Projection lithography can be extremely complex, and the optical components used in modern state of the art projection lithography systems are the most advanced in the world. Modern UV projection lithography systems use tricks such as off-axis illumination, phase shift masking, and high index immersion oils to achieve extremely high resolutions [3]. Recently, extreme ultraviolet (EUV) lithography has begun replacing UV lithography in state-of-the-art applications that require sub-10 nm resolution, for example in the foundries of Intel and TSMC. EUV lithography uses a wavelength of 13.5 nm, 10x shorter than the wavelengths used in UV lithography [3]. Two projection lithography tools are available to our research group, a GCA g-line stepper capable of processing 6-inch wafers, 4-inch wafers, 2-inch wafers, and pieces at resolutions down to

800 nm, and an ASML PAS 5500/200 stepper capable of processing 6-inch wafers at resolutions down to 250 nm.

#### 3.3.4 *h-line Laser Direct Write Lithography*

Laser direct-write, or LDW lithography is a form of mask-less photolithography which uses a laser to expose photoresist. In LDW lithography, a resist-coated sample is placed on piezo-stage beneath a fixed write-head containing focusing and scanning optics for the laser. The sample is then driven by the stage along the y-axis while the laser rasters on the x-axis, turning on and off in order to expose the desired pattern on the sample in a process called stripe-exposure. The stripe width is determined by the maximum raster angle of the laser and the distance from the raster mirror and the sample surface. The maximum raster angle can be changed to allow for stripe widths of up to several hundred microns on most LDW systems. Larger stripe widths allow for faster write times, while much smaller stripe widths allow for higher resolution. LDW systems are often used as cheaper alternatives to electron beam lithography for writing contact and projection masks. The main advantage of LDW lithography is the ability to write patterns on masks, wafers, or small samples without a mask, making it ideal for rapid prototyping of new designs. However, this ability comes at the tradeoff of extended exposure times, with most patterns taking much longer to expose on an LDW system than with contact or projection lithography. For example, a 2-inch wafer that might take 10 to align and expose on a contact aligner can take up to 6 hours to expose using an LDW system depending on the minimum desired feature size. An h-line Heidelberg DWL-66+ LDW system is available in the SMFL and is capable of resolutions down to  $\sim 1 \ \mu m$  when using 500 nm resists. Our research group relies heavily on this system, and uses it to pattern the majority of our samples. While the tool has a theoretical resolution of 1  $\mu$ m, we have found this difficult to achieve for many types of patterns. For example, the patterning of arrays of nanowires often requires many small holes to be exposed in PR. The tool has difficulty doing this due to its inability to correct for focal point offset along across the width of the raster stripe. This leads to holes being underexposed at the edges of a stripe, and fully exposed in the middle, which translates to variable nanowire diameter across the stripe width, which is very undesirable in almost every situation. This issue can be partially compensated for by reducing the stripe width, but doing so drastically increasing the write time for our samples.

# 3.3.5 Liftoff Lithography

Liftoff lithography is a special technique which is often used to pattern metal thin films. In liftoff lithography, a layer of "liftoff resist" or LOR, is first coated onto the wafer and baked at ~170°C for 5 min. Photoresist is then coated onto the LOR, and the combined LOR + PR layer is then soft baked, exposed, post exposure baked, and developed. LOR is not photosensitive, and so does not change the dose required to exposure the PR. During development, once the PR layer is rapidly dissolved in exposed regions (assuming a positive PR), the developer begins to dissolve the LOR. Because LOR is soluble is developer whether it has been exposed or not, an undercut will develop as LOR is removed in unexposed regions. The longer the sample is developed, the larger the undercut will be, although an undercut of ~1  $\mu$ m is typically targeted for LOR 5A, which coats to a thickness of around 600 nm. After development, and immediately prior to metal deposition, the sample is "descummed" using a low power (~50 W) O<sub>2</sub> plasma in order to remove any photoresist residue present in the developed regions. Following this descum step, a short (~30 second) dip in diluted (10-25%) HCl can be performed to remove any native oxide which has formed on the GaN/AlGaN surface to improve the contact resistance of the to-be-deposited metal. The sample should be loaded into the evaporation chamber and brough under vacuum as soon as possible following this HCl dip in order to minimize the re-formation of oxides on the surface. Metal deposition, performed with either thermal or electron beam evaporation, will occur on the sample in exposed regions, and on the PR in unexposed regions. After metal deposition, the sample is placed in a solvent to strip the PR and remove the metal on top of the PR. Due to the undercut in the LOR, the metal film is not continuous and solvent is able to access the PR beneath the undercut, removing the PR and LOR and "lifting off" the metal on top of the PR. This method is extremely useful as it allows for metal layers to be patterned without the need to dry or wet etch the metal. In many cases, etching of metal films can be very difficult or even impossible depending on the sensitivity of the underlying material to the metal wet/dry etchant chemistry.

# **3.4 Dry Etching**

GaN and its alloys are most effectively etched using a Cl<sub>2</sub> plasma dry etch. Dry etching is performed by supplying capacitive or inductively coupled RF-energy (or a combination of both) to a gas to ignite a plasma. Ions (usually cations) are then accelerated out of the plasma across the sheath potential and impact the sample, resulting in directional physical "sputter" etching, while neutral radicals thermally diffuse out of the plasma to the sample surface and provide anisotropic chemical etching. The volatile byproducts of etch are then removed from the etch chamber. In this way, a plasma can be used to "etch" down into a material.

Two types of dry etch are possible and are differentiated by the way in which RF energy is supplied to the plasma. In a capacitively coupled plasma (CCP) dry etch, a radio

frequency (usually 13.56 MHz) electric field applied between two parallel plates, stripping the electrons from neutral gas molecules/atoms. These electrons are then heated by the alternating RF electric field and gain sufficient thermal energy to cause impact ionization of additional gas molecules/atoms, igniting a plasma once the ionization ratio passes a certain threshold which depends on the gas mixture and pressure. A plasma sheath develops between the plasma cloud and the chamber sidewalls/electrodes in order to balance the flux of electrons and cations to the chamber sidewalls. More information on sheath formation and physics can be found in [4]. In a system with equally sized top and bottom electrodes, the sheath width and potential drop will be symmetric, causing cations to be accelerated out of the plasma towards both electrodes with equal energy. By electrically isolating the lower (sample holding) electrode and making it smaller, while also enlarging the upper electrode and tying it to the chamber sidewalls, it is possible to make the lower electrode much smaller than the upper. This makes the sheath width much larger over the lower electrode and increases the sheath potential and kinetic energy of cations accelerated into the sample. In this way, sputter etching of the top electrode and chamber sidewalls can be minimized while increasing the physical etch rate at the sample surface. The primary downside of this approach is that plasma density and sheath potential are directly coupled to one another, such that increasing the RF energy delivered to the plasma increases the electron/cation density while also increasing the sheath potential and physical etch rate. In a CCP etcher, it can thus be difficult to achieve high chemical to physical etch ratios, limiting the flexibility of these systems.

In an inductively coupled plasma (ICP) dry etch, RF energy is supplied by time varying electric currents produced by electromagnetic induction. The induction coils in an ICP etcher are electrically isolated from the etch chamber by a dielectric window, usually glass or another ceramic material, which allows RF energy to be supplied to the plasma cloud without affecting the sheath potential. In most ICP etchers, a secondary RF power supply is also connected in CCP configuration, so that sheath potential can be controlled as well. This allows the density of the electrons/cations in the plasma to be controlled independently from the sheath potential, offering increased parameter space flexibility to the etch process. One major benefit of ICP etching is the ability to operate with very high plasma density over a wide range of pressures, which can allow almost purely chemical plasma etching to be performed.

A number of dry etch tools are available in the SMFL, including two CCP tools, two hybrid ICP/CCP tools, and an ICP oxygen asher. Dry etching of GaN and AlGaN in the SMFL is performed with a Plasmatherm Apex ICP plumbed with Cl<sub>2</sub>, BCl<sub>3</sub>, Ar, He, O<sub>2</sub>, and N<sub>2</sub>. Etch rates of between 200 and 700 nm/min can be achieved for GaN and AlGaN depending on the etch parameters, which are summarized in Table 3.4.1. Dry etches are typically masked using photoresist, SiO<sub>2</sub>, or in the case of GaN, Ni. In addition to dry etching of GaN, SiO<sub>2</sub> and PDMS etches are often used in our LED fabrication, and generally use some type of fluorine-based plasma. The etch parameters for SiO<sub>2</sub> and PDMS are also summarized in Table 3.4.1. Dry etches are also used to remove organic materials

	Gases	Gas flow (sccm)	Pressure (mtorr)	Plasma Power (W)	Tools	
GaN/AlGaN	Cl <sub>2</sub> /BCl <sub>3</sub> /Ar	32/8/5	10	75/300 RF/ICP	Plasmatherm Apex ICP	
SiO <sub>2</sub>	CHF <sub>3</sub> /CF <sub>4</sub> /O <sub>2</sub>	70/60/8	130	200 RF	Trion Minilock CCP, Trion Phantom CCP	
PDMS	$CF_4/O_2$	40/20	100	275 RF	Trion Minilock CCP	
O <sub>2</sub> Ash	O <sub>2</sub>	20-300	100-300	400-900 ICP	Trion Phantom CCP, Trion Apollo ICP Asher	
O <sub>2</sub> and F Ash	O <sub>2</sub> /CF <sub>4</sub>	20-100/5	100-300	150 RF	Trion Phantom CCP	
Descum	O <sub>2</sub>	20	120	50 RF	Trion Minilock CCP, Plasmatherm Apex ICP	

Table 3.4.1: Dry Etch Process Parameters

such as photoresist from wafers, these "ash" and "descum" etch parameters are also given in Table 3.4.1.

## 3.5 Wet Etching

Wet etching of GaN and AlGaN is critically important following a plasma dry etch, especially for high aspect ratio structures such as nanowires. The lack of a lattice matched growth substrate for GaN and AlGaN means that the dislocation related defect density is very high in GaN and AlGaN. These dislocations can reduce the dry etch rate in their locality, forming micro masked etch grass structures as described in Section 3.1.2. Additionally, the sidewalls of high aspect ratio GaN and AlGaN structures usually exhibit an undesirable tapered profile following dry etch, as well as significant surface damage, which contributes to increased surface recombination and reduced IQE. For these reasons, a crystallographic, hydroxyl based wet etch is required to remove etch grass, straighten structure sidewalls, and remove dry etch damage. The effectiveness of hydroxyl-based etch chemistries has been extensively documented, and is currently used in industrial scale fabrication of GaN power electronics and LEDs [5-10]. These chemistries do not etch Ga-polar surfaces, such as the c-plane (0001) of wurtzite GaN and AlGaN alloys, instead rapidly etching the semi-polar r-planes  $(10\overline{1}1)$  until the non-polar  $(10\overline{1}0)$  plane is revealed, which is then etched more slowly [11]. This unique crystallographic etch rate variation is due to differences both the surface polarity as well as the surface energy/dangling bond density of the surface. Surfaces which develop higher densities of electronegative dangling bonds (such as the c-plane), will repel hydroxyl ions in solution, preventing them from accessing the surface and lowering the etch rate [5,7,11]. This allows these chemistries, typically based on KOH or tetra-methyl ammonium hydroxide (TMAH), to rapidly etch structures unprotected by the c-plane, such as etch grass, as well as the tapered sidewalls of nanowires and other high aspect ratio structures. Immersion of dry etched GaN and AlGaN samples in these chemistry can lead to complete removal of etch grass and attainment of perfectly vertical, crystallographically smooth sidewalls in between 10 to 30 min. Figure 3.5.1 shows two samples before and after a 30 min etch in 2 wt.% KOH at 80°C. The difference between Figs. 3.5.1(a) and (b) and Figs. 3.5.1(c) and (d) demonstrates the effectiveness of the wet etch at removing etch grass and producing crystallographically smooth sidewalls.



Figure 3.5.1: GaN nanowires before (a, c) and after (b, d) a 30 min etch in 2 wt.% KOH at 80°C.

All nanowire LED samples fabricated in the SMFL are subjected to a KOH-based etch to remove etch grass, straighten nanowire sidewalls, and remove dry etch damage. Most planar mesa LEDs are also wet etched, although this step is less necessary for these structures, which are only dry etched to a depth of a few hundred nanometers and exhibit negligible micromasking. The wet etch is performed by mixing 1:4 or 2:3 AZ400K (a photoresist developer containing 2 wt% KOH) and DI water to create a 20% or 40% AZ400K solution. The solution is mixed in a Pyrex griffin beaker and heated on a hotplate to a temperature of  $\sim$ 80-90°C. The sample to be etched is placed in Teflon dipper and suspended several millimeters over the surface of the mixed solution. Al foil is then used to seal the top of the beaker around the handle of the dipper to prevent evaporation of the heated solution. A PID thermocouple is then inserted through the Al foil into the solution to control the heating of the solution. The solution is stirred with a Teflon coated stir bar at 300-500 rpm to maintain uniform concentration throughout and ensure delivery of fresh etchant to the sample surface. Once solution has reached the temperature setpoint of between 80°C and 90°C, the sample holding dipper is lowered into the solution without removing the Al foil until the sample is submerged  $\sim 1$  cm below the surface.

Etch times of 5-10 minutes are generally sufficient for removal of most etch grass, while most unwanted post-dry-etch tapering can be removed in 20-40 min. Extended etch times have been found to slowly reduce the diameters of nanowires and micropillars, offering the useful capability to achieve diameters smaller than those attainable with our in-house lithography capabilities. However, this "shrinking" of the nano and microstructures was found to only be possible in the absence of the dry etch mask. When a dry etch mask, either Ni or TEOS, is left on smaller structures during KOH etching,

diameter reduction is prevented entirely as the etch solution is denied access to the "corner" of the structure where the vertical m-plane, which etches very slowly, meets the horizontal c-plane, which does not etch. Slow etching of the m-plane has been found to initiate from the top of the structure at this c/m-plane interface, so when the c-plane is covered in an inert metal or dielectric, this etch mechanism is effectively terminated. More information on the shrinking of GaN/AlGaN nanowires and micropillars can be found in our group's 2023 publication "Analytical Study of KOH Wet Etch Surface Passivation for III-Nitride Micropillars," by Matthew Seitz *et al* [12].

After completion of the etch, the foil and thermometer are removed, and the sample is transferred into a beaker of room temperature DI water. After ~5 min in DI water, the sample is transferred to a fresh beaker of DI water and is agitated for an additional 2 min to ensure complete removal of any etch byproducts from the sample surface. The sample is then removed from the DI water and quickly dried with N2. Our group has extensively characterized the effects of AZ400K/KOH concentration and solution temperature on the both the etch rate and etched surface roughness of GaN and AlGaN. In general, lower AZ400K concentrations produce smoother etched surfaces and are more desirable when surface passivation is required but come at the expense of lower etch rates. Temperature was found to have little effect on surface roughness, primarily effecting etch rate. Temperatures of 80-95°C were found to be ideal, with etch rate showing a general logarithmic relationship with temperature. 80-85°C was found to be the easiest to use, as higher temperatures cause increased evaporation of the solution, leading to a messier, less controllable process. Etch rates decreased significantly below 75°C, and while room temperature AZ400K solutions are capable of etching GaN and its alloys, room temperature etches rates are so low that days or weeks of immersion are required to produce any noticeable etch progress [8]. For example, a quick, rough etch aimed at removing etching grass from a mesa LED sample could be performed in 40% AZ400K at 90°C in about 5 min, while a slow, smooth etch of high aspect ratio nanowires or micropillars could be performed in 10-20% AZ400K at 80°C in 45-120 min. More details on KOH etching of GaN, AlGaN, and InGaN can be found in our group's 2019 and 2023 publications *"Effect* of KOH passivation for top-down fabricated InGaN nanowire light emitting diodes," by Matthew Hartensveld *et al.* [5], and *"Analytical Study of KOH Wet Etch Surface Passivation for III-Nitride Micropillars,"* by Matthew Seitz *et al* [12].

In addition to crystallographic KOH etching of GaN and AlGaN, several other wet etches are often performed during fabrication of LEDs in the SMFL. Etching of SiO<sub>2</sub>, deposited either by plasma enhanced chemical vapor deposition (PECVD) or atomic layer deposition (ALD), is etched using 10:1 buffered oxide etched (BOE). BOE is used instead of 49% HF because it provides a slower, more controllable etched rate. In the SMFL BOE contains a 6:1 volume ratio of 40% aqueous NH<sub>4</sub>F (the buffering agent) to 49% aqueous HF. This "stock" BOE is then diluted 10:1 in DI water to provide an even slower, more controllable etch rate. This solution will etch densified TEOS and ALD SiO<sub>2</sub> at 100-140 nm/min depending on etch bath age. In addition to wet etching of SiO<sub>2</sub> and TEOS, an Al wet etch is sometimes used. This etch is performed in a bath consisting of ~5% HNO<sub>3</sub>, 70% H<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 5% CH<sub>3</sub>COOH, and 20% DI water heated to 85°C. Etch rates of around 300 nm/min against evaporated and sputtered Al films are generally obtainable with this chemistry. Etching of Ni can be performed in 25% HCl at room temperature with etch rates of ~50-100 nm/min. It is of note that Ni films which have been used as an etch mask for

 $Cl_2$  plasma etches in excess of several minutes are inert in HCl solutions due to the formation of  $Ni_xCl_y$  compounds on the surface of the metal during plasma etching [13]. These films can be removed by Ar sputter etching at the end of the  $Cl_2$  etch process, but this workaround has not been characterized in depth.

#### **3.6 Thin Film Deposition**

Thin film deposition encompasses deposition of both metals and dielectrics such as  $SiO_2$ . Metal deposition is generally accomplished through use of either thermal evaporation, electron beam evaporation, or sputtering, while dielectrics can be deposited through room or low-pressure thermal growth (for example tube furnace thermal  $SiO_2$  or low-pressure chemical vapor deposition (LPCVD)  $Si_xN_y$ ), plasma enhanced chemical vapor deposition (PECVD), atomic layer deposition (ALD), sputtering, or electron beam evaporation (in rare cases). Thin film deposition is a critical capability in semiconductor device manufacturing and is equally important in the fabrication of mesa and nanowire LEDs. During fabrication of LEDs in the SMFL, metal contacts and etch masks are deposited through either thermal or electron beam evaporation, while dielectrics such as tetraethyl orthosilicate (TEOS) and  $Si_3N_4$  are deposited as passivating layers using PECVD. Indium Tin Oxide, a transparent conductor, is also sometimes deposited using sputtering.

## 3.6.1 Thermal Evaporation

In thermal evaporation, small metal pellets or wire segments are placed in a "boat," which is generally 5-10 cm in length and several centimeters wide with a small depression in the middle. Evaporation boats are typically made of a refractory metal such as W, Mo,
or Ta to allow them to withstand the temperatures needed to melt the metal being evaporated. Boats may also be coated with alumina or other ceramics to control wetting of metal melt and extend the life of the boat. The boat is clamped between two electrodes capable of supplying hundreds of amps of current. The sample is then placed above the boat and the entire system is pumped down to high vacuum, generally around  $1-5 \times 10^{-7}$  torr using a combination of a roughing pump and either a cryo-pump or a turbo-pump. Once sufficiently high vacuum is achieved, resistive heating is used to heat the boat by flowing current through it. The heat is transferred to the metal within the depression on the boat, which has a lower melting point than the boat material. When the metal melts, its vapor pressure increases, allowing metal atoms to escape the surface of the melt and producing a measurable flux of metal atoms at the sample surface. A crystal detector is placed near the sample and measures the instantaneous deposition rate and total run to run deposition thickness. As metal is deposited on the sample and crystal simultaneously, the mass of the crystal increases, changing its resonant frequency and allowing instantaneous mass change to be measured and converted to a deposition rate by knowing the density and Z-ratio of the metal. Deposition rates can range from 0.1 to 100 Å/s, with higher melt temperatures leading to higher deposition rates. The distance between the sample and the boat plays a key role in determining the deposition rate, which scales roughly with the inverse cube of r, the source-sample distance. Halving r will result in a roughly 8x increase in deposition rate. The custom-built thermal evaporator in the SMFL has a source-sample distance of roughly 40 cm, and deposition rates of between 0.5 and 5 Å/s are usually targeted. The physics governing the finer details of metal evaporation are quite complex and are beyond

the scope of this explanation. More information on metal evaporation physics can be found in [14,15].

## 3.6.2 Electron Beam Evaporation

In electron beam evaporation, metal is placed in a water cooled "crucible," made of either carbon or a refractory metal such as W or Mo. The sample is then placed above the crucible and the system is evacuated to at least  $1 \times 10^{-5}$  torr. An electron beam is then generated with the vacuum chamber and steered into the crucible using a set of electromagnets. The electron beam strikes the metal in the crucible, causing intense heating at the site of impact and melting the metal. The electromagnets are used to raster the beam across the surface of the metal to melt a wider area and increase deposition rate. The evaporating metal atoms then deposit on the sample, and deposition rate is measured with a crystal monitor similarly to thermal evaporation. Electron beam and thermal evaporation are similar in many ways but have a few key differences. While thermal evaporation requires very large electric current to heat a boat and metal the metal contained in it, electron beam evaporation can be used to evaporate metals at a much lower vacuum pressure by causing localized heating of the target metal. It is thus more effective for evaporating high melting point metals such as Ni and Ti. In most electron beam and thermal evaporation systems, the crucibles or boats are placed a carousel system which can be rotated to allow for evaporation of multiple different metals without venting the chamber. Samples can be mounted on a rotating "planetary" system within the vacuum chamber to achieve a more isotropic, non-directional deposition if required.

# 3.6.3 Sputtering

In addition to evaporation, sputtering can also be used to deposit metal on a sample. In sputtering, a plasma, generally composed primarily of inert Ar<sup>+</sup> ions, is generated between two electrodes. A metal target is placed over one of the electrodes, while the sample is mounted over the other electrode such that it is facing the target. As in CCP dry etching, an RF electric is applied between the two electrodes striking and sustaining a plasma. In contrast to CCP plasma etching, the sample holding electrode is made much larger than the target holding electrodes, such that cations (usually Ar<sup>+</sup>) are selectively accelerated into the target instead of the sample. The ions impact the target surface, transferring their momentum to metal atoms which are ejected from the target surface and deposited on the sample. Sputtering is often used when deposition of conformal or semi conformal films is required. Sputtering can also be performed at much higher pressures than evaporation, making it much faster due to lack of the extended pump times which are needed for electron beam and especially thermal evaporation. One downside of sputtering is that large, expensive sputter targets are required, making it difficult to use of deposition of rare, expensive metals such as Au and Ag.

#### 3.6.4 Dielectric Deposition

Dielectric deposition is also very important in the fabrication of more complex mesa and nanowire LEDs. Dielectrics such as silicon dioxide (SiO<sub>2</sub>), silicon nitride (Si<sub>3</sub>N<sub>4</sub>), and aluminum oxide (Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>) are used for electrical isolation of different metal levels, hard mask materials for dry etches, and sacrificial layers for liftoff of unwanted metal as described in Section 3.1.2. These materials can be deposited is several ways. The most basic method of dielectric deposition is chemical vapor deposition (CVD), in which the

sample is placed in a quartz tube through which precursor gases such as silane (SiH<sub>4</sub>), ammonia (NH<sub>3</sub>), aluminum chloride (AlCl<sub>3</sub>), oxygen (O<sub>2</sub>), and nitrogen (N<sub>2</sub>) are flowed. The quartz tube is heated to a very high temperature (usually > 700°C), heating the gases inside the tube such that they react/decompose on the sample surface, forming a thin film of the desired dielectric.

Plasma enhanced chemical vapor deposition (PECVD) is more commonly used in the SMFL and is similar to CVD in many ways. In PECVD, precursor gases are mixed in a vacuum chamber and ionized using RF electric fields. The combination of hot reactive ions and neutral radicals produced in the plasma allows dielectric films to be deposited at much lower temperatures, usually 350°C but sometimes as low as 200°C. This allows for deposition of dielectrics on temperature sensitive samples such as integrated circuits and quantum well epistructures. SiO<sub>2</sub> and Si<sub>3</sub>N<sub>4</sub> are commonly deposited via PECVD, but other films, such as the SiO<sub>2</sub> derivative tetraethyl orthosilicate (TEOS) can also be deposited.

Atomic layer deposition (ALD) uses pulsed gas flow and high temperatures to build extremely ordered, high quality thin films one atomic layer at a time. ALD is completely conformal and can easily coat overhanging surfaces with near mono-crystalline thin film. The major disadvantage of ALD is its deposition rate of only several nanometers per minutes or less. While this makes ALD nearly useless for creating thick dielectric films, it is ideal for formation of very thin films which require very tight tolerates, such as gate dielectric layers for transistors.

#### **3.7 Interlayer Dielectric Application and Planarization**

A critical step in the fabrication of nanowire and micropillar LEDs is the deposition, planarization, and etch back of the interlayer dielectric. This dielectric "interlayer" isolates

the n-metal at the bases of the nanowires from the p-metal at the tops of the nanowires and provides a platform for deposition of the p-metal. Without this layer, electrical operation of etched nanowire and micropillar LEDs would not be possible. Our group has used two distinct approaches, discussed in the following sections, for interlayer formation.

# 3.7.1 PDMS Etchback

Polydimethylsiloxane, or PDMS is a polymeric organosilicate which is transparent in the DUV range and inert in most wet etch chemistries and solvent. In nanowire LED fabrication, PDMS is spin coated onto the sample following nanowire formation and n-metal deposition. PDMS coats to a thickness of  $\sim 7 \,\mu m$ , and self-planarizes nanowires and other structures. After it is spin coated, an 11 min bake at 90°C is performed to drive out any remaining solvents and crosslink the polymer chains. The PDMS layer is then "etched-back" to expose the tips of the nanowires as described in Section 3.1.2. A  $CF_4/O_2$ plasma is used to etch the PDMS in short increments, with SEM and AFM used to determine when the nanowire tips are exposed. After the nanowire tips are exposed, the p-metal can be deposited on top of the PDMS to form nanowire array LEDs. While PDMS works reasonably well as an interlayer dielectric for nanowire LEDS, it is not optimal for a number of reasons. Etch back of PDMS can often prove difficult as the polymer surface tends to roughen after extensive dry etching. This leads to formation of particulate-like structures on the surface of the material which can adversely affect SEM imaging and subsequent devices performance. The coating thickness of PDMS is also affected by the density of the arrays over which it coats, as well the position on the sample. It will coat thicker over denser arrays and in the central regions of the sample. This causes the density of arrays and their position on the sample to impact the clear time (the amount of dry

etching required to expose the tips of structures). As the tolerance for a successful clear on a single array is very tight due to the p-GaN layer of the epistack being only several hundred nanometers thick, is becomes impossible to simultaneously clear (but not over clear) all arrays. In general, less than 20% of the arrays on a given sample can be successfully cleared at once, severally limiting the number of functioning, testable devices. Additionally, while PDMS is fairly chemically and thermally robust, it remains a non-rigid polymer, making testing of devices difficult as it is very easy to puncture the PDMS layer while attempting to probe p-metal on top of it. This also makes wire bonding impossible for devices which use a PDMS interlayer dielectric. As such, a more robust approach is needed.

# 3.7.2 TEOS Planarization and Etchback

An alternative to spin on dielectrics like PDMS is to use dielectrics such as SiO<sub>2</sub> and Si<sub>3</sub>N<sub>4</sub>, which are deposited conformally via low pressure chemical vapor deposition (LPCVD) or plasma enhanced chemical vapor deposition (PECVD). These materials are used extensively in semiconductor devices and exhibit excellent thermal and mechanical stability. Unfortunately, the conformal deposition of these materials leads to significant surface topology on the surface of the overcoating dielectric layer which is not removed during the dielectric etch back process. This topology often manifests as "hills" over each nano/microstructure, which corresponds "valleys" between them, as can be seen in Figure 3.7.1. During the subsequent etch back used to expose the tip of the structures, this topology is preserved and can cause the dielectric layer to experience etch punch through at the bottom of the valleys, causing shorting of the p-contact layer and the n-GaN/n-contact. Additionally, conformal dielectric deposition can also results in discontinuities



Figure 3.7.1: SEM images showing micropillars (2.5  $\mu$ m diameter, 2  $\mu$ m height, 10  $\mu$ m pitch) following dry etching and KOH treatment (a), and subsequently after 5  $\mu$ m (b), 7  $\mu$ m (c), and 9  $\mu$ m (d) of conformal TEOS deposition. Images a, b1, c1, and d1 were taken at 45° off normal, while b2, c2, and d2 were taken normal to the sample surface [18].

in the dielectric surface, which increases the sheet resistance of the continuous p-contact and can even cause opens to form if the p-contact layer is too thin.

These surface topology issues would normally be addressed using chemical mechanical planarization (CMP), a technique employed extensively in industrial damascene processes, particularly during the fabrication of upper the metallization layers of integrated circuits. Unfortunately, CMP is not available in the SMFL, and does not work well with irregularly shaped pieces like the ones our group uses. In lieu of CMP, an older technique based on plasma etchback of the dielectric can be performed. This method makes use of a sacrificial, self-planarizing photoresist layer and a modified TEOS dry etch which etches TEOS and photoresist at equal rates. By coating the planarizing photoresist over a topologically complex TEOS surface, the magnitude of surface features can be significantly reduced. The subsequent planarizing dry etch then removes the photoresist

and the SiO<sub>2</sub> at equal rates, eroding the SiO<sub>2</sub> surface features as the photoresist is removed. This allows the surface feature height (h) of the SiO<sub>2</sub> surface to be reduced by orders of magnitude after only a few planarization cycles. This process is briefly summarized in Figure 3.7.2. As opposed to chemical mechanical planarization/polishing (CMP), which utilizes a combination of corrosive chemicals and mechanical abrasion to remove surface features [16,17], this technique can be used on samples of any size and shape, and can be performed in almost every research cleanroom with dielectric deposition and dry etching capability.



Figure 3.7.2: Cross-sectional diagram of the dielectric planarization process. (a) TEOS deposited conformally over GaN nanowires via PECVD. (b) Coating of a self-planarizing photoresist layer over the TEOS surface. (c) Etch back of the photoresist and TEOS using a CF4/CHF3/O2 plasma which etches both materials at ~70 nm/min. (d) Planarized SiO2 etched back to expose the p-GaN tips of the nanowires [18].

Starting with a sample on which micropillars have been previously fabricated (as shown in Figure 3.7.1(a)), TEOS (or another dielectric such as  $SiO_2$  or  $Si_3N_4$ ) is deposited in via PECVD to a thickness greater than the height of the micropillars (Figure 3.7.2(a)).

Photoresist is then coated, resulting in a mostly planarized surface. Photoresist is very effective at planarizing over short-range surface topology, such as the features formed arrays of tightly spaced nanowires or micropillars (see Figure 3.7.1), but is less effective at long range planarization between widely spaced structures/devices. Figure 9(b) shows a cross-sectional representation of a perfectly planarized photoresist layer over a "domed" TEOS surface (see Figure 8(b-d)). A fluorine plasma etch is then used to etch back the photoresist and TEOS at equal rates (Figure 9(c)). This etch must be carefully optimized in order to target a 1:1 selectivity between photoresist and TEOS. This etch was performed at in a Trion Minilock RIE at 130 mtorr, 200 W capacitive RF power, and with gas flow rates of 70/60/11 sccms CHF<sub>3</sub>/CF<sub>4</sub>/O<sub>2</sub>. This process of coating photoresist and removing it with specialized 1:1 dry etch can be performed as many times as necessary to achieve the desired degree of planarization, but 2-3 cycles have generally been found to be sufficient.

Once a sufficient level of planarization is attained, any TEOS dry etch can then be used to further etch back the TEOS layer until the tips of micropillars are exposed, as shown in Figure 3.7.2(d). At this point, the planarization process has achieved its purpose of enabling the use of a conformally deposited SiO2 layer as an interlayer dielectric, and a p-contact layer can be safely deposited to connect multiple micropillars in parallel. Without initial planarization to remove the surface topology of the as deposited SiO2, deep trenches with sharp discontinuities would exist in the interlayer dielectric, making formation of a continuous p-contact layer difficult and risking potential shorting of the n and p contacts in a worst-case scenario. Figure 3.7.3 shows the effects of 1, 2, and 3 planarization cycles on the TEOS surface over an array of  $2.5/2/10 \,\mu$ m (width, diameter, pitch) GaN



Figure 3.7.3: SEM images of micropillars (2.5  $\mu$ m diameter, 2  $\mu$ m height, 10  $\mu$ m pitch) after 0 planarization cycles, h = 1.62  $\mu$ m (a), 1 planarization cycle, h = 610 nm (b), 2 planarization cycles, h = 76 nm (c), and 3 planarization cycles, h = 24 nm (d) [18].

micropillars. The initial surface feature height was measured at ~1.6  $\mu$ m, and was decreased to 610 nm, 74 nm, and 24 nm after 1, 2, and 3 planarization cycles respectively. These results show that this photoresist planarization etchback process is extremely effective at flattening short range surface topology over arrays of nano and microstructures. The development and optimization of this process in the SMFL is critical to the further development of DUV nanowire and micropillar array LEDs. Further information and details on this process are provided in Chapter 4.

# **3.8 Physical Characterization**

Inspection of samples between fabrication process steps is critical in determining whether the previous process steps were completed correctly. Visual inspection with the naked eye is often sufficient to determine if a step has been successful, but in many cases more advanced inspection techniques, such as optical microscopy or thin film interferometry must be used. Observation of samples is performed between every process step to check for particle contamination. The results of many procedures, such as photoresist development, dry etching, wet etching, and metal liftoff can be easily verified using an optical microscope. Other processes, such as TEOS and other transparent thin film deposition, can only be characterized using thin film interferometry, in which a variable wavelength light source and photodetector are used to determine the thickness of transparent thin film via the phenomenon of thin film interference. Many of the structures fabricated in the SMFL are too small to be seen even with high magnification microscopes (SEMs) and atomic force microscopes (AFM) to be properly inspected.

### 3.8.1 Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM)

Scanning electron microscopy uses electrons to image samples at much higher resolutions than are achievable with optical microscopy. The resolution of an optical microscope is limited to no less than half the wavelength of the light used, which, for normal white light is around 250 nm. Electron microscopes avoid this issue by using a beam of electrons to image a sample. Although electrons are massive particles unlike photons, they still have a characteristic wavelength determined by the De Broglie equation. The observed wavelength of an electron depends on its velocity relative to the observer, but is generally between 10 and 40 pm for the electrons in an SEM, more than 5000 times shorter than the wavelength light used in optical microscopy. This gives scanning electron microscopes a theoretical resolution of less than 1 nanometer, although this is nearly impossible to achieve

with all but the most advanced SEM tools. An SEM works by accelerating a beam of electrons in a vacuum using an electric field of between 1 and 30 kV to more than 20% the speed of light. The electron beam is focused onto a sample using a series of electromagnets which can be manipulated to change the spot size from several microns down to several nanometers. The electrons impact and penetrate the sample surface, imparting their kinetic energy to electrons in the sample, ejecting them from the sample surface where they are collected by an electric field and counted by a detector. Differences in sample surface geometry and composition change the flux of "secondary electrons" which are ejected from the sample, creating differences in the signal intensity measured by the secondary electron detector. In this way, each "point" on the sample surface is seen as a monochromatic pixel



Figure 3.8.1: Off-normal SEM images of various GaN structures.

of different brightness by the detector. By scanning the electron beam over the sample thousands of times per second, millions of pixels can be captured and assembled into an image. SEMs can allow for imaging of features as small as several nanometers, or very high-resolution images of larger features which would be barely resolvable in an optical microscope. SEMs are invaluable tools in the fabrication of nanowire LEDs and other devices with dimension smaller than 50  $\mu$ m. SEMs also allow for off-normal images of samples as shown in Figure 3.8.1, which are critical for observing features which cannot be seen by imaging normal to the surface of the sample. Nanowire in particular benefit immensely from SEM imaging, as SEMs are more or less the only tool capable of measuring the heights of nanowires more than a few microns tall.

### 3.8.2 Atomic Force Microscopy (AFM)

When extremely precise step height measurements are required, atomic force microscopy (AFM) is used. AFM operates by tapping an extremely small probe, usually made of silicon, against a sample surface with high frequency. A constant force is maintained between the probe and the sample surface using a piezoelectric probe arm, and probe deflection is measured using a laser which measures the distance to a mirror mounted on the probe arm. Probe deflection is used to create a topographic map of the sample surface with sub-nanometer accuracy. AFM can be used to measure step heights of up to several microns with much greater accuracy and reliability than SEM, and can also be used to measure surface roughness. Additionally, AFM can be used to measure step heights in organic or insulating samples, which experience severe charging in an SEM. For example, when performing etch back of PDMS or TEOS, AFM is used to determine when the nanowire tips are exposed, as SEM causing charging off the PDMS layer which makes it

near impossible to see the nanowires. Figure 3.8.2(a) shows the surface of a nanowire LED sample prior to exposure of the nanowire tips, while Figure 3.8.2(b) shows the same sample after the PDMS has been etched back an additional 100 nm to expose the nanowires.



Figure 3.8.2: AFM maps of a nanowire sample before (a) and after (b) the nanowires tips are exposed by etching back the PDMS.

# **3.9 Electrical and Optical Characterization**

Following complete fabrication of an LED device, electrical and optical testing is performed to characterize the current voltage characteristics, turn-on voltage, emission wavelength and linewidth, and emission power. Samples are tested on a manual probe station mounted on an air table to mitigate vibrations. A vacuum stage with 3-axis control is used to secure the sample and position it beneath a microscope (also with 3-axis control). Tungsten electrical probes are then brought into contact with the n- and p-contacts of the LED devices, and current is supplied to the device using a Keysight B1500 Parameter Analyzer. The B1500 can supply up to 100 mA of current at up to 100 V with femto-amp resolution. An Ocean Optics Flame S UV-Vis spectrometer is used to measure the emission properties of the LEDs. An optical fiber connected to the spectrometer is positioned in close proximity to the probed devices, generally with 2 mm, using a pair of flexible clamp tipped arms. The microscope is focused onto the probed devices, and the reflected light from the microscope spot is used to optimize the optical fiber position to achieve the highest possible intensity. All lights are then turned off in the room and the electroluminescence (EL) properties of the LED are recorded by performing a voltage sweep which illuminates the LED. Power measurements are performed by placing the Newport power meter with nanowatt sensitivity directly above the probed devices, generally within 2 cm of the LED. The emission power normal to the LED surface is then captured. While this is not an ideal method of measuring emission power and cannot be used to determine EQE since the entirely of the emitting light is not captured, it is the best that can be done for a device probed at the wafer-level, as unpackaged LEDs cannot be easily characterized using an integrating sphere.

Photoluminescence (PL) measurements are also performed on samples prior to completion of the fabrication process, in order to benchmark metrics such as emission wavelength, linewidth, and intensity prior to fabrication of nanostructures. A Horiba HeCd 325 nm laser with a maximum output power of 30 mW is used to produce photoluminescence in samples with emission wavelengths greater than ~350 nm. This system is unfortunately limited to use for near-UV and visible light LEDs, as its 325 nm emission wavelength is not capable of producing PL in DUV LED samples. The light emitted from the optically excited samples is then measured by a built-in photodetector, allowing for determination of emission wavelength, emission linewidth, defect emission,

and many other material related properties of the sample. In addition to this laser PL system, we also sometimes use a small, handheld mercury lamp to perform qualitative PL on DUV samples. The mercury lamp has emission lines down to ~250 nm, allowing it to induce weak photoluminescence from DUV LEDs which can be measured using the Ocean Optics spectrometer. This allows for very basic characterization of DUV samples prior to completion of device fabrication, which is often very useful in determining any sort of emission wavelength shift that occurs following fabrication of nanostructures on the sample.

# **Chapter 3 References**

- 1. N. Susilo, S. Hagedorn, D. Jaeger, H. Miyake, U. Zeimer, C. Reich, B. Neuschulz, L. Sulmoni, M. Guttmann, F. Mehnke, C. Kuhn, T. Wernicke, M. Weyers, and M. Kneissl, "AlGaN-based deep UV LEDs grown on sputtered and high temperature annealed AlN/sapphire," Appl. Phys. Lett. **112**(4), 041110 (2018).
- 2. W. Yang, Y. Zhao, Y. Wu, X. Li, Z. Xing, L. Bian, S. Lu, and M. Luo, "Deep-UV emission at 260 nm from MBE-grown AlGaN/AlN quantum-well structures," Journal of Crystal Growth **512**, 213–218 (2019).
- 3. B. W. Smith and K. Suzuki, eds., *Microlithography: Science and Technology*, 3rd edition (CRC Press, 2020).
- 4. G. Manfredi and F. Valsaque, "Plasma-wall transition and sheath formation," Vide **306**, 810–835 (2003).
- 5. M. Hartensveld, G. Ouin, C. Liu, and J. Zhang, "Effect of KOH passivation for top-down fabricated InGaN nanowire light emitting diodes," Journal of Applied Physics **126**(18), 183102 (2019).
- 6. D. A. Stocker, E. F. Schubert, and J. M. Redwing, "Crystallographic wet chemical etching of GaN," Appl. Phys. Lett. **73**(18), 2654–2656 (1998).
- 7. W. Chen, J. Lin, G. Hu, and B. Zhang, "GaN nanowire fabricated by selective wet-etching of GaN micro truncated-pyramid," Journal of Crystal Growth **426**, 168 (2015).
- 8. M. Hartensveld, B. Melanson, C. Liu, and J. Zhang, "AlGaN nanowires with inverse taper for flexible DUV emitters," J. Phys. Photonics **3**(2), 024016 (2021).
- 9. K.-S. Im, C.-H. Won, S. Vodapally, D.-H. Son, Y.-W. Jo, Y. Park, J.-H. Lee, and J.-H. Lee, "Lateral GaN nanowire prepared by using two-step TMAH wet etching and HfO2 sidewall spacer," Journal of Crystal Growth **441**, 41–45 (2016).
- 10. D. Zhuang and J. H. Edgar, "Wet etching of GaN, AlN, and SiC: a review," Materials Science and Engineering: R: Reports **48**(1), 1–46 (2005).
- 11. F. Yu, S. Yao, F. Romer, and H. S. Wasisto, "GaN nanowire arrays with nonpolar sidewalls for vertically integrated field-effect transistors," Nanotechnology **28**(9), 095206 (2017).
- 12. M. Seitz, J. Boisvere, B. Melanson, J. W. Morrell, N. H. Manimaran, K. Xu, and J. Zhang, "Analytical Study of KOH Wet Etch Surface Passivation for III-Nitride Micropillars," iScience 109423 (2024).
- 13. H. Cho, S. Min, H. Bae, J.-H. Lee, and C. Chung, "High Density Plasma Etching of Nickel Thin Films Using a Cl2/Ar Plasma," Journal of Industrial and Engineering Chemistry (2007).
- 14. W. Kern, *Thin Film Processes II* (Elsevier, 2012).
- J. Safarian and T. A. Engh, "Vacuum Evaporation of Pure Metals," Metall Mater Trans A 44(2), 747–753 (2013).
- 16. H. Lee, H. Kim, and H. Jeong, "Approaches to Sustainability in Chemical Mechanical Polishing (CMP): A Review," Int. J. of Precis. Eng. and Manuf.-Green Tech. **9**(1), 349–367 (2022).
- 17. L. Zhang, S. Raghavan, and M. Weling, "Minimization of chemical-mechanical planarization (CMP) defects and post-CMP cleaning," J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B **17**(5), 2248 (1999).
- B. Melanson, M. Seitz, and J. Zhang, "Investigation of plasma etching for interlayer dielectric planarization in high-efficiency deep-ultraviolet nanowire LEDs," SPIE Photonics West Advanced Fabrication Technologies for Micro/Nano Optics and Photonics XVI, 124330H (2023)

# **CHAPTER 4: Deep-Ultraviolet Nanowire Array Light Emitting Diodes**

### 4.1 Electrically Driven Nanowire Array LEDs Emitting at 286 nm

#### 4.1.1 Introduction

III-nitride DUV LEDs are of significant interest for use in a wide range of applications, including water purification, sterilization of surfaces and medical tools, UV curing, 3D printing, sensing, and many others [1-6]. The majority of these applications currently rely on mercury arc lamps for generation of DUV light, which are bulky, short-lived, and produce hazardous mercury waste when disposed of [1,3,6]. In comparison, DUV LEDs offer compact form factors, long lifespans, narrow emission linewidth, tunable emission wavelength, high switching speeds, and much better environmental compatibility [1,3–5]. Despite these numerous advantages, DUV LEDs have not yet seen widespread adoption in most of their potential applications due to their poor efficiencies relative to blue, green, and red LEDs. In comparison to GaN/InGaN blue LEDs, which often have external quantum efficiencies (EQE) greater than 80% [7], AlGaN-based DUV LEDs emitting below 280 nm usually have EQEs in the single digits [1,2], with the current record being 20% at 275 nm [8]. Despite recent advances such as improved p-type doing [1,2], reduced dislocation density [1,2,9], and improved quantum well (QW) design [1,2], which have allowed for attainment of internal quantum efficiencies (IQE) in excess of 60% [1,10], light extraction efficiency ( $\eta_{EXT}$ ) remains much lower (< 20%) for DUV LEDs than for blue LEDs (> 90%) [1,11]. The poor extraction efficiencies of DUV LEDs are due to several factors including absorption of emitted light by the p-GaN layer [12–14], loss of light into the substrate [14], and the prevalence of transverse-magnetic (TM) polarized light which is much more difficult to extract from conventional LED structures and becomes more dominant at shorter wavelengths [12,14,15].

Many different approaches have been investigated as means for improving the  $\eta_{EXT}$ of DUV LEDs, including transparent p-AlGaN layers [8,16], highly reflective contact metallization [8,17], surface roughening and nanostructuring [18-22], photonic crystal out-coupling [8,16], and nanowire formation [2,12,14,15,23,23–36], as discussed in Chapter 2. While all of these studies have successfully improved  $\eta_{EXT}$  in some way, only nanowire formation has been found more than marginally effective at enhancing the extraction of TM-polarized light. TM-polarized light, which propagates primarily in the plane of the epitaxial stack (epistack) due to having a very narrow c-axis escape cone, has very low  $\eta_{EXT}$  in mesa-like LED structures which have lateral dimensions in the tens or hundreds of microns [12,14,37-39]. In nanowires, which have lateral dimensions on the order of hundreds of nanometers to several microns, TM-polarized light can easily escape into free space, drastically increasing the extraction efficiency of TM-polarized light [12,14,40]. It is for this reason that nanowires are of great interest as a means to enhance the EQE of DUV LEDs, especially those emitting at the lower end of the DUV range (< 240 nm) where band-mixing effects lead to TM-dominant emission [2,12,14,15]. In addition to enhancing  $\eta_{EXT}$ , nanowires have also been shown to reduce dislocation density in the active region [2], improve dopant concentration due to enhanced surface doping [27,41,42], and allow for growth on, or transfer to, different substrates, even including flexible substrates [23,43–45]. To date, the vast majority of studies involving AlGaN-based DUV nanowire LEDs have focused on epitaxial nanowires grown using metal organic

chemical vapor deposition (MOCVD) or molecular beam epitaxy (MBE) in a "bottom-up" fabrication process [23–36]. In comparison, no functional, electrically driven DUV nanowire LED has yet been fabricated using a "top-down" approach, where dry-etching is used to form nanowires from a bulk epistack. This approach is also of great interest, as it has several advantages over bottom-up processes, including improved nanowire uniformity, improved control of nanowire morphology, simplified fabrication of electrical contacts, and improved manufacturing scalability.

Here we demonstrate the fabrication and characterization of top-down fabricated electrically driven nanowire array LEDs emitting at 286 nm with a narrow, 9 nm linewidth. In addition to being the first demonstration of DUV emitting nanowire array LEDs using a top-down approach, we also describe what is, to the best of our knowledge, the first discovery of a unique "inverse taper" phenomenon which develops in high Al-content AlGaN nano/microstructures during hydroxyl based wet etching.

Nanowire arrays were fabricated using a Cl<sub>2</sub>/Ar dry etch followed by a heated hydroxyl-based wet etch, resulting in a novel "inverse taper" profile in which the nanowire base diameter is smaller than the top diameter. Polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS) was used as an interlayer dielectric, electrically isolating the n- and p-metal contacts at the bases and tops of the nanowires respectively. Electrical testing returned an average turn-on voltage (V<sub>th</sub>) of ~7 V, in line with that of other nanowire DUV LEDs [23–29,31,32,36], while power measurements showed emission power to be linearly dependent on current density, also in keeping with the results of prior works [24–32,34,35]. The onset of efficiency droop was found to occur at around 16 A/cm<sup>2</sup>, representing a moderate improvement compared to other reported results in which peak EQE usually occurs at less than 5 A/cm<sup>2</sup> [23–26,31].

Preliminary finite-difference time-domain (FDTD) simulations also revealed that the unique inverse-taper profile of these nanowires could produce significant enhancements in the  $\eta_{EXT}$ , especially for TM-polarized light, with increased taper angle correlated directly to increased  $\eta_{EXT}$ . These results are very promising, and show that top-down fabricated nanowires may have significant advantages over epitaxially grown nanowires with respect to light extraction.

#### 4.1.2 Nanowire Array LED Fabrication

Nanowire array LEDs were fabricated on a 50 mm AlGaN on c-plane sapphire wafer purchased from a commercial vendor. The epistack consisted of a 1.35  $\mu$ m AlN buffer layer followed by a 20x Al<sub>0.85</sub>Ga<sub>0.15</sub>N/AlN superlattice, 260 nm of u-Al<sub>0.7</sub>.Ga<sub>0.3-</sub>N,  $\mu$ m of n-Al<sub>0.5</sub>Ga<sub>0.5</sub>N, a 5x Al<sub>0.5</sub>Ga<sub>0.5</sub>N/Al<sub>0.4</sub>Ga<sub>0.6</sub>N multiple quantum well (MQW), a 25 nm n-AlGaN EBL, 50 nm of p-AlGaN, and 200 nm of p-GaN. A simplified, not to scale version of this epistack can be seen in Figure 4.1.1(a). Following standard RCA cleaning of the wafer, 100 nm of SiO<sub>2</sub> was deposited using plasma enhanced chemical vapor deposition (PECVD). 200 nm thick Ni was then deposited using electron beam



Figure 4.1.1: Fabrication process schematic, ab**b**reviated, not to scale. (a) Bulk epistack following patterning of the Ni dry etch hardmask (SiO<sub>2</sub> layer omitted). (b) Single nanowire following dry etching of the SiO<sub>2</sub> and AlGaN/GaN epistack (micromasking omitted). (c) Single nanowire following immersion in 40% AZ400K (aqueous) at 80°C for ~5 min. (d) Single nanowire following deposition of the n-metal contact, removal of the metal cap, coating and etch-back of the PDMS, and deposition and patterning of the Ni p-contact.

evaporation and patterned via a photoresist liftoff process, as can be seen in Figure 4.1.1(a). A CF<sub>4</sub>/CHF<sub>3</sub> reactive ion dry etch (RIE) was then used to etch the SiO<sub>2</sub> layer using the patterned Ni as a hardmask and the underlying p-GaN as an etch stop. A Cl<sub>2</sub>/Ar inductively coupled plasma (ICP) dry etch was then used to etch the GaN/AlGaN epistack to a depth of ~2.5  $\mu$ m, utilizing Cl<sub>2</sub>/Ar gas flow rates of 40/10 sccms, a chamber pressure of 30 mtorr, and ICP and CCP RF powers of 500 W and 225 W respectively. This ICP dry etch formed structures with "normal taper" as shown in Figure 4.1.1(b), where the base of the structure is wider than the lithographically defined top diameter. Micromasking was found to be extensive following this second dry etch, as can be seen in Figure 4.1.2(a), and is likely due to a combination of factors including physical defects in the epistack, sputtering of exposed SiO<sub>2</sub> [46], and lower volatility of certain etch byproducts [47].



Figure 4.1.2: SEM images showing AlGaN nanowires at various points in the fabrication process. Nanowires after dry etch (a), and 1 min (b), 5 min (c), 10 min (d), 20 min (e), 30 min (f), 45 min (g), and 60 min (h) in 0.8 wt.% aqueous KOH at 80°C.

Following the dry etch, a multipurpose, hydroxyl-based wet etch was performed in order to remove the micromasked structures, alter the sidewall profile of the nanowires, and passivate the sidewall surfaces. The wafer was immersed in 40% AZ400K (aqueous), a positive photoresist developer containing 2% KOH by weight, at 80°C for a total of 60 minutes. SEM images were taken of the nanowires after 0, 1, 5, 10, 20, 30, 45, and 60 minutes in the etch solution (Figure 4.1.2). As has been demonstrated extensively in other literature [45,48–55], this hydroxyl-based wet etch effectively removed all micromasked structures and straightened the sidewalls of the nanowires. This can be more clearly seen in Figure 4.1.3. Micromasking, which is extremely dense following dry etch (Figure 4.1.3(a)), is entirely removed after only 5 min in the aforementioned KOH solution (Figure 4.1.3(c).



Figure 4.1.3: SEM images showing AlGaN nanowires at various points in the fabrication process. Nanowires after dry etch (a), and 1 min (b), 5 min (c), and 20 min (d) in 0.8 wt.% aqueous KOH at  $80^{\circ}$ C.

Extended wet etches in this solution have been found to produce an "inverse taper" profile in AlGaN nanowires with high Al-content, in which the bases of the nanowires will eventually narrow to a point if left in the etch solution indefinitely. This phenomenon is shown in Figure 4.1.2(d-h) and Figure 4.1.3(d). SEM measurements of the nanowire

sidewall taper angle  $\alpha$ , defined as the angle between the nanowire sidewall and the nanowire axis, reveal that vertical sidewalls ( $\alpha = 0^{\circ}$ ) are obtained after ~5 min in the etch solution, with  $\alpha$  increasing to 5° after 20 min and 10° after 60 min, as shown in Figure 4.1.4. This phenomenon is not observed in GaN or low Al-content AlGaN, where extended hydroxyl-based etches effectively self-terminate once vertical sidewalls are achieved while the top of the structure remains protected. We attribute this phenomenon, apparently unique to high-Al content AlGaN, to alteration of the surface energy/polarity of the semi-polar ( $20\overline{2}1$ ) and ( $10\overline{1}1$ ) wurtzite planes by inclusion of the alloying Al atoms, although the exact cause remains unknown and requires further investigation [45]. The roughly linear relation between  $\alpha$  and etch time shown in Figure 4.1.4 indicates that  $\alpha$  would continue to increase beyond 10° with etch times in excess of 1 hour. Unfortunately, the diameters of the nanowires studied (~2 µm) prevented us from confirming this, as etch times longer than 1 hour cause the nanowires to detach from the substrate.



Figure 4.1.4: Nanowire taper angle as a function of etch time. Taper angles beyond  $10^{\circ}$  could not be measured due to the size of the nanowires.

After completion of the wet etch, a self-masked, universal n-metal contact was deposited using highly directional thermal evaporation. The n-metal stack consisted of 10 nm Ti in contact with the n-AlGaN, followed by 200 nm Al, 30 nm Ni, and 100 nm Ag in order to achieve an ideal ohmic contact to the n-AlGaN [56–58]. The inverse taper profile of the nanowires allowed the n-metal to be deposited without the use of any lithographic patterning, with the wider tops of the nanowires shadowing their bases and preventing deposition of metal on the nanowire sidewalls (Figure 4.1.1(e)). This process allows for simplification of the fabrication process as well as reduced series resistance of each nanowire array, as current is allowed to reach the bases of nanowires in the middle of each array without traveling through the more resistive n-AlGaN. Following n-metal deposition, the wafer was immersed in 10:1 buffered oxide etch (BOE) in order to remove the 500+ nm thick metal caps on top of each nanowire, which consisted of the 200 nm Ni dry etch mask as well as the self-masked n-metal stack (~340 nm). 10:1 BOE rapidly etches the 100 nm thick SiO<sub>2</sub> layer beneath the Ni hardmask layer, separating the thick metal caps from the tops of the nanowires and allowing them to be removed in the etch solution. Removal of the metal caps is critical as it allows light to escape from the tops of the nanowires which would otherwise be completely reflected by a 500 nm thick metal layer.

Following deposition of the n-metal and removal the metal caps in 10:1 BOE, polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS), a silicone polymer, was spin-coated to a thickness of ~7.7  $\mu$ m and cured at 90°C for 30 minutes. PDMS was chosen as the interlayer dielectric due to its transparency in the DUV range as well as its thermal stability and chemical inertness. After curing, the PDMS was etched-back using a CF<sub>4</sub>/O<sub>2</sub> RIE dry etch in order to expose the p-GaN tips of the nanowires. Ni was then deposited using conformal electron

beam evaporation to a thickness of 20 nm over the entirely of the wafer, and patterned using a photoresist-masked etch in heated phosphoric acid to form the p-contact. Due to the use of a continuous, universal n-contact, individual nanowire array devices were defined by connecting multiple nanowires through patterning of the p-contact Ni layer. Figure 4.1.1(e) shows a nanowire following this final step, with a thin Ni atop the PDMS interlayer dielectric making contact to the top of the nanowire.

# 4.1.3 Device Characterization

Electrical testing of the completed nanowire array LEDs was performed using a manual probe station and a Keysight B1500A parameter analyzer. The light emission properties of the LEDs were characterized using an Ocean Optics Flame-S spectrometer and a Newport 843-R power meter. Electrical contact was made to the nanowire array LEDs by probing the n- and p-contacts and applying forward bias across them. Contact was made to the n-contact metal by penetrating the flexible PDMS layer with the first probe tip to avoid the need to dry etch contact cuts in the PDMS. Contact was made to the thin p-contact metal on top of the PDMS by carefully lowering the second probe tip onto the metal surface, applying only enough pressure to make electrical contact but not enough to deform or puncture the underlying PDMS. Electroluminescence (EL) measurements were taken by positioning an optical fiber connected to the Ocean Optics spectrometer within a few millimeters of the probed devices and applying either voltage sweeps or constant voltage across the probes.

Figure 4.1.5 plots the EL spectra of a 30x30 (~300 x 2300  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup>) array nanowires for current densities up to 2.8 A/cm<sup>2</sup>. Each nanowire is ~ 5  $\mu$ m tall with a top diameter of 2.2  $\mu$ m and a taper angle of  $\alpha \sim 10^{\circ}$ , with all nanowires positioned in a square array with a



Figure 4.1.5: EL spectra of a 30x30 nanowire array LED at various current densities.  $\lambda_{peak}$  is located at 286 nm and all spectra have a linewidth of 9 nm. The inset shows an optical image of the illuminated nanowire array.

pitch of 10 µm for a fill factor of ~ 15.2%. The emission peak ( $\lambda_{peak}$ ) is centered at 286 nm, a redshift of ~16 nm from the EL  $\lambda_{peak}$  of the bulk epistack at 270 nm. This redshift is expected due to reduction of the quantum confined Stark effect (QCSE) following formation of nanowires, which reduces epitaxial strain in the MQW [59–63]. The EL spectra all exhibit a narrow linewidth of 9 nm, independent of current density. The inset of Figure 4.1.5 shows the illuminated array at a current density of 2.8 A/cm<sup>2</sup>, captured with a CCD camera. It is obvious from this image that not all nanowires are emitting light, and that those that are emit at different intensities. This is also shown in Figure 4.1.6, in which a different array of nanowires is illuminated by voltages between 6 and 12 V. We attribute this to several factors. First, the etch-back of the PDMS film was found to expose the tips



Figure 4.1.6: EL spectra of a 30x30 nanowire array LED at 6, 8, 10, and 12 V, showing the inconsistent manner in which individual nanowires illuminate.

of nanowires in sparser arrays first, due to the PDMS coating thicker over more dense arrays of nanostructures. This prevented the illumination of some of the much denser arrays, while the peripheral nanowires in some sparser arrays, such as the one shown in the inset of Figure 4.1.6, failed to illuminate due to the thinner PDMS at the array edges causing shorting of the active region by the p-contact metal. Second, the photoresist mask (SU-8 mr-DWL-5) exhibited poor adherence to the Ni coated PDMS surface during the wet etch of the 20 nm Ni p-contacts, allowing the phosphoric acid etch chemistry to penetrate beneath the photoresist etch mask in some areas, damaging or destroying the Ni layer and preventing illumination of nanowires in these regions. Third, non-uniformities in nanowire diameter due to lithography resolution limitations and statistical variation in the quality of the Ni p-contact to the top of each nanowire lead to variations in the brightness of each nanowire. These issues could be addressed through use of planarized SiO<sub>2</sub> as in interlayer dielectric in place of PDMS, as will be discussed in section 4.5.2.

The I-V characteristics of the 30x30 nanowire array LED are shown in Figure 4.1.7(a). Threshold voltage is ~ 7V, which is comparable to results obtained for other planar and nanowire DUV LEDs [1,2,23–29,31,32,36]. Efficiency measurements were performed by placing the power meter directly above the probed devices and measuring power output



Figure 4.1.7: (a) Linear I-V characteristics of a 30x30 nanowire array LED, showing a  $V_{th}$  of approximately 7 V. The inset shows the normalized WPE of the LED, with peak WPE occurring at 16 A/cm<sup>2</sup> and minimal efficiency droop at higher current densities. (b) Emission power as a function of current density.

as a function of current density. Output power density was found to be linearly related to current density, increasing from 50  $\mu$ W/cm<sup>2</sup> at 0.35 A/cm<sup>2</sup> to 35 mW/cm<sup>2</sup> at 32 A/cm<sup>2</sup> as shown in Figure 4.1.7(b). This is consistent with the results of other works, which often report similar or lower emission power densities for larger arrays of tightly packed, disordered epitaxial nanowires [24–32,34,35]. It is important to note that the power meter could be placed no closer than 3 cm from the wafer surface due to constraints of the test setup. As emission power was not measured using an integrating sphere, our results are not representative of the true emission power of the tested devices. The 1 cm diameter detector, positioned 3 cm from the emitting devices, covered ~1.4% of the emission hemisphere above each tested device, and can thus be expected to have captured  $\geq$  1.4% of the total emissive power. As it is impossible to accurately measure output power without an integrating sphere due to the complex far field radiation patterns of nanowire LEDs, our results only intended to be qualitative in nature. The EQE of our unpackaged devices is estimated to be between 0.0067% and 0.48%, although exact and accurate determination of the EQE requires packaging of the LED and use of an integrating sphere. Reported results for epitaxial nanowire array DUV LEDs generally range between 0.005% [36] and several percent [25,35], while the EQEs of planar DUV LEDs are generally between 1% and 5% [4,21,22].

The inset of Figure 4.1.7(a) shows the wall plug efficiency (WPE) as a function of current density, with peak WPE occurring at  $\sim 16 \text{ A/cm}^2$ . These results are in agreement with existing literature, which shows, in general, that the onset of efficiency droop occurs at higher current densities and is generally less severe for nanowire DUV LEDs than for planar DUV LEDs [2,23,64–67]. A droop onset of 16 A/cm<sup>2</sup> is also moderately higher than has been reported for other DUV nanowire LEDs ( $< 5 \text{ A/cm}^2$ ) [23–26,31]. We propose that the later onset of droop in DUV nanowire LEDs, especially in our devices, may be due in part to the lower volume of electrons available in a single tapered nanowire, which reduces the ratio of electrons to holes entering the active region. While the density of free electrons in the n-AlGaN remains unchanged, the reduced n-AlGaN volume of each nanowire, especially in nanowires with inverse taper, reduces the number of electrons which enter the active region during forward biasing of the nanowire array. This serves to reduce carrier overflow and non-radiative recombination of carriers in the p-AlGaN and p-GaN regions, pushing the onset of efficiency droop to higher carrier densities. While this theory requires further verification, it could, if true, allow for engineering of the n-AlGaN volume of nanowires in order to reduce the carrier overflow which occurs in all GaN/AlGaN-based LEDs due to poor hole mobility and concentration in Mg-doped GaN/AlGaN [66,67].

### 4.1.4 Conclusions

This initial demonstration of electrically driven top-down fabricated DUV nanowire array LEDs is the first of its kind. While electrically driven, epitaxially grown nanowire array LEDs emitting in the DUV regime can be found in literature, our results are the first report of successful fabrication of DUV nanowire arrays LEDs via a top-down approach (as of their 2021 publication). A narrow linewidth of 9 nm, coupled with late-onset efficiency droop at 16 A/cm<sup>2</sup> make these preliminary devices and fabrication process suitable for potential high-power applications in which high current densities are required. In contrast to extensive existing work on epitaxially grown DUV-emitting nanowires, the top-down fabrication approach outlined here offers numerous benefits including improved nanowire uniformity, greater control over nanowire morphology and array geometry, simplified formation of electrical contacts, and improved manufacturing scalability. The inverse taper profile of the nanowires used in our devices were also shown through simulation to produce significant enhancements in  $\eta_{EXT}$  compared to nanowires with vertical sidewalls. These simulation results are discussed in section 4.3.

Despite the promising results of this preliminary work there are still many issues which must be addressed in order to bring the efficiency of these devices more in line with planar DUV LEDs. These prototype devices had very poor yield, due primarily to difficulties with the PDMS interlayer dielectric and associated etch back process. Section 4.4 describes a solution to this issue based on planarization of conformally deposited PECVD SiO<sub>2</sub>. Use of a rigid dielectric like SiO<sub>2</sub> allows for the possibility of wire bonding and packaging of DUV LEDs, something which cannot be done when using PDMS. DUV nanowire/micropillar array LEDs described later in this chapter utilize an AlGaN/deltaGaN epistructure developed by Dr. Cheng Liu and previous members of our research group [68]. The results presented in this section were published in *AIP Advances* in 2021 [79].

### 4.2 Flexible DUV Nanowire Array LEDs Emitting at 292 nm

### 4.2.1 Introduction

AlGaN DUV LEDs are usually fabricated as planar mesa devices due to the maturity of the fabrication process. Nanowire DUV LEDs, while more difficult to fabricate, offer higher  $\eta_{EXT}$  and improved IQE, which together produce significant enhancements in EQE [12]. Nanowire LEDs can be formed through a bottom-up growth approach, which allows for large reductions in defect density through use of specialized growth substrates, further enhancing their IQEs when compared to planar LEDs [2]. Though nanowire LEDs have a number of beneficial properties, a reliable process to remove them from the growth substrate has not yet been developed, as it has for planar LEDs [69]. LEDs removed from the growth substrate offer new possibilities for flexible electronics and photonics, and enable reuse of the epitaxial substrate. Previous work on flexible nanowire LEDs typically involves embedding the nanowires in a flexible polymer for support, followed by mechanical exfoliation with a razor blade [70]. As a requirement for this process, the nanowires must be grown to at least 20 µm tall, and even then, the approach still suffers yield issues [71]. Therefore, a more reliable and stable process is needed to realize flexible DUV LEDs.

Our group's earlier work demonstrated that hydroxyl-based chemistries can wet etch GaN and remove dry etch induced damage, as the OH<sup>-</sup> ions in these solutions exhibit a unique crystallographic etching in wurtzite GaN and AlInGaN allows [53]. Hydroxyl based chemistries also allow for formation of vertical GaN nanostructures with perfectly smooth sidewalls [53]. These chemistries do not etch Ga-polar surfaces, such as the c-plane (0001) of wurtzite GaN and AlInGaN alloys, instead rapidly etching the semi-polar ( $10\overline{1}1$ ) plane until the non-polar (1010) plane is revealed, which is then etched more slowly [72]. This phenomenon can be applied to transform a flared cone into a straight-walled nanowire/micropillar without reducing its height or top diameter. The prior section (4.1) describes our discovery of novel phenomenon in which this well studied etch process produces an "inverse" taper profile when used to etch high Al-content AlGaN. Here we extend the work presented in section 4.1 to more thoroughly study hydroxyl-based etching of high Al-content AlGaN with a focus on removing AlGaN nanowires from their substrate for potential use in flexible electronics. Etch rates and sidewall angle dependence on etch time are investigated in order to better understand the physical mechanisms responsible for formation of an inverse taper profile in high Al-content AlGaN nanowires. We demonstrate that this inverse taper phenomenon can be leveraged to enable liftoff of relatively low aspect ratio AlGaN nanowires from the substrate with much greater yield than existing methods.

#### 4.2.2 Nanowire Formation

An AlGaN epitaxial stack grown using metal organic chemical vapor deposition (MOCVD) on a sapphire substrate with a Ga-polar c-plane orientation was used as the basis for the nanowires formed in this study. The epitaxy used here was identical to that used in section 4.1. The epistack consisted of a 1.35  $\mu$ m AlN buffer layer followed by a 20x Al<sub>0.85</sub>Ga<sub>0.15</sub>N/AlN superlattice, 260 nm of u-Al<sub>0.7</sub>Ga<sub>0.3</sub>N, 5  $\mu$ m of n-Al<sub>0.5</sub>Ga<sub>0.5</sub>N, a 5x Al<sub>0.5</sub>Ga<sub>0.5</sub>N/Al<sub>0.4</sub>Ga<sub>0.6</sub>N multiple quantum well (MQW), a 25 nm n-AlGaN EBL, 50 nm of p-AlGaN, and 200 nm of p-GaN. A simplified cross-section of this epistack is shown in Figure 4.2.1(a). The sample was first subjected to a solvent clean consisting of a 5-minute immersion in acetone followed by a 5-minute immersion in isopropyl alcohol, and a

5-minute rinse in DI water. The sample was then coated with lift-off resist (LOR) and photoresist and patterned with 1 - 2  $\mu$ m openings using laser direct write lithography. Ni was deposited with a thickness of ~200 nm and lifted-off, forming the Ni dots of the dry etch hard mask (Figure 4.2.1(b)). Following the hard mask patterning, nanowires with heights of ~2.5  $\mu$ m were formed using a Cl<sub>2</sub>/Ar inductively coupled plasma (ICP) dry etch. This dry etch utilized Cl<sub>2</sub>/Ar gas flow rates of 40/10 sccms, a chamber pressure of 30 mtorr, and ICP and CCP RF powers of 500 W and 225 W respectively. The initial nanowire etch profile produced by the ICP dry etch was cone-like, with the base of the nanowire having a larger diameter than the top (Figure 4.2.1(c)). The sample was then etched in 40% AZ400K (0.8 wt% KOH) heated to 80°C for a total of 70 min. In contrast to work with visible nanowire LEDs [53], the AlGaN nanowires developed a distinct "inverse taper" rather than maintaining a vertical sidewall profile independent of etch time (Figure 4.2.1(d-e)). This inverse taper phenomenon was observed for different samples with high



Figure 4.2.1: (a) Simplified DUV LED epitaxial layer stack (not to scale). Nanowire formation process showing (b) deposition of the Ni hard mask, (c) the  $Cl_2/Ar$  dry etch, (d) 5 min of wet etching in 40% AZ400K at 80°C, and (d) 70 min of wet etching in 40% AZ400K at 80°C.

Al-content (50% Al), but was *not* observed for AlGaN containing less than 20% Al. The etch appears to be crystallographic as evidenced by formation of a hexagonal axial cross section for all wires, but the selectivity of the wet etch against the various wurtzite crystal planes appears different for this high Al-content material. As with hydroxyl-based etching of GaN, the Ga-polar c-plane has a negligibly slow etch rate. The nanowires do not decrease in height as the etch progresses, and in instances where the Ni hard mask has delaminated, the tops of the wires are not attacked by the etch chemistry. The Ga polar surface of the c-plane repels the hydroxyl groups, resulting in a negligibly slow etch rate, while the non-polar planes ( $10\overline{11}$ ) are readily etched.

The height, base, and top dimensions of the nanowires were used to calculate the taper angle  $\alpha$ , which increased to ~11° after 70 minutes in the etch solution. Taper angle was found to be independent of wire diameter for nanowires of the same height. As described in section 4.1, it was again also found that if an AlGaN nanowire is etched long enough, the diameter of the base will approach zero, causing the nanowire to detach from the substrate and fall over. As taper angle is independent of nanowire top diameter and increases at the same rate independent of nanowire diameter, it is evident that nanowires with a smaller top diameter will detach from the substrate sooner than those with larger top diameters. Figure 4.2.2 shows nanowires with top diameters of 2 µm after etch solution, while Figure 4.2.2(c) shows nanowires with top diameters of 2 µm after 70 min in etch solution which have detached from the substrate. Whether a nanowire will detach from the substrate after an arbitrary time in the hydroxyl-based etch chemistry depends upon the top diameter and height of the nanowire, as these parameters in conjunction with the undercut


Figure 4.2.2: Nanowires with 2  $\mu$ m top diameters following 5, 20, and 70 min of KOH etching, with taper angles of 0°, 7°, and 11° respectively.

angle determine the base diameter of the nanowire. The undercut and resulting inverse taper profile are likely caused by the polarity-selective nature of the hydroxyl based etch, with Ga polar surfaces repelling the hydroxyl groups while the N-polar, semi-polar, and non-polar planes are more easily etched. The relevant wurtzite crystal planes are shown in Figure 4.2.3. The top surface of the nanowire is the Ga-polar (0001) plane (Figure 4.2.3(a)), which remains unaffected by the etch by repelling the hydroxyl groups in the etch solution. The ICP dry etch is engineered to form nanostructures with relatively straight sidewalls which expose the non-polar ( $10\overline{10}$ ) plane. With conventional GaN LEDs an equal Ga:N ratio exists and a controlled etch peels back layers of this plane, following a cavity etch model and reducing the diameter while maintaining a vertical wire [72]. The cavity model of the progressing wet etch can be thought of as the inverse of growth [50,73–75]. Incorporation of the Al into the hexagonal crystal structure modifies the 1:1 Ga:N ratio, with Al atoms occupying Ga sites in the crystal lattice. The hydroxyl-based etch must



Figure 4.2.3: (a) Wurtzite unit cell highlighting the (0001) c-plane surface, (b) wurtzite unit cell highlighting the ( $10\overline{1}0$ ) m-plane and semi-polar planes attacked by the AZ400K etch.

therefore overcome a larger energy barrier in order to remove Al atoms from the surface due to the Al-N covalent bond having a stronger binding energy (11.5 eV/atom) than the Ga-N covalent bond (8.9 eV/atom) [76]. In our nanowires it appears that the (10 $\overline{10}$ ) plane exposed after ~5 min of etching approximation of the (10 $\overline{10}$ ) is etched toward the (10 $\overline{11}$ ) plane [75].

## 4.2.3 Nanowire Liftoff and Characterization

This unique inverse taper morphology can be applied to aid in removal of nanowires from the substrate via a novel liftoff process to enable flexible device applications. The AlGaN nanowires shown in Figure 4.2.2 with top diameters of 2  $\mu$ m were used to demonstrate this. In order to better identify the prior location of the nanowires on the substrate following mechanical removal, a directional deposition of Ni was performed which leaves a circular "shadowed" area beneath the tapered wires (Figure 4.2.4(a)). PDMS was then spin-coated onto the substrate to a thickness of 1 mm and acts as both mechanical supporting layer for the nanowires as well as a flexible host substrate following removal of the wires from the growth substrate, as shown in Figure 4.2.4(b).



Figure 4.2.4: Cross sectional schematic of the nanowire removal process. (a) Directional Ni deposition. (b) PDMS coating. (c-e) Extended duration room temperature KOH etching. (f) Liftoff of nanowire embedded in PDMS.

Following application of the PDMS, the sample was cured at 90°C for 1 hour to increase the nanowire-PDMS adhesion and improve the mechanical stability of the PDMS film. The sample was then submerged in 100% AZ400K at room temperature to release the embedded nanowires from the host substrate. The AZ400K will not attack the PDMS or the AlGaN substrate, but slowly works its way along the interface between them, delaminating the PDMS from the underlying AlGaN and further etching the bases of the nanowires as shown in Figures 4.2.4(c-e). The narrow bases of the wires are further etched until the wires are nearly or completely removed from the underlying AlGaN layer, allowing the PDMS film in which they are embedded to be separated from the substate with minimal force application. Were the nanowires not embedded in PDMS they would tip over onto the substrate, as shown in Figure 4.2.2(c). The PMDS acts as a mechanical support layer, maintaining the orientation and relative positions of the nanowires. After the AZ400K etch is complete, the PDMS film can be easily peeled from the original substrate as shown in Figure 4.2.5(a). The bases of the removed nanowires can be seen sticking through bottom of the peeled PDMS film in Figure 4.2.5(b). Figure 4.2.5(c) shows the apertures in the Ni layer produced by shadowing from the nanowires during direction Ni deposition. These holes in the Ni layer atop the remaining n-GaN show the prior positions of the removed nanowires. Nanowires with diameters of ~ 2  $\mu$ m were successfully removed from the host substrate in this way, and the separated film exhibited exceptional flexibility despite containing thousands of rigid nanowires.



Repeated flexing of the PDMS film does not appear to disturb the location and orientation of the embedded nanowires or damage the nanowires in any way. The AZ400K etching is found to be critically important for successful removal of the nanowires from the substrate. Without the extended AZ400K etch to delaminate the PDMS from the substrate and further reduce the base diameters of the nanowires, it is not possible to remove the nanowires using this method. The mechanical shear force applied to the wires by peeling the PDMS film from the substrate was found insufficient to separate the wires from the substrate. This novel AZ400K etching and PDMS liftoff process enables removal of very short nanowires from the substrate without the damage incurred by conventional mechanical exfoliation techniques. As the nanowires are fully removed from the substrate without leaving broken stubs, it may be possible for the AIN growth substrate to be reused for epitaxial growth of additional LEDs.

Optical characterization of the nanowires was performed before and after removal from the substrate in order to examine the effects of the liftoff process on the light emission properties of the nanowire emitters. Figure 4.2.6 shows the PL emission spectra of the nanowires before and after removal from the substrate. Emission at 292 nm is observed from the AlGaN nanowires embedded in the PDMS host substrate, indicating that the nanowires are intact and that the PDMS film is transparent to DUV light. In addition to its flexibility and chemical inertness, PDMS exhibits a low absorption coefficient across the DUV emission range and an index of refraction of n=1.46 which aids light extraction from the nanowires [77]. A distinct 25 nm redshift of the emission peak from 267 nm to 292 nm is observed following removal of the nanowires from the substrate. In addition to this



Figure 4.2.6: PL emission spectrums of the bulk epi (blue) and the nanowires embedded in the PDMS film (red). The pre- and post-removal curves have peaks at 267 nm and 292 nm respectively.

following removal from the substrate, which can be attributed to luminescence of defects in the PDMS film. AlGaN nanowires removed from their growth substrate are expected to show this behavior, with red shift of the emission peak caused by reduction of the quantum confined stark effect (QCSE) [78]. Lattice mismatch induced strain causes powerful piezoelectric polarization electric fields to develop in the QW active region which raise the electron and hole ground states further from their respect band edges, shifting the location of the ground state emission peak. Removal the nanowires from the substrate reduces this strain, reducing the internal electric fields in the QW and flattening the energy bands in the quantum wells, red shifting the emission spectrum by moving the electron and hole ground states closer to their respective band edges. Once the nanowires are removed from the substrate, they can either be transferred to an alternative substrate (and the PDMS removed via dry etch) or remain embedded in the PDMS which can act as a virtual, flexible substrate.

### 4.2.4 Conclusions

This work represents the first demonstration of a flexible DUV emitter. The novel "inverse taper" phenomenon discovered by our group and described in section 4.1 is critical facilitating removal of nanowires from the substrate. Hydroxyl-based wet etching of the AlGaN nanowires was used to form the inverse taper profile, with taper angles of around 11° achieved after 70 minutes in etch solution. The formation of this undercut can eventually lead to complete removal of the nanowires from the underlying substrate as the etch progresses. This undercut enables a unique PDMS liftoff process capable of removing the nanowires from the growth substrate while maintaining their orientations and relative positions. The AlGaN nanowires removed from the substrate and embedded in PDMS show a 25 nm red shift in peak emission wavelength from 267 nm to 292 nm due to a reduction of the QCSE through strain relaxation. These initial results are very promising, and demonstrate that alternative methods to conventional razor blade exfoliation are possible for fabrication of flexible nanowire optical devices. While these nanowires were not electrically driven and were instead driven via DUV PL, development of an electrically driven device using this nanowire removal approach should not be difficult. Deposition of a flexible conductive p-contact layer on the tops of the nanowires prior to thick PDMS film application and subsequent deposition of a flexible conductor on the bases of the embedded nanowires (as shown in Figure 4.2.5(c)) could allow for realization of a flexible electrically driven device. The results presented in this section were published in *Journal of Physics*: *Photonics* in 2021 [45].

## 4.3 Simulation Analysis of DUV LED Light Extraction Efficiency

### 4.3.1 Introduction

The prior two section, 4.1 and 4.2, describe the design, fabrication, and characterization of DUV emitting AlGaN nanowire arrays. These devices are the first of their kind formed using a top-down fabrication approach. Of particular note is our discovery of a unique inverse tapers profile which develops in high Al-content AlGaN during extended hydroxyl based wet etching. This novel phenomenon offers several unique advantages over nanowires and micropillars with vertical sidewalls, such as the ability to utilize a "self-masking" un-patterned n-metal deposition as described in section 4.1, and nanowire liftoff process described in section 4.2. Etching of GaN and InGaN with hydroxyl-based chemistries such potassium hydroxide (KOH) as and tetramethylammonium hydroxide (TMAH) has been well studied, and is even used in industrial power electronics and LED manufacturing to remove dry etch damage and efficiency [48,49,51,53–55,79,80]. improve device GaN and InGaN etch crystallographically in hydroxyl-based solutions, with the non-polar and semi-polar wurtzite planes etching rapidly while the polar c-plane has a negligibly slow etch rate [49,51,53,79,80]. High AR dry etched GaN and AlGaN structures generally have a "normal taper" profile where the base of the structure is slightly flared and has larger dimensions than the lithographically defined top diameter of the structure. Hydroxyl-based etches can be used to remove the unwanted flared bases of top-down fabricated nanowires and microstructures based on c-plane epitaxy as the etch will effectively self-terminate when a surface becomes perfectly vertical. In contrast to the well-studied behavior of this etch in GaN and InGaN, self-termination of the etch does not appear to occur in n-doped AlGaN

with Al-content of ~50-70%, leading to development of an inverse taper profile with taper angle  $\alpha$  which continually increases until the base of the structure narrows to a point and detaches from the substrate. Figure 4.3.1 shows cross-sectional schematics and scanning electron microscope (SEM) images of our fabricated AlGaN nanowire structures with normal taper (no KOH etching), no taper (5 min KOH etching), and inverse taper (60 min KOH etching). KOH etching was performed in 40% AZ400K (a photoresist developer containing 2 wt% KOH) heated to 80°C. Details of this fabrication process were discussed in sections 4.1 and 4.2.



Figure 4.3.1: Cross sectional schematics showing structures with normal taper (a1), no taper (b1), and inverse taper (c1), along with representative SEM images of each structure (a2-c2).

The core goal of this dissertation research is to improve the light extraction efficiency  $(\eta_{EXT})$  of DUV LEDs, as poor  $\eta_{EXT}$  is currently the most significant obstacle inhibiting their widespread adoption in many potential applications. The prior sections do not mention  $\eta_{EXT}$  extensively for the reason it is extremely difficult/impossible to measure empirically

without (very expensive) specialized equipment. The best efficiency measurements our group can make are general approximation of wall plug efficiency (WPE). As described in section 4.1, this is done by measuring the light output power of an LED using a 2D power meter, and dividing this value by the product of the current and voltage supplied during the light output power measurement. A better approximation of WPE could be obtained by packaging the LED and utilizing a integrating sphere and calibration standard to measure light output power. Our group is currently working to develop this capability, but even with these tools at our disposable, deconvolution of  $\eta_{EXT}$  from IQE would be very difficult and time consuming. As such, a more straightforward method of determining the  $\eta_{EXT}$  of our devices is desired. In this section, the effects of an inverse taper profile on the  $\eta_{EXT}$  of nanowires and micropillars emitting at 270 nm is explored using finite-difference time-domain (FDTD) simulations in order to understand and study the  $\eta_{EXT}$  effects of inverse tapered structures (Figures 4.3.1(c(1,2)) over those with vertical sidewalls (Figures 4.3.1(b(1,2)).

Previous simulation-based studies of DUV LEDs have shown that nanowires and other vertical structures can produce significant improvements in  $\eta_{EXT}$  when compared to conventional mesa structures with lateral dimensions (generally 20 – 1000 µm) far exceeding the mesa height (generally 100 – 500 nm) [12,14,15,40,81–84]. These enhancements are shown to be much more pronounced for TM-polarized light, which has electric field vectors parallel to the epitaxial c-plane making it difficult to extract from mesa structures [12,37]. Nanowires and micropillars with lateral dimensions (generally 100 nm – 2 µm) equal to or much smaller than their height (generally 100 nm – 5 µm) allow TM-polarized light to easily escape through their sidewalls where the electric field vectors

of TM-polarized photons are perpendicular to the AlGaN/air interface. For example, Ryu et al. showed through FDTD simulation that the  $\eta_{EXT}$  of TM-polarized light could be increased from 0.1% to more than 60% at 280 nm through use of nanorod structures with diameters of around 300 nm and heights of 1  $\mu$ m, an astonishing 600-fold improvement [83]. Likewise, Ooi et al. showed that nanowires could improve TM- and TE-polarized n<sub>EXT</sub> from 0.2% to 48% and 2% to 41% respectively, when compared to mesa LEDs emitting at 230 nm [12]. Given that differences in  $\eta_{EXT}$  between nanowires/micropillars and mesa LEDs are already well understood, this section focuses on the effects of nano and microstructure geometry, that is, the shapes and sizes of these structures, on TM- and TE-polarized  $\eta_{\text{EXT}}$ . Many different parameters are considered, including structure height, diameter, taper angle, and polarization direction. We categorize structures based on their dimensions ( $D_s$ ) as either nanostructures (100 nm <  $D_s$  < 1  $\mu$ m), or microstructures  $(D_s > 1 \mu m)$ . It is important to note that while FDTD simulations are used extensively for studying the light extraction properties of LEDs and lasers and the absorption properties of solar cells and photodetectors, FDTD results should generally not be used to make empirical claims about the properties of real devices. The most effective use of FDTD simulations in making qualitative comparisons between simulated structures to determine their various performance characteristics relative to one another. This qualitative comparison approach is utilized here in order to compare the light extraction properties of various nano and microstructures.

## 4.3.2 Simulation Methodology

Three-dimensional (3D) FDTD simulations were used to explore the extraction efficiencies of AlGaN nano and microstructures at an emission wavelength of 270 nm.

270 nm was chosen as it lies at the center of DUV emission ranges studied by our group and is one of the most commonly explored DUV wavelengths, alongside 230 nm and 280 nm. 3D FDTD simulation has been used extensively to explore the propagation of light within the complex, multi-material structures found in LEDs, lasers, solar cells, and photodetectors [12,14,15,40,81–84]. This method models the propagation of electromagnetic waves in the time domain within an arbitrarily defined spatial domain through direct solution of Maxwell's curl equations. In this sense, it is far more accurate, albeit slower, than ray tracing approaches because it allows for the interaction and interference of electromagnetic waves as well as the interaction of waves with the propagation medium and material interfaces. The spatial domain is divided into a nonuniform Yee mesh, with increased mesh resolution near material interfaces and reduced mesh resolution in bulk material to optimize simulation time and accuracy. More details on the FDTD method can be found in Refs. [85] and [86]. Our simulations were performed using Synopsys Fullwave, a commercial FDTD software package designed specifically for modelling the propagation of light in complex structures [87]. To set up a simulation in Fullwave a structure is first designed using a specialized 3D computer aided design (CAD) software called Rsoft-CAD which is a part of the Fullwave software package. Different material types and properties can be assigned to each part of a structure to allow for the construction of complex, multi-material objects. Dipole sources are then placed manually with the structure, followed by monitor planes and volumes which can be set to capture a wide range of data including electric field intensity and luminous flux (power). TM-polarized light, which has its electric field component perpendicular to the c-axis  $(E \perp \text{ c-axis})$ , is produced by a double weighted z-oriented dipole, while TE-polarized

light, which has its electric field component parallel to the c-axis ( $E \parallel$  c-axis), is produced using two single weighted dipoles, one with x-orientation and one with y-orientation.

Figure 4.3.2 shows a cross-sectional representation of a simulated structure, which has its axis aligned with z-axis. Diameter is varied from 100 nm to 1.5  $\mu$ m, height from 100 nm to 3.5  $\mu$ m, and taper angle  $\alpha$  from -10° to 25° (Figure 4.3.2 shows  $\alpha > 0°$ ). All structures have a circular cross section and fixed p-AlGaN and MQW layer thicknesses. A simulation domain in the shape of a rectangular prism is defined using perfectly matched layer (PML) boundary conditions, which act as perfectly absorbing interfaces to prevent reflection of incident electromagnetic waves. The bottom of the domain is located 200 nm below the surface of the bulk n-AlGaN, while the sides and top of the domain are located 500 nm from the foremost surfaces of the structure. The x, y, and z-oriented dipoles are placed on the axis of the structure directly in the center of the MQW layer. A cubic monitor with dimensions of 20 nanometers is placed to enclose the dipole sources and measure the



Figure 4.3.2: Cross sectional schematic showing a generalized representation of a simulated nanowire.

full luminous flux of the dipoles while six planar power monitors are located just inside the domain boundaries to measure the luminous flux which escapes from the structure. Additional planar monitors are placed to intersect the structure along its axis in order to record electric and magnetic field intensities within the structure and in the space surrounding it. Extraction efficiency is determined by taking the ratio of luminous flux measured by various planar monitors to the full flux of the source.

### 4.3.3 Simulation Results for Microstructures Emitting at 270 nm

Results show that narrower, taller structures yield higher  $\eta_{EXT}$ , and that the extraction efficiency of TM-polarized emission is larger than that of TE-polarized emission in these high AR structures. Figure 4.3.3(a) shows the  $\eta_{EXT}$  of 1  $\mu$ m, 2.5  $\mu$ m, and 4  $\mu$ m tall structures with diameters of 1  $\mu$ m as a function of taper angle. Structures with no taper  $(\alpha = 0^{\circ})$  exhibit extraction efficiencies of 40-45% for TM-polarized emission, and 28-40% for TE-polarized emission.  $\eta_{EXT}$  increases significantly with increasing taper angle as is shown in Figure 4.4.3(a). This effect is most pronounced in taller structures (dashed and dotted lines), with extraction efficiencies of 98% being reached for TM-polarized emission from 4  $\mu$ m tall, 1  $\mu$ m diameter structures at a taper angle of 7°. Shorter, 1  $\mu$ m tall structures require larger taper angles to reach these higher  $\eta_{EXT}$  values, but TM and TE extraction efficiencies of up to 92% and 78%, respectively, are likewise obtainable for these shorter structures at a taper angle of  $20^{\circ}$ . Figure 4.4.3(a) plots the extraction efficiencies of shorter structures for larger taper angles than for taller structures due to geometric limitations. While a 1  $\mu$ m tall structure can be tapered to more than 25° before separating from the substrate, a 4  $\mu$ m tall structure can only be tapered to slightly more than 7° before separation occurs. The maximum taper angle of a structure with diameter D and height H



Figure 4.3.3:  $\eta_{EXT}$  (a) and  $\eta_{EXT}$  enhancement factor (b) for TE (red) and TM (black) polarizations as a function of taper angle  $\alpha$  for 1  $\mu$ m tall (solid), 2.5  $\mu$ m tall (dashed), and 4  $\mu$ m tall (dotted) structures with diameters of 1  $\mu$ m at  $\lambda = 270$  nm.

is given by  $\alpha = \tan^{-1}(D/2H)$  when  $\alpha$  is defined as shown in Figure 4.3.2. The maximum taper angled plotted in Figures 4.3.3(a) and 4.3.3(b) are 7° for 4 µm tall structures, 10° for 2.5 µm tall structures, and 25° for 1 µm tall structures. While positive taper angles are shown to produce significant increases in both TE- and TM-polarized  $\eta_{EXT}$  taper angles ( $\alpha < 0^\circ$ ) appear to have the opposite effect, with all simulated negative taper angles producing small reductions in  $\eta_{EXT}$ . Interestingly, the extraction efficiencies of all three structure heights shown in Figure 4.3.3(a) appear to quickly converge to the same values of ~39% for TM-polarized emission and 23% for TE-polarized emission at  $\alpha = -10^\circ$ . These

results further reinforce the need to eliminate the flared bases ( $\alpha < 0^{\circ}$ ) of dry-etched light emitting structures in order to improve  $\eta_{EXT}$ . Figure 4.3.3(b) plots enhancement factor as a function of  $\alpha$  in order to give a more qualitative representation of the change in  $\eta_{EXT}$  which could be expected for non-zero taper angles with structures with  $\alpha = 0^{\circ}$ . The data in Figure 4.3.3(b) is produced by dividing the values for all  $\alpha \neq 0^{\circ}$  by the extraction efficiency at  $\alpha$ = 0° for each height and polarization.

While Figure 4.3.3 shows that  $\eta_{EXT}$  can be improved by using structures with a positive taper, Figures 4.3.4 and 4.3.5 show cross-sectional electric field intensity plots which allow for better understanding of *why* positive taper improves extraction efficiency. The electric field intensities shown in Figures 4.3.4 and 4.3.5 are captured by a monitor placed to bisect the simulated structures along their axis, with Figure 4.3.4 showing the results for TE-polarized emission and Figure 4.3.5 showing the results for TM-polarized emission. The structures shown in Figures 4.3.4 and 4.3.5 are the same structures for which  $\eta_{EXT}$  data is presented in Figure 4.3.3. Taper angles of  $-10^\circ$ ,  $0^\circ$ ,  $10^\circ$ , and  $20^\circ$  are shown for 1 µm tall structures. These cross-sectional electric field intensity plots allow for visualization of the optical modes which develop within these structures and identification of the directions in which light most efficiently extracted. It is immediately evident from Figure 4.3.4 when comparing taper angles of  $0^\circ$ ,  $10^\circ$ , and  $20^\circ$  that the optical modes which develop within the structures and identification for which he structures become more complex as taper angle is increased.

For the TE-polarized emission shown in Figure 4.3.4, the electric field intensities in free space near the sidewalls of all structures with no taper ( $\alpha = 0^{\circ}$ ) are effectively zero, indicating that almost no light is able to escape from the sidewalls of these structures.



Figure 4.3.4: Cross-sectional electric field intensity plots for 1  $\mu$ m, 2.5  $\mu$ m, and 4  $\mu$ m tall structures with diameters of 1  $\mu$ m and taper angles between -10° and 20° for TE-polarized emission at  $\lambda = 270$  nm.

Results are similar for negative taper angles. In contrast, structures with positive taper exhibit much higher field intensities in the adjacent free space, indicating that extraction is able to occur more readily through the sidewalls of tapered structures even for TE-polarized emission, which prefers top extraction. It can also be seen that the direction in which light escapes from tapered structures in non-uniform, and appears to be influenced by the taper angle, structure height, and the location of optical modes on the axis of the structure. This effect is easiest to see in the 2.5  $\mu$ m tall structure with a taper angle of 5°, in which two "beams" can be seen projecting downward from near the midsection of the structure at an angle of ~30°. From Figure 4.3.5, which shows TM-polarized emission, similar effects can



# TM-Polarized Emission, 1 µm Diameter

Figure 4.3.5: Cross-sectional electric field intensity plots for 1  $\mu$ m, 2.5  $\mu$ m, and 4  $\mu$ m tall structures with diameters of 1  $\mu$ m and taper angles between -10° and 20° for TM-polarized emission at  $\lambda = 270$  nm.

be observed, however, in contrast to the TE-polarized emission shown in Figure 4.3.4, there are several notable differences. In the case of the TM-polarized emission shown in Figure 4.3.5, sidewall emission is significant even in structures with no taper. This trend is expected since light which has transverse *magnetic* polarization with respect to the c-plane (the horizontal top surface of a structure) will have transverse *electric* polarization with respect to a vertical interface such as a structure sidewall. Likewise, the electric field intensity above the TM-emitting structures shown in Figure 4.3.5 is effectively zero, whereas the TE-emitting structures shown in Figure 4.3.4 have distinctively non-zero field intensity in the free space directly between them. While TM-polarized emission *can* be effectively extracted from vertical structures with no sidewall taper as shown in Figure 4.3.5, positive taper angles can further enhance its extraction. The higher taper angle structures shown in Figure 4.3.5 demonstrate that large increases in free space field intensity can be produced by taper angles as small at 2°. As described for the TE-polarized emission in Figure 4.3.4, variation of structure height and taper angle appear to affect the spatial distribution of sidewall emitted light in Figure 4.3.5. For example, distinct regions of high electric field intensity can be easily seen for the 1  $\mu$ m tall structure with 20° taper in Figure 4.3.5. At very large taper angles in which the base of the structure is narrowed nearly to a point, the light lost into the substrate is massively reduced, an effect which can be best seen by comparing the 4  $\mu$ m tall structures with taper angles of 0° and 5°. In the structure with no taper, high electric field intensities can be seen in the substrate at the base of the structure, while in the structure with 5° taper, the field intensity is effectively zero through the substrate. The reduction of substrate light loss is due to the tapered sidewalls

acting to confine emitted light to the upper portions of the structure where it can be extracted after one or multiple reflections instead of being lost into the substrate.

Figure 4.3.6 presents the far field radiation plots of the structures shown in Figures 4.3.3-4.3.5 in a polar format. The vertical axis of these plots represents the surface normal of the simulated structures, with each dashed line representing a 30° deflection from this surface normal. The red and black curves represent the intensities of TE and TM polarized radiation, respectively, which has escaped through the tops of the structures and is incident upon a monitor which is coplanar with the top of the simulation domain. As such, Figure



Figure 4.3.6: Far-field emission patterns for TE-polarized (red) and TM-polarized (black) light, for 1  $\mu$ m, 2.5  $\mu$ m, and 4  $\mu$ m tall structures with diameters of 1  $\mu$ m and taper angles between 10° and 20° at  $\lambda = 270$  nm (the same structures whose electric field intensity plots are shown in Figures 4.3.4 and 4.3.5).

4.3.6 only represents the distribution of light which has escaped from the tops of the structures, and does not consider sidewall emission. The far field patterns appear generally uniform for all structures, with a Lambertian emission pattern for TE-polarized light and a "rabbit ears" emission pattern for TM-polarized light, both of which are consistent with existing literature [12,83,84]. The peak intensity of TE emission is generally 2-3x higher than that of TM-polarized emission, which is consistent with the well documented poor  $\eta_{\text{EXT}}$  TM-polarized light. However, this consistency breaks down for 1  $\mu$ m tall structures with taper angles of  $10^{\circ}$  and  $20^{\circ}$ , in which the maximum intensity of TM-polarized emission approaches or exceeds that of TE-polarized emission. The increase in TM-polarized emission intensity in these two structures is due to their high taper angles relative to the other simulated structures, which serve to reflect downward emitted light back toward the top surface of these structures. The optical modes within these structures are also altered by their high taper angles which likely also contribute to modification of their far field radiation patterns. While the majority of light is extracted from the sidewalls of these structures, Figure 4.3.6 shows that modification of the top-emitted far field radiation patterns is also possible in structures with high taper angles. Existing literature has shown that narrower, taller structures improve light extraction efficiency [12,83], but it remains of interest to explore the effects of height and diameter in tapered structures.

Figure 4.3.7 shows TM (a) and TE (b) extraction efficiency as a function of structure height for diameters of 0.5  $\mu$ m (dotted), 1  $\mu$ m (dashed), and 1.5  $\mu$ m (solid) for a fixed taper angle of 10°. It is immediately evident that, in keeping with existing literature,  $\eta_{EXT}$  increases with the height of the structure. Of note are the very low extraction efficiencies of structures with ARs less than unity (height/diameter). These low extraction



Figure 4.3.7:  $\eta_{EXT}$  for TM (a) and TE (b) polarizations as a function of height for structures with diameters of 0.5  $\mu$ m, 1  $\mu$ m, and 1.5  $\mu$ m and (solid), 2.5  $\mu$ m tall (dashed), and 4  $\mu$ m tall (dotted) structures with diameters of 1  $\mu$ m at  $\lambda = 270$  nm.

efficiencies are most noticeable for structures with diameters of 1  $\mu$ m and 1.5  $\mu$ m, whose extraction efficiencies drop from ~60% at an AR of 1 to less than 30% at an AR of ~0.1. Low extraction efficiency is expected from low AR structures because they are very similar to the mesas which are normally used in the fabrication of LEDs and which have been shown to have poor extraction efficiencies. Figure 4.3.7 also shows a general trend of

extraction efficiency increasing with decreasing diameter. While 0.5  $\mu$ m diameter structures consistently have the highest  $\eta_{EXT}$  at a given height, 1.5  $\mu$ m diameter structures actually appear to have higher extraction efficiencies than 1  $\mu$ m diameter structures at heights less than 1.5  $\mu$ m. This observation holds true for both TM and TE polarizations, and is likely due the nature of the optical modes which develop within 1  $\mu$ m and 1.5  $\mu$ m tall structures of within this height range.

Figure 4.3.8 shows the top emission far-field polar radiation plots for  $0.5 \,\mu\text{m}$  (red),  $1 \,\mu\text{m}$  (black), and  $1.5 \,\mu\text{m}$  (blue) diameter structures with heights of  $1.5 \,\mu\text{m}$  and taper angles of  $10^{\circ}$ . The intensity of TE-polarized emission parallel to the surface normal appears to increase as the diameter of the structure decreases. This trend was also observed for other heights and is likely due to increased confinement of light in narrower structures which magnifies top emission of TE-polarized light while reducing sidewall emission. No such



D=0.5 μm D=1.0 μm D=1.5 μm, H=1.5 μm, α=10°

Figure 4.3.8: Far-field emission patterns for TE-polarized (a) and TM-polarized (b) light for 0.5  $\mu$ m, 1  $\mu$ m, and 1.5  $\mu$ m diameter structures with a height at 1.5  $\mu$ m and a taper angle of 10° at  $\lambda = 270$  nm. TM-polarized emission (b) is multiplied by a factor of 5 to better show the emission pattern.

pattern is observed for TM-polarized emission, as each structure has approximately the same peak emission intensity, likely due to the vast majority of extraction occurring through the sidewalls. This can be attributed to alteration of the optical modes within the structures which changes the angles at which light is most effectively out-coupled through the top of the structures. Note that the TM-polarized far-field patterns in Figure 4.3.8 have been scaled up by a factor of 5 in order to make them easier to compare to one another. The far-field emission patterns for TM-polarized emission change significantly with diameter.

### 4.3.4 Simulation Results for Nanostructures Emitting at 270 nm

The structures explored thus far have been mostly in the "microstructure" regime, with dimensions of approximately 1  $\mu$ m or greater. For DUV emission, these can be considered "super-wavelength" structures, as their dimensions are generally much larger than the wavelength of the emitted light (270 nm). It is also of interest of explore "nanostructures," with near or subwavelength dimensions closer to the wavelength of the emitted light in order to determine if the effects of height, diameter, and taper angle change for these smaller structures. Figure 4.3.9 compares the extraction efficiencies (a) and extraction efficiency enhancement factors (b) for 1  $\mu$ m tall, 1  $\mu$ m diameter structures (solid), and 500 nm tall, 500 nm diameter structures (dashed) as a function of taper angle. All structures have an AR of 1. TM-polarized  $\eta_{EXT}$  is shown in black, while TE-polarized  $\eta_{EXT}$  is shown in red. It is immediately evident that, despite the identical aspect ratios of these two sets of structures, the larger 1  $\mu$ m structures benefit far more from higher taper angles than the 500 nm structures. For example, at 20°, the TM extraction efficiency of the 500 nm



Figure 4.3.9:  $\eta_{EXT}$  (a) and  $\eta_{EXT}$  enhancement factor (b) for TE (red) and TM (black) polarizations as a function of taper angle  $\alpha$  for 1  $\mu$ m tall, 1  $\mu$ m diameter structures (solid), and 500 nm tall, 500 nm diameter structures (dashed) at  $\lambda = 270$  nm. Both structures have ARs of 1 (height/diameter).

structure is enhanced by only 1.25x. As can be seen from Figure 4.3.9(a), this is due mostly to the initial ( $\alpha = 0^{\circ}$ ) TM  $\eta_{EXT}$  of the 500 nm structure being much higher (69%) than that of the 1 µm structure (40%). Smaller improvements to extraction efficiency are realized in smaller structures as taper angle is increased simply because  $\eta_{EXT}$  is inherently higher in smaller structures leaving less room for improvement. The key takeaway from this comparison is that extraction can be improved either through use of smaller structures with little to no taper, or larger structures with higher taper angles.

Figure 4.3.10 shows the extraction efficiencies (a) and extraction efficiency enhancement factors (b) for four different nanostructure sizes. 500/100 nm tall/diameter nanostructures are represented by diamonds and solid lines, 500/500 nm nanostructures by circles and long dashed lines, 1000/100 nm nanostructures by triangles and dotted lines, and 1000/500



Figure 4.3.10:  $\eta_{EXT}$  (a) and  $\eta_{EXT}$  enhancement factor (b) for TE (red) and TM (black) polarizations as a function of taper angle  $\alpha$  for 500/100 nm tall/diameter (diamond), 500/500 nm (circle), 1000/100 nm (triangle), and 1000/500 nm (square) structures at  $\lambda = 270$  nm.

nm nanostructures by squares and short dashed lines. TE and TM polarizations are shown in red and black respectively. It can be seen from Figure 4.3.10(a) that TE-polarized emission benefits significantly more from higher taper angles than TM-polarized emission. This trend was not observed in the larger microstructures described previously, however the magnitude of enhancement for TE-polarized extraction efficiency is still lower in these nanostructures than it is in microstructures at equivalent taper angles. This trend is in keeping with our previous observation that larger structures almost universally benefit more from higher taper angles. It can also be seen when comparing Figure 4.3.10(a) and Figure 4.3.3(a) that the difference between TE and TM polarized extraction efficiency at  $\alpha = 0^\circ$  is larger for nanostructures than for microstructures. In Figure 4.3.3(a)  $\eta_{EXT}$  at  $\alpha = 0^\circ$ increases from an average of around 35% for TE polarized emission to around 45% for TM polarized emission, a difference of around 10%. This difference increases to around 25% in Figure 4.3.10(a), showing that  $\eta_{EXT}$  is more sensitive to the polarization of emitted light in smaller structures.

Cross-sectional electric field intensity plots at select taper angles for 100 nm diameter nanostructures are shown in Figure 4.3.11. As in Figures 4.3.4 and 4.3.5, structures with no sidewall taper exhibit very low TE polarized field intensities in the free space near the structure sidewalls, indicating that extraction of TE-polarized light from the sidewalls is negligible in these structures. Results are again similar for negative taper angles. As in Figure 4.3.4, TE-emitting structures with positive taper angles show much higher field intensities in the free space adjoining their sidewalls, indicating that extraction through the sidewalls in enhanced by even very small taper angles for TE-polarized emission. In contrast, and in keeping with the results shown in Figure 4.3.10, TM-polarized



**TM-Polarized Emission, 100 nm Diameter** 



Figure 4.3.11: Cross-sectional electric field intensity plots for 500 nm and 1000 nm tall structures with diameters of 100 nm and taper angles between  $-5^{\circ}$  and  $5^{\circ}$  for TE-polarized (top) and TM-polarized (bottom) emission at  $\lambda = 270$  nm. Field intensity is halved in comparison to Figures 4, 5, and 12 to ensure cavity modes can be seen.

emission appears less affected by positive taper angles. As TM-polarized emission is already easily extracted from structures with such small diameters, there is little room for extraction to be further improved by the addition of small positive taper angles. As shown in Figures 4.3.4 and 4.3.5, structures with close to their maximum taper angle with very small base diameters can be seen to lose significantly less light into the substrate. This is especially noticeable in Figure 4.3.11 for TE-polarized emission. From Figure 4.3.11 it can also be seen these narrower, "subwavelength" 100 nm diameter structures are much more sensitive to the development of confined optical modes than larger structures. In the top half of Figure 4.3.11, which shows results for TE-polarized emission, all nanostructures have extremely high internal electric field intensities. Even very small increases in taper angle serve to drastically increase the field intensity in some regions. Note also that the maxima of the scale bar in Figure 4.3.11 is doubled with respect to Figures 4.3.4 and 4.3.5 in order to make the optical modes visible. While confinement of TE-polarized emission seems to be much greater in these smaller structures, TM-polarized emission appears unaffected, as it is easily extracted from the sidewalls, making it far less dependent on the size and taper angle of these nanostructures. The key conclusion of this analysis of nanostructures vs microstructures is that larger structures stand to benefit much more from an inverse taper profile, while smaller structures, which have inherently high extraction efficiency, see more limited improvements at equivalent taper angles. Additionally, the optical modes which develop within these structures likely play a key role the extraction of light from near and subwavelength structures, while larger microstructures are less susceptible to this influence.

### 4.3.5 Conclusion

Light extraction from both AlGaN microstructures and nanostructures was investigated at 270 nm using FDTD simulations in order to better understand the effects on  $\eta_{EXT}$  of parameters such structure height, diameter, and taper angle. Results showed that significant improvements to  $\eta_{EXT}$  can be obtained through use of an "inverse taper," in which the base of the structure is narrowed relative to the top of the structure. In the case of microstructures with diameters of 1  $\mu$ m and heights > 1  $\mu$ m,  $\eta_{EXT}$  was shown to be increased from around 45% to more than 95% (a 2.1x enhancement) for TM-polarized emission, and from around 35% to more than 85% (a 2.4x enhancement) for TE-polarized emission by a taper of only 5°. Cross-sectional electric field intensity plots visually illustrate how tapered sidewalls improve the extraction of light into free space and depict the variations in the internal optical modes which occurs as the size and taper angle of these structures are changed. In smaller nanostructures the effects of an inverse taper were found to be less significant, due to primarily to the intrinsically higher extraction efficiencies of structures with diameters < 500 nm. In comparison to microstructures, in which extraction efficiency enhancements of more than 2x could be achieved at a taper of only 5°, no more than 1.2x enhancement was realized for nanostructures at the same angle. In keeping with the findings of other publications, our results also show that  $\eta_{EXT}$  can also be increased by reducing the diameters of light emitting structures or by increasing their height. Light extraction has long been the single most significant bottleneck preventing the development of high EQE DUV LEDs.

The findings of this simulation study alongside the experimental results discussed in section 4.1 and 4.2 show that top-down fabricated nanowire and micropillar array LEDs may be a viable alternative to conventional planar mesas for DUV LEDs. Of particular importance is the indication by simulation results that significant improvements in  $\eta_{EXT}$  which can be obtained for DUV emitting nanowires and micropillars through use of an inverse taper profile. The fact that this novel phenomenon, found only in high Al-content, DUV emitting AlGaN, can aid both in the fabrication process as well as in enhancing light extraction efficiency, makes it of great interest for further exploration. The results presented in this section were published in *IEEE Photonics Journal* in 2022 [103].

# 4.4 AlGaN-delta-GaN µLEDs Emitting at 262 nm

### 4.4.1 Introduction

While  $\eta_{EXT}$  is indisputably the single largest factor inhibiting the realization of DUV emitting LEDs with efficiencies comparable to their blue emitting counterparts, IQE also remains a notable issue. There primary issue limiting the IQE of DUV emitting LEDs is the quantum confined stark effect, discussed in section 1.5.2. The quantum confined stark effect, or QCSE, is a phenomenon in which the strong polarization fields in AlGaN epitaxial layers lead to significant energy band bending which pushes the electron and hole wavefunctions in the conduction and valence bands to opposite sides of the quantum well, reducing the radiative recombination rate of electrons and holes. In addition, valence band mixing occurs as the Al content of AlGaN is increased, and leads to upward movement of the crystal field split-off hole (CH) valence subband relative to the heavy hole (HH) subband. As the CH subband approaches and eventually bypasses the HH subband, the fraction of light emitted with TM-polarization increases and eventually surpasses 50%, at which point emission is considered TM-dominant. This causes  $\eta_{EXT}$  to decrease with decreasing Al-content/emission wavelength, as TM-polarized light has a much lower extraction efficiency from conventional planar mesa structures as discussed in section 1.5.3.

One method of mitigating the IQE impact of the QCSE and the  $\eta_{EXT}$  effects of valence band mixing is to modify the design of the quantum well (QW). Our group previously demonstrated the usefulness of an AlGaN-delta-GaN QW design for improving both the IQE and  $\eta_{EXT}$  of DUV emitting LEDs [38,68,88–92]. This approach utilizes an ultra-thin GaN "delta" layer inserted into a AlGaN square in order to improve wavefunction

overlap and rearrange the valence band structure in the active region, mitigating the valence band mixing effect which occurs in AlGaN square wells as Al-content is increased. Our early research into use of a delta-GaN QW designs utilized AlN barrier layers [38,88], and culminated in the growth of an AlN/AlGaN/delta-GaN (barrier/sub-QW/delta-layer) active region sample via molecular beam epitaxy (MBE). The IQE of this sample was measured experimentally using cryogenic-PL to be ~85% at an emission wavelength of 255 nm, which is significantly higher than prior reported IQEs for devices emitting at such a short wavelengths [90,91].

While these early results were extremely promising, the AIN barrier layers within the quantum well lead to high levels of piezoelectric strain in the active region. To address this, we performed numerical simulation studies of the effects of barrier layer Al-content on the physical and optical properties of delta-GaN active regions using a self-consistent six-band *k*·*p* model [68]. This study investigated the effects of parameters such as delta-GaN layer thickness, sub-QW layer thickness and composition, and barrier layer composition in order to create a better optimized delta-GaN active region. The results of this study revealed that high Al-content in the barrier region increased the electrostatic field strength in the active region, worsening the QCSE and red-shifting the emission wavelength. This effect can be seen in Figure 4.4.1, which shows the bandstructures of an optimized AlGaN/AlGaN/delta-GaN QW (a) and an AlN/AlGaN/delta-GaN QW (b). The reduced band bending and increased wavefunction overlap can be easily seen when comparing the two active region designs. Active regions with smaller Al-content differences between the barrier and sub-QW regions showed greater spontaneous emission



Figure 4.4.1: Bandstructures with overlayed electron and hole wavefunctions of a  $Al_{0.6}Ga_{0.4}N/Al_{0.5}Ga_{0.5}N/delta$ -GaN QW (a) and a  $AlN/Al_{0.5}Ga_{0.5}N/delta$ -GaN QW (b).

rates due to the reduction of strain effects and polarization field intensities. Engineering of the sub-QW Al content, barrier Al content, and delta-GaN layer thickness was found capable of maintaining an IQE of ~90% over the entire DUV emission regime, from 230 nm to 280 nm. When compared with conventional AlGaN square well designs, spontaneous radiative recombination rates were enhanced by up to 40x. FDTD simulations showed that  $\eta_{EXT}$  could be enhance by 3-7x when compared to conventional AlGaN square wells emitting at the same wavelength due to reduction in TM-polarized emission [68].

Our simulation results for "AlGaN-delta-GaN" active regions which forego the typical AlN barrier layer in favor of a more optimized AlGaN barrier layer design are extremely promising. However, this structure has not yet been demonstrated experimentally. In fact, even the AlN-delta-GaN active region grown by MBE described in Refs. [90,91], was not a fully functional, electrically driven device. As such, full experimental demonstration of this active region is desirable in order to more convincingly

assert the effectiveness of AlGaN-delta-GaN active regions for DUV emission. In this work, we fabricate electrically driven  $\mu$ LEDs with dimensions between 10  $\mu$ m and 30  $\mu$ m based on an Al<sub>0.9</sub>Ga<sub>0.1</sub>N/Al<sub>0.75</sub>Ga<sub>0.25</sub>N/delta-GaN MQW active region. Results show a turn on voltage of ~ 5-6 V, with series resistance dominated post-threshold characteristics. Emission peaks for 10  $\mu$ m and 30  $\mu$ m  $\mu$ LEDs were located at 262 nm and 264.5 nm respectively, extremely close the 265 nm emission wavelength predicted by our *k-p* model. Emission linewidths were also extremely narrow, at 7.1 nm and 13.6 nm for 10  $\mu$ m and 30  $\mu$ m  $\mu$ LEDs respectively. Power measurements showed much higher light output power densities for the smaller 10  $\mu$ m devices, increasing from ~50 mW/cm<sup>2</sup> at 100 A/cm<sup>2</sup> to nearly 400 mW/cm<sup>2</sup> at 800 A/cm<sup>2</sup>. Efficiency droop onset occurred at 83 A/cm<sup>2</sup> for 30  $\mu$ m devices and at 200 A/cm<sup>2</sup> for 10  $\mu$ m devices. Combined, these results show that delta-GaN active region could be a viable alternative to conventional design for improving both the IQE and  $\eta_{EXT}$  of DUV emitting LEDs.

### 4.4.2 µLED Fabrication

The epitaxy utilized in this work was based on our group's prior works as described in section 4.4.1. Six-band  $k \cdot p$  simulations were used to optimize an active region to emit at ~265 nm, which was then grown using MOCVD by a commercial vendor. The epistack consisted of a 2.2 µm AlN buffer layer, followed by 600 nm Al<sub>0.8</sub>Ga<sub>0.2</sub>N, 1 µm n-Al<sub>0.7</sub>Ga<sub>0.3</sub>N, a 4x MQW, 100 nm p-Al<sub>0.7</sub>Ga<sub>0.3</sub>N, and 20 nm p<sup>+</sup>-GaN to reduce contact resistance. The active region consisted of 5 2.5 nm Al<sub>0.9</sub>Ga<sub>0.1</sub>N barrier layers, 8 1.5 nm Al<sub>0.75</sub>Ga<sub>0.25</sub>N sub-QW layers, and 4 0.5 nm GaN delta layers. A simplified, not-to-scale cross section of this epistack is shown in Figure 4.4.2. The sample was prepared by first



Figure 4.4.2: Not-to-scale cross sectional representation of a completed µLED device.

dicing a 50 mm wafer into quarters. The dicing resist was then stripped in NMP for 24 hours and ultrasonicated to remove sapphire particles left on the resist surface after dicing. 500 nm of TEOS was then deposited via PECVD to act as a dry etch mask for the mesa etch. Following dose/focus lithography optimization, hexamethyl disilazane (HMDS) was applied to the TEOS surface to ensure sufficient adhesion of photoresist. Liftoff resist (LOR 5A) was then spun onto the sample at 2700 rpm and baked at 170°C for 5 min, followed by positive photoresist (AZ1512), spun at 3000 rpm and baked at 100°C for 2 min (see Table 3.3.1). The sample was then exposed using a Heidelberg 405 nm LDW system, post exposure baked at 110°C for 3 min, and developed in CD-26 for 2 minutes.

With the L1 (mesa) lithography completed, the sample was then dry etched in a fluorine plasma to transfer the photoresist patterns into the TEOS etch mask. This etch was performed using an CCP-RIE reactor at 130 mtorr, with 200 W RF power, and gas flows
to 60/70/6 sccms CF<sub>4</sub>/CHF<sub>3</sub>/O<sub>2</sub> respectively. At an etch rate of ~ 60 nm/min, 15 1 min etch cycles were used to etch through the 500 nm TEOS layer, and overetch of ~80%, in order to ensure complete removal of the TEOS in the opened areas. This seemingly excessive overetch was utilized since the fluorine plasma will etch the exposed p-GaN at only a few nanometers per minutes, and complete clearing of the TEOS from all opened regions is essential in facilitating a successful etch of the underlying GaN. 1 minute etch cycles were used instead of a continuous 15 min etch in order to more reliably control the etch rate and heated of the sample to avoid burning of the photoresist. The photoresist layer softened in NMP for 30 min and ashed for 20 min in a 900W 300 sccm O<sub>2</sub> plasma to ensure completed removal of the remaining photoresist from the TEOS surface.

Following the transfer of the L1 pattern into the TEOS layer, an ICP/CCP-RIE dry etch was used etch the AlGaN epistack to a depth of ~550 nm, forming the mesa structures of the  $\mu$ LEDs. This etch was performed at 30 mtorr, with ICP/CCP RF powers of 350/75 W, gas flow rates of 32/8/5 sccms Cl<sub>2</sub>/BCl<sub>3</sub>/Ar, and an electrode temperature of 20°C. At an etch rate of ~350 nm/min, a 95 second (1.58 min) etch was used to obtain a depth of 550 nm, placing the bottom of the etch near the center of the 1  $\mu$ m thick n-Al<sub>0.7</sub>Ga<sub>0.3</sub>N layer. This etch depth was measured via profilometer, considering erosion of the TEOS mask at ~40 nm/min. The TEOS mask was then stripped in 10:1 BOE for 12 min, a 140% overetch, to ensure complete removal of the TEOS and exposure of the p-GaN surface.

With the  $\mu$ LED mesas now formed, the sample was subjected to a 20 min etch in 20% AZ400K (0.4 wt% KOH) at 90°C to remove the minimal micromasking present and remove dry etch damage on the mesa sidewalls. Figure 4.4.3 shows SEM images of the



Figure 4.4.3: SEM images of 10  $\mu$ m  $\mu$ LED mesas taken at 85° (a) and 80° (b,c) off normal. Roughness of the p-GaN surface and micro-trenching are highlighted in (b).

 $\mu$ LED mesas following this AZ400K etch. Of note are the unusually high roughness of the p-GaN surface and the micro-trenching highlighted in Figure 4.4.3(b). The roughness of the p-GaN surface is indicative of relatively poor-quality epitaxial growth, which is often unavoidable when growing high Al-content AlGaN at very high temperatures. Micro-trenching is a phenomenon in which high energy ions, accelerated by the plasma sheath during dry etching, deflect from the sidewalls of an etched structure, increasing the effective physical etch rate of the region directly adjacent to structure sidewalls and leading to formation of the trenchlike structures which can be seen in Figures 4.4.3 (c, d).

Following completion of the AZ400K etch, L2 (p-contact) lithography was performed. HMDS was applied, and LOR5A and AZ1512 were again coated and baked using their standard spin speeds/bake temperatures (see Table 3.3.1). The sample was then exposed using LDW, post exposure baked at 110°C for 3 min, and developed in CD-26 for

2.5 minutes to ensure sufficient undercut of the LOR layer. The sample was then etched for 30 seconds in 20% HCl to remove surface residues and native  $\alpha$ -Ga<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> before being loaded into an electron beam evaporator. Ni evaporation was started at a base pressure of 1.5x10<sup>-6</sup> torr, and a deposition rate of ~1.5 Å/s was used to deposit ~ 80 nm of Ni. The sample left in NMP for ~20 hours and then ultrasonicated in NMP for 10 min in order to ensure complete liftoff of the Ni. The Ni p-contact layer was then RTA annealed for 2 min at 550C in O<sub>2</sub> in order to reduce its contact resistance. Annealing of the Ni causes an expected color change from silver to blue/purple of the Ni surface due to formation of Ni oxides, as can be seen in Figure 4.4.5(c).

The n-contact (L3) was then formed in a similar manner to the p-contact, with HMDS, LOR5A, and AZ1512 applied to the sample and exposed using LDW. A 3 min 110°C post exposure bake and 2.5 min develop were then performed, followed by a 50 W lower power O<sub>2</sub> descum and a 30 second etch in 20% HCl. The sample was then loaded into an electron beam evaporator, and Ti was deposited starting at a base pressure of  $2x10^{-6}$  mtorr. 35 nm of Ti was deposited at a deposition rate of ~ 1 Å/s. The sample was then transferred (in less than 3 min) to a thermal evaporator, and Al deposition was started at a base pressure of  $5x10^{-6}$  torr. 200 nm of Al was deposited at a deposition rate of 3 Å/s. The sample was then left in NMP for 30 hours, and ultrasonicated in NMP for 20 min to ensure complete liftoff the Ti/Al layer. This Ti/Al n-metal was then annealed for 2 min at 650°C in N<sub>2</sub>.

With the  $\mu$ LEDs themselves now fully fabricated, two supplementary layers (L4 and L5) fabricated to determine the feasibility of addressing entire arrays of devices in parallel. A 200 nm TEOS layer was deposited via PECVD to act as a spacer dielectric,

allowing p-traces to cross over the underlying n-traces. Standard LOR5A/AZ1512 lithography was then performed to mask a dry etch of this TEOS layer, opening contact cuts over the p-contacts of each  $\mu$ LED as well as over the n-contact pads adjacent to each array of devices. This etch was performed using the same etch tool and parameters as the aforementioned dry etch of the TEOS etch mask layer for L1. Following contact open



Figure 4.4.4: SEM images of completed 10  $\mu$ m (a) and 30  $\mu$ m (b, c)  $\mu$ LEDs. Images taken at 80° off normal. p- and n-pads are shown in (a, b) while p- and n-traces, nGaN/pGaN regions, and the locations of contact opens and p-contacts are shown in (c).

formation, p-traces were deposited, again using standard LOR5A/AZ1512 lithography and a 2.5 min develop. A 50 W O<sub>2</sub> descum was then performed, followed by a 30 second etch in 20% HCl. 100 nm of conformal Ni was then deposited via electron beam evaporation at a starting pressure of  $3 \times 10^{-6}$  torr and a deposition rate of ~2 Å/s. The sample was then left in NMP for 48 hours, which was sufficient to ensure complete liftoff of this thicker, high stress Ni layer without the need for ultrasonication. Figure 4.4.4 shows SEM images of completed devices taken at 80°, giving perspective on the relative thickness of each layer. Figure 4.4.5 shows optical images of completed devices. Minor misalignment can be seen in each image, as well as the overlap of the p- and n-traces, the location of the contact cut



Figure 4.4.5: Optical images of 10  $\mu$ m (a) 30  $\mu$ m (b), and 50  $\mu$ m (c)  $\mu$ LEDs. (a) shows the locations of the p- and n-contact pads as well as the location of the contact open over the n-pad. Discoloration of the annealed p-contact metal can be seen in (c).

over the n-pad, and the blueish discoloration of the p-contact metal (Figure 4.4.5(c)) due to formation of NiO compounds during the  $O_2$  anneal.

# 4.4.3 Device Characterization

Completed devices were tested using a manual probe station and HP 4145 parameter analyzer. The sample was affixed with vacuum to the probe station stage and devices were addressed using W probe tips with diameters between 1  $\mu$ m and 20  $\mu$ m.



Figure 4.4.6: Illuminated 10  $\mu$ m  $\mu$ LEDs imaged using a cell phone camera (a) and microscope camera (b). Despite narrowband emission occurring around 260 nm, cameras represent this emission as blue.

Images of the illuminated devices were captured using both a cell phone camera (Figure 4.4.6(a)) and a confocal microscope camera (Figure 4.4.6(b)). While the light emission shown in Figure 4.4.6 appears blue, it is important to note that this is due to how digital camera sensors capture and display ultraviolet light. While CMOS imaging sensors used in the majority of modern cameras are capable of recording the wavelength of detected photons, post processing of the image data displays this light as blue, since ultraviolet light is both invisible and harmful to the human eye (especially DUV light), and cannot be produced by display panels. While a small low energy tail was present in the emission of these  $\mu$ LEDs, allowing the illuminated devices to be viewed through 350 nm long pass laser goggles, the vast majority of light output power (LOP) was centered around 260 nm, as shown in Figure 4.4.7. Both images shown in Figure 4.4.6 were captured using a 50 ms exposure time. It is evident from Figure 4.4.6(a) that a significant amount of the emitted light is trapped within the sapphire substrate, as evidenced by the "glowing" sidewalls of the sample. This issue is more or less unavoidable in top emitting LEDs, and can be addressed using a bottom emitting configuration in which a reflective metal layer covers the entire surface of the fabricated device, forcing all light to be emitted through the substrate and improving light extraction efficiency. However, this approach was beyond the scope of our group's present capabilities as it requires more advanced packaging techniques.

While a number of large  $\mu$ LED arrays were fabricated in order to explore the feasibility of addressing numerous  $\mu$ LEDs in parallel, these devices did not perform well. When attempting to address 5x5 or 20x20 arrays of  $\mu$ LEDs through probing of the p- and n-pads (see Figure 4.4.5(a)), no more than a half dozen individual devices in the arrays were able to be illuminated. This was due to several factors, likely including high resistivity of the relatively narrow p-traces and poor step coverage of the p-trace metal (100 nm Ni) over the mesa sidewall and contact open steps. As such, further attempts to characterize emission from  $\mu$ LED arrays were not pursued.

Figure 4.4.7 shows the electroluminescence (EL) spectra of 30  $\mu$ m and 10  $\mu$ m devices over a range of current densities. EL was measured by fixing an optical fiber connected to a spectrometer in close proximity (~2 mm) to the probed device at ~30° off-normal. The emissions peaks and linewidths of 30  $\mu$ m and 10  $\mu$ m devices were 264.3 nm/13.6 nm (at 300 A/cm<sup>2</sup>) and 262 nm/7.1 nm (at 2000 A/cm<sup>2</sup>) respectively. 10  $\mu$ m devices were able to be driven at higher current densities than 30  $\mu$ m devices due to their p-contacts covering a larger fraction of their mesa surface (18% vs 6%). The maximum current densities an LED (especially a DUV LED) can survive are almost always determined by the quality and size of the p-contact, and when failure occurs, the p-contact



Figure 4.4.7: Normalized EL spectra for individual 30  $\mu$ m (a) and 10  $\mu$ m (b)  $\mu$ LEDs at various current densities. Emission peaks for 30  $\mu$ m and 10  $\mu$ m devices at their maximum measured current densities were located at 264.3 nm and 262 nm respectively. Emission linewidths at maximum measured current densities were 13.6 nm and 7.1 nm respectively.

is likewise almost always the point of failure. The moderately shorter emission wavelength of 10  $\mu$ m devices at 2000 A/cm<sup>2</sup> when compared to 30  $\mu$ m devices at 300 A/cm<sup>2</sup> can be attributed to the differences in current density. The much higher current densities achievable in the smaller devices due to increased coverage of their p-contacts leads to saturation of energy states (band filling) within their active regions, causing some electron hole pairs to recombine from higher energy states, leading to a minor blueshift in their emission wavelength. Interestingly, when current density is removed as a variable, as shown in Figure 4.4.8 which compares the emission of 30  $\mu$ m and 10  $\mu$ m devices at 200 A/cm<sup>2</sup>, larger devices are actually found to emit at marginally shorter wavelengths. This is contrary to the behavior of visible light emitting  $\mu$ LEDs, in which smaller devices have been shown to have blueshifted emission [93]. Our results agree with other published works in which the size and emission wavelengths of DUV emitting  $\mu$ LEDs have been found to be inversely correlated to one another at a fixed current density [94,95]. One possible explanation for this may lie in the relative magnitudes of the strain induced



Figure 4.4.8: Normalized EL spectra for individual 30 µm and 10 µm µLEDs at 200 A/cm<sup>2</sup>.

piezoelectric polarization fields in DUV and visible emitting epitaxies and the ways in which strain release through formation of µLED mesas affects band bending and the QCSE in the active region [93]. While the effects of current density on emission wavelength are well understood for both DUV (AlGaN) and visible (GaN/InGaN) emitting LEDs, current density independent variation in emission wavelength with device size has not been investigated as extensively. The lattice constants of AlN, GaN, and InN are 3.11 Å, 3.19 Å, and 3.54 Å respectively [96]. Of note is the much larger difference in lattice constant between GaN and AlN (-0.08 Å) than between GaN and InN (+0.35 Å). The long range (between the bulk epi and general active region) and short range (between the active region barrier and well layers) effects of strain on the active region band structure and very complex and are generally beyond the scope of this dissertation. However, it is likely that the smaller discrepancy between the AlN and GaN lattice constants (vs GaN and InN) are responsible for the reversal of emission shift in DUV emitting devices based on AlGaN (i.e. at DUV wavelengths, emission wavelength is inversely correlated to device size, whereas for visible wavelengths it is positively correlated to device size).

Current voltage characteristics are shown in Figure 4.4.9. Threshold voltages of 4.5 V and 6 V were measured for 30  $\mu$ m and 10  $\mu$ m devices respectively, with post threshold characteristics for all devices being largely dominated by series resistance due to the high resistivity of the p-AlGaN layer. The threshold voltage of the 10  $\mu$ m device is higher due to its increased contact resistance, as has been shown in other works [97,98].

Measurements of light output power were performed using a Newport 843-R laser power meter. The 1 cm diameter detector was positioned ~ 1 cm from the probed devices,



Figure 4.4.9: Current voltage characteristics for 30  $\mu m$  and 10  $\mu m$   $\mu LEDs$  between 0 and 25 V.

and used to record the emitted light output power (LOP) as a function of current density. This test setup, while not optimal, allows for approximation of the total LOP of our  $\mu$ LEDs. The 1 cm detector located 1 cm from the emitting device, covered ~12.5% of the 1 cm radius hemisphere above the emitting LED. By dividing the measured LOP by 0.125 a



Figure 4.4.10: Measured (a) and adjusted (b) light output power as a function of current density for 10  $\mu$ m (dashed) and 30  $\mu$ m (solid)  $\mu$ LEDs.

reasonable "adjusted" upper bound for the total emitted LOP can be estimated. It is important to note that LED far field emission patterns are often quite complex, and light is almost never emitted with uniform intensity at all angles above the surface. As such, the true total LOP is likely somewhere between the measured and adjusted values shown in Figure 4.4.10. By accounting for the current and voltage supplied to the device from the parameter analyzer for each measured value of LOP, wall plug efficiency (WPE) can be estimated by dividing LOP by the product of I and V. Measured and adjusted WPE values are shown in Figure 4.4.11. While these values are not necessarily competitive with other reported results, which claim WPE and EQE values of up to 5% [98–100], the locations of efficiency droop onset are somewhat higher, at 200 A/cm<sup>2</sup> and 83 A/cm<sup>2</sup>, than most reported results for similarly sized devices [94,98–101]. The relatively low WPEs of our devices can be attributed primarily to poor epitaxy and p-contact quality. As the growth of the epitaxy used to fabricate these devices was performed by a commercial vendor based



Figure 4.4.11: Measured (a) and adjusted (b) wall plug efficiency as a function of current density for 10  $\mu$ m (dashed) and 30  $\mu$ m (solid)  $\mu$ LEDs. The onset of efficiency droop was found to occur at 200 A/cm<sup>2</sup> for 10  $\mu$ m devices and at 83 A/cm<sup>2</sup> for 30  $\mu$ m devices. A WPE value of 1.0 is equal to 100% efficiency.

only on our provided specifications, we had little to no insight into the growth process. As evidenced by the surface roughness of the p-GaN shown in Figure 4.4.3(b), it is likely that the quality of the active region could be significantly improved through further optimization of the growth process and use of thicker (and more expensive) buffer layers. The p-contacts of our devices likely would have benefitted from being much larger and thicker, reducing contact resistance and allowing higher current densities to be driven through the devices. While this would come at the tradeoff of decreased  $\eta_{EXT}$  from the top of the  $\mu$ LED mesas, this would likely have little impact as the majority of emission occurs through the sidewalls in devices at this scale.

## 4.4.4 Conclusions

This study represents the first demonstration of fully functional, electrically driven DUV emitting  $\mu$ LEDs based on a novel AlGaN-delta-GaN active region. A six-band  $k \cdot p$  model was used to optimize an Al<sub>0.9</sub>Ga<sub>0.1</sub>N/Al<sub>0.75</sub>Ga<sub>0.25</sub>N/delta-GaN MQW for emission at 265 nm, which was then grown by a commercial vendor. Devices were fabricated with dimensions of 10 µm and 30 µm in the RIT cleanroom. EL measurements showed emission at around 262 nm, with very narrow linewidths of between 7.1 and 13.6 nm. In contrast to InGaN/GaN visible emitting  $\mu$ LEDs, the larger 30 µm devices were found to emit at marginally shorter wavelengths than smaller 10 µm devices at a fixed current density, consistent with other results for DUV emitting  $\mu$ LEDs published in literature. While this phenomenon is not yet fully understood, it may be related to the way in which strain release through formation of  $\mu$ LED mesas affects band bending and the QCSE in the active region. A low turn on voltage of between 4.5 V and 6 V was determined, in line with other devices emitting at similar wavelengths. Power measurements performed using a laser power meter

showed LOP densities of between 100 and 1000 mW/cm<sup>2</sup> for 30 µm devices and 300 and  $3000 \text{ mW/cm}^2$  for 10  $\mu$ m devices. The higher obtainable output power densities measured for smaller devices is due primarily to higher fractional coverage of the mesa by the p-contact, which allowed for higher current densities in the smaller µLEDs. While the measured LOP densities are not necessarily comparable with the best performing devices reported in literature, there are several ways devices based on an AlGaN-delta-GaN active region could be significantly improved. These include further optimization of the growth process and use of thicker buffer layers to improve the quality of the active region, along with further optimization of the p-contact to allow for higher drive current densities. Wall plug efficiencies were calculated, revealed efficiency droop onset at 83 A/cm<sup>2</sup> and  $200 \text{ A/cm}^2$  for 30 µm and 10 µm devices respectively, which moderately higher than most results reporting in literature for DUV emitting devices. These results represent an important first demonstration of AlGaN-delta-GaN based DUV emitting LEDs, and show that this active region design may be a viable alternative to existing AlGaN square well designs for high efficiency DUV emission.

#### 4.5 Process Development for Future Micropillar/Nanowire Array LEDs

### 4.5.1 Introduction

Following the successful demonstration of  $\mu$ LEDs based on an AlGaN-delta-GaN active region, the next step is to demonstrate micropillar and/or nanowire array LEDs which leverage the high IQE of a AlGaN-delta-GaN active region alongside other key optimizations. As discussed in section 4.3, the inverse taper phenomenon which occurs in high Al-content AlGaN can be used to optimize the extraction efficiency of micro- and nano-structures. Additionally, as discussed in section 4.1, the PDMS interlayer dielectric previously using in our prior fabrication of nanowire array devices (see also section 5.2) was suboptimal for a number of reasons, necessitating a replacement which utilizes a PECVD deposited dielectric. By designing array-based devices around these three process optimizations, it should be possible to exceed the performance of the nanowire array LEDs discussed in section 4.1. In order to accomplish this, it is first necessary to develop a reliable process for planarizing the surface of conformally deposited PECVD dielectrics and studying the implementation of this process for use as an interlayer dielectric layer.

## 4.5.2 TEOS Planarization Process Development

As discussed in sections 3.7.2 and 4.1.2, a more robust interlayer dielectric such as  $SiO_2$  or  $Si_3N_4$  is ideal for fabrication of nanowire and micropillar array LEDs. When compared to the PDMS interlayer used in section 4.1.2, these materials offer improved repeatability, reliability, and structural rigidity. Tetraethyl-orthosilicate (Si(OC<sub>2</sub>H<sub>5</sub>)<sub>4</sub> (TEOS), a SiO<sub>2</sub> derivative, was chosen as it is the most reliable plasma deposited dielectric available in the RIT cleanroom. As with all PECVD dielectrics, TEOS deposits with a high

degree of conformality, which leads to significant surface topology on the surface of the overcoating dielectric layer which is not removed during the dielectric etch back process. This topology often manifests as "hills" over each nano/microstructure, with corresponding "valleys" between them. During the subsequent etch back used to expose the tip of the structures, this topology is preserved and can cause the dielectric layer to experience etch punch through at the bottom of the valleys, which will lead to shorting of the p-contact layer and the n-GaN/n-contact. Additionally, conformal dielectric deposition often also results in discontinuities in the dielectric surface, which increases the sheet resistance of the continuous p-contact and can even cause opens to form if the p-contact layer is too thin. As such, a method of planarizing the surface of conformally deposited PECVD TEOS had to be developed prior to utilizing it as an interlayer dielectric for micropillar arrays LEDs. The method we developed makes use of a sacrificial, self-planarizing photoresist layer and a modified fluorine TEOS dry etch which etches TEOS and photoresist at equal rates. By coating the planarizing photoresist over a topologically complex TEOS surface, the magnitude of surface features can be significantly reduced. The subsequent planarizing dry etch then removes the photoresist and the TEOS at equal rates, eroding the TEOS surface features as the photoresist is removed. This allows the surface feature height (h) of the TEOS surface to be reduced by orders of magnitude after only a few planarization cycles. As opposed to chemical mechanical planarization/polishing (CMP) (which is not available in the RIT cleanroom), which utilizes a combination of corrosive chemicals and mechanical abrasion to remove surface features [108,109], this technique can be used on samples of any size and shape, and can be performed in almost every research cleanroom with dielectric deposition and dry etching capability.

In order to develop this planarization method, samples were first prepared by dry etching a uniform array of micropillars on a 2-in GaN wafer. This was accomplished by first patterning an array of 2  $\mu$ m squares on a 10  $\mu$ m pitch using a liftoff process and a g-line stepper. Ni was deposited via electron beam evaporation to a thickness of 200 nm and lifted off in N-Methyl-2-pyrrolidone (NMP). The wafer was then dry etched to a depth of 2  $\mu$ m at 75 W RF power, 350 W ICP power, 10 mtorr, and 32/8/5 sccms Cl<sub>2</sub>/BCl<sub>3</sub>/Ar.



Figure 4.5.1: SEM images showing micropillars (2  $\mu$ m diameter, 2  $\mu$ m height, 10  $\mu$ m pitch) following dry etching and KOH treatment (a), and subsequently after 5  $\mu$ m (b), 7  $\mu$ m (c), and 9  $\mu$ m (d) of conformal TEOS deposition. Images a, b1, c1, and d1 where taken at 45° off normal, while b2, c2, and d2 were taken normal to the sample surface [104].

Following the dry etch, the wafer was etched in 40% AZ400K (a photoresist developer containing 2 wt% KOH) heated to 80°C for 20 min to remove dry etch damage and micromasking. The wafer was then coated with a protective photoresist layer and diced into 1 cm<sup>2</sup> samples. After the samples were removed from the dicing tape and cleaned in acetone to remove the protective photoresist layer, scanning electron microscope (SEM) images were taken of the finished micropillar arrays, as shown in Figure 4.5.1(a). TEOS was then deposited to thicknesses of 5  $\mu$ m (Figure 4.5.1(a1, a2)), 7  $\mu$ m (Figure 4.5.1(c1, c2)), and 9  $\mu$ m (Figure 4.5.1(d1, d2)). Deposition thicknesses of 9  $\mu$ m or more were found to fully "merge" the domelike S structures, seen best in Figure 4.5.1(b1, b2), reducing surface feature height. Samples with 9 µm of TEOS were characterized using SEM and atomic force microscopy (AFM) to determine surface feature height h, defined as the average of the lowest and highest points on the surface (shown in Figure 4.5.2(a)). For samples with 9  $\mu$ m of TEOS, h was found to be ~ 1.6  $\mu$ m, 400 nm less than the height of the underlying micropillars. To planarize the TEOS surface shown in Figure 4.5.1(d1, d2), AZ MiR 701 photoresist was first coated at 2500 rpm and baked for 3 min at  $110^{\circ}$ C. On a planar surface these coating parameters give a photoresist thickness of ~950 nm, and AFM measurements of the micropillar sample surface following resist coating show that h is reduced from  $1.6 \,\mu m$  to around 200 nm. This indicates that photoresist layer does not planarize perfectly but still produces a large reduction in surface feature height. Figure 4.5.2(b) shows a cross-sectional representation of a perfectly planarized photoresist layer over a domed TEOS surface. A fluorine plasma etch was then used to etch back the photoresist and TEOS at equal rates (Figure 4.5.2(c)). This etch was carefully optimized from a standard TEOS dry etch to have both a high etch rate and 1:1 selectivity between



Figure 4.5.2: Cross sectional schematic showing the TEOS planarization process. (a) TEOS deposited over an array of micropillars, surface topology in the TEOS layer is evident. (b) Photoresist is coated over the TEOS surface and self-planarizes. (c) A fluorine plasma etch with 1:1 selectivity between photoresist and TEOS is used to etch back photoresist and TEOS at equal rates. (d) The now planarized TEOS surface is further etched back using any TEOS plasma etch. (e) The tips of the micropillars are exposed. (f) A conformal p-contact is deposited, connecting all micropillars in parallel, allowing for formation of a micropillar LED [104].

photoresist and TEOS. The etch was performed at 130 mtorr and 200 W RF power, with gas flow rates of 70/60/14 sccms CHF<sub>3</sub>/CF<sub>4</sub>/O<sub>2</sub>.

At an etch rate of  $100 \pm 5$  nm/min, this etch removed about 1  $\mu$ m of photoresist and TEOS in approximately 10 min. It was found that extended continuous dry etching longer than 2 minutes led to roughening of the photoresist surface. This surface roughness would then be transferred into the TEOS surface once all photoresist was removed. The development of this surface roughness is likely due to heating of the sample by the plasma over time. As the sample substrate is sapphire as opposed to Si, heating of the sample surface is always of concern during dry etching as sapphire is much less thermally conductive that Si and prevents heat from being easily removed through the Si carrier wafer underneath the sample. This issue was eliminated by breaking the planarization etch into shorter sub-etches, each with a duration of 1 min. Sub-etches were spaced by a 3-minute cooling step in which the same gas flows were maintained in the absence of plasma. In addition to fully preventing surface roughening of exposed photoresist, the use of multiple sub-etch steps also allows for more controllable etch rates, as sample heating can also affect the rates at which photoresist and TEOS etch, leading to a nonlinearity in a plot of etch depth vs etch time.

After all photoresist has been removed, leaving a (theoretically) planar surface as shown in Figure 4.5.2(d), any TEOS dry etch can then be used to further etch back the TEOS layer until the tips of micropillars are exposed, as shown in Figure 4.5.2(e). At this point, the planarization process has achieved its purpose of enabling the use of a conformally deposited TEOS layer as an interlayer dielectric, and a p-contact layer can be safely deposited to connect multiple micropillars in parallel. Without initial planarization to remove the surface topology of the as deposited TEOS, deep trenches with sharp discontinuities would exist in the interlayer dielectric, making formation of a continuous p-contact layer difficult and risking potential shorting of the n and p contacts in a worst-case scenario.

Creation of a non-selective dry etch was critical in the development of a process which could planarize a dielectric surface with significant topology. Fortunately, this is fairly straightforward to do by simply altering the  $O_2$  flow rate of the etch. Oxygen plasma is used to ash wafers and is thus well suited for removing photoresist. Starting with a TEOS etch with a selectivity > 1,  $O_2$  flow can be increased until a selectivity of 1 (or very close to 1) is achieved. Figure 4.5.3(a) shows a plot of selectivity vs  $O_2$  for a standard TEOS dry



Figure 4.5.3: (a) Etch selectivity between photoresist and TEOS as a function of the  $O_2$  flow rate in sccm. (b) Surface feature height h (see Figure 4.5.2(a)) as a function of the number of planarization cycles [104].

etch. This optimization process should be easily replicable in most facilities which have access to a etch tool plumbed with either CHF<sub>3</sub>, CF<sub>4</sub>, SF<sub>6</sub>, or another fluorine gas, and O<sub>2</sub>. The etch parameters necessary to achieve this non-selective etch will change depending on the etch tool, for example, the parameters shown in Figure 4.5.3(a) (130 mtorr, 200 W RF, 70/60/14 sccm CHF<sub>3</sub>/CF<sub>4</sub>/O<sub>2</sub>) provided an etch selectivity of  $1 \pm 0.05$  on our Trion Phantom III RIE, but on our Trion Minilock RIE (a similar but slightly older tool) only 11 sccms  $O_2$  were required to achieve the same selectivity with all other parameters the same. As long as a photoresist masked TEOS dry etch with a selectivity > 1 can be achieved on a tool, this process should also be viable. As previously discussed, extended etches can cause unwanted roughening of the photoresist surface. Likewise, alteration of other etch parameters can also cause surface roughening of the resist. For example, increasing the RF power beyond a certain threshold will do this, as will an unbalanced ratio of fluorine gases. A roughened resist surface will manifest as clouding of the sample surface to the naked eye, and will be immediately evident in a microscope. In order to achieve an ideal planarization process, care should be taken to optimize the dry etch such that roughening does not occur.

We performed etch optimization using 2-inch Si wafers coated with TEOS. Photoresist was spin-coated on half the wafers, and then a pair of wafers (1 coated, 1 uncoated) were etched on a carrier wafer simultaneously. This process was repeated many times, changing the etch parameters each time, in order to determine etch rate and selectivity and to prevent roughening. TEOS and photoresist thickness were measured using a interferometer. Figure 4.5.4 shows SEM images of the TEOS surfaces with varying degrees of planarization. It is immediately evident that complete planarization of the surface shown in Figure 4.5.4(a) is not achieved in a single planarization cycle (Figure 4.5.4(b)). This is likely due to a combination of imperfect self-planarization of the overcoating photoresist layer (i.e. the photoresist surface is not perfectly planar and has a surface feature height of  $h \sim 200 \text{ nm}$ ) and preferential etching of photoresist in the vicinity of exposed TEOS, which causes spatial variation in the selectivity of the etch. Figure 4.5.3(b) shows surface feature height as a function of the number of planarization cycles



Figure 4.5.4: SEM images showing the TEOS surface after (a) no planarization, (b) 1 planarization cycle, (c) 2 planarization cycles, (d) and 3 planarization cycles. (e) Shows a region in which 2 and 3 cycles of planarization are visible, as well as residual photoresist between the two regions. Likewise (f) and (g) do the same for direct comparison of 1 and 2 cycles and 2 and 3 cycles respectively. All images were taken at  $70^{\circ}$  off normal [104].

performed. After a single cycle, h is reduced from 1.6 µm to around 600 nm. Additional cycles then reduce this to ~ 75 nm after 2 cycles (Figure 4.5.4(c)), and then to ~25 nm after 3 cycles (Figure 4.5.4(d)). At 5 planarization cycles (the maximum we performed), h was reduced to only 7 nm, however there is likely no realistic reason to perform more than 2 or 3 cycles due to diminishing returns. Figs. 4.5.4(e-g) were taken in defective regions on their respective samples, where photoresist failed to adhere to the TEOS surface. Fortunately, this allows for side-by-side comparison of regions which have received different number of planarization cycles. Figure 4.5.4(e) is perhaps the most interesting, showing regions planarized twice and thrice separated by a region in which photoresist is still present. Photoresist remains in this image because a thicker "edge bead" usually forms around the periphery of regions to which resist does not adhere, this leads to residual resist remaining even after it has all been removed in the thrice planarized region. Likewise, Figures 5.4.4(f) and 5.4.4(g) show the direct abutment of single and twice planarized regions and twice and thrice planarized regions respectively. Taken as a whole, Figure 5.4.4 gives an excellent qualitative depiction of the planarization process, showing the significant surface topology present in Figure 4.5.4(a) following TEOS dep can be more or less entirely removed after only three planarization cycles (Figure 4.5.4(d-e, g)).

### 4.5.3 Micropillar Array Fabrication Process Development

Following development of a suitable process for planarizing TEOS, micropillar arrays were fabricated from the same AlGaN-delta-GaN epitaxy used for the devices described in section 4.4. A cross-sectional representation of this epi-structure is shown in Figure 4.5.5. Following a solvent clean of the wafer, TEOS was deposited via PECVD to



Figure 4.5.5: Cross-sectional representation of the AlGaN-delta-GaN epitaxy used during process development.

a thickness of 350 nm (Figure 4.5.5(a)). HMDS was applied to the TEOS surface and photoresist (LOR5A and AZ1512) was then coated onto the wafer surface and exposed using LDW. Following development of the resist, Ni is deposited via electron beam evaporation to a thickness of 70 nm to act as a dry etch mask (Figure 4.5.6(b)). The underlying TEOS is then etched using a standard TEOS etch with 200 W CCP RF power at 130 mtorr and gas flows of 60/70/6 sccms  $CF_4/CHF_3/O_2$ . At an etch rate of ~60 nm/min, nine 1-minute etch cycles were performed (an overetch of ~50%) to clear the TEOS. An ICP/CCP Cl based dry etch was then used to etch the underlying AlGaN-delta-GaN epistack. Etch parameters of 30 mtorr, 75/350 W CCP/ICP RF power, and 32/8/5 sccms  $Cl_2/BCl_3/Ar$  were used to achieve an etch rate of ~335 nm min. A total of 118 seconds of etching was used to hit the etch depth target of 660 nm, as measured by profilometer (Figure 4.5.6(c)). Following confirmation of the etch depth assuming negligible erosion of



Figure 4.5.6(a-c): Deposition of 350 nm TEOS (a), patterning of 70 nm Ni (b), dry etching of the TEOS and underlying AlGaN epitaxy (c).

the Ni etch mask, the Ni etch mask was removed by etching the sample for 10 min in 25% HCl at 20°C (Figure 4.5.6(d)). The underlying TEOS layer was then removed using a 5 min etch in 10:1 BOE at 20°C (Figure 4.5.6(e)). A combined TEOS + Ni dry etch mask was used for two reasons. During extended Cl etching, Ni<sub>x</sub>Cl<sub>y</sub> compounds will form on the surface of the Ni mask [102]. When thick enough, these compounds can prevent etching of the underlying Ni in HCl, making it nearly impossible to remove from the sample. The



Figure 4.5.6(d-f): Wet etching of the Ni mask in 25% HCl (d), wet etching of the underlying TEOS in 10:1 BOE (e), etching of the AlGaN for 10 min in 20% AZ400K to remove etch grass and straighten sidewalls (f).

underlying TEOS layer allows the Ni etch mask to be removed regardless of Cl etch duration and the thickness of  $Ni_xCl_y$  on the Ni surface. Additionally, a TEOS only etch mask would require a clear field photoresist exposure to mask the TEOS etch. The LDW exposure tool we use has issues writing clear field patterns on transparent samples such as

AlGaN/GaN on sapphire, and as such, we are able to obtain much higher resolutions using dark field liftoff exposures. Following removal of the TEOS, the sample is etched in 20% AZ400K (0.4 wt% KOH) at 90°C to remove the micromasking present on the exposed



Figure 4.5.6(g-i): Extended wet etching of the AlGaN for 70 min in 20% AZ400K to produce an inverse taper sidewall profile (g), deposition of 40 nm Ni on top of the micropillars followed by annealing in  $O_2$  at 550°C to form an ohmic p-contact (h), deposition of 30/100 nm Cr/Au to form an unannealed ohmic n-contact to the n-AlGaN (i).

n-AlGaN surface and modify the geometry of the micropillar sidewalls. After 10 min of etching in this solution all micromasking is removed and vertical sidewalls are obtained, as shown in Figure 4.5.6(f). A further 60 minutes of etching (70 min total) is performed to produce the inverse taper profile described previously in sections 4.1 and 4.2, as shown in Figure 4.5.6(g).

Once the micropillars are formed, LOR5A and AZ1512 are coated and exposed, and 40 nm of Ni is selectively deposited over the arrays via directional electron beam evaporation to serve as the p-contact (Figure 4.5.6(h)). The inverse taper of the micropillars prevents sidewall deposition entirely. The Ni is then annealed for 2 minutes in O<sub>2</sub> at 550°C to reduce its contact resistance and form an ohmic p-contact to the tops of the micropillars. LOR5A and AZ1512 are again coated and exposed, and 30/100 nm of Cr/Au is deposited to act as the n-contact in the field regions arounds the arrays (Figure 4.5.6(i)). This Cr/Au layer is also deposited over the arrays themselves to form a thicker metal stack on the tops of the micropillars. While this will prohibit emission of light from the tops of the micropillars, it allows much more room for error during the TEOS etchback process which would normally have to terminate within the very thin 120 nm p-GaN/p-AlGaN region to avoid shorting the MQW. Cr/Au provides an ohmic contact without the need for annealing, unlike Ti/Al, which prevents degradation of the previously annealed p-contact during N<sub>2</sub> n-contact annealing.

Following formation of the p- and n-contacts, TEOS is deposited conformally to a thickness of 2  $\mu$ m via PECVD, as shown in Figure 4.5.6(j). The TEOS (or other dielectric) thickness required for an interlayer dielectric is determined by the height of the underlying micro/nanostructures, and to a lesser degree the size and pitch of these structures. In





Figure 4.5.6(j-l): PECVD deposition of 2  $\mu$ m of conformal TEOS (j), coating of a semi-self-planarizing photoresist layer onto the TEOS surface (k), planarization of the TEOS surface using a F dry etch (l).

general, the deposited thickness must be greater than the height of the surface structures in order to ensure that dielectric will remain in the field regions once the tips of the structures are exposed via etchback. The TEOS planarization process development described in section 4.5.2 was performed on a uniform array of structures, however, when arrays of different size structures with varying pitch are present on the same sample, this planarization process becomes more complex. The topology of the TEOS surface above arrays of nano/microstructures depends primarily on the spacing between these structures. If the space between structures is less than 2x the deposited dielectric thickness, the dielectric will merge between adjacent structures. If the space between structures is greater than 2x the dielectric thickness, a gap will remain following dielectric deposition. The presence of both these types of structures (those with merged and unmerged dielectric) on the same sample can complicate the planarization and etchback process, as will be described later in this section.

Following deposition of 2  $\mu$ m conformal TEOS, photoresist (AZ1512 in this case) is coated over the sample at a spin speed of 3000 rpm. The surface of this resist layer self-planarizes as shown in Figure 4.5.6(k). A CHF<sub>3</sub>/CF<sub>4</sub>/O<sub>2</sub> dry etch tuned (as described in section 4.5.2) to etch the photoresist and underlying TEOS at the same rate is then used to remove the photoresist layer along with the peaks of the most prominent TEOS features as shown in Figure 4.5.6(l). In an ideal scenario, the photoresist would perfectly self-planarize over the entire sample as shown in Figure 4.5.6(l), however in reality this is not the case. Instead, the resist will undergo "short-range" planarization, meaning that it will planarize over the surfaces of individual, tightly packed (small pitch) arrays, but will not undergo "long-range" planarization between arrays and sparsely packed (large pitch)

arrays. This leads to the resist coating to its default thickness in the field regions, and thinner over arrays. As such, it is not possible to planarize the entire surface of the sample in a single photoresist coat and etch step, so several planarization "cycles" must be used,



Figure 4.5.6(m-o): Etchback of the planarized TEOS surface (m), exposure of the micropillars (n), etching of the field TEOS to expose the n-contact (o).

with each cycle consisting of photoresist coating and enough dry etching to remove the entirety of the resist layer across the entire sample. In this case, 4 planarization cycles were completed in order to achieve sufficient planarization of all array variants present on the sample, whose individual elements ranged from 600 nm to 5  $\mu$ m in diameter (D) with pitches of either 2D or 3D. Arrays were formed of either 20x20 or 50x50 elements. After the TEOS surface is sufficiently planarized, it can be etched back using a F plasma to expose the tips of the buried micropillars, as shown in Figures 4.5.6(m-n). In this case a standard TEOS etch with 200 W CCP RF power at 130 mtorr and gas flows of 60/70/6 sccms CF<sub>4</sub>/CHF<sub>3</sub>/O<sub>2</sub> was used to etch back the TEOS at a rate of ~60 nm/min.



Figure 4.5.6(p-q): Conformal deposition of Ni to form to connect each array of micropillars in parallel (p), testing of a completed device (q).

Following completion of the etchback, photoresist (AZ1512) is coated and exposed to mask a dry etch of the field TEOS to expose the n-contacts (Figure 4.5.6(o)). LOR5A and AZ1512 are then coated, exposed, and developed, and 25 nm of conformal Ni is deposited to connect all the structures in an array in parallel, as shown in Figure 4.5.6(p). At this point individual devices are ready for testing, which is performed by applying a positive bias to the Ni p-contact or a negative bias to the Cr/Au n-contact as shown in Figure 4.5.6(q).



Figure 4.5.7: SEM images of 1.5  $\mu$ m micropillars on a 2  $\mu$ m pitch following AZ400K etching (a), and 1.25  $\mu$ m micropillars on a 2.5  $\mu$ m pitch following deposition of the 40 nm Ni p-contact and 30/100 nm Cr/Au n-contact (b).

Figure 4.5.7 shows SEM images of arrays of micropillars before and after deposition of the p- and n-contact metals. The inverse taper created by the AZ400K etch is easily visible in both (a) and (b), while the metal shadowing is evident in (b). The diameters/pitches of the micropillars shown in Figure 4.5.7(a) and (b) are  $1.5/2 \mu m$  and  $1.25/2.5 \mu m$  respectively. Likewise, Figure 4.5.8 shows a full 20x20 array of  $1.25 \mu m$  micropillars on a 2.5  $\mu m$  pitch. In this image, the entire visible region is covered in Cr/Au, with the darker box surrounding the array delineating the region in which 40 nm of



Figure 4.5.8: SEM images of a 20x20 array of 1.25  $\mu$ m micropillars on a 2.5  $\mu$ m pitch following n-metal deposition.



Figure 4.5.9: SEM images showing the intersection between regions of exposed n-AlGaN, annealed Ni, and Cr/Au on annealed Ni (a), and a near cross sectional view of an 800 nm micropillar covered with 40 nm Ni and 30/100 nm Cr/Au (b).

annealed Ni is present under the Cr/Au layer. Figure 4.5.9(a) shows an area in which regions of n-AlGaN, annealed Ni, and Cr/Au on annealed Ni intersect, highlighting several interesting phenomena. First, the etched n-AlGaN surface has inherited the roughness of the p-GaN surface noted in section 4.4.2, indicating that epitaxy is of relatively poor quality. Second, the surface of the annealed Ni layer is quite rough when compared to the unannealed Cr/Au layer. This is generally expected due to densification of the as-deposited Ni and formation of NiO compounds during annealing. Figure 4.5.9(b) shows a higher magnification image of a single 800 nm micropillar at ~85° off normal. The interfaces between the Cr/Au, Ni, p-GaN/p-AlGaN/MQW, and n-AlGaN regions are indicated by dashed lines, and the metal shadowing caused by the inverse taper profile is clearly visible. The distortion which can be seen in Figure 4.5.9(b) is caused by charging.



Figure 4.5.10: SEM images showing the TEOS surface over the same micropillar array as deposited (a), and after 1 (b) and 3 (c) planarization cycles.

As previously described, a number of planarization cycles are almost always needed to achieve sufficient planarization over an array of micropillars or other structures. This is clearly illustrated by Figure 4.5.10, which shows the same micropillar array following TEOS deposition (a), and after one (b) and three (c) planarization cycles. The significant surface topology, with roughly the same height as that of the underlying
micropillars (~660 nm), is reduced significantly by a single planarization cycle, and is almost completely removed after three planarization cycles. In Figure 4.5.10(c), surface feature height has been reduced to roughly 50 nm, and ~1000 nm of TEOS is left above the tops of the buried micropillars. This shows the effectiveness of this planarization process even for isolated arrays, despite the need to perform it several times to achieve suitable levels of planarization. The etchback process which follows planarization is shown in Figure 4.5.11. As the TEOS is etched back from a thickness of roughly 1000 nm, the underlying micropillars first appears as dark spots on the TEOS surface as shown in Figure 4.5.11(a). This is due to the underlying pillars and their metal caps acting as charge sinks, drawing the negative charge which accumulates on the insulating TEOS surface during bombardment by the electron beam down into the substrate. As the etchback progresses and micropillars come closer to clearing, the Au on their surfaces enters the penetration depth of the electron beam and the formerly dark spots above the pillars become brighter regions to the increased secondary electron emission by the Au, as can be seen in Figure 4.5.11(b). At 1000 nm of etchback, many of the micropillar arrays are very close to clearing. After 1500 nm of etchback, as shown in Figure 4.5.11(c), most micropillars are cleared, and many are "over cleared," meaning that the MQW region is exposed and will be shorted following deposition of a conformal connecting metal on top of the TEOS.



Figure 4.5.11: SEM images showing the TEOS surface over micropillar arrays following 500 nm etchback (a), 1000 nm etchback (b), and 1500 nm etchback (c).



Figure 4.5.12: SEM images showing the Cr/Au covered surfaces of micropillars following successful etchback of the TEOS.

Most arrays required between 1100 and 1300 nm of etchback to properly expose the underlying micropillars, as can be seen in Figure 4.5.12, while denser arrays took more than 1500 nm of etchback to fully clear. As previously described, this is due to the planarizing resist coating thicker over denser arrays, results in less etching of the underlying TEOS during the planarization process. As a consequence, it was found that denser arrays required more etchback to fully clear when compared to sparse arrays. Figure 4.5.13 shows SEM images of dense arrays in which the micropillars at the corners of the arrays cleared long before those in the center. Figure 4.5.13(a) shows an SEM image of a partially cleared array. The center of the array appears much darker due to remaining, uncleared TEOS. This effect is also shown in Figures 4.5.13(b) and (c) at higher magnification. The primary reason for early clearing of the array corners is the way in which photoresist planarizes over denser arrays. When resist is coated, it coats to its default thickness in the field regions, and coats thinner over the elevated arrays, as expected. However, the resist coats thinnest at the edges of the arrays at the transition between the array and the field region. As such, where 1 µm of resist might exist in the field region and



Figure 4.5.13: SEM images highlighting the issues which can occurs during planarization of TEOS over isolated arrays of micropillars. (a) shows a large, dense array in which the corner regions have cleared to expose the Cr/Au on the micropillars, while the center of the array remains covered in TEOS. Likewise (b) and (c) show close up images of the corner regions of similar arrays.

750 nm over of the center of an array, only 500 nm might exist at the edges of the array, with the corners having even less resist. During the planarization process, the resist is completely removed earlier at the corners and edges of an array than in the center, resulting in the TEOS in these regions experiencing more etching during planarization than the TEOS toward the center of the arrays. The thinner TEOS in these regions thus clears faster during the etchback process, leading to the issue illustrated in Figure 4.5.13. In order to fully clear the micropillars in the center of these arrays, additional etchback must be

performed which can potentially lead to "over clearing" at the edges and corners of the array. An array with over cleared elements risks shorting of these over cleared elements once the conformal connecting metal is deposited. There are several ways to address this issue, the simplest being to simply fabricate devices of reduced size as shown in Figure 4.5.14. This is done by simply reducing the size of the connecting metal pad atop the cleared array as can be seen in Figure 4.5.14(b). This ensures that only properly cleared elements are addressed by the connecting metal, and avoids complications which may arise from over cleared side and corner elements. Reduced size arrays are shown at greater magnification in Figure 4.5.15. A more proper solution to this issue would be to design the



Figure 4.5.14: SEM images of completed full size (a) and reduced size (b) devices following deposition of 25 nm of conformal Ni to connect many micropillars in parallel.



Figure 4.5.15: SEM images of reduced size arrays following conformal Ni deposition. The diameter/pitches of the arrays shown in (a) and (b) are  $2.5/4.5 \,\mu$ m and  $2/3.5 \,\mu$ m respectively.

layout to eliminate field regions entirely, covering the entire sample with micro/nanostructures of similar size and pitch, with the exception of small open regions when n-contacts can be accessed. While this would more or less eliminate the issue of early clearing at the corners of arrays, it reduces the number of designs which can be included on a sample, restricting them to similar element diameters and pitches. Unfortunately, there is likely no perfect solution to this problem aside from using CMP to planarize the dielectric surface.



Figure 4.5.16: Optical images of completed devices. The variable color of different arrays is caused by thin film interference in the variable thickness TEOS interlayer of the arrays. Conventional mesa LEDs can be seen in the top right.

Figure 4.5.16 shows a low magnification optical image of many arrays of both full and reduced size. The early clearing of almost all array corners and edges is visible from the variable colors across each array to thin film interfere in the variable thickness TEOS.



Figure 4.5.17: Optical images of completed devices of full and reduced size. (a) and (b) show 3  $\mu$ m micropillars on a 5  $\mu$ m pitch, (c) and (d) show 2  $\mu$ m micropillars on a 3  $\mu$ m pitch, and (e) and (f) show 1  $\mu$ m micropillars on a 2  $\mu$ m pitch.

A number of conventional mesa LEDs can also be seen in the top right of Figure 4.5.16. High magnification images of full and reduced size devices are shown in Figure 4.5.17 following deposition of a conformal connecting metal (25 nm Ni). These images further highlight the relationship between TEOS thickness and element position with the array. It can also be seen how reducing the size of the connecting metal layer can avoid the complications cause by including potentially over cleared elements at the array corners and edges.

### 4.6 Future Work

# 4.6.1 High Aspect Ratio Micropillar and Nanowire LEDs Leveraging TEOS Planarization

Following the extensive process development described in section 4.5, the most immediate near to term extension of this research will be to fabricate devices leveraging these well-developed processes. In order to do so, a new custom grown epistack is desirable, and can be based on either a AlGaN-delta-GaN or conventional AlGaN square well active region. It will be important for this epistack to include a much thicker n-AlGaN region than the custom AlGaN-delta-GaN epitaxy used in sections 4.4 and 4.5, ideally at least 3  $\mu$ m thick. This will allow fabrication of higher aspect ratio structures as deeper etches could be performed while still remaining within the n-AlGaN layer. The ability to fabricate higher aspect ratio nanowires and micropillars will be important for confirming the results of the simulation study discussed in section 4.3.

These planned devices will utilize planarized TEOS as an interlayer dielectric, taking into account the learnings described in section 4.5.3. Most notably, they will forgo isolated arrays and field regions in favor of covering almost the entire sample surface with nanowires and/or micropillars of similar diameter (likely between 800 nm and 2  $\mu$ m) and pitch (likely 2x to 3x the diameter of the array elements). Maintaining a consistent fill factor between regions which host different sized element may also aid in the uniformity of photoresist planarization and etchback. These changes will mitigate the issue described in section 4.5.3 in which the edges and corners of isolated arrays clear long before the centers of arrays, as instead each device will be defined by the size of the connecting metal

pad within a monolithic field of identical elements. Openings in this field will be made to allow uninhibited access to the n-contact.

The process development described in section 4.5.3 used a 30/100 nm Cr/Au layer as an n-contact, with this Cr/Au also deposited atop the 40 nm Ni p-contact on the micropillars. This was done to allow more room for error during the etchback process. However, this may not be necessary if the aforementioned changes (using monolithic fields of elements rather than isolated arrays) are effective and simplify the etch back process. Use of only a thin Ni layer on the nanowires/micropillars would increase light extraction substantially, especially when utilizing an AlGaN-delta-GaN active region which reduces the fraction of light emitted with TM-polarization.

# 4.6.2 Packaging and EQE Characterization of DUV LEDs

Direct characterization of light extraction efficiency and EQE requires use of an integrating sphere which captures and diffuses all light emitted by a device before it is fed into a spectrometer. Devices must be packaged before they can be tested within an integrating sphere, as wafer level probing of the device contacts is not compatible with most integrated sphere test setups. This packaging requires wire bonding and die bonding of individual die to a PCB, and necessitates additional design considerations such as placement of bond pads on each die and connection of individual devices to these bond pads using low resistance metal traces. Our group has been working to develop an integrating sphere test setup for measuring EQE alongside packaging capabilities but unfortunately these efforts are not yet mature. Attempts were made to wire bond the AlGaN-delta-GaN µLEDs described in section 4.4, however the Al bond pads fabricated on that sample were not compatible with the wire bonder available at RIT, and it was

recommended that we instead utilize thicker, Au bond pads in the future. As such, all planned device fabrication will include Ti/Au bond pads of 30/300 nm thickness in order to allow for packaging and EQE testing.

# 4.6.3 Exploring the Effects of Device Size on Emission Wavelength Shift in AlGaN and InGaN Active Region Devices

As briefly described in section 4.4.3, the current density independent wavelength shift which occurs as the size of µLEDs or micropillars/nanowires is changed has been found to behave differently in AlGaN based DUV emitting LEDs than in InGaN based visible light emitting LEDs. In all visible (red, green, blue) InGaN/GaN LEDs, peak emission wavelength is positively correlated with  $\mu$ LED size, with smaller devices emitting at shorter wavelengths than larger ones at a fixed current density. This is generally attributed to increased strain relaxation in the active region for smaller devices, reducing piezoelectric polarization electric fields and altering the magnitude of energy band bending such that electron and hole ground states are moved marginally farther from their flat band ground states, decreasing emission wavelength. However, in AlGaN DUV emitting LEDs, the opposite trend has been repeatedly observed as described in section 4.4.3, with peak emission wavelength being inversely correlated to device size. The AlGaN-delta-GaN  $\mu$ LEDs described in section 4.4.3 showed a 2.5 nm redshift between 10  $\mu$ m and 30  $\mu$ m devices at 200 A/cm<sup>2</sup>, with the 10 µm devices emitting at *longer* wavelengths that the 30 µm devices (see Figure 4.4.8).

This phenomenon is not well studied, and most references to it in literature are only in passing. While the relation between peak emission wavelength and device size has been well documented for visible emitting LEDs, only a handful of publications mention it for DUV emitting LEDs, and none investigate the phenomenon directly or explore the reasons for the contrast between visible and DUV emitting devices. Our group plans to investigate this phenomenon in detail by fabricating many different samples from different epitaxies emitting in the DUV range (260 and 280 nm), the UV-B range (320 nm), the UV-A range (375 nm), and at blue (450 nm) and green (540 nm) wavelengths. By comparing the direction and magnitude of emission wavelength shift as a function of device size (from  $5 \,\mu\text{m}$  to 200  $\mu\text{m}$ ) for these different epitaxies, we hope to better understand this phenomenon which is currently poorly understood in literature.

## 4.6.4 Microtransfer Printing of DUV Nanowire LEDs

Microtransfer printing has seen increasing interest recently for fabrication of  $\mu$ LED displays and integration of LEDs and lasers onto CMOS and silicon photonics substates. RITs recent acquisition of a Microtransfer printer (located in the RIT cleanroom) has allowed our research group to begin several projects based around the transfer of mesa LEDs and lasers onto CMOS substrates. While LED and laser transfer has been well studied and is currently used commercially, transfer of nanowire LEDs, especially DUV emitting nanowire LEDs, has not yet been attempted. By combining the nanowire liftoff process detailed in section 4.2 with RIT's new Microtransfer printing capability, it may be possible to demonstrate the transfer of arrays of nanowires onto a CMOS host substrate for the first time.

This process may begin as shown in Figure 4.6.1(a), with deposition and patterning of an SiO<sub>2</sub> etch mask, followed by Cl dry etching to form nanowires (Figure 4.6.1(b). Figure 4.6.1 does not show KOH etching after the dry etch to form an inverse taper, however this step *would* likely be included. Following the nanowire dry etch, and



Figure 4.6.1(a-d): Deposition and patterning of  $SiO_2$  to form an etch mask (a), Cl etching of the AlGaN to form nanowires (b), directional Al deposition (c), conformal  $SiO_2$  deposition (d).

thick layer of Al (possible 500 nm) would be deposited via directional thermal evaporation (Figure 4.6.1(c)). SiO<sub>2</sub> (or TEOS or Si<sub>3</sub>N<sub>4</sub>) would then be deposited via PECVD and planarized as described in section 4.5.2 (Figures 4.6.1(d) and (e)). Apertures would then

be etched in this planarized dielectric to expose the underling Al layer (Figure 4.6.1(f)) and an Al wet etch would be performed to remove the Al from beneath the dielectric (Figure 4.6.1(g)). With the bases of the nanowires now exposed a KOH etch, either heated



Figure 4.6.1(e-h):  $SiO_2$  planarization (e), opening of apertures in the  $SiO_2$  layer (f), removal of the Al layer under the  $SiO_2$  using an Al wet etch (g-h).

or room temperature, would be used to narrow the bases of the nanowires as described in section 4.2.3, either fully separating them from the substrate or narrowing them enough that they can be broken by a low applied shear force (Figure 4.6.1(i)). The planarized  $SiO_2$ 



Figure 4.6.1(i-l): Narrowing or separation of the nanowire bases by a heated or room temperature KOH etch (i), etchback of the planarized  $SiO_2$  to expose the Al atop the nanowires (j), removal of the Al with a wet etch (k), deposition of a conformal connecting metal layer (Ni) onto the tops of the nanowires (l).



Figure 4.6.1(m-p): Contacting of the PDMS stamp to a device (m), lifting of the device from the substate (n), lowering (o) and placing (p) of the device onto a second PDMS stamp.

would then be etched back to expose the Al tipped nanowires (Figure 4.6.1(j)), and an Al wet etch would then be used to remove the Al, exposing the p-GaN at the top of the nanowires (Figure 4.6.1(k)). A conformal, thin layer of Ni would then be deposited to connect a number of nanowires in parallel, forming a discreet device (Figure 4.6.1(l). A small PDMS stamp on the microtransfer printer head would then be brought into contact with a single device, and would apply tensile and/or shear force to remove the device from the substate (Figure 4.6.1(m)). The device would then be inverted and brought into contact with a second PDMS stamp (Figure 4.6.1(o)), such that the etch bases of the nanowires were in contact with the second stamp (Figure 4.6.1(p)). The device would then be lowered onto an SiO<sub>2</sub> coated CMOS host substate (Figure 4.6.1(q)) and released by the PDMS stamp (Figure 4.6.1(r)). Contact opens would then be etched, permitting access to the Ni p-contact (Figure 4.6.1(s)), and Ni or ITO interconnects would be fabricated to connect the device to the CMOS substrate (Figure 4.6.1(t)).

The described fabrication steps are all tentative and it is likely that many revisions will need to be made along the way in order to obtain working devices. If successful, this would be the first reported demonstration of DUV emitting (or even visible emitting) nanowire array LEDs onto a host substrate.



Figure 4.6.1(q-t): Lower of the inverted device onto the CMOS host substrate (q, r), etching of contact opens through the planarized  $SiO_2$  to allow access to the Ni p-contact (s), and deposition of an interconnect layer (either Ni or ITO) to connect the device with the CMOS host substrate (t).

## **Chapter 4 References**

- H. Amano, R. Collazo, C. D. Santi, S. Einfeldt, M. Funato, J. Glaab, S. Hagedorn, A. Hirano, H. Hirayama, R. Ishii, Y. Kashima, Y. Kawakami, R. Kirste, M. Kneissl, R. Martin, F. Mehnke, M. Meneghini, A. Ougazzaden, P. J. Parbrook, S. Rajan, P. Reddy, F. Römer, J. Ruschel, B. Sarkar, F. Scholz, L. J. Schowalter, P. Shields, Z. Sitar, L. Sulmoni, T. Wang, T. Wernicke, M. Weyers, B. Witzigmann, Y.-R. Wu, T. Wunderer, and Y. Zhang, "The 2020 UV emitter roadmap," J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. 53(50), 503001 (2020).
- 2. S. Zhao, J. Lu, X. Hai, and X. Yin, "AlGaN Nanowires for Ultraviolet Light-Emitting: Recent Progress, Challenges, and Prospects," Micromachines **11**(2), 125 (2020).
- M. Kneissl, T. Kolbe, C. Chua, V. Kueller, N. Lobo, J. Stellmach, A. Knauer, H. Rodriguez, S. Einfeldt, Z. Yang, N. M. Johnson, and M. Weyers, "Advances in group III-nitride-based deep UV light-emitting diode technology," Semicond. Sci. Technol. 26(1), 014036 (2011).
- 4. M. Kneissl, T.-Y. Seong, J. Han, and H. Amano, "The emergence and prospects of deepultraviolet light-emitting diode technologies," Nat. Photonics **13**(4), 233–244 (2019).
- 5. H. Hirayama, N. Maeda, S. Fujikawa, S. Toyoda, and N. Kamada, "Recent progress and future prospects of AlGaN-based high-efficiency deep-ultraviolet light-emitting diodes," Japanese J. of Appl. Phys. **53**(10), 100209 (2014).
- 6. T. D. Moustakas and R. Paiella, "Optoelectronic device physics and technology of nitride semiconductors from the UV to the terahertz," Rep. Prog. Phys. **80**(10), 106501 (2017).
- 7. M. Auf der Maur, A. Pecchia, G. Penazzi, W. Rodrigues, and A. Di Carlo, "Efficiency Drop in Green InGaN / GaN Light Emitting Diodes: The Role of Random Alloy Fluctuations," Phys. Rev. Lett. **116**(2), 027401 (2016).
- 8. T. Takano, T. Mino, J. Sakai, N. Noguchi, K. Tsubaki, and H. Hirayama, "Deep-ultraviolet light-emitting diodes with external quantum efficiency higher than 20% at 275 nm achieved by improving light-extraction efficiency," Appl. Phys. Express **10**(3), 031002 (2017).
- 9. S. Hagedorn, A. Knauer, F. Brunner, A. Mogilatenko, U. Zeimer, and M. Weyers, "Highquality AlN grown on a thermally decomposed sapphire surface," Journal of Crystal Growth **479**, 16–21 (2017).
- J. Verma, J. Simon, V. Protasenko, T. Kosel, H. Grace Xing, and D. Jena, "N-polar III-nitride quantum well light-emitting diodes with polarization-induced doping," Appl. Phys. Lett. 99(17), 171104 (2011).
- 11. D. Feezell and S. Nakamura, "Invention, development, and status of the blue light-emitting diode, the enabler of solid-state lighting," Comptes Rendus Physique **19**(3), 113–133 (2018).
- 12. Y. K. Ooi, C. Liu, and J. Zhang, "Analysis of Polarization-Dependent Light Extraction and Effect of Passivation Layer for 230-nm AlGaN Nanowire Light-Emitting Diodes," IEEE Photonics Journal 9(4), 4500172 (2017).
- 13. M. Jo, N. Maeda, and H. Hirayama, "Enhanced light extraction in 260 nm light-emitting diode with a highly transparent p-AlGaN layer," Appl. Phys. Express **9**(1), 012102 (2016).
- 14. R. Lin, S. V. Galan, H. Sun, Y. Hu, M. S. Alias, B. Janjua, T. K. Ng, B. S. Ooi, and X. Li, "Tapering-induced enhancement of light extraction efficiency of nanowire deep ultraviolet LED by theoretical simulations," Photon. Res. **6**(5), 457 (2018).
- 15. H.-Y. Ryu, I.-G. Choi, H.-S. Choi, and J.-I. Shim, "Investigation of Light Extraction Efficiency in AlGaN Deep-Ultraviolet Light-Emitting Diodes," Appl. Phys. Express **6**(6), 062101 (2013).
- 16. Y. Kashima, N. Maeda, E. Matsuura, M. Jo, T. Iwai, T. Morita, M. Kokubo, T. Tashiro, R. Kamimura, Y. Osada, H. Takagi, and H. Hirayama, "High external quantum efficiency (10%) AlGaN-based deep-ultraviolet light-emitting diodes achieved by using highly reflective photonic crystal on p-AlGaN contact layer," Appl. Phys. Express **11**(1), 012101 (2018).

- N. Maeda, M. Jo, and H. Hirayama, "Improving the Efficiency of AlGaN Deep-UV LEDs by Using Highly Reflective Ni/Al p-Type Electrodes," Phys. Status Solidi A 215(8), 1700435 (2018).
- 18. W. Guo, Z. Yang, J. Li, X. Yang, Y. Zhang, J. Wang, K. W. A. Chee, P. Gao, and J. Ye, "Enhancing light coupling and emission efficiencies of AlGaN thin film and AlGaN/GaN multiple quantum wells with periodicity-wavelength matched nanostructure array," Nanoscale **9**(40), 15477–15483 (2017).
- 19. M. Khizar, Z. Y. Fan, K. H. Kim, J. Y. Lin, and H. X. Jiang, "Nitride deep-ultraviolet lightemitting diodes with microlens array," Appl. Phys. Lett. **86**(17), 173504 (2005).
- R. Liang, J. Dai, L. Xu, J. He, S. Wang, Y. Peng, H. Wang, L. Ye, and C. Chen, "High Light Extraction Efficiency of Deep Ultraviolet LEDs Enhanced Using Nanolens Arrays," IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices 65(6), 2498–2503 (2018).
- 21. B. T. Tran and H. Hirayama, "Growth and Fabrication of High External Quantum Efficiency AlGaN-Based Deep Ultraviolet Light-Emitting Diode Grown on Pattern Si Substrate," Sci Rep **7**(1), 12176 (2017).
- 22. Y. Muramoto, M. Kimura, and S. Nouda, "Development and future of ultraviolet lightemitting diodes: UV-LED will replace the UV lamp," Semicond. Sci. Technol. **29**(8), 084004 (2014).
- 23. Y. Wu, Y. Wang, K. Sun, and Z. Mi, "Molecular beam epitaxy and characterization of AlGaN nanowire ultraviolet light emitting diodes on Al coated Si (0 0 1) substrate," Journal of Crystal Growth **507**, 65–69 (2019).
- 24. S. Zhao, S. Sadaf, X. Liu, and Z. Mi, "AlGaN Nanowire Deep Ultraviolet Optoelectronics," in 2017 IEEE Photonics Society Summer Topical Meeting Series (2017), pp. 87–88.
- 25. S. M. Sadaf, S. Zhao, Y. Wu, Y.-H. Ra, X. Liu, S. Vanka, and Z. Mi, "An AlGaN Core–Shell Tunnel Junction Nanowire Light-Emitting Diode Operating in the Ultraviolet-C Band," Nano Lett. **17**(2), 1212–1218 (2017).
- 26. S. Zhao, S. M. Sadaf, S. Vanka, Y. Wang, R. Rashid, and Z. Mi, "Sub-milliwatt AlGaN nanowire tunnel junction deep ultraviolet light emitting diodes on silicon operating at 242 nm," Appl. Phys. Lett. **109**(20), 201106 (2016).
- 27. S. Zhao, A. T. Connie, M. H. T. Dastjerdi, X. H. Kong, Q. Wang, M. Djavid, S. Sadaf, X. D. Liu, I. Shih, H. Guo, and Z. Mi, "Aluminum nitride nanowire light emitting diodes: Breaking the fundamental bottleneck of deep ultraviolet light sources," Sci Rep **5**(1), 8332 (2015).
- H. Sun, M. K. Shakfa, M. M. Muhammed, B. Janjua, K.-H. Li, R. Lin, T. K. Ng, I. S. Roqan, B. S. Ooi, and X. Li, "Surface-Passivated AlGaN Nanowires for Enhanced Luminescence of Ultraviolet Light Emitting Diodes," ACS Photonics 5(3), 964–970 (2018).
- 29. H. Q. T. Bui, R. T. Velpula, B. Jian, M. R. Philip, H. D. Tong, T. R. Lenka, and H. P. T. Nguyen, "High-performance nanowire ultraviolet light-emitting diodes with potassium hydroxide and ammonium sulfide surface passivation," Appl. Opt. **59**(24), 7352 (2020).
- M. S. Alias, B. Janjua, C. Zhao, D. Priante, A. A. Alhamoud, M. Tangi, L. M. Alanazi, A. A. Alatawi, A. M. Albadri, A. Y. Alyamani, T. K. Ng, and B. S. Ooi, "Enhancing the Light-Extraction Efficiency of an AlGaN Nanowire Ultraviolet Light-Emitting Diode by Using Nitride/Air Distributed Bragg Reflector Nanogratings," IEEE Photonics J. 9(5), 1–8 (2017).
- S. Zhao, M. Djavid, and Z. Mi, "Surface Emitting, High Efficiency Near-Vacuum Ultraviolet Light Source with Aluminum Nitride Nanowires Monolithically Grown on Silicon," Nano Lett. 15(10), 7006–7009 (2015).
- 32. T. F. Kent, S. D. Carnevale, A. T. M. Sarwar, P. J. Phillips, R. F. Klie, and R. C. Myers, "Deep ultraviolet emitting polarization induced nanowire light emitting diodes with Al  $_x$  Ga  $_{1-x}$  N active regions," Nanotechnology **25**(45), 455201 (2014).
- 33. Z. Mi, S. Zhao, S. Y. Woo, M. Bugnet, M. Djavid, X. Liu, J. Kang, X. Kong, W. Ji, H. Guo, Z. Liu, and G. A. Botton, "Molecular beam epitaxial growth and characterization of Al(Ga)N

nanowire deep ultraviolet light emitting diodes and lasers," J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. **49**(36), 364006 (2016).

- 34. R. T. Velpula, B. Jain, M. R. Philip, H. D. Nguyen, R. Wang, and H. P. T. Nguyen, "Epitaxial Growth and Characterization of AlInN-Based Core-Shell Nanowire Light Emitting Diodes Operating in the Ultraviolet Spectrum," Sci Rep **10**(1), 2547 (2020).
- 35. Y. Ra, S. Kang, and C. Lee, "Ultraviolet Light-Emitting Diode Using Nonpolar AlGaN Core-Shell Nanowire Heterostructures," Advanced Optical Materials **6**(14), 1701391 (2018).
- A. T. M. G. Sarwar, B. J. May, J. I. Deitz, T. J. Grassman, D. W. McComb, and R. C. Myers, "Tunnel junction enhanced nanowire ultraviolet light emitting diodes," Appl. Phys. Lett. 107(10), 101103 (2015).
- Y. Zhang, Y. Zheng, R. Meng, C. Sun, K. Tian, C. Geng, Z.-H. Zhang, G. Liu, and W. Bi, "Enhancing Both TM- and TE-Polarized Light Extraction Efficiency of AlGaN-Based Deep Ultraviolet Light-Emitting Diode via Air Cavity Extractor With Vertical Sidewall," IEEE Photonics J. **10**(4), 1–9 (2018).
- C. Liu, Y. K. Ooi, S. M. Islam, J. Verma, H. (Grace) Xing, D. Jena, and J. Zhang, "Physics and polarization characteristics of 298 nm AlN-delta-GaN quantum well ultraviolet lightemitting diodes," Appl. Phys. Lett. **110**(7), 071103 (2017).
- M. Djavid, D. D. Choudhary, M. Rajan Philip, T. H. Q. Bui, O. Akinnuoye, T. T. Pham, and H. P. T. Nguyen, "Effects of optical absorption in deep ultraviolet nanowire light-emitting diodes," Photonics and Nanostructures - Fundamentals and Applications 28, 106–110 (2018).
- 40. M. Djavid and Z. Mi, "Enhancing the light extraction efficiency of AlGaN deep ultraviolet light emitting diodes by using nanowire structures," Appl. Phys. Lett. **108**(5), 051102 (2016).
- 41. Z. Fang, E. Robin, E. Rozas-Jiménez, A. Cros, F. Donatini, N. Mollard, J. Pernot, and B. Daudin, "Si Donor Incorporation in GaN Nanowires," Nano Lett. **15**(10), 6794–6801 (2015).
- 42. S. Zhao, B. H. Le, D. P. Liu, X. D. Liu, M. G. Kibria, T. Szkopek, H. Guo, and Z. Mi, "p-Type InN Nanowires," Nano Lett. **13**(11), 5509–5513 (2013).
- 43. F. Glas, "Critical dimensions for the plastic relaxation of strained axial heterostructures in free-standing nanowires," Phys. Rev. B **74**(12), 121302 (2006).
- 44. B. J. May, A. T. M. G. Sarwar, and R. C. Myers, "Nanowire LEDs grown directly on flexible metal foil," Appl. Phys. Lett. **108**(14), 141103 (2016).
- 45. M. Hartensveld, B. Melanson, C. Liu, and J. Zhang, "AlGaN nanowires with inverse taper for flexible DUV emitters," J. Phys. Photonics **3**(2), 024016 (2021).
- 46. H. K. Kim, H. Lin, and Y. Ra, "Etching mechanism of a GaN/InGaN/GaN heterostructure in Cl2- and CH4-based inductively coupled plasmas," Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology A: Vacuum, Surfaces, and Films **22**, 598 (2004).
- M. Tahhan, J. Nedy, S. H. Chan, C. Lund, H. Li, G. Gupta, S. Keller, and U. Mishra, "Optimization of a chlorine-based deep vertical etch of GaN demonstrating low damage and low roughness," Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology A: Vacuum, Surfaces, and Films 34(3), 031303 (2016).
- 48. K.-S. Im, C.-H. Won, S. Vodapally, D.-H. Son, Y.-W. Jo, Y. Park, J.-H. Lee, and J.-H. Lee, "Lateral GaN nanowire prepared by using two-step TMAH wet etching and HfO2 sidewall spacer," Journal of Crystal Growth **441**, 41–45 (2016).
- G. T. Wang, B. Leung, M.-C. Tsai, K. R. Sapkota, B. A. Kazanowska, and K. S. Jones, "Top-Down Etch Processes for III-Nitride Nanophotonics," in 2019 IEEE Photonics Conference (IPC) (IEEE, 2019), pp. 1–2.
- 50. W. Chen, J. Lin, G. Hu, X. Han, M. Liu, Y. Yang, Z. Wu, Y. Liu, and B. Zhang, "GaN nanowire fabricated by selective wet-etching of GaN micro truncated-pyramid," Journal of Crystal Growth **426**, 168–172 (2015).
- 51. D. A. Stocker, E. F. Schubert, and J. M. Redwing, "Crystallographic wet chemical etching of GaN," Appl. Phys. Lett. **73**(18), 2654–2656 (1998).

- 52. D. Zhuang and J. H. Edgar, "Wet etching of GaN, AlN, and SiC: a review," Materials Science and Engineering: R: Reports **48**(1), 1–46 (2005).
- 53. M. Hartensveld, G. Ouin, C. Liu, and J. Zhang, "Effect of KOH passivation for top-down fabricated InGaN nanowire light emitting diodes," Journal of Applied Physics **126**(18), 183102 (2019).
- 54. A. J. Jackson and A. Walsh, "Oxidation of GaN: An *ab initio* thermodynamic approach," Phys. Rev. B **88**(16), 165201 (2013).
- Y.-W. Jo, D.-H. Son, C.-H. Won, K.-S. Im, J. H. Seo, I. M. Kang, and J.-H. Lee, "AlGaN/GaN FinFET With Extremely Broad Transconductance by Side-Wall Wet Etch," IEEE Electron Device Lett. 36(10), 1008–1010 (2015).
- 56. B. Jacobs, M. C. J. C. M. Kramer, E. J. Geluk, and F. Karouta, "Optimisation of the Ti/Al/Ni/Au ohmic contact on AlGaN/GaN FET structures," Journal of Crystal Growth **241**(1–2), 15–18 (2002).
- 57. B. Van Daele, G. Van Tendeloo, W. Ruythooren, J. Derluyn, M. R. Leys, and M. Germain, "The role of Al on Ohmic contact formation on n-type GaN and AlGaN/GaN," Appl. Phys. Lett. **87**(6), 061905 (2005).
- A. G. Baca, F. Ren, J. C. Zolper, R. D. Briggs, and S. J. Pearton, "A survey of ohmic contacts to III-V compound semiconductors," Thin Solid Films 308–309, 599–606 (1997).
- 59. S.-H. Park and S.-L. Chuang, "Spontaneous polarization effects in wurtzite GaN/AlGaN quantum wells and comparison with experiment," Appl. Phys. Lett. **76**(15), 1981–1983 (2000).
- 60. M. E. Aumer, S. F. LeBoeuf, B. F. Moody, and S. M. Bedair, "Strain-induced piezoelectric field effects on light emission energy and intensity from AlInGaN/InGaN quantum wells," Appl. Phys. Lett. **79**(23), 3803–3805 (2001).
- A. E. Aslanyan, L. P. Avakyants, and A. V. Chervyyakov, "Investigation into the Internal Electric-Field Strength in the Active Region of InGaN/GaN-Based LED Structures with Various Numbers of Quantum Wells by Electrotransmission Spectroscopy," Semiconductors 54(12), 495–500 (2020).
- 62. Q. Guo, R. Kirste, S. Mita, J. Tweedie, P. Reddy, S. Washiyama, M. H. Breckenridge, R. Collazo, and Z. Sitar, "The polarization field in Al-rich AlGaN multiple quantum wells," Jpn. J. Appl. Phys. **58**(SC), SCCC10 (2019).
- M. Hugues, P. A. Shields, F. Sacconi, M. Mexis, M. Auf der Maur, M. Cooke, M. Dineen, A. Di Carlo, D. W. E. Allsopp, and J. Zúñiga-Pérez, "Strain evolution in GaN nanowires: From free-surface objects to coalesced templates," Journal of Applied Physics 114(8), 084307 (2013).
- 64. M. Shatalov, W. Sun, A. Lunev, X. Hu, A. Dobrinsky, Y. Bilenko, J. Yang, M. Shur, R. Gaska, C. Moe, G. Garrett, and M. Wraback, "AlGaN Deep-Ultraviolet Light-Emitting Diodes with External Quantum Efficiency above 10%," Appl. Phys. Express **5**(8), 082101 (2012).
- 65. M. Shatalov, W. Sun, R. Jain, A. Lunev, X. Hu, A. Dobrinsky, Y. Bilenko, J. Yang, G. A. Garrett, L. E. Rodak, M. Wraback, M. Shur, and R. Gaska, "High power AlGaN ultraviolet light emitters," Semicond. Sci. Technol. **29**(8), 084007 (2014).
- X. Hai, R. T. Rashid, S. M. Sadaf, Z. Mi, and S. Zhao, "Effect of low hole mobility on the efficiency droop of AlGaN nanowire deep ultraviolet light emitting diodes," Appl. Phys. Lett. 114(10), 101104 (2019).
- 67. J. Cho, E. F. Schubert, and J. K. Kim, "Efficiency droop in light-emitting diodes: Challenges and countermeasures: Efficiency droop in light-emitting diodes: Challenges and countermeasures," Laser & Photonics Reviews **7**(3), 408–421 (2013).
- 68. C. Liu, B. Melanson, and J. Zhang, "AlGaN-Delta-GaN Quantum Well for DUV LEDs," Photonics 7(4), (2020).

- H. Kim, E. Brueckner, J. Song, Y. Li, S. Kim, C. Lu, J. Sulkin, K. Choquette, Y. Huang, R. G. Nuzzo, and J. A. Rogers, "Unusual strategies for using indium gallium nitride grown on silicon (111) for solid-state lighting," PNAS 108(25), 10072–10077 (2011).
- N. Guan, X. Dai, A. V. Babichev, F. H. Julien, and M. Tchernycheva, "Flexible inorganic light emitting diodes based on semiconductor nanowires," Chemical Science 8(12), 7904– 7911 (2017).
- 71. J. Cho, J. H. Park, J. K. Kim, and E. F. Schubert, "White light-emitting diodes: History, progress, and future: White light-emitting diodes," Laser & Photonics Reviews **11**(2), 1600147 (2017).
- 72. F. Yu, S. Yao, F. Romer, and H. S. Wasisto, "GaN nanowire arrays with nonpolar sidewalls for vertically integrated field-effect transistors," Nanotechnology **28**(9), 095206 (2017).
- 73. M. Elwenspoek, "On the Mechanism of Anisotropic Etching of Silicon," J. Electrochem. Soc. **140**(7), 2075 (1993).
- 74. M. Xie, S. Seutter, W. Zhu, and S. Tong, "Anisotropic Step-Flow Growth and Island Growth of GaN(0001) by Molecular Beam Epitaxy," Physical Review Letters **82**(13), 2749 (1999).
- 75. T. Li, G. Ren, X. Su, and K. Xu, "Growth behavior of ammonothermal GaN crystals grown on non-polar and semi-polar HVPE GaN seeds," Crystal Engineering Communications **21**(33), 4874 (2019).
- 76. M. DeVre and R. Westerman, "Advances in GaN Dry Etching Process Capabilities,"
- 77. B. Wang, H. Liu, B. Zhang, Y. Han, C. Shen, Q. Lin, and H. Chen, "Development of antibacterial and high light transmittance bulk materials: Incorporation and sustained release of hydrophobic or hydrophilic antibiotics," Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces 141, 483– 490 (2016).
- Y. Itokazu, Y. Mogami, S. Kuwaba, S. Motegi, A. Osawa, A. Maeoka, K. Osaki, Y. Tanioka, M. Jo, N. Kamata, and H. Hirayama, "Influence of the Strain Relaxation on the Optical Property of AlGaN Quantum Wells," physica status solidi (b) 257(4), 1900582 (2020).
- 79. B. Melanson, M. Hartensveld, C. Liu, and J. Zhang, "Realization of electrically driven AlGaN micropillar array deep-ultraviolet light emitting diodes at 286 nm," AIP Advances **11**(9), 095005 (2021).
- 80. W. Chen, J. Lin, G. Hu, and B. Zhang, "GaN nanowire fabricated by selective wet-etching of GaN micro truncated-pyramid," Journal of Crystal Growth **426**, 168 (2015).
- H.-Y. Ryu, "Evaluation of Light Extraction Efficiency of GaN-Based Nanorod Light-Emitting Diodes by Averaging over Source Positions and Polarizations," Crystals 8(1), 27 (2018).
- 82. J. Chesin, X. Zhou, and S. Gradečak, "Light extraction in individual GaN nanowires on Si for LEDs," in *Nanoepitaxy: Materials and Devices IV* (International Society for Optics and Photonics, 2012), **8467**, p. 846703.
- 83. H.-Y. Ryu, "Large enhancement of light extraction efficiency in AlGaN-based nanorod ultraviolet light-emitting diode structures," Nanoscale Res Lett **9**(1), 58 (2014).
- 84. A.-L. Henneghien, B. Gayral, Y. Désières, and J.-M. Gérard, "Simulation of waveguiding and emitting properties of semiconductor nanowires with hexagonal or circular sections," J. Opt. Soc. Am. B **26**(12), 2396 (2009).
- 85. W.-K. Chen, ed., "Computational Electromagnetic: The Finite-Difference Time-Domain Method," in *The Electrical Engineering Handbook* (Academic Press, 2005), pp. 629–670.
- 86. A. Taflove and S. C. Hagness, *Computational Electrodynamics: The Finite-Difference Time-Domain Method* (Artech House, 2005).
- 87. "Synopsys Rsoft," (2021).
- C. Liu, Y. K. Ooi, S. M. Islam, H. Xing, D. Jena, and J. Zhang, "234 nm and 246 nm AlN-Delta-GaN quantum well deep ultraviolet light-emitting diodes," Applied Physics Letters 112, 011101 (2018).

- 89. C. Liu and J. Zhang, "Influence of quantum well design on light polarization switching in AlGaN ultraviolet emitters," AIP Advances **8**, 085125 (2018).
- 90. C. Liu, K. Lee, S. M. Islam, H. Xing, D. Jena, and J. Zhang, "Demonstration of AlGaN-delta-GaN QW by plasma-assisted molecular beam epitaxy for 260-nm ultraviolet light emitting diodes," in *Gallium Nitride Materials and Devices XIII* (SPIE, 2018), **10532**, pp. 40–47.
- 91. C. Liu, K. Lee, G. Harden, A. Hoffman, H. (Grace) Xing, D. Jena, and J. Zhang, "High Internal Quantum Efficiency from AlGaN-delta-GaN Quantum Well at 260 nm," in *Conference on Lasers and Electro-Optics* (OSA, 2020), p. AF1I.2.
- 92. C. Liu, "Polarization Engineering for Deep-Ultraviolet Light-Emitting Diodes," Theses (2020).
- 93. R.-H. Horng, C.-X. Ye, P.-W. Chen, D. Iida, K. Ohkawa, Y.-R. Wu, and D.-S. Wuu, "Study on the effect of size on InGaN red micro-LEDs," Sci Rep **12**(1), 1324 (2022).
- Y. Yao, H. Li, P. Li, C. J. Zollner, M. Wang, M. Iza, J. S. Speck, S. P. DenBaars, and S. Nakamura, "Size dependent characteristics of AlGaN-based deep ultraviolet micro-light-emitting-diodes," Appl. Phys. Express 15(6), 064003 (2022).
- S. Lu, J. Bai, H. Li, K. Jiang, J. Ben, S. Zhang, Z.-H. Zhang, X. Sun, and D. Li, "240 nm AlGaN-based deep ultraviolet micro-LEDs: size effect versus edge effect," J. Semicond. 45(1), 012504–8 (2024).
- 96. F. M. Morales, J. M. Mánuel, R. García, B. Reuters, H. Kalisch, and A. Vescan, "Evaluation of interpolations of InN, AlN and GaN lattice and elastic constants for their ternary and quaternary alloys," J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. **46**(24), 245502 (2013).
- 97. C. J. M. Stark, T. Detchprohm, and C. Wetzel, "The role of mesa size in nano-structured green AlGaInN light-emitting diodes," physica status solidi c **8**(7–8), 2311–2314 (2011).
- W. Tian and J. Li, "Size-dependent optical-electrical characteristics of blue GaN/InGaN micro-light-emitting diodes," Appl. Opt., AO 59(29), 9225–9232 (2020).
- 99. D. Li, S. Liu, Z. Qian, Q. Liu, K. Zhou, D. Liu, S. Sheng, B. Sheng, F. Liu, Z. Chen, P. Wang, T. Wang, X. Rong, R. Tao, J. Kang, F. Chen, J. Kang, Y. Yuan, Q. Wang, M. Sun, W. Ge, B. Shen, P. Tian, and X. Wang, "Deep-Ultraviolet Micro-LEDs Exhibiting High Output Power and High Modulation Bandwidth Simultaneously," Advanced Materials **34**(19), 2109765 (2022).
- 100. H. Yu, M. H. Memon, D. Wang, Z. Ren, H. Zhang, C. Huang, M. Tian, H. Sun, and S. Long, "AlGaN-based deep ultraviolet micro-LED emitting at 275 nm," Opt. Lett., OL 46(13), 3271– 3274 (2021).
- 101. L. Guo, Y. Guo, J. Yang, J. Yan, J. Liu, J. Wang, and T. Wei, "275 nm Deep Ultraviolet AlGaN-Based Micro-LED Arrays for Ultraviolet Communication," IEEE Photonics Journal 14(1), 1–5 (2022).
- 102. H. Cho, S. Min, H. Bae, J.-H. Lee, and C. Chung, "High Density Plasma Etching of Nickel Thin Films Using a Cl2/Ar Plasma," Journal of Industrial and Engineering Chemistry (2007).
- 103. B. Melanson, M. Seitz, and J. Zhang, "Investigation of plasma etching for interlayer dielectric planarization in high-efficiency deep-ultraviolet nanowire LEDs," SPIE Photonics West Advanced Fabrication Technologies for Micro/Nano Optics and Photonics XVI, 124330H (2023).
- B. Melanson, M. Seitz, and J. Zhang "Inverse Tapered AlGaN Micropillar and Nanowire LEDs for Improved Light Extraction Efficiency at 270 nm," IEEE Photonics Journal, 14(6), 2022.

# **CHAPTER 5:** Visible Wavelength GaN Optoelectronic Devices

### 5.1 InGaN/delta-InN Quantum Wells for High Efficiency Red Emission

Published as "Melanson et al., IEEE Photonics Journal, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 1-10, Feb. 2021" [1]

## 5.1.1 Introduction

InGaN QW LEDs and lasers have seen a significant increase in utilization over the past decade thanks to substantial increases in efficiency. InGaN LEDs are used extensively in industrial, commercial, and residential lighting applications as well as in emerging display technologies for µLED alternate reality (AR) and virtual reality (VR) headset displays, while InGaN laser diodes are used in digital micro-mirror device (DMD) laser projectors and are desirable for wafer level integration with silicon photonics [2–4]. While blue LEDs have been very well optimized over the past decade, often boasting external quantum efficiencies ( $\eta_{EOE}$ ) greater than 85%, InGaN LEDs and lasers emitting at longer wavelengths still struggle to match the efficiencies of their blue counterparts, making it difficult to fabricate high-efficiency, high-brightness red emitters for lighting, display, and laser applications [5–10]. Consequently, µLED displays often rely on AlInGaP for red-emitting pixels, which complicates the fabrication process and increases manufacturing cost [11]. Red lasers using InGaN QWs as the gain medium have not yet been achieved, and as a consequence InGaN quantum dot lasers are instead used in applications which require compact, high-efficiency RGB laser diodes, such as DMD laser projectors [12,13]. The low  $\eta_{EQE}$  of red-emitting InGaN QWs can be attributed to the difficulty of incorporating high In-content layers into the active region, as well as the large internal

electrostatic fields which exist with GaN/InGaN QWs, which can be on the order of 1-5 MV/cm [14–16]. These internal electric fields serve to confine the electron and hole wavefunctions to the edges of the QW, reducing the electron-hole wavefunction overlap ( $\Gamma_{e,hh}$ ) which in turn reduces the spontaneous emission radiative recombination rate ( $R_{sp}$ ). Several techniques have been proposed and examined as means to alleviate the electron-hole wavefunction separation within GaN/InGaN QWs emitting at shorter wavelengths to address the quantum-confined Stark effect (QCSE), including use of non-polar InGaN [17], staggered InGaN QWs [18,19], strain-compensated InGaN QWs [20], and type-II InGaN QWs [21,22], as well as AlGaN-delta-GaN QWs [23,24] and InGaN-delta-InN structures [25]. However, there have been very few studies performed on promising solutions for red emitters based on the InGaN materials system, which are of great importance for µLED displays, laser diodes, and other solid state lighting applications.

While staggered InGaN QWs have been shown to offer improved  $\Gamma_{e_{-}hh}$  when compared to GaN/InGaN QWs, this enhancement becomes less pronounced in the red emission regime around 630 nm [18,19]. Structures that incorporate an ultrathin delta-InN layer at the center of an InGaN QW have been shown to be more effective at maintaining high  $\Gamma_{e_{-}hh}$  and high  $R_{sp}$  at green and red wavelengths [25]. In these structures, the peak emission wavelength can be roughly tuned by varying the thickness of the delta-InN layer [25]. The use an InN delta-layer within an InGaN QW has also been shown to enhance  $\Gamma_{e_{-}hh}$  at longer wavelengths within the red emission regime [25], in contrast to other approaches, which suffer from decreasing  $\Gamma_{e_{-}hh}$  as the emission wavelength is increased [18–24]. Recent advances in epitaxial growth of InN make this a feasible approach for high volume manufacturing of epi-stacks incorporating InN delta-layers [26,27]. While delta-InN structures have been shown to produce more efficient red emission, all existing studies have focused on InGaN-delta-InN QWs with GaN quantum barriers (QBs) grown on GaN substrates. The InN and high In-content InGaN epi-layers required for InGaN-delta-InN QWs have a much larger lattice constant than GaN, leading to formation of high-strength piezoelectric polarization electric fields within the QW which reduce  $\Gamma_{e_{-}hh}$ . To solve this issue, the use of InGaN substrates has been proposed as a means to reduce lattice mismatch induced piezoelectric electric field intensity in the QW [28–31]. Growth of thick InGaN layers on sapphire and GaN substrates has been well-demonstrated [32-40], with these thick InGaN layers serving as growth templates for InGaN LED epi-stacks. However, InGaN QBs must be used in these structures, and suffer from low carrier injection efficiency due to reduced QB height. To resolve these issues and produce the most efficient red-emitting InGaN QW, we propose the use of an InGaN-delta-InN QW with an InGaN growth substrate, which can be used to reduce the piezoelectric electric field intensity while maintaining high carrier injection efficiency.

Here, we investigate an InGaN-delta-InN QW on an InGaN substrate (hereafter denoted as an  $In_xGa_{1-x}N/In_yGa_{1-y}N/delta$ -InN QW where x represents the In-content in the barrier/substrate and y the In-content in the sub-QW region) which addresses the QCSE and improves  $R_{sp}$  with greatly enhanced wavelength tunability in the red regime. In contrast to structures investigated in prior works [25,28–31], our structure combines an InGaN-delta-InN QW active region with an InGaN substrate for the first time. The InGaN substrate, which is fully relaxed and possesses no internal strain itself, has with the same In-content as the QB regions, serves to reduce the lattice mismatch between epitaxial layers and decrease the strength of the resulting piezoelectric polarization electric field in the

active region. Experimentally, use of an InGaN substrate serves to reduce the threading dislocation density in the epitaxial films, leading to decreased non-radiative recombination [32–38]. In this work, we show a monotonic increase in  $\Gamma_{e_{-hh}}$  with increasing  $\lambda_{peak}$  within the red emission regime, from 26% at 555 nm to 57% at 858 nm, which we attribute to stronger localization of the electron-hole wavefunction to the center of the QW with increasing InN delta-layer thickness. The peak emission wavelength ( $\lambda_{peak}$ ) of the  $In_xGa_{1-x}N/In_vGa_{1-v}N/delta$ -InN QW is tunable from ~555 nm - 900 nm by varying the delta-layer thickness between 1 and 8 Å. We compare the optical properties of our In<sub>x</sub>Ga<sub>1-x</sub>N/In<sub>y</sub>Ga<sub>1-y</sub>N/delta-InN QW structure to an InGaN/InGaN QW (hereafter denoted as an  $In_xGa_{1-x}N/In_yGa_{1-y}N$  QW where x represents the In-content in the barrier/substrate and y the In-content in the QW region), both with InGaN QBs, at the same  $\lambda_{\text{peak}}$ . Results show an  $R_{sp}$  enhancement of ~5 - 7x for In<sub>0.15</sub>Ga<sub>0.85</sub>N/In<sub>0.3</sub>Ga<sub>0.7</sub>N/delta-InN QWs with a 3-Å delta-InN layer when compared to a In<sub>0.15</sub>Ga<sub>0.85</sub>N/In<sub>0.38</sub>Ga<sub>0.62</sub>N QW, with both emitting with  $\lambda_{\text{peak}} = 630$  nm. These results are extremely promising and show that In<sub>x</sub>Ga<sub>1-x</sub>N/In<sub>y</sub>Ga<sub>1-y</sub>N/delta-InN QWs may be a superior alternative to GaN/InGaN QWs for high efficiency red emission.

### 5.1.2 Simulation Methodology

Band structure and wavefunction calculations were carried out using a self-consistent six-band  $k \cdot p$  formalism developed by Chuang *et al.* [41–44]. A detailed description of the numerical model used in the script can be found in [20], and material parameters were obtained from [45,46]. The calculations for an In<sub>x</sub>Ga<sub>1-x</sub>N/In<sub>y</sub>Ga<sub>1-y</sub>N/delta-InN QW utilize a 60 Å In<sub>x</sub>Ga<sub>1-x</sub>N QB, 15 Å In<sub>y</sub>Ga<sub>1-y</sub>N sub-QW, and InN of variable thickness for the delta-QW, while a 60 Å In<sub>x</sub>Ga<sub>1-x</sub>N QB and 30 Å

In<sub>y</sub>Ga<sub>1-y</sub>N QW were used for the In<sub>x</sub>Ga<sub>1-x</sub>N/In<sub>y</sub>Ga<sub>1-y</sub>N QW. Numerical calculations account for all allowed transitions between available confined states in the conduction bands (CB) and valence bands (VB). Valence band mixing, strain effects, carrier screening, spin-orbit interactions, and spontaneous and piezoelectric polarization are considered. The model also accounts for the internal electrostatic fields which result from spontaneous and piezoelectric polarization, which arise due to lattice mismatch, with the details of the electric field calculation available in [20]. A carrier density (*n*) of  $5x10^{18}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> is used for most comparisons.

## 5.1.3 Simulation Results

Figures 5.1(a) and 5.1(b) show the alignment of the energy band structure and electron and hole wavefunctions for an  $In_{0.15}Ga_{0.85}N/In_{0.38}Ga_{0.62}N$  QW and an  $In_{0.15}Ga_{0.85}N/In_{0.3}Ga_{0.7}N$ /delta-InN QW with a 3 Å thick delta-layer, respectively. The energy bands shown in Figure 5.1.1 are the first conduction subband ground state and the heavy hole (HH) ground state at zone center (k = 0). The energy band bending which is obvious in both of these band structures is a product of the piezoelectric and spontaneous



Figure 5.1.1: Bandstructures and ground state wavefunctions in an  $In_{0.15}Ga_{0.85}N/In_{0.38}Ga_{0.62}N$  QW (a) and an  $In_{0.15}Ga_{0.85}N/In_{0.3}Ga_{0.7}N/delta$ -InN QW with a 3 nm delta-layer (b), showing enhanced  $\Gamma_{e,hh}$  for the delta-InN structure.

polarization electric fields that exist within wurtzite GaN and InGaN. The strong electric fields which cause this band bending also serve to shift electrons and holes to opposite sides of the QW, leading to reduced  $\Gamma_{e\_hh}$  and  $R_{sp}$  due to the QCSE. This effect is most pronounced in Figure 5.1.1(a), in which the electron and hole wavefunctions are strongly localized to the CB minimum and VB maximum on opposite sides of the QW. As a consequence, the  $\Gamma_{e\_hh}$  for this In<sub>0.15</sub>Ga<sub>0.85</sub>N/In<sub>0.38</sub>Ga<sub>0.62</sub>N QW structure, which emits at 630 nm, is a mere 15%. Insertion of a 3 Å InN delta-layer into the center of an In<sub>0.15</sub>Ga<sub>0.85</sub>N/In<sub>0.3</sub>Ga<sub>0.7</sub>N QW, as shown in Figure 5.1.1(b), serves to localize the electron and hole wavefunctions to the center of the QW, increasing the  $\Gamma_{e\_hh}$  to 50%, an improvement of nearly 3.5x. Calculations for conventional and delta-InN structures with GaN QBs and substrates, also emitting at 630 nm, show an  $\Gamma_{e\_hh}$  of 10% for a conventional GaN/In<sub>x</sub>Ga<sub>1-x</sub>N/QW and an  $\Gamma_{e\_hh}$  of 18% for a GaN/In<sub>x</sub>Ga<sub>1-x</sub>N/delta-InN QW.

These enhancements demonstrate the effectiveness of using an InGaN substrate and InGaN QB layers, which lead to reduced interfacial lattice mismatch-based piezoelectric strain between epitaxial layers, which in turn reduces the electric field strength within the active region and improves  $\Gamma_{e,hh}$ . The use of In<sub>0.15</sub>Ga<sub>0.85</sub>N QBs on an In<sub>0.15</sub>Ga<sub>0.85</sub>N substrate allows for zero lattice mismatch between the barriers and the substrate. The lattice parameters of GaN, In<sub>0.15</sub>Ga<sub>0.85</sub>N, In<sub>0.3</sub>Ga<sub>0.7</sub>N, and In<sub>0.38</sub>Ga<sub>0.62</sub>N, are 3.189 Å, 3.242 Å, 3.296 Å, and 3.323 Å, respectively. In the case of GaN barriers, the lattice mismatch between the QBs and an In<sub>0.3</sub>Ga<sub>0.7</sub>N sub-QW would be  $\Delta a = 0.106$  Å, corresponding to an in-plane strain of  $\varepsilon_{xx/yy} = 3.232\%$ . For a In<sub>0.38</sub>Ga<sub>0.62</sub>N QW with GaN QBs, the mismatch would be 0.135 Å, for a strain of  $\varepsilon_{xx/yy} = 4.058\%$ . By using an In<sub>0.15</sub>Ga<sub>0.85</sub>N substrate and In<sub>0.15</sub>Ga<sub>0.85</sub>N QBs, the lattice mismatch and corresponding in plane-strain for an In<sub>0.3</sub>Ga<sub>0.7</sub>N

sub-QW and an In<sub>0.38</sub>Ga<sub>0.62</sub>N QW are reduced to 0.053 Å/1.616% and 0.082 Å/2.456%, respectively. This significant reduction in strain through use of an InGaN substrate and InGaN QBs is what allows for mitigation of the QCSE and improvement of  $\Gamma_{e\_hh}$  by more than 3.5x.

Figure 5.1.2 shows the spontaneous recombination rate spectra for an  $In_{0.15}Ga_{0.85}N/In_{0.3}Ga_{0.7}N/delta-InN$  structure with a 3 Å InN delta-layer for  $n = 1 - 10x10^{18}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>. A semi-uniform increase in the recombination rate is observed with increasing *n* along with a slight blueshift of  $\lambda_{peak}$ . This blueshift can be attributed to increased carrier population in the QW, which forces some carriers to recombine with energies above that of the primary transition from states slightly above/below the CB and HH ground states. Although the spontaneous recombination rate spectra of the In<sub>0.15</sub>Ga<sub>0.85</sub>N/In<sub>0.38</sub>Ga<sub>0.62</sub>N QW



Figure 5.1.2: Spontaneous recombination rate spectra for an  $In_{0.15}Ga_{0.85}N/In_{0.3}Ga_{0.7}N/delta-InN$  QW with a 3 Å delta-layer for  $n = 1 - 10 \times 10^{18}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>. Inset shows  $R_{sp}$  as a function of n for both the  $In_{0.15}Ga_{0.85}N/In_{0.3}Ga_{0.7}N/delta-InN$  QW with a 3 Å delta-layer and an  $In_{0.15}Ga_{0.85}N/In_{0.38}Ga_{0.62}N$  which both have  $\lambda_{peak} = 630$  nm at  $n = 5 \times 10^{18}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>.

is not shown, it is important to point out that this structure exhibits a greater amount of blueshift than the In<sub>0.15</sub>Ga<sub>0.85</sub>N/In<sub>0.3</sub>Ga<sub>0.7</sub>N/delta-InN QW shown in Figure 5.1.2. The peak emission wavelength of the In<sub>0.15</sub>Ga<sub>0.85</sub>N/In<sub>0.38</sub>Ga<sub>0.62</sub>N QW blueshifted by 19 nm when increasing n from  $1 \times 10^{18}$  to  $10 \times 10^{18}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>, while the peak emission wavelength of the In<sub>0.15</sub>Ga<sub>0.85</sub>N/In<sub>0.3</sub>Ga<sub>0.7</sub>N/delta-InN QW only blueshifted by 13 nm. The inset of Figure 5.1.2 plots the Rsp of an In0.15Ga0.85N/In0.38Ga0.62N QW and an In<sub>0.15</sub>Ga<sub>0.85</sub>N/In<sub>0.3</sub>Ga<sub>0.7</sub>N/delta-InN QW with a 3 Å delta-layer as a function of n. A maximum  $R_{sp}$  enhancement of 6.8x is realized at  $n = 1 \times 10^{18}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>, with enhancement decreasing monotonically with increasing n to a value of 5.07x at  $n = 1 \times 10^{19}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>. This represents a substantial increase in radiative emission within the active region of the LED, which will lead to enhanced brightness and power efficiency.

Figure 5.1.3(a) shows the spontaneous recombination rate spectra for delta-InN layers between 1 and 8 Å thick. Increasing the delta-InN thickness by only a single angstrom (less than one InN monolayer), produces a significant increase in  $\lambda_{peak}$ . As the delta-layer thickness increases, confinement of energy states within the delta-layer



Figure 5.1.3: (a) Spontaneous recombination rate spectra for  $In_{0.15}Ga_{0.85}N/In_{0.3}Ga_{0.7}N/delta-InN$  structures of varying delta-InN thickness for  $n = 5 \times 10^{18}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>. (b)  $\lambda_{\text{peak}}$  and  $R_{sp}$  as a function of delta-InN thickness.

decreases, allowing the CB and HH ground states move closer to their theoretical minima/maxima, reducing the energy of the primary inter-band transition and increasing the emission wavelength as shown in Figure 5.1.3(b). The  $\Gamma_{e_{-}hh}$  increases with increasing delta-layer thickness up to a thickness of 6 Å, whereupon it begins to decrease as the delta-layer begins to behave more as an InN square well, with wavefunctions beginning to separate to opposite sides of InN delta-layer. This trend in  $\Gamma_{e_{-}hh}$  is mirrored by a similar trend in  $R_{sp}$ , or the integral of each of the emission curves show in Figure 5.1.3(a).  $R_{sp}$  also increases with increasing delta-layer thickness up to a thickness up to a thickness of 6 Å and decreases beyond it, illustrating the dependence of  $R_{sp}$  on  $\Gamma_{e_{-}hh}$ , as shown in Figure 5.1.3(b).

While we have calculated the spectra for delta-layer thicknesses between 1 and 8 Å in increments of 1 Å, it is important to note that a single InN monolayer (ML) is approximately 3 Å thick [46]–[49]. While precision growth of single (3 Å) and double (6 Å) monolayers of InN has been demonstrated through use of both metal organic chemical vapor deposition (MOCVD) and molecular beam epitaxy (MBE) [47–50], the growth of InN fractional monolayers (FMLs), for example a 4 Å (4/3 ML) layer, is more difficult, as a variety of complex growth conditions effect the long- and short-range order of the incomplete top monolayer [48–50]. While Figure 5.1.3 shows InN layers of fractional thickness (1, 2, 4, 5 Å, etc.), it is important to note that our theoretical model does not make any accommodations for the additional morphologic complexity of FMLs, and treats these layers of fractional thickness as isotropic and continuous. Even assuming growth of InN FMLs to be reliably attainable, the emission peaks within the red emission regime are spaced by between 30 and 50 nm. For applications in which specific red

wavelengths are desired, simply adjusting the InN delta-layer thickness would likely be insufficient to achieve precise emission wavelength targets.

Figure 5.1.4(a) plots  $\lambda_{\text{peak}}$  as a function of the In-content in both the QB and sub-QW regions for an In<sub>x</sub>Ga<sub>1-x</sub>N/In<sub>y</sub>Ga<sub>1-y</sub>N/delta-InN QW with a 3 Å delta-layer at  $n = 5 \times 10^{18} \text{ cm}^{-3}$ . It is evident that  $\lambda_{\text{peak}}$  can be tuned continuously over a very large range through manipulation of the In-content in the In<sub>x</sub>Ga<sub>1-x</sub>N QB, In<sub>y</sub>Ga<sub>1-y</sub>N sub-QW, or both, for a fixed delta-layer thickness. This approach could allow for easy tuning of red LED  $\lambda_{\text{peak}}$  without the need to grow InN FMLs. A single 3 Å InN monolayer could be used, and the In-content in the QB and sub-QW regions could be tuned through alteration of the gas flow/atom flux rates during the MOCVD/MBE epitaxial growth process in order to achieve extremely precise emission wavelength targets.



In<sub>x</sub>Ga<sub>1-x</sub>N/In<sub>y</sub>Ga<sub>1-y</sub>N/delta-InN QW

Figure 5.1.4: (a)  $\lambda_{\text{peak}}$  dependence on the In-content of the QB and sub-QW regions for an In<sub>x</sub>Ga<sub>1-x</sub>N/In<sub>y</sub>Ga<sub>1-y</sub>N/delta-InN QW with a 3 Å delta-layer, showing that red emission wavelength is continuously tunable through small variations of the In-content in these regions. Chart colors are accurate. (b)  $R_{sp}$  dependence on the In-content in the QB and sub-QW regions.

As shown in Figure 5.1.4(a), engineering of the In-content in the In<sub>x</sub>Ga<sub>1-x</sub>N QB and In<sub>y</sub>Ga<sub>1-y</sub>N sub-QW can be used to vary  $\lambda_{peak}$  from green (550 nm) to the near-IR (890 nm). Figure 5.1.4(b) plots  $R_{sp}$  for the same structure as a function of In-content in the QB and sub-QW regions. Combined, the data presented in these two figures shows that use of In<sub>x</sub>Ga<sub>1-x</sub>N/In<sub>y</sub>Ga<sub>1-y</sub>N/delta-InN QWs could allow for design of high-efficiency red LEDs. Figure 5.1.4(b) also clearly illustrates the advantage of using InGaN in the substrate and QB, with  $R_{sp}$  increasing monotonically with In-content in the QB for all values of In-content in the sub-QW.

The large R<sub>sp</sub> enhancements demonstrated through insertion of an InN delta-layer into the center of the InGaN QW translate directly to improvements in radiative recombination efficiency ( $\eta_{RAD}$ ). Figure 5.1.5(a) plots the  $\eta_{RAD}$  calculated using a simple ABC-model with Shockley-Read-Hall (SRH) and auger coefficients of 1x10<sup>6</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> and 3.5x10<sup>-34</sup> cm<sup>6</sup>s<sup>-1</sup> respectively [51]. The SRH and Auger coefficient values reported in [51] are taken from a variety of experimental and theoretical work, and are reasonable approximations for the materials used in our simulations. It is worthy of note that Auger coefficient value used here and reported in [51] is the theoretical value for InGaN, while the experimentally determined value may be as high as  $1.4 \times 10^{-30}$  cm<sup>6</sup>s<sup>-1</sup>. As expected, our In<sub>x</sub>Ga<sub>1-x</sub>N/In<sub>y</sub>Ga<sub>1-v</sub>N/delta-InN QW shows higher  $\eta_{RAD}$  than an In<sub>x</sub>Ga<sub>1-x</sub>N/In<sub>y</sub>Ga<sub>1-v</sub>N QW emitting at 630 nm across a wide range of carrier densities. This enhancement can be attributed to the enhanced electron-hole wavefunction overlap facilitated by the InN delta-layer as previously described and shown in Figure 5.1.1. Carrier injection efficiencies  $(\eta_{INJ})$  were calculated for both structures as a function of n using the model described in [43]. The parameters used in this calculation were taken from [43]. Figure 5.1.5(b) shows

the  $\eta_{INJ}$  of each structure decreasing with increasing *n* due to increased carrier leakage from the QW at higher carrier densities (dashed lines). The  $\eta_{INJ}$  is higher for the In<sub>0.15</sub>Ga<sub>0.85</sub>N/In<sub>0.38</sub>Ga<sub>0.62</sub>N QW at higher *n* due to its greater QB height of 0.29 eV, with the In<sub>0.15</sub>Ga<sub>0.85</sub>N/In<sub>0.3</sub>Ga<sub>0.7</sub>N/delta-InN having a barrier height of only 0.18 eV.



Figure 5.1.5: (a)  $\eta_{RAD}$ , and (b)  $\eta_{INJ}$  (dashed line) and  $\eta_{IQE}$  (solid line) for an In<sub>0.15</sub>Ga<sub>0.85</sub>N/In<sub>0.38</sub>Ga<sub>0.62</sub>N QW (black) and an In<sub>0.15</sub>Ga<sub>0.85</sub>N/In<sub>0.3</sub>Ga<sub>0.7</sub>N/delta-InN QW with a 3 Å delta-layer QW (red) as *n*. Both structures have  $\lambda_{peak} \sim 630$  nm at  $n = 5 \times 10^{18}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>.

As previously described, both structures were designed to emit at  $\lambda_{\text{peak}} = 630$  nm at  $n = 5 \times 10^{18}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>, with the In<sub>0.15</sub>Ga<sub>0.85</sub>N/In<sub>0.38</sub>Ga<sub>0.62</sub>N structure achieving this with an In-content 0.38 in the QW and the In<sub>0.15</sub>Ga<sub>0.85</sub>N/In<sub>0.3</sub>Ga<sub>0.7</sub>N/delta-InN structure with an In-content of 0.30 in the sub-QW. The greater band offset between the QB and QW regions in the In<sub>0.15</sub>Ga<sub>0.85</sub>N/In<sub>0.38</sub>Ga<sub>0.62</sub>N structure makes it more resistant to carrier leakage when compared to the In<sub>0.15</sub>Ga<sub>0.85</sub>N/In<sub>0.3</sub>Ga<sub>0.7</sub>N/delta-InN structure. The solid lines in Figure 5.1.5(b) plots the internal quantum efficiency ( $\eta_{IQE}$ ), which is the product of  $\eta_{RAD}$  and  $\eta_{INJ}$ . Although the injection efficiency of the In<sub>x</sub>Ga<sub>1-x</sub>N/In<sub>y</sub>Ga<sub>1-y</sub>N/delta-InN structure is always lower than that of the In<sub>x</sub>Ga<sub>1-x</sub>N/In<sub>y</sub>Ga<sub>1-y</sub>N QW, its  $\eta_{IQE}$  is significantly higher within the normal operating regime of LEDs ( $n = 1 - 10 \times 10^{18}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>) due to the massively enhanced

 $\eta_{RAD}$  within this carrier density regime as shown in Figure 5.1.5(a). The  $\eta_{IQE}$  of the In<sub>0.15</sub>Ga<sub>0.85</sub>N/In<sub>0.3</sub>Ga<sub>0.7</sub>N/delta-InN QW at  $n = 2x10^{18}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> is 10x greater than that of the In<sub>0.15</sub>Ga<sub>0.85</sub>N/In<sub>0.38</sub>Ga<sub>0.62</sub>N QW, with this enhancement decreasing linearly to 3.1x at  $n = 1x10^{19}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>. At carrier densities in excess of  $n = 2x10^{19}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> the  $\eta_{IQE}$  of the In<sub>x</sub>Ga<sub>1-y</sub>N/delta-InN structure falls below that of the In<sub>x</sub>Ga<sub>1-x</sub>N/In<sub>y</sub>Ga<sub>1-y</sub>N QW. An electron blocking layer (EBL) could be possibly be used to reduce the carrier leakage of the delta-InN structure and improve its  $\eta_{INJ}$  at higher *n*.

It is also of great interest to investigate the potential of this In<sub>x</sub>Ga<sub>1-x</sub>N/In<sub>y</sub>Ga<sub>1-y</sub>N/delta-InN QW for laser applications. Figure 5.1.6 shows the material gain for an In<sub>0.15</sub>Ga<sub>0.85</sub>N/In<sub>0.38</sub>Ga<sub>0.62</sub>N QW and an In<sub>0.15</sub>Ga<sub>0.85</sub>N/In<sub>0.3</sub>Ga<sub>0.7</sub>N/delta-InN QW with a 3 Å delta-layer on  $In_{0.15}Ga_{0.85}N$  substrates as a function of *n*. It has previously been shown that use of ternary InGaN substrates can dramatically improve the material gain and reduce the



Figure 5.1.6: Material gain as a function of *n* for an  $In_{0.15}Ga_{0.85}N/In_{0.38}Ga_{0.62}N$  QW (black) and an  $In_{0.15}Ga_{0.85}N/In_{0.3}Ga_{0.7}N$ /delta-InN QW (red). Inset shows the optical gain spectra at  $n = 5 \times 10^{18} \text{ cm}^{-3}$ .
threshold carrier density of InGaN QW lasers emitting in the green and yellow emission regimes [28]. Here, our material gain calculations are based on Fermi's Golden Rule and a Lorentzian line-shape function [20,28,42].

Inhomogeneous broadening was not considered as no experimental data has been reported on inhomogeneous broadening for InGaN grown on ternary substrates [28]. The results shown in Figure 5.1.6 indicate that the material gain and threshold carrier density of InGaN QW lasers emitting in the red emission regime can be enhanced through insertion of an InN delta-layer into the QW. Figure 5.1.6 shows that exceptional improvements in material gain can be realized through use of a delta-layer structure for lower *n*, with this enhancement becoming less pronounced as *n* increases. Assuming the threshold material gain to be approximately 1500 cm<sup>-1</sup> [20,52], we see that the threshold carrier density  $(n_{th})$ is achieved around  $n_{th} = 3 \times 10^{19} \text{ cm}^{-3}$  for the In<sub>0.15</sub>Ga<sub>0.85</sub>N/In<sub>0.3</sub>Ga<sub>0.7</sub>N/delta-InN QW (red), with the In<sub>0.15</sub>Ga<sub>0.85</sub>N/In<sub>0.38</sub>Ga<sub>0.62</sub>N QW (black) having a material gain of less than 500 cm<sup>-1</sup> at the same *n*.  $n_{\text{th}}$  is only achieved in the In<sub>0.15</sub>Ga<sub>0.85</sub>N/In<sub>0.38</sub>Ga<sub>0.62</sub>N QW at a carrier density  $n = 5 \times 10^{19}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>. The inset of Figure 5.1.6 shows the optical gain spectra of the In<sub>0.15</sub>Ga<sub>0.85</sub>N/In<sub>0.3</sub>Ga<sub>0.7</sub>N/delta-InN QW with a 3 Å delta-layer (red) and the In<sub>0.15</sub>Ga<sub>0.85</sub>N/In<sub>0.38</sub>Ga<sub>0.62</sub>N QW (black) at  $n = 5 \times 10^{19}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>. The twin peaks present in the spectrum of the delta-layer structure are due to activation of a secondary interband transition which becomes available within the delta-layer once carrier density exceeds  $n = 2 \times 10^{19}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>. The effects of the secondary, higher energy peak at 2.32 eV can be eliminated through engineering of the laser cavity length. While both structures emit with  $\lambda_{\text{peak}} = 630 \text{ nm} (1.97 \text{ eV})$  at  $n = 5 \times 10^{18} \text{ cm}^{-3}$ , their optical gain spectra peak at shorter wavelengths of 602 nm (2.06 eV) and 561 nm (2.21)eV) for the

In<sub>0.15</sub>Ga<sub>0.85</sub>N/In<sub>0.3</sub>Ga<sub>0.7</sub>N/delta-InN and In<sub>0.15</sub>Ga<sub>0.85</sub>N/In<sub>0.38</sub>Ga<sub>0.62</sub>N QWs respectively. Just as  $\lambda_{peak}$  can be precisely tuned through manipulation of the In-content in the QB and sub-QW as shown in Figure 5.1.4(a), the position of the primary peak in the optical gain spectra of an In<sub>x</sub>Ga<sub>1-x</sub>N/In<sub>y</sub>Ga<sub>1-y</sub>N/delta-InN QW can likewise be tuned for laser applications.

# 5.1.4 Conclusions

In summary, we have demonstrated for the first time that insertion of an InN delta-layer into an InGaN QW, along with use of an InGaN growth substrate, can produce unparalleled localization the electron and hole wavefunctions towards the center of the QW for red emission. This novel InGaN/InGaN/delta-InN QW produces significant improvements in  $\Gamma_{e_{h}}$  and  $R_{sp}$  within the red emission regime, enabling high-efficiency red LEDs and laser diodes. Use of an InGaN growth substrate reduces the lattice mismatch experienced by epitaxial layers, reducing the magnitude of the spontaneous and piezoelectric electric fields, and mitigating the QCSE in the active region. Analysis of structures emitting at a benchmark red emission wavelength of 630 nm shows an  $\Gamma_{e_{-hh}}$  of 50% for a In<sub>0.15</sub>Ga<sub>0.85</sub>N/In<sub>0.3</sub>Ga<sub>0.7</sub>N/delta-InN structure on an InGaN substrate, compared to 10% for a In<sub>0.15</sub>Ga<sub>0.85</sub>N/In<sub>0.38</sub>Ga<sub>0.62</sub>N QW on an InGaN substrate and 18% for a In<sub>0.15</sub>Ga<sub>0.85</sub>N/In<sub>0.28</sub>Ga<sub>0.72</sub>N/delta-InN QW on a GaN substrate. This enhanced  $\Gamma_{e_hh}$ increases  $R_{sp}$  by between ~5 - 7x within the carrier density range  $n = 1-10 \times 10^{18}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>, which in turn serves to enhance  $\eta_{IQE}$  by between 3 – 10x when compared to a In<sub>x</sub>Ga<sub>1-x</sub>N/In<sub>y</sub>Ga<sub>1-</sub> <sub>y</sub>N QW emitting at the same wavelength.  $\lambda_{peak}$  can also be carefully tuned through manipulation of InN delta-layer thickness and In-content in the QB and sub-QW regions to achieve precise emission wavelength targets. Additionally, notable enhancements in

material gain and  $n_{th}$  can also be achieved through use of an InN delta-layer making this structure of secondary interest for use in laser diodes. The In<sub>x</sub>Ga<sub>1-x</sub>N/In<sub>y</sub>Ga<sub>1-y</sub>N/delta-InN QW structure grown on an InGaN substrate investigated in this work shows great promise for achieving high-efficiency InGaN LEDs and laser diodes emitting in the red spectral regime. This advancement could revolutionize the development of emitters for µLED displays and laser diodes by allowing for development of blue, green, *and* red pixel elements based on the same materials system.

## 5.2 Micropillar Array LEDs Emitting at 520 nm

Presented orally at EMC 2021

## 5.2.1 Introduction

Micropillar light-emitting diodes (LEDs) have long been investigated as alternatives to conventional mesa LEDs, as they allow for increased light extraction efficiency (LEE) and a reduction of the internal electric field strength in AlInGaN alloys. Micropillars also show potential for use as single pixels in micro-LED (µLED) displays and photonic crystal surface-emitting laser diodes (PCSELs). While epitaxially grown micropillars allow for higher material quality in the active region and reduction of the quantum confined Stark effect, they often suffer from uniformity and yield issues, and are difficult to fabricate into ordered, addressable arrays. Micropillars can alternatively be formed through dry etching of epitaxially grown light emitting layers, taking advantage of processes and tools developed by the semiconductor industry. The general process for fabricating a micropillar array LED involves dry-etching of an n-i-p epitaxial stack to form high aspect ratio structures, followed by deposition of the n-contact metal, application of an interlayer dielectric, and deposition of the p-contact material. As most LEDs emitting in the visible range are based on the AlInGaN material system, an aggressive Cl<sub>2</sub> plasma must be used to perform the dry-etch. The poor selectivity of  $Cl_2$  plasmas against conventional dry-etch hardmask materials such as photoresist and SiO<sub>2</sub> necessitates the use of a metal hardmask such as Ni, which is capable of withstanding the extended etch times required to form micropillars with heights greater than 1 µm. This thick Ni hardmask must be removed from the micropillars in order to maximize  $\eta_{EXT}$ . In devices which use self-masked n-metal deposition, in which the micropillars themselves act at the mask for

deposition of a universal n-contact, wet etching of the Ni hardmask following deposition of the n-metal (which itself often contains Ni) is not possible, because the chemistries commonly used to etch Ni will also attack the other metals in the n-metal stack (Ti, Al, Ni, etc.). For this reason, an alternative method of removing the Ni hardmask is desired. Here we present a novel method for removing a metal hardmask from the tops of dry-etched GaN micropillars which does not involve metal etch chemistry, but instead relies upon an underlying "liftoff" layer to separate a thick metal "cap" from the tops of the micropillars.

## 5.2.2 Micropillar Array Fabrication

The epistack used in this work was purchased from a commercial vendor, and was grown on a sapphire substrate using MOCVD. A cross-sectional view of the epistack is shown in the top left of Figure 5.2.1. After cleaning of the wafer using a standard RCA clean, a 300 nm layer of SiO<sub>2</sub> (TEOS) was deposited on the wafer (Figure 5.2.1(a)), followed by patterning of the Ni hardmask through a liftoff process (Figure 5.2.1(b)). The Ni was then used to mask a CF<sub>4</sub>/CHF<sub>3</sub> dry-etch of the underlying SiO<sub>2</sub> (Figure 5.2.1(c)), and a subsequent Cl<sub>2</sub>/Ar dry-etch of the GaN (Figure 5.2.1(d)), with ~200 nm of Ni capable of withstanding etch depths of more than 7  $\mu$ m. The micropillars were then etched in a hydroxyl-based solution containing 40% AZ400K in DI water at 80°C to remove dry-etch damage and smooth the sidewalls of the micropillars (Figures 6.7(e-g)). A universal n-metal (20/150/80/100 nm Ti/Al/Ni/Ag) contact, masked by the micropillars themselves (Figure 5.2.1(h)), was then deposited and annealed at 850 C for 60 seconds. A 10:1 buffered oxide etch (BOE) solution was then used to remove the SiO<sub>2</sub> layer, releasing the thick metal caps (Ni/Ti/Al/Ni/Ag) which are washed away in the etch solution (Figures 6.7(i-1)).









Figure 5.2.1: Fabrication process schematic for green nanowire LEDs (not to scale).

Polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS) was then coated over the "bare" micropillars and etched-back to expose the p-GaN micropillar tips (Figures 6.7(m-n)). A 100 nm thick layer of transparent Indium Tin Oxide (ITO) was then deposited via sputtering (Figure 5.2.1(o)). The ITO layer was then patterned and etched using a solution of 20% HCl at 25°C, linking many micropillars in parallel and allowing for electrical excitation of arbitrarily large arrays simultaneously (Figures 6.7(p-s)).

Using this process, we fabricated high brightness arrays of electrically driven micropillars emitting at 550 nm with a linewidth of ~60 nm. The arrays consisted of micropillars approximately 2.5  $\mu$ m in diameter with heights of 3  $\mu$ m on a 10  $\mu$ m pitch. Figure 5.2.2 shows SEM images of the micropillar arrays following the hydroxyl-based wet etch step. Removal of the metal caps from the micropillars in critically important in allowing increasing the light extraction efficiency from top-down fabricated micropillars, while the use of a universal n-metal contact allows for decreased series resistance and more uniform emission intensity from larger arrays.



Figure 5.2.2: SEM images show the nanowire arrays after the hydroxyl-based wet etch step.

## 5.2.3 Device Characterization

The turn on voltage of the micropillar arrays LEDs was found to be around 7 V, which is significantly higher than that of conventional GaN/InGaN mesa LEDs emitting at the same wavelength. This increased turn on voltage is likely due to the high resistivity of the IT p-contact. Figure 5.2.3 shows the electroluminescence (EL) spectra of a green micropillar array LED at different current densities. The peak emission wavelength is located at 550 nm with an unexpectedly broad linewidth of around 60 nm. This broad linewidth is likely due to the each micropillar in the array emitting at a different wavelength, subject to a variety of factors such as diameter, defect density, and current density. As can be seen in Figure 5.2.4, each micropillar in these arrays is not uniformly illuminated, likely due to inconsistency of the PDMS etchback and subsequent quality of the ITO contact layer. As such some array elements appear yellow, while others appear



Figure 5.2.3: EL spectra of a micropillar array LED at various current densities, showing a peak emission wavelength of ~550 nm and a linewidth of ~60 nm.

blue. In the case of green emitting quantum wells, higher current densities in micropillars with higher quality ITO p-contacts will experience blueshift, while micropillars with lower current densities will appear redshifted. While the linewidth of an entire array may be 60 nm, the linewidth of an individual micropillar is likely much narrower. The secondary higher energy emission peak at 425 nm visible in Figure 5.2.3 is likely due to population of a second excited state in the QWs at higher current densities.



Figure 5.2.4: Optical images of the illuminated nanowire arrays taken using a microscope camera.

### 5.2.4 Conclusions

These results are quite promising despite the poor emission uniformity across the micropillar arrays. Liftoff of the Ni etch mask using an underlying sacrificial TEOS layer was found to be very effective as a means to increase the brightness of high aspect ratio micropillars. The primary disadvantage of this fabrication approach lies in the use of PDMS as the interlayer dielectric. Planarization and etchback of PDMS, while serviceable, is not ideal, and leads to issues with uniformity and reliability of devices. These issues were

later addressed through development of a TEOS interlayer dielectric process, as described in sections 3.6.2 and 5.5.2. P-contact resistivity could also be improved by using a lower base pressure to sputter the ITO film and optimizing the ITO annealing process.

## 5.3 Passive Matrix µLED Arrays Emitting at 540 nm

Published as "Melanson et al., IEEE Photonics Journal, vol 15, no. 4, pp. 1-8, Aug. 2023" [53]

## 5.3.1 Introduction

Micro-LED (µLED) displays have seen a massive increase in research interest over the past decade due to their potential to replace both backlit displays and self-lit organic light emitting diode (OLED) displays in applications which require extremely high pixel densities [54–65]. These applications range from high resolution next-gen smart phone displays to near eye displays for alternate and virtual reality (AR and VR) devices [54–65]. The primary advantage of  $\mu$ LED displays over other technologies is their efficiency and lifespan [54,62]. Back/edge-lit displays waste the majority of emitting light, while OLED displays degrade with use because they utilize organic light emitting polymers [66,67]. Semiconductor µLED displays combine the benefits of back/edge-lit and OLED displays, utilizing fully inorganic self-lit pixels which gives them both high power efficiency and very long lifespans, as well as additional benefits such as massively higher switching speeds and improved thermal stability. While  $\mu$ LEDs seem like the ideal replacement for existing high-resolution display technologies, there are many practical hurdles inhibiting their development. These include a complex fabrication process, low external quantum efficiency due to surface losses scaling inversely with device size, and difficulty in combining red, green, and blue emitters into an RGB display [61-63].

Existing fabrication approaches for RGB  $\mu$ LED displays tend to rely on either a combination of GaN based blue and green emitters, and AlInGaP based red emitters [54,61–63], or on phosphor down-conversion to convert two thirds of the pixels in a

natively blue emitting GaN display to red and green [54,55,58]. The first approach requires use of a pick-and-place technique, in which individual pixel elements are placed on a thin film transistor (TFT) backplane. This technique is inherently through-put limited and has poor yield, which often necessitates the use of redundant pixels, driving up fabrication costs and severely limiting the scalability of this method. The second approach allows for the theoretical use of a monolithic blue emitting GaN display, with some pixels converted to green and red emission by application of phosphors [68–70]. In a monolithic GaN display, current leakage between pixels is an issue due to challenges in growing truly intrinsic, insulating u-GaN [71-78]. In a basic m x n passive matrix array with m rows and n columns, m + n control signals are used to address the elements of the display. In a setup in which LED p-contacts are addressed by row signals (m) and n-contacts are addressed by column signals (n), failure to properly isolate each column of pixels from one another will lead to current leakage between columns through the n-GaN. It is very difficult to grow "intrinsic" undoped-GaN (u-GaN), and this material tends to end up moderately n-doped, giving it non-negligible conductivity [79]. As such, even growing a u-GaN layer beneath the n-GaN and etching through the n-GaN into this u-GaN in an attempt to isolate the pixels will still allow for significant current leakage between all pixels addressed by the active row. The consequence is that all pixels in a single row will illuminate at the same time, albeit not at the same intensity as the addressed pixel.

In lieu of the ability to effectively isolate devices using a buried u-GaN layer, two alternate isolation approaches are possible. The first involves growing a buried p-GaN layer beneath the n-GaN, forming a PN junction which opposes the flow of leakage current between adjacent n-GaN regions. While this approach is effective, it requires activation of

the buried p-GaN layer after the isolation etch so that Mg passivating hydrogen can diffuse out through the etch sidewalls [80–83]. Mg activation becomes less effective as device dimensions increase, due to increased out-diffusion path lengths for hydrogen. The second approach is to simply etch completely through the GaN LED epi all the way to the substrate [75–78,84]. Most GaN is grown on sapphire, an excellent insulator, so a through-epi etch fully eliminates leakage between pixel columns. However, in order to obtain low defect densities in the LED active region, the GaN epi must be grown fairly thick to allow for termination of screw dislocations. As such, an isolating through-epi etch must generally be at least several microns deep. If high pixel densities are desired, this necessitates the use of deep, high aspect ratio isolating "trenches." In order to connect the p-contacts in a row of pixels, a conductive trace must bridge this deep, high aspect ratio trench. This process is difficult for a number of reasons. Even if conformal metal deposition is used, it may not fully coat into the bottom corners of a deep trench, especially if the trench has an aspect ratio (depth/width) > 1. If metal coating is not in issue, patterning of the metal, either through metal etching or liftoff becomes a problem as it is difficult to fully expose photoresist at the bottom of high aspect ratio features. Several approaches, such as tiered isolation etches or sloped trench sidewalls have been used to mitigate these issues [75,77], however these approaches increase the footprint of the device which is undesirable when high pixel densities are desired.

In this work, we introduce a novel fabrication process which enables reliable bridging of deep, high aspect ratio isolation trenches for InGaN/GaN  $\mu$ LED arrays. As first described in our previous work [85], this is accomplished by coating and patterning a photoresist layer such that resist is left only within the trenches between  $\mu$ LED columns.

This resist layer is then baked at 250°C for 30 minutes to completely cross-link and carbonize it, making it fully resistant to most etch chemistries and common solvents such as isopropanol, acetone, and n-methyl-2-pyrrolidone (NMP). This photoresist coating, patterning, and baking process is repeated several times until the carbonized resist layer is level with edges of the trenches, allowing for metal interconnects to be deposited across the trenches via liftoff or metal etching without any need for step coverage. Here, we demonstrate 4x4 and 10x10 passive matrix InGaN/GaN µLED arrays with pixels as small as 10  $\mu$ m emitting at a wavelength of ~520 nm using this technique, and show that n-contact current leakage can be reduced into the femto-amp range by trenches as narrow as 30 µm with depths of  $\sim 6.5 \,\mu m$ . We also show that the interconnects formed over photoresist planarized trenches do not exhibit increased resistance compared to those deposited on control samples, indicating that use of photoresist as a planarizing material does not lead to increased p-trace resistivity. This novel fabrication approach could aid in the creation of monolithic µLED displays and other devices in the GaN materials system which utilize deep trench isolation to prevent current leakage.

## 5.3.2 µLED Array Fabrication

Passive matrix displays were fabricated on green-emitting InGaN/GaN epi grown on 50 mm diameter, 430  $\mu$ m thick sapphire wafers using metal organic chemical vapor phase epitaxy (MOVPE). The epistructure consisted of a 20 nm AlN buffer following by 3  $\mu$ m u-GaN, 3  $\mu$ m n-GaN, a 3 period InGaN/GaN superlattice, an 8 period InGaN/GaN MQW (2.5 nm In<sub>0.19</sub>Ga<sub>0.81</sub>N QWs), 150 nm p-GaN, and 1 nm p-InGaN to improve contact resistance. A simplified version of this epistructure is shown in Figure 5.3.1, displaying only n-GaN, MQW, and p-GaN layers. The fabrication process began with patterning of the mesa etch mask using 405 nm laser direct write (LDW) lithography, as shown in Figure 5.3.1(a). The resulting 1500 nm thick, patterned AZ1512 photoresist was used to mask a 530 nm deep Cl<sub>2</sub>/BCl<sub>3</sub>/Ar etch consisting of 32/8/5 sccms Cl<sub>2</sub>/BCl<sub>3</sub>/Ar with 75/225 W RF/ICP power at a pressure of 10 mtorr to form the  $\mu$ LED mesas (Figure 5.3.1(b)). Mesas were patterned to have dimensions of 10, 30, 60, or 120  $\mu$ m. This photoresist mask was then removed using a combination of acetone and ashing (Figure 5.3.1(c)). LDW was then used to pattern AZ1512 on LOR 5A to allow for liftoff of the p- and n-metal contacts. The p-metal contact was deposited first, and consisted of 60 nm of electron beam evaporated Ni. The p-metal was annealed in O<sub>2</sub> at 550°C for 2 minutes. Following p-metal annealing, the n-metal contact, consisting of 20/45/50 nm Ti/Al/Ni was deposited, also via electron beam evaporation, and annealed in N<sub>2</sub> at 650°C for 2 minutes (Figure 5.3.1(d)).

Following completion on the metal contacts and initial testing of the LEDs, 1100 nm of tetraethyl orthosilicate (TEOS) was deposited via plasma enhanced chemical vapor deposition (PECVD) to act as an etch mask for the trench isolation etch. This thick TEOS layer was pattered using LDW of AZ1512 on LOR 5A, and etched using a 70/60/6 sccm  $CF_4/CHF_3/O_2$  dry etch at 200 W RF power and a pressure of 130 mtorr. The long duration of this etch and insulating nature of the sapphire substrate caused significant heating of the photoresist, causing it to crosslink and "burn." The underlying LOR layer ensured easy removal of this burnt resist in NMP (Figure 5.3.1(e)). Following patterning of the TEOS trench-etch mask, the aforementioned  $Cl_2/BCl_3/Ar$  dry etch was used etch through the epistack to the sapphire at an etch rate of ~500 nm/min. This etch was performed for 25



Figure 5.3.1: Cross sectional schematic of the passive matrix display fabrication process, showing a cross section of two pixel elements parallel to the direction of the p-interconnect. In this view the n-interconnect extends into the screen. (a) Patterning of the mesa etch mask, (b) dry etching of the mesas (~ 530 nm in height), (d) formation of the n- and p-metal contacts, (e) patterning of the 1100 nm thick TEOS trench etch mask, (f) etching of the column isolation trench, (g) deposition of the 200 nm thick conformal TEOS spacer layer, (h,j) patterning of the trench fill photoresist, (i,k) planarization of the trench fill photoresist, and (j) deposition of the conformal, 40 nm thick p-interconnect.

min to ensure complete removal of all GaN and AlN and exposure of bare sapphire. This etch reduced the TEOS etch mask to a thickness of 400 nm from its previous 1100 nm, indicating a TEOS etch rate of ~28 nm/min (Figure 5.3.1(f)). A wet etch was then performed in 40% AZ400K (a photoresist developer containing 2 wt% KOH) at 80°C for 30 min to remove dry etch damage as well as any GaN/AlN remaining at the bottom of the trenches which could enable unwanted current leakage. The remaining 400 nm of TEOS was then removed using a 5 minute etch in 10:1 BOE.

Following removal of the TEOS etch mask, an additional, passivating TEOS layer was conformally deposited to a thickness of 200 nm via PECVD to prevent shorting of the p-interconnect metal to the n-contact and n-GaN (Figure 5.3.1(g)). AZ1512 photoresist was then coated and patterned using LDW, such that it remained only within the trenches (Figure 5.3.1(h)). This resist was then baked at  $250^{\circ}$ C for 30 min, ensuring the removal of all solvents and forming a crosslinked, densified, carbonized polymer which is completely inert in all (unheated) solvents and most etch chemistries such as HF, HCl, etc. During the first few minutes of this high temperature bake, the photoresist "reflows" and the lithographically defined pattern loses edge definition, with resist flowing to an equilibrium position where it wets to the trench sidewalls. During this process, the volume of the resist is reduced, leading to the cross section shown in Figure 5.3.1(i). This process of coating, patterning, and baking photoresist is repeated twice more to thoroughly planarize the trenches, resulting in the cross section shown in Figure 5.3.1(k). Repetition of this process eliminates slope discontinuities between the n-GaN and filled trench, improving the reliability of subsequent lithography and metallization steps. Following trench planarization, AZ1512 on LOR 5A is patterned using LDW and a contact open etch is

performed over the p-contacts and n-metal pads using the aforementioned  $CF_4/CHF_3/O_2$ etch. LOR is again used here to aid in removal of burnt resist as a precautionary measure. After this resist is stripped in NMP, AZ1512 and LOR 5A are again patterned via LDW and used to lift off a conformally deposited 40 nm thick Ni layer which forms the trench bridging p-interconnects (Figure 5.3.1(l)). Figure 5.3.2 shows a layout view of a 4x4 display (top) and an enlarged view of a single pixel element (bottom). µLED mesas are



Figure 5.3.2: Layout view of a 4x4 passive matrix array (top) and an enlarged view of a single pixel element of the display (bottom). The location of the cross section described in Figure 5.3.1 is shown in the top center of the 4x4 display at top.

shown in green, n-metal in red, p-metal in blue, p-interconnects in purple, and contact opens in pink. The position of the cross section used in Figures 5.3.1(a-l) is represented by a dashed line bisecting two pixels in the top part of Figure 5.3.2. To better illustrate the sizes of these devices, Figure 5.3.3 shows images of a passive matrix display sample at the



Figure 5.3.3: Images showing the passive matrix display samples at the wafer level (a), the die level (b), and the device level (c). The shown device is a 4x4 display with a pixel size of 60  $\mu$ m and x/y pixel pitches of 180/90  $\mu$ m.

wafer level ((a), 1/2 of a 2-inch wafer), the die level ((b), die area 25 mm<sup>2</sup>), and the device level (c). The device shown in Figure 5.3.3(c) is a 4x4 display with 60 um pixels on an x pitch of 180  $\mu$ m and a y pitch of 90  $\mu$ m, with a trench width of 50  $\mu$ m. The larger x pitch is necessary to allow for a wide trench to be used, but could be reduced to be more in line with the y pitch given additional optimization of the trench etch and reduction in trench width to < 10  $\mu$ m. In addition to the device highlighted in Figure 5.3.3(c), 4x4 and 10x10 displays with 10, 30, 60, and 120  $\mu$ m pixels were fabricated. The x pitch/y pitch/trench width of 10, 30, 60, and 120  $\mu$ m.

Figure 5.3.4 shows scanning electron microscope (SEM) images of various displays. Figures 5.3.4(a-b) show a 4x4 10  $\mu$ m display after the KOH etch and prior to removal of the masking TEOS. The vertical height of the features shown in these images is ~6.5  $\mu$ m. Figure 5.3.4(c) shows the same 4x4 display following a single planarization step. It is clear from this image that even a single planarization step is nearly sufficient to achieve full planarization of the trenches. Figures 5.3.4(d-h) show completed devices, showing both the p-interconnect metal and fully planarized trenches. Figures 5.3.4(f-h), imaged at 80° off normal, highlight the profile of the planarizing photoresist. The overlap of the hard-baked resist and the n-GaN region is easily seen in these images. This allows the edge of the trench. As opposed to the simplified concave down surface shown in Figure 5.3.1(j), the curve of the resist surface appears to have three critical points, a global minimum in the center of the trench, with a thickness slightly less than the depth of the trench, and two symmetric global maxima around 5  $\mu$ m outside the trench over the n-GaN.



Figure 5.3.4: SEM images showing passive matrix displays prior to trench planarization (a,b), following trench planarization (c), and following p-interconnect formation (d-h). (a, b, d, and e) are imaged at  $70^{\circ}$  off-normal, while (c, f, g, and h) are imaged at  $80^{\circ}$  off-normal.

This continuous surface, which lacks any discontinuities, enables improved coverage by the p-interconnect metal and more reliable electrical performance. Early iterations of these devices utilized only a single planarization step, which resulted in a cross-sectional profile similar to that shown in Figure 5.3.1(i). This was found undesirable as the insufficient step coverage of sharp corners lead to increased series resistance and sometimes shorting of the p-intereconnect to the n-GaN.

# 5.3.3 Device Characterization

Completed devices were first tested to characterize leakage current, as low leakage is essential for realizing functional trench isolated passive matrix displays [73–76,84]. Current leakage across trenches was characterized by applying a 0-30 V sweep across the

n-contacts of adjacent test devices separated by trenches of variable width. Figure 5.3.5 (inset) shows the current-voltage (I-V) characteristics across a 40  $\mu$ m wide trench. The average leakage current is ~ 600 fA, which is effectively at the noise floor of our measurement tool, a Keysight B1500A parameter analyzer. This indicates that a trench of this width was effective at fully isolating adjacent devices from one another. Figure 5.3.5 shows the average leakage current as a function of trench width. A slight trend indicates that leakage current is inversely proportional to trench width, with leakage increasing from ~520 fA at 100  $\mu$ m to 610 fA at 30  $\mu$ m. This trend is insignificant enough to have no practical effect on device performance.



Figure 5.3.5: Leakage current as a function of trench width. (inset) Leakage current as a function of applied bias for a 40  $\mu$ m wide trench.

The I-V characteristics of  $10 \ \mu m$ ,  $30 \ \mu m$ , and  $60 \ \mu m$  devices are shown in Figure 5.3.6(a). Threshold voltage is moderately lower for larger devices, with the average being around 3 V. Post-threshold characteristics are series resistance dominated, and could be improved by reducing the resistivity of the p-interconnect metal as well as improving the



Figure 5.3.6: (a) Current voltage characteristics for 10, 30, and 60  $\mu$ m  $\mu$ LEDs. (b) Electroluminescence spectra of a 60  $\mu$ m  $\mu$ LED driven at between 1 mA and 9 mA, showing peak emission at ~515 and a FHWM of ~32 nm.

quality of the epitaxial p-GaN layer. Trenches, and the number of trenches crossed by the p-interconnect, were found to have no effect on I-V characteristics of devices, with identical interconnects deposited across photoresist planarized trenches and on TEOS control surfaces having identical resistances. This indicates that our photoresist planarization process is an effective means of filling isolation trenches without impacting device performance. Figure 5.3.6(b) shows the electroluminescence (EL) spectra of a 60  $\mu$ m pixel at drive currents from 3 - 9 mA. A uniform increase in peak EL intensity is observed for each 1 mA increase in drive current. The full width half max (FWHM), or linewidth of emission was ~ 32 nm, with an emission peak centered around 515 nm.

Blue shifting of the emission spectra is observed, as expected, as drive current density is increased, as shown in Figure 5.3.7(a). When the 60  $\mu$ m pixels in Figure 5.3.7(a) were driven at 10 V, a blue shift of 13 nm from 517 nm to 530 nm was observed when increasing drive current from 1 mA (27 A/cm<sup>2</sup>) to 30 mA (830 A/cm<sup>2</sup>). This blueshift is expected as increased current densities populate energy levels further from the band-edge, leading to higher energy, shorter wavelength recombination events which decrease the average wavelength of emitted photons. EL intensity was also found to increase with pixel size as expected, and a slight blueshift of 6 nm from 517 nm to 511 nm was observed between the 120  $\mu$ m and 30  $\mu$ m devices (Figure 5.3.7(b)). This blueshift is due to increased current density of 1110 A/cm<sup>2</sup> in the 30  $\mu$ m pixel, as opposed to 70 A/cm<sup>2</sup> in the 120  $\mu$ m pixel. Figure 5.3.8 shows the conversion of the 60  $\mu$ m device spectra shown in Figure 5.3.7(a) into the CIE 1931 color space. At a drive current/current density of 5 mA/140



Figure 5.3.7: (a) Blueshift characteristics for a 60  $\mu$ m  $\mu$ LED driven at 10 V and 1-30 mA. A blueshift of 13 nm is observed when drive current is increased from 1 mA to 30 mA. (b) Size dependent EL characteristics for devices driven at 10V and 10 mA. A moderate blueshift of 6 nm is observed between the 30  $\mu$ m and 120  $\mu$ m  $\mu$ LEDs.



Figure 5.3.8: CIE 1931 coordinates of 60 µm devices driven between 140 A/cm<sup>2</sup> and 830 A/cm<sup>2</sup>.

A/cm<sup>2</sup>, the CIE 1931 coordinate is (0.236, 0.628). As current is increased to  $30 \text{ mA}/830 \text{ A/cm}^2$ , this coordinate changes to (0.166, 0.683) in line with the blueshift observed in Figure 5.3.7(a).

Figure 5.3.9 shows images of a 4x4 passive matrix display with pixel dimensions of 60  $\mu$ m and an x pitch/y pitch/trench width of 180/90/50  $\mu$ m, captured through a 10x objective lens. In Figure 5.3.9(a-c), single pixels are driven at 10 mA by applying 10 V to the p-interconnect pad (anode, right end of each row), while the corresponding n-interconnect pad (cathode, bottom of each column) is held at ground. This approach allows any pixel in the display to be illuminated, and if these devices were diced and wire-bonded, an 8-channel driver could be used to rapidly turn on/off pixels in the display,

allowing for "image" formation. In (d-f), columns are driven at 25 mA and illuminated by holding their cathode at ground while applying 20 V to the cathode of an adjacent column. This approach allows for illumination of 4 pixels (an entire column) simultaneously by reverse biasing the column to which 20 V is applied, allowing current to flow in reverse through the pixels of this column, into the p-interconnect, and through the forward biased, illuminated column. 10x10 and 4x4 arrays of 10  $\mu$ m, 30  $\mu$ m, 60  $\mu$ m, and 120  $\mu$ m pixels were fabricated and tested successfully, but are not included in Figure 5.3.9 for compactness. These devices



Figure 5.3.9: Illuminated  $\mu$ LEDs in a 4x4 passive matrix display.  $\mu$ LEDs have dimensions of 60  $\mu$ m, with an x pitch/y pitch/trench width of 180/90/50  $\mu$ m. In (a-c), single pixels are driven at 10mA by applying 10 V to the p-interconnect pad (anode), while the corresponding n-interconnect pad (cathode) is held at ground. In (d-f), columns are driven at 25 mA and illuminated by holding their common anode at ground while applying 20 V to the anode of another column. This reverse-biases the column to which 20 V is applied, and increases the turn on voltage of the grounded column.

are much smaller than those which are typically referred to as "displays," which usually have dimensions of dozens to hundreds of pixels on a side, and were designed this way in order to maximize yield and provide as many testable devices as possible for characterizing the effectiveness of our photoresist planarization process. The preceding results demonstrate the effectiveness of photoresist planarized trench isolation as a means to electrically isolate device arrays fabricated monolithically in GaN.

## 5.3.4 Conclusions

This work demonstrates the fabrication of monolithic InGaN/GaN single color passive matrix µLED displays using photoresist planarized trench isolation to electrically isolate columns of pixels driven by a common n-GaN anode. This method was shown to be extremely effective at eliminating leakage current and preventing unwanted illumination of adjacent pixels. As opposed to isolation approaches which utilize a buried p-GaN layer to create a PN junction at the bottom of the n-GaN layer, this method can be applied easily to larger devices in which activation of a buried p-GaN layer is difficult or impossible. The fabricated displays were shown to emit at wavelengths between 510 and 530 nm with a linewidth of 32 nm, with turn on occurring around 3 V. Blue-shifting was observed in single pixels as drive current/current density was increased, and between different pixel sizes under equivalent drive currents. This fabrication approach for electrical isolation of device arrays formed monolithically in GaN could allow for advancement of display technologies based around use of monolithic RGB emitting displays utilizing a trench isolation approach. In addition, this process could prove useful in the fabrication of other III-V and Si devices which host high aspect ratio features which require bridging by conductive interconnects.

#### **5.4 Nanowire Quantum Dot Single Photon Emitters**

Published as "Melanson et al, Conference on Lasers and Electro-Optics, 2020" [86]

### 5.4.1 Introduction

Single photon sources based on III-Nitride quantum dots (QDs) emitting within the visible spectral range are promising candidates for quantum information technologies such as quantum computing, communications, and cryptography [87]. As research into quantum photonic technologies accelerates over the coming decades, high quality single photon sources capable of operation at room temperature will be of critical importance. In contrast to conventional single photon emitters, which are usually based on non-deterministic down conversion of photons using non-linear optical materials, III-nitride quantum dots, could potentially emit deterministic single photons at room temperature and allow for scalable fabrication of emitter arrays [87–90]. While single photon emission from epitaxially grown III-nitride nanowire quantum dots has been demonstrated, the linewidths of the emission spectra for these devices are typically very large at room temperature, making deterministic emission of identical single photons nearly impossible [88,90,91]. This issue arises primarily from poor carrier confinement and quantization of energy levels within the quantum dots due to their relatively large dimensions, on the order of several tens of nanometers [87]. To narrow the emission linewidth of larger quantum dots, it is necessary to cool them to cryogenic temperatures in order to suppress or eliminate spectral diffusion and other thermally dependent linewidth broadening mechanisms. While this is easily achievable with modern cryostats, use of cryogenic cooling systems is highly undesirable in practical applications in which scalability and operating cost must be considered.

An alternate approach for reducing emission linewidth may be to shrink the diameter of the nanowire towards the single nanometer regime in order to further confine the charge carriers in the quantum dot and quantize the energy levels available to charge carriers in the valence and conductions bands. Our previous work has explored methods of anisotropically etching GaN nanowires using a heated KOH-based solution with extremely high selectivity against the non-polar crystal planes in wurtzite-GaN [92]. We have demonstrated the ability to shrink the diameter of c-plane GaN nanowires with a starting diameter of 150 nm down to as small as 20 nm with no corresponding loss in height, as the etch rate of the exposed c-plane at the top of the nanowire is effectively negligible [92]. In this work, we show the preliminary results of a study which applies our previous research on KOH-wet etching of GaN nanowires to produce nanowires with diameters in the sub-20 nm range with room-temperature optical characteristics for potential use as single photon emitters.

## 5.4.2 Nanowire Fabrication Process

A schematic of the fabrication process for the InGaN/GaN nanowires is shown in Figure 5.4.1. Here, nanosphere lithography is used to mask the initial dry etch of the nanowires. An aqueous solution of 150 nm SiO<sub>2</sub> nanospheres is diluted to the desired concentration and spin-coated onto the InGaN/GaN epi-stack (Figure 5.4.1(a-b)). A Cl-<sub>2</sub>-based reactive-ion-etch is then used to form the initial nanowire structure using the SiO<sub>2</sub> spheres as a low-selectivity etch mask (Figure 5.4.1(c)). The resulting nanowires have normal taper profile as shown in Figure 5.4.1(d). These structures are then immersed in 40% AZ400K heated to 80 °C for approximately 70 minutes, in order to reduce the



Figure 5.4.1: Nanowire QD SPE fabrication schematic (not to scale).

diameters of the nanowires to around 20 nm (Figures 5.4.1(e-g)). Figure 5.4.2(a) shows an SEM image of a nanowire following the dry etch, with a top diameter of around 150 nm, while Figure 5.4.2(b) shows the same nanowire following a 70 minute etch in the heated AZ400K solution, with its diameter reduced to around 20 nm. Following the wet etch, 100 nm of Al was deposited using thermal evaporation to screen the substrate and prevent emission from Ga defect states (Figure 5.4.1(h)). A 150 nm layer of polymethyl methacrylate (PMMA) was then spin coated onto the sample to mask the substrate metal (Figure 5.4.1(i)) before the sample was subjected to a Al wet etch at 85°C for around 2 min to remove the Al from the tips of the nanowires (Figure 5.4.1(j)). The PMMA was then stripped using acetone (Figure 5.4.1(k)) and rinsed in DI water before being dried with nitrogen and readied for testing (Figure 5.4.1(l)). This top-down fabrication approach avoids the primary issues of bottom-up epitaxial nanowire growth in that it is both more



Figure 5.4.2: SEM images showing a nanowire after dry etch (a) and after 70 min in 40% AZ400K (b).

cost effective and allows nanowire site-control without the need for expensive selective area epitaxy.

## 5.4.3 Emitter Characterization

To test the optical properties of these QD nanowires, we used a custom-built microphotoluminescence ( $\mu$ PL) system capable of optically exciting and imaging individual nanowires. Optical excitation with a 405 nm continuous wave laser revealed the power and diameter dependent emission characteristics of the nanowire QDs. We found that larger nanowires (~100 nm) which had not been subjected to extensive KOH etching showed broader emission peaks centered around 440 nm, while smaller nanowires (~20 nm) formed through extended KOH etching emitted narrower spectra with PL peaks blue shifted down to ~418 nm. These results are consistent with the well-studied behavior of energy



Figure 5.4.3: Power dependent PL spectrum of a single nanowire QD. Inset shows the linear dependence of emission intensity on pump laser power.

eigenstates in InGaN/GaN nanostructures, with enhanced physical confinement of the QD region leading to improved separation of available energy states and a corresponding blueshift of all allowed electron-hole transition energies. The power-dependent PL spectra of a representative 20 nm nanowire are shown in Figure 5.4.3. The full width at half maximum (FWHM) of each emission peak is approximately 7.1 nm, and the emission peak intensity shows near perfect linear dependence on excitation power. As can be seen in Figure 5.4.3, these emitters exhibit excellent signal to noise ratio even for relatively low excitation powers down to 100  $\mu$ W at room temperature, in stark contrast to the spectra of previously demonstrated room-temperature InGaN/GaN single photon emitters [88,90].

# 5.4.4 Conclusions

The demonstrated InGaN/GaN nanowire QDs show great potential for use as scalable, room-temperature single photon emitters with narrow emission linewidths. The well-developed top-down process used to fabricate the nanowires could also allow for straightforward electrical excitation of single photon emission, the "holy grail" of quantum emitters still very much in its infancy [89,93–95]. This fabrication process could also allow for QD site control, enabling integration with on-chip photonic circuitry.

### 5.5 SiO<sub>2</sub> Nanosphere Arrays for Light Out-Coupling

Unpublished work (2019)

## 5.5.1 Introduction

UV LEDs offer many advantages over conventional UV light sources such as mercury vapor arc lamps, most notably enhanced lifetime, switching time, durability, and environmental compatibility [96–98]. UV LEDs can also be produced in small form factors, making them much more portable and easier to integrate into complex systems [96–98]. UV light has found use in many applications, including water purification, surface sterilization, biosensing, photolithographic microfabrication, resin curing for 3D printing, and many others [96–107]. Despite the effectiveness of UV light in these various roles, UV LEDs have not yet seen widespread commercial adoption due primarily to their low external quantum efficiencies ( $\eta_{EQE}$ ). The inability of modern UV LEDs to match the efficiencies of other emitters such as blue LEDs makes it difficult for them to compete with conventional UV light sources in terms of power output [96]. The low external quantum efficiencies of UV LEDs can be attributed primarily to their poor light extraction efficiency ( $\eta_{EXT}$ ), which is often less than 10%.

Extensive research has been focused on improving light extraction from LEDs over the past few decades, with most research efforts concerned primarily with visible wavelength LEDs. Random surface roughening [108], substrate patterning [98,104], diffraction gratings [109], photonic crystals [110], nanowires [107], microlens arrays [111-117], and laser direct writing of microholes [118] have all been investigated as means to enhance  $\eta_{\text{EXT}}$  from visible light LEDs, often with very promising results. Some of these approaches have also been applied to UV LEDs, for example, nanowires and photonic crystals have been investigated as means to improve  $\eta_{EXT}$  from the top of UV LEDs primarily via top-down etching approaches [97,103], and while these methods have been found fairly effective, they require many additional fabrication steps. Some research groups have achieved UV LEDs with  $\eta_{EQE}$  values greater than 20% by utilizing a complex, comprehensive fabrication approach which addresses multiple factors affecting  $\eta_{EXT}$ . For example, Takano *et al.* achieved 20.3%  $\eta_{EQE}$  for an LED emitting at 275 nm by utilizing a patterned sapphire substrate, transparent p-contact layer, mirror-like p-contact electrode, and resin encapsulation [104]. While these results are promising, the inclusion of many additional, specialized fabrication steps to enhance  $\eta_{EXT}$  make the fabrication of these devices unsuitable for profitable high-volume manufacturing. The use of self-aligned nanosphere arrays has been shown to enhance the total light extraction efficiency of LEDs emitting in the visible range [115,117], however this approach has not yet been applied to UV LEDs.

In this work, we propose a simple approach for producing moderate improvements to the  $\eta_{\text{EXT}}$  of 280 nm AlGaN multiple quantum well (MQW) UV LEDs. This approach utilizes self-assembled, monolayer arrays of hexagonally close-packed SiO<sub>2</sub> nanospheres, deposited directly onto the surface of the sapphire growth substrate, to reduce Fresnel reflection and scatter light at the sapphire air interface, widening its escape cone. In addition to SiO<sub>2</sub> nanosphere arrays, nanohemisphere arrays were also investigated and found to exhibit even greater  $\eta_{\text{EXT}}$ , though at the cost of a more complex fabrication process. FDTD simulations were utilized to investigate the effects of different nanosphere and nanohemisphere diameters on the  $\eta_{\text{EXT}}$  and angular distribution of extracted light. Angle-dependent EL measurements were performed on the patterned UV LEDs to investigate the effects of nanosphere and nanohemisphere arrays on the intensity of extracted light at different angles relative to the surface normal of the sample. Our simulation and experimental results show good agreement with respect to the angular distribution of emitted light, which indicates that the use of nanospheres and nanohemispheres shows promise for enhancing the low angle  $\eta_{EXT}$  of UV LEDs emitting around 280 nm.

The external quantum efficiency of an LED is a measure of its ability to convert injected charge carriers into photons which are fully extracted from the device into free space, and is a product of three subcomponents - the light extraction efficiency, carrier injection efficiency ( $\eta_{\text{INJ}}$ ), and radiative recombination efficiency ( $\eta_{\text{RAD}}$ ). The internal quantum efficiency ( $\eta_{\text{IQE}}$ ), given by the product of ( $\eta_{\text{INJ}}$ ) and ( $\eta_{\text{RAD}}$ ), which quantifies the fraction of injected charge carriers which successfully recombine within the active region of the LED to produce light, has been fairly well optimized over the past decade [96,107]. While advancements in epitaxial growth techniques have allowed for reduction of threading dislocation densities and optimized active region design, leading to attainment of injection efficiencies greater than 60% by some research groups [119–121],  $\eta_{\text{EXT}}$  remains the limiting factor in achieving high  $\eta_{\text{EQE}}$  for UV LEDs [96,102,107]. On average,  $\eta_{\text{EXT}}$  is less than 10% in LEDs emitting within the UV spectral range due to the large refractive index contrast between the growth substrate and air [96].

UV LEDs are most commonly based on the AlGaN materials system, and are grown on sapphire substrates or other high index materials such SiC or AlN. It is common practice to package UV LEDs in a "flip-chip" configuration, with light extraction achieved through
the growth substrate. In accordance with Snell's Law, light passing from a medium with a high index of refraction such as sapphire  $(n_{sapphire} = 1.82)$  to a low index medium such as air  $(n_{air} = 1)$  will have a small critical angle and a correspondingly narrow escape cone, permitting only a small fraction of the light generated within the LED to escape. For example, the critical angle for light passing from sapphire into air is  $\theta_c = 33.33^\circ$ , corresponding to  $\eta_{EXT} = 0.082$ , or 8.2%. Such a low  $\eta_{EXT}$  is a significant hindrance to the implementation of UV LEDs in many applications which require high luminous intensity. The low critical angle of the sapphire-air interface means that the majority of light incidence upon the interface will experience total internal reflection, and propagate within the sapphire indefinitely until it is either absorbed or emitted out the side of the device where it is of little use. Total internal reflection is most pronounced when the sapphire-air interface is perfectly planar. Studies have shown that surface roughening and surface nanostructuring can serve to mitigate the impacts of a narrow escape cone and allow enhanced light extraction from UV LEDs [97,98,102-104,108-117]. When periodic or random geometries are present at the sapphire-air interface, light incident beyond the critical angle, which would normally be reflected entirely, has a much higher probability of escaping. While direct patterning of the sapphire-air interface through dry etching has achieved promising results, simpler techniques such as the use of self-assembled nanosphere arrays are also promising. The presence of  $SiO_2$  nanosphere arrays at the interface serves not only to introduce periodic geometry, but the intermediate refractive index of SiO<sub>2</sub>  $(n_{SiO_2} = 1.49)$  acts to increase the critical angle for light passing from sapphire into  $SiO_2$ . The non-planar geometry of the nanospheres then aids in transitioning the light into free space. More complex interactions between UV light and SiO<sub>2</sub> nanostructures can arise when interference patterns emerge within the nanospheres, and careful optimization of wavelength and nanostructure diameter can, in theory, allow for tuning of  $\eta_{\text{EXT}}$  as well as the angular distribution of emitted light.

## 5.5.2 Simulation Results

Three-dimensional FDTD simulations were performed in order to investigate the effects of nanosphere and nanohemisphere arrays on  $\eta_{EXT}$  through the sapphire substrate of UV LEDs emitting at 280 nm using Synopsys Fullwave [122]. Transverse-electric (TE)-polarized dipole sources were used for all simulations, as the majority of photons generated with wavelengths near 280 nm within conventional AlGaN/GaN LEDs have TE polarization [123]. Additionally, previous studies have shown that light with this polarization exhibits much higher extraction efficiency than transverse-magnetic (TM)-polarized light due to reduced reflection at material interfaces [97,98,124]. As a result, TM-polarized light contributes a negligible fraction of the total luminous flux escaping into free space. The simulation structure, which can be seen in Figure 5.5.1, is representative of a typical AlGaN MQW UV LED, and is inverted with respect to the growth direction.

In the UV LED studied here, AlN is grown on sapphire to act as a buffer layer, impeding the propagation of lattice mismatch induced dislocations into the active region of the device. Following growth of AlN, the AlGaN and GaN layers are grown. Because UV LEDs are usually packaged in a flip-chip configuration, with light generated within the MQW region emitted through the sapphire substrate, our simulation structure inverts the orientation of the epitaxial layers to mimic this configuration. The size of the domain was set to be 30  $\mu$ m in width and depth, and 2  $\mu$ m in height in order to optimize simulation

convergence and simulation run time. A non-uniform 3D mesh with cell dimensions between 5 and 10 nm was used to optimize simulation accuracy and run time.



Figure 5.5.1: Cross-sectional representation of the three-dimensional structure used for FDTD simulation. Perfectly matched layer (PML) and perfect electric conductor (PEC) boundary conditions (BC) are shown at the domain surfaces.

Although a physical device would be grown on a sapphire substrate at least 200 µm thick, simulating such a device with an acceptable degree of accuracy would require significant simulation time for a single run, so we opted to use much thinner, 200 nm thick sapphire. Use of a growth substrate of significantly reduced thickness is common practice when performing FDTD or ray tracing simulation of LEDs, as it allows for order of magnitude reductions in simulation run time while maintaining the accuracy of the simulation [62], [63], [75]. Although our 200 nm sapphire layer imparts orders of magnitude less

attenuation than 200  $\mu$ m sapphire, the low value of the extinction coefficient of sapphire at 280 nm, a mere 0.001, makes this discrepancy negligible. Refractive index and extinction coefficient values for all materials were taken from Palik *et al.* [98,125].

A perfect electric conductor (PEC) boundary condition was used at the bottom of the simulation domain to replicate the reflective p-metal contact, while perfectly matched layer (PML) boundary conditions were used for all other domain surfaces, as shown in Figure 5.5.1. To measure the  $\eta_{\text{EXT}}$  of a given structure, a three-dimensional power monitor was positioned to enclose the dipole source and measure its luminous power flux. Another two-dimensional monitor was located at the top of the simulation domain, 1.4 µm above the sapphire surface, to measure the luminous power flux passing through the sapphire-air interface. By calculating the ratio of the luminous power flux through these two monitors over the course of each simulation run we were able to determine the fraction of light emitted by the dipole source which successfully escapes across the sapphire-air interface into free space. The monitor at the top of the simulation domain also served to record the spatial intensity of incident radiation, allowing for generation of far field intensity plots and determination of the angular distribution of light escaping across the sapphire-air interface. Additional two-dimensional monitors were placed vertically within the simulation domain to record the spatial electric field intensity to allow for further characterization of the angular distribution of light within different regions of the simulated structures.

Figure 5.5.2(a) shows the  $\eta_{\text{EXT}}$  for 280 nm UV LEDs with arrays of SiO<sub>2</sub> nanosphere and nanohemisphere structures with diameters ranging from 50 nm to 700 nm.

265



Figure 5.5.2: (a)  $\eta_{\text{EXT}}$  of SiO<sub>2</sub> nanospheres and nanohemispheres of variable diameter. (b) Normalized  $\eta_{\text{EXT}}$  of SiO<sub>2</sub> nanospheres and nanohemispheres calculated by dividing the values shown in (a) by the  $\eta_{\text{EXT}}$  of a planar sapphire structure with no SiO<sub>2</sub> nanostructures (8.57%).

Both structures show significantly enhanced  $\eta_{\text{EXT}}$  for diameters upwards of 400 nm. A peak  $\eta_{\text{EXT}}$  of 19.88% was achieved at a nanohemisphere diameter of 600 nm, while 15.48%  $\eta_{\text{EXT}}$  at a diameter of 500 nm was achieved through use of nanospheres. These peak

enhancements can be attributed to constructive interference of light within the nanostructures which acts to suppress reflection and amplify transmission into free space. The "normalized"  $\eta_{\text{EXT}}$  values shown in Figure 5.5.2(b) are of greater importance and represent the  $\eta_{\text{EXT}}$  enhancements produced by nanostructure arrays of differing diameter, relative to a planar sapphire structure lacking any surface nanostructuring.

By dividing the  $\eta_{\text{EXT}}$  values shown in Figure 5.5.2(a) by the  $\eta_{\text{EXT}}$  for a planar UV LED (8.57%), we obtained the "normalized"  $\eta_{\text{EXT}}$  values ( $\eta_{\text{EXT, norm}}$ ) which are plotted in Figure 5.5.2(b). These normalized results show that  $\eta_{\text{EXT}}$  is enhanced ( $\eta_{\text{EXT, norm}} > 1$ ) for nearly all nanostructure diameters for both nanospheres and nanohemispheres. Enhancement of 2.31x (131%) is seen for nanohemispheres at 600 nm, while 1.79x (79%) enhancement is seen for nanospheres at 500 nm. Only in the case of 140 nm nanospheres is a decrease in  $\eta_{\text{EXT}}$  seen, and is likely due to destructive interference within nanospheres whose diameters are exactly half that of the 280 nm wavelength light used for the simulations.

In addition to investigating  $\eta_{\text{EXT}}$ , we also examined the angular distribution of escaping radiation using a combination of cross-sectional electric field intensity and far field radiation intensity plots in order to better understand the interaction of 280 nm light with arrays of variable diameter nanostructures. The diameters of the nanostructures used in our simulations and experiments, which are within a few multiples of the wavelength under examination, are smaller than those of the much larger "microlens" structures which have been investigated by other research groups [111–117]. Structures on the order of several wavelength multiples allow for complex interaction with light, leading to establishment of standing waves within the nanostructures which can enhance light

extraction and alter the angular distribution of emitted light. Likewise, nanostructures of certain diameters can serve to suppress light emission when destructive interference occurs within the  $SiO_2$  structures. Figure 5.5.3 shows cross-sectional electric field intensities for



Figure 5.5.3: Cross-sectional electric field intensities for simulation structures of variable nanosphere and nanohemisphere diameters, showing spatial variation in electric field intensities with nanostructure diameter.

six different structures; a baseline "planar" structure with no SiO<sub>2</sub> nanostructures, and the others with nanospheres and nanohemispheres with diameters ranging from 100 nm to 700 nm. Comparing the case of 100 nm nanospheres to the baseline, it is apparent that these subwavelength nanostructures have little to no effect on the angular distribution of the light which escapes into free space. The cross-sectional electric field for 100 nm nanospheres in Figure 5.5.3. For near-wavelength nanostructures, i.e. those with diameters of 280 nm, a significant increase in electric field intensity at higher angles (relative to the surface

normal) is evident, due to the formation of standing waves within the nanostructures and destructive interference of low angle light. Increasing the diameter of the nanostructures to 700 nm reduces the emission of higher angle light, and produces a massive increase in the intensity of light emitted at low angles into free space. The establishment of a more complex standing wave pattern within these larger nanospheres seems to assist the emission of light through the tops of the nanostructures. Results for 280 nm and 700 nm nanospheres and nanohemispheres were found to be nearly identical, as shown in Figure 5.5.3. The most prominent difference between the two structures is a reduced number of electric field nodes within the nanohemispheres, which can be attributed to their smaller height and reduced volume.



Figure 5.5.4: Far field radiation intensity patterns for simulation structures of variable nanosphere and nanohemisphere diameters showing spatial variation in far field radiation intensity with nanostructure diameter. The centers of these plots (x = y = 0) represent emission at 0° off-normal while the plot edges  $(x = y = \pm 1)$  represent emission at 90° off-normal.

Measurements of the radiation intensity incident upon the top of the simulation domain paint a clearer picture of the angular distribution of escaping light. Figure 5.5.4 shows the far field radiation intensity patterns for the six structures whose cross-sectional electric field intensities are shown in Figure 5.5.3, with the centers of these plots (x = y = 0) representing emission at 0° off normal and the edges of the plots ( $x = y = \pm 1$ ) representing emission at 90° off normal. It is again evident that 100 nm subwavelength nanospheres have very little effect on the far field radiation pattern, producing only a negligible increase in intensity at 0°, while 280 nm nanostructures show more clearly the preferential emission at higher angles suggested by Figure 5.5.3. The use of 700 nm nanostructures shows a strong propensity to emit light at very low angles with high intensity in agreement with Figure 5.5.3. These far field radiation plots allow for easier visualization of the angle dependent radiation intensity.

It is evident that near-wavelength 280 nm nanostructures suppress low angle emission and enhance higher angle emission while larger 700 nm nanostructures serve to produce large enhancements in low angle emission. The hexagonal symmetry of the far field patterns evident for 280 nm nanostructures is representative of the hexagonally close-packed arrays used for the simulations. The data from these far-field radiation intensity plots is collected and reformatted in Figure 5.5.5, which presents overlaid polar intensity plots of the far field data for each of the six simulation structures. These plots allow for easy quantitative comparison between nanostructures of different diameters, and clearly shows the striking contrast between the angular emission profiles of subwavelength, near-wavelength, and super-wavelength nanostructures. The polar intensity profiles for the planar and 100 nm nanosphere structures are shown to be nearly identical, in agreement



Figure 5.5.5: Overlaid polar intensity plots of the far field radiation intensity data presented in Figure 5.5.4, allowing for easier quantitative comparison of simulation structures with variable nanosphere and nanohemisphere diameters.

with Figures 5.5.3 and 5.5.4. The profiles of the 280 nm nanosphere and nanohemisphere structures are similar, with the exception that the nanosphere structure shows slightly higher emission intensity at higher angles. Most importantly, it is evident that 700 nm nanohemispheres show greatly enhanced emission at low angles when compared with nanospheres, with a nearly 2x enhancement realized at 0°.

The results of three-dimensional FDTD simulations show not only that the overall  $\eta_{\text{EXT}}$  of UV LEDs can be improved through application of SiO<sub>2</sub> nanosphere and nanohemisphere monolayers to the sapphire surface, but also that the angular distribution of emitted light can be controlled by varying the diameters of these nanostructures. The marked improvement in  $\eta_{\text{EXT}}$  achieved through this approach could be of significant benefit to the UV LED lighting industry, which has thus-far struggled to produce devices with acceptable  $\eta_{\text{EXT}}$ . The ability to manipulate the angular distribution of emitted light is also of interest, as low angle light emission from the surface of an LED is often desirable, as

this light is more useful for bulk lighting applications than light emitted at higher angles to the surface normal.

## 5.5.3 Experimental Results

In order to verify the results of our FDTD analysis, experiments were carried out to further elucidate the effectiveness of using nanosphere and nanohemisphere arrays to enhance the  $\eta_{\text{EXT}}$  of UV LEDs. In order to repeatably test the ability of nanosphere and nanohemisphere arrays to enhance  $\eta_{\text{EXT}}$ , we adopted an approach in which nanosphere and nanohemisphere arrays were fabricated on pieces of 200 µm sapphire. These nanostructure-on-sapphire samples were then positioned on top of a prepackaged 280 nm UV LED. Light emission from the LED was stimulated through EL and the intensity of light emitted through the sapphire and SiO<sub>2</sub> nanostructures was measured using a spectrometer. The angle at which light was collected relative to the surface normal of the sample was altered through careful angling and positioning of the spectrometer optical fiber.

A cross-sectional view of the UV LED used in these experiments is shown in Figure 5.5.6(a). The LED was composed of AlGaN epitaxial layers grown on a 300  $\mu$ m thick sapphire substrate. An 80 nm 20x Al<sub>0.6</sub>Ga<sub>0.4</sub>N/AlN superlattice was first grown atop a 1  $\mu$ m AlN buffer layer, followed by 2  $\mu$ m of n-Al<sub>0.55</sub>Ga<sub>0.45</sub>N, a 65 nm 5x n-Al<sub>0.35</sub>Ga<sub>0.65</sub>-N/n-Al<sub>0.43</sub>Ga<sub>0.57</sub>N MQW, a 20 nm Al<sub>0.6</sub>Ga<sub>0.4</sub>N EBL, 40 nm p-Al<sub>0.55</sub>Ga<sub>0.645</sub>N, and a 160 nm of p-GaN. Electrical contacts were made to the n-Al<sub>0.55</sub>Ga<sub>0.45</sub>N and p-GaN layers using a planar mesa-etching approach. Si and Mg were used for the n and p-dopants respectively. The LED die was mounted to the package shown in Figure 5.5.6(a), with



Figure 5.5.6: (a) Cross-sectional view of the UV LED epitaxial structure used to test  $\eta_{EXT}$  through nanosphere and nanohemisphere arrays. (b) Cross-sectional view of the angle-dependent EL setup used to measure normalized  $\eta_{EXT}$  through a nanostructure-on-sapphire sample.

light generated within the MQW active region emitted through the sapphire growth substrate at the top of the device. Nanostructure-on-sapphire samples were prepared using 200  $\mu$ m thick sapphire wafers cleaved into pieces of area approximately 2 cm<sup>2</sup>. These samples were then subjected to an oxygen plasma for 30 seconds in order to remove surface contaminants to improve the adhesion of the SiO<sub>2</sub> nanospheres to the sapphire. Nanospheres suspended in an aqueous, non-colloidal solution, obtained from Polysciences Inc., were then deposited on the surface of the sapphire samples via spin coating at approximately 1700 rpm. The nanospheres self-assemble into hexagonally close-packed monolayers. Fabrication of nanohemisphere samples followed this same process, with the addition of a reactive ion etch (RIE) in O<sub>2</sub>/CF<sub>4</sub> plasma to shrink the diameters of the 700 nm SiO<sub>2</sub> nanospheres by approximately 200 nm. A 300 nm layer of conformal SiO<sub>2</sub> was then deposited using plasma enhanced chemical vapor deposition (PECVD) to form a hemispherical cross-section.

Following fabrication of SiO<sub>2</sub> nanosphere and nanohemisphere arrays on sapphire, these nanostructure-on-sapphire samples were cleaved into approximately 1 mm<sup>2</sup> pieces, to allow for placement on top of the packaged UV LEDs. The test setup is shown in cross-section in Figure 5.5.6(b). The UV LED, recessed within a protective metal ring to prevent physical damage to the bonded die, acted as a platform upon which the 1 mm<sup>2</sup> SiO<sub>2</sub> nanostructure-on-sapphire samples were placed. The dimensions of the metal ring protecting the LED die limited the size of the cleaved samples to 1 mm<sup>2</sup>, and samples were placed onto the LED die, bringing the sapphire side of the sample into direct contact with the sapphire growth substrate of the LED with care taken to ensure flush contact between the two surfaces and prevent accidental damage to the LED die. Electrical contact was made to the packaged LED by probing a pair of contact pads located near the edge of the package. EL of the LED was achieved by biasing at 10V, which was found to induce a stable light emission intensity of approximately 25,000 counts per second at 280 nm, as recorded by an Ocean Optics Flame-S spectrometer. Angle dependent measurements were



Figure 5.5.7: SEM images of 700 nm SiO<sub>2</sub> nanosphere (a) and nanohemisphere (b) arrays, formed through spin-coating of aqueous nanosphere solutions and subsequent RIE and PECVD SiO<sub>2</sub> deposition in the case of (b). Insets show the sample surfaces at  $45^{\circ}$ .

taken for nanosphere coated UV-LED samples by rotating the optical fiber shown in Figure 5.5.6(b) up to 60° off-normal, taking measurements every 10° to allow for construction of a rough far field intensity polar-plot similar to Figure 5.5.5 [123].

Figures 5.5.7(a) and 5.5.7(b) show SEM images of the 700 nm nanosphere and nanohemisphere samples respectively. The nanosphere coating in Figure 5.5.7(a) appears uniform, with only minor dislocations and vacancies present in the hexagonally close-packed array due to the non-spherical nature of some SiO<sub>2</sub> nanostructures. Figure 5.5.7(b), showing the nanohemisphere coating, appears distinctly different from the well-ordered, close-packed structure in Figure 5.5.7(a). This deviation may be due to interaction of oxygen and fluorine ions with the SiO<sub>2</sub> nanospheres during the RIE step which leads to development of surface charge states on the nanospheres. These surface charges could lead to electrostatic attraction between nanospheres, causing them to move across the sapphire surface and agglomerate as they shrink during RIE. This phenomenon leads to the short-range disorder seen in Figure 5.5.7(b), while long range order appears to be maintained over the surface of the sample. Subsequent PECVD SiO<sub>2</sub> deposition then serves to form the intended hemispherical cross section. While we believe these results to be non-optimal, as around 30% of the sapphire surface remains exposed, enhanced light extraction is still achieved as predicted by our FDTD simulations. In subsequent experiments, we believe it may be possible to prevent agglomeration of the nanospheres during the RIE step by spin-coating a thin layer (~100 nm) of poly (methyl methacrylate) (PMMA) to act as a "sticking layer". While this polymer will be attacked and eventually removed by the oxygen component of the plasma, it should remain in place long enough to allow the nanospheres to shrink down enough such that the attractive electrostatic forces

between the SiO<sub>2</sub> surfaces are no longer great enough to move the nanospheres across the sapphire surface, thus preventing nanosphere agglomeration.

Figures 5.5.8(a) and 5.5.8(b) show the averaged EL intensity spectra at normal incidence of the nanosphere and nanohemisphere samples between 260 nm and 315 nm. By comparing the integrated EL of each peak in Figure 6.5.8(a), it was found that the



Figure 5.5.8: EL spectra for 700 nm nanospheres (a) and nanohemispheres (b) plotted taken at normal incidence between 260 nm and 315 nm. The much larger  $\eta_{\text{EXT}}$  enhancement of the nanohemisphere array is evidenced by the larger variation in the maxima of the curves for samples with and without nanohemispheres.

nanosphere coating enhanced light extraction by 6.1% when compared to a sample consisting only of sapphire with no SiO<sub>2</sub> nanospheres. The maximum emission intensity of the nanosphere-on-sapphire samples was measured to be 7.9% greater than that of the samples with no nanospheres. For nanohemispheres (Figure 5.5.8(b)), 12.7% enhancement in integrated EL and a 21.6% enhancement in maximum emission intensity was observed at normal incidence. These results, which show that nanohemispheres are more effective at enhancing low angle light extraction, agree with our simulation results. However, simulations showed nearly 2x greater intensity for nanohemisphere coatings on sapphire likely accounts for this large deviation between simulation and experimental results for low angle  $\eta_{EXT}$  enhancement. Additionally, electrostatic agglomeration of SiO<sub>2</sub> nanospheres during the RIE step of nanohemisphere formation (as previously discussed) represents significant



Figure 5.5.9: Angle-dependent EL data for 700 nm nanospheres, showing a clear increase in emission intensity at low angles less than 30° for samples with nanospheres when compared to samples with no nanospheres.

deviation from ideality, and contributes to a reduction in  $\eta_{EXT}$  enhancement from nanohemisphere-on-sapphire samples. The results of the angle dependent intensity measurements performed on nanosphere coated samples are presented in Figure 5.5.9, and show a clear increase in emission intensity at low angles less than 30° when compared to the sample with no nanospheres. Likewise, the nanospheres are seen to decrease emission intensity at angles greater than 40°. These results are likewise consistent with our simulations of the angle dependent intensities for 700 nm nanospheres, detailed in Figures 5.5.3-5.5.5.

## 5.5.4 Conclusions

In summary, the effects of monolayer SiO<sub>2</sub> nanosphere and nanohemisphere arrays on the light extraction efficiency of UV LEDs was investigated in this study for the first time. FDTD simulations were used to investigate the theoretical effects of these nanostructure arrays and further our understanding of how nanostructures of different diameters interact with 280 nm UV light. Angle dependent-EL measurements were carried out to verify the accuracy and legitimacy of the simulations results. Our experimental findings agree well with the results of our FDTD simulations with regard to the angular distribution of emitted light. Our simulations gave projected  $\eta_{EXT}$  enhancements of 75% and 124% for 700 nm nanosphere and nanohemispheres arrays respectively, and predicted that nanohemisphere arrays should produce 2x greater extraction enhancement normal to the sample surface than nanosphere arrays. Experimentation yielded 6.1% and 12.7% enhancement at normal incidence for 700 nm nanospheres and nanohemispheres respectively. Rigorous analysis of the angular distribution of emitted light through use of FDTD generated cross-sectional electric field and far field radiation intensity plots indicates that 700 nm nanosphere and nanohemisphere arrays serve to focus emitted light towards lower angles relative to the surface normal of the sample, while near-wavelength 280 nm nanostructures suppress low angle emission and enhance high angle emission. Our experimental findings confirmed these predictions for 700 nm nanosphere arrays. These results confirm that SiO<sub>2</sub> nanostructure arrays show potential to improve the low angle  $\eta_{EXT}$ of UV LEDs and make them more viable across a range of applications, and the simplicity of this approach gives it an advantage over more complex procedures which require additional photolithography steps. We believe that the surface nanostructuring technique presented here could be further optimized and evolved in order to improve the performance of UV LEDs and allow them to penetrate a wider range of applications.

## **Chapter 5 References**

- B. Melanson, C. Liu, and J. Zhang, "Analysis of InGaN-delta-InN Quantum Wells on InGaN Substrates for Red Light Emitting Diodes and Lasers," IEEE Photonics Journal 13(1), 1–1 (2021).
- R. Arefin, S. H. Ramachandra, H. Jung, W. You, S. M. N. Hasan, H. Turski, S. Dwivedi, and S. Arafin, "III-N/Si<sub>3</sub>N<sub>4</sub> Integrated Photonics Platform for Blue Wavelengths," IEEE Journal of Quantum Electronics 56(4), 1–9 (2020).
- 3. N. V. Triviño, R. Butté, J.-F. Carlin, and N. Grandjean, "Continuous Wave Blue Lasing in III-Nitride Nanobeam Cavity on Silicon," Nano Lett. **15**(2), 1259–1263 (2015).
- 4. L. A. Coldren, S. W. Corzine, and M. L. Mashanovitch, *Diode Lasers and Photonic Integrated Circuits* (John Wiley & Sons, 2012).
- A. Dussaigne, F. Barbier, B. Damilano, S. Chenot, A. Grenier, A. M. Papon, B. Samuel, B. Ben Bakir, D. Vaufrey, J. C. Pillet, A. Gasse, O. Ledoux, M. Rozhavskaya, and D. Sotta, "Full InGaN red light emitting diodes," Journal of Applied Physics 128(13), 135704 (2020).
- 6. J.-I. Hwang, R. Hashimoto, S. Saito, and S. Nunoue, "Development of InGaN-based red LED grown on (0001) polar surface," Appl. Phys. Express **7**(7), 071003 (2014).
- 7. S. Zhang, J. Zhang, J. Gao, X. Wang, C. Zheng, M. Zhang, X. Wu, L. Xu, J. Ding, Z. Quan, and F. Jiang, "Efficient emission of InGaN-based light-emitting diodes: toward orange and red," Photon. Res. **8**(11), 1671 (2020).
- 8. M. R. Philip, D. D. Choudhary, M. Djavid, K. Q. Le, J. Piao, and H. P. T. Nguyen, "High efficiency green/yellow and red InGaN/AlGaN nanowire light-emitting diodes grown by molecular beam epitaxy," Journal of Science: Advanced Materials and Devices **2**(2), 150–155 (2017).
- 9. D. Iida, Z. Zhuang, P. Kirilenko, M. Velazquez-Rizo, and K. Ohkawa, "Demonstration of low forward voltage InGaN-based red LEDs," Appl. Phys. Express **13**(3), 031001 (2020).
- S. S. Pasayat, C. Gupta, M. S. Wong, R. Ley, M. J. Gordon, S. P. DenBaars, S. Nakamura, S. Keller, and U. K. Mishra, "Demonstration of ultra-small (less than 10um 632 nm red InGaN micro-LEDs with useful on-wafer external quantum efficiency (> 0.2%) for mini-displays," Appl. Phys. Express 14(1), 011004 (2020).
- 11. C.-M. Kang, S.-J. Kang, S.-H. Mun, S.-Y. Choi, J.-H. Min, S. Kim, J.-P. Shim, and D.-S. Lee, "Monolithic integration of AlGaInP-based red and InGaN-based green LEDs via adhesive bonding for multicolor emission," Scientific Reports **7**(1), 10333 (2017).
- 12. T. Frost, A. Hazari, A. Aiello, M. Z. Baten, L. Yan, J. Mirecki-Millunchick, and P. Bhattacharya, "High performance red-emitting multiple layer InGaN/GaN quantum dot lasers," Jpn. J. Appl. Phys. **55**(3), 032101 (2016).
- T. Frost, G. Su, A. Hazari, J. M. Dallesasse, and P. Bhattacharya, "Red and Near-Infrared III-Nitride Quantum Dot Lasers," IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Quantum Electronics 23(6), 1–9 (2017).
- 14. M. E. Aumer, S. F. LeBoeuf, B. F. Moody, and S. M. Bedair, "Strain-induced piezoelectric field effects on light emission energy and intensity from AlInGaN/InGaN quantum wells," Appl. Phys. Lett. **79**(23), 3803–3805 (2001).
- 15. S. F. Chichibu, T. Sota, K. Wada, O. Brandt, K. H. Ploog, S. P. DenBaars, and S. Nakamura, "Impact of Internal Electric Field and Localization Effect on Quantum Well Excitons in AlGaN/GaN/InGaN Light Emitting Diodes," physica status solidi (a) **183**(1), 91–98 (2001).
- A. E. Aslanyan, L. P. Avakyants, and A. V. Chervyyakov, "Investigation into the Internal Electric-Field Strength in the Active Region of InGaN/GaN-Based LED Structures with Various Numbers of Quantum Wells by Electrotransmission Spectroscopy," Semiconductors 54(12), 495–500 (2020).

- 17. R. M. Farrell, D. A. Haeger, K. Fujito, S. P. DenBaars, S. Nakamura, and J. S. Speck, "Morphological evolution of InGaN/GaN light-emitting diodes grown on free-standing mplane GaN substrates," Journal of Applied Physics **113**(6), 063504 (2013).
- R. A. Arif, H. Zhao, Y. Ee, and N. Tansu, "Spontaneous Emission and Characteristics of Staggered InGaN Quantum-Well Light-Emitting Diodes," IEEE Journal of Quantum Electronics 44(6), 573–580 (2008).
- 19. S.-H. Park, D. Ahn, and J.-W. Kim, "High-efficiency staggered 530 nm InGaN/InGaN/GaN quantum-well light-emitting diodes," Appl. Phys. Lett. **94**(4), 041109 (2009).
- H. Zhao, R. A. Arif, Y. Ee, and N. Tansu, "Self-Consistent Analysis of Strain-Compensated InGaN–AlGaN Quantum Wells for Lasers and Light-Emitting Diodes," IEEE Journal of Quantum Electronics 45(1), 66–78 (2009).
- 21. S.-H. Park, D. Ahn, B.-H. Koo, and J.-E. Oh, "Optical gain improvement in type-II InGaN/GaNSb/GaN quantum well structures composed of InGaN/and GaNSb layers," Appl. Phys. Lett. **96**(5), 051106 (2010).
- 22. L. Han, K. Kash, and H. Zhao, "Designs of blue and green light-emitting diodes based on type-II InGaN-ZnGeN2 quantum wells," Journal of Applied Physics **120**(10), 103102 (2016).
- 23. J. Park and Y. Kawakami, "Photoluminescence property of InGaN single quantum well with embedded AlGaN δ layer," Appl. Phys. Lett. **88**(20), 202107 (2006).
- 24. S.-H. Park, J. Park, and E. Yoon, "Optical gain in InGaN/GaN quantum well structures with embedded AlGaN δ layer," Appl. Phys. Lett. **90**(2), 023508 (2007).
- 25. H. Zhao, G. Liu, and N. Tansu, "Analysis of InGaN-delta-InN quantum wells for lightemitting diodes," Appl. Phys. Lett. **97**(13), 131114 (2010).
- S. M. Islam, V. Protasenko, S. Rouvimov, H. (Grace) Xing, and D. Jena, "High-quality InN films on GaN using graded InGaN buffers by MBE," Jpn. J. Appl. Phys. 55(5S), 05FD12 (2016).
- 27. K. (Albert) Wang, T. Kosel, and D. Jena, "Structural and transport properties of InN grown on GaN by MBE," physica status solidi c 5(6), 1811–1814 (2008).
- 28. J. Zhang and N. Tansu, "Optical Gain and Laser Characteristics of InGaN Quantum Wells on Ternary InGaN Substrates," IEEE Photonics Journal **5**(2), 2600111–2600111 (2013).
- 29. Y. K. Ooi and J. Zhang, "Design analysis of phosphor-free monolithic white light-emittingdiodes with InGaN/ InGaN multiple quantum wells on ternary InGaN substrates," AIP Advances **5**(5), 057168 (2015).
- J. Zhang and N. Tansu, "Improvement in spontaneous emission rates for InGaN quantum wells on ternary InGaN substrate for light-emitting diodes," Journal of Applied Physics 110(11), 113110 (2011).
- 31. S.-H. Park, Y.-T. Moon, J. S. Lee, H. K. Kwon, J. S. Park, and D. Ahn, "Spontaneous emission rate of green strain-compensated InGaN/InGaN LEDs using InGaN substrate," physica status solidi (a) **208**(1), 195–198 (2011).
- 32. M. Shimizu, Y. Kawaguchi, K. Hiramatsu, and N. Sawaki, "MOVPE growth of thick homogeneous InGaN directly on sapphire substrate using AlN buffer layer," Solid-State Electronics **41**(2), 145–147 (1997).
- D. Doppalapudi, S. N. Basu, K. F. Ludwig, and T. D. Moustakas, "Phase separation and ordering in InGaN alloys grown by molecular beam epitaxy," Journal of Applied Physics 84(3), 1389–1395 (1998).
- S. Chu, T. Saisho, K. Fujimura, S. Sakakibara, F. Tanoue, K. Ishino, A. Ishida, H. Harima, Y. Chen, T. Yao, and H. Fujiyasu, "High-Quality InGaN Films Grown by Hot-Wall Epitaxy with Mixed (Ga+In) Source," Jpn. J. Appl. Phys. 38(4B), L427 (1999).
- 35. T. L. Williamson, M. A. Hoffbauer, K. M. Yu, L. A. Reichertz, M. E. Hawkridge, R. E. Jones, N. Miller, J. W. Ager, Z. Liliental-Weber, and W. Walukiewicz, "Highly luminescent InxGa1–xN thin films grown over the entire composition range by energetic neutral atom beam lithography & epitaxy (ENABLE)," physica status solidi c 6(S2), S409–S412 (2009).

- M. A. Hoffbauer, T. L. Williamson, J. J. Williams, J. L. Fordham, K. M. Yu, W. Walukiewicz, and L. A. Reichertz, "In-rich InGaN thin films: Progress on growth, compositional uniformity, and doping for device applications," Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B 31(3), 03C114 (2013).
- T. Hirasaki, K. Asano, M. Banno, M. Ishikawa, F. Sakuma, H. Murakami, Y. Kumagai, and A. Koukitu, "Growth of thick InGaN layers by tri-halide vapor phase epitaxy," Jpn. J. Appl. Phys. 53(5S1), 05FL02 (2014).
- T. Ohata, Y. Honda, M. Yamaguchi, and H. Amano, "Thick InGaN Growth by Metal Organic Vapor Phase Epitaxy with Sputtered InGaN Buffer Layer," Jpn. J. Appl. Phys. 52(8S), 08JB11 (2013).
- H. Wang, D. S. Jiang, U. Jahn, J. J. Zhu, D. G. Zhao, Z. S. Liu, S. M. Zhang, Y. X. Qiu, and H. Yang, "Investigation on the strain relaxation of InGaN layer and its effects on the InGaN structural and optical properties," Physica B: Condensed Matter 405(22), 4668–4672 (2010).
- 40. K. Pantzas, Y. El Gmili, J. Dickerson, S. Gautier, L. Largeau, O. Mauguin, G. Patriarche, S. Suresh, T. Moudakir, C. Bishop, A. Ahaitouf, T. Rivera, C. Tanguy, P. L. Voss, and A. Ougazzaden, "Semibulk InGaN: A novel approach for thick, single phase, epitaxial InGaN layers grown by MOVPE," Journal of Crystal Growth **370**, 57–62 (2013).
- 41. S. L. Chuang and C. S. Chang, "k.p method for strained wurtzite semiconductors," Phys. Rev. B **54**(4), 2491–2504 (1996).
- 42. S. L. Chuang, "Optical gain of strained wurtzite GaN quantum-well lasers," IEEE Journal of Quantum Electronics **32**(10), 1791–1800 (1996).
- 43. S. L. Chuang and C. S. Chang, "A band-structure model of strained quantum-well wurtzite semiconductors," Semicond. Sci. Technol. **12**(3), 252–263 (1997).
- 44. S. L. Chuang, *Physics of Photonic Devices* (John Wiley & Sons, 2012).
- 45. I. Vurgaftman and J. R. Meyer, "Electron Bandstructure Parameters," in *Nitride Semiconductor Devices: Principles and Simulation* (John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, 2007), pp. 13–48.
- 46. I. Vurgaftman and J. R. Meyer, "Band parameters for nitrogen-containing semiconductors," Journal of Applied Physics **94**(6), 3675–3696 (2003).
- 47. S. Che, A. Yuki, H. Watanabe, Y. Ishitani, and A. Yoshikawa, "Fabrication of Asymmetric GaN/InN/InGaN/GaN Quantum-Well Light Emitting Diodes for Reducing the Quantum-Confined Stark Effect in the Blue-Green Region," Appl. Phys. Express **2**(2), 021001 (2009).
- 48. A. Yoshikawa, S. B. Che, W. Yamaguchi, H. Saito, X. Q. Wang, Y. Ishitani, and E. S. Hwang, "Proposal and achievement of novel structure InN/GaN multiple quantum wells consisting of 1 ML and fractional monolayer InN wells inserted in GaN matrix," Appl. Phys. Lett. **90**(7), 073101 (2007).
- A. Yoshikawa, S. B. Che, N. Hashimoto, H. Saito, Y. Ishitani, and X. Q. Wang, "Fabrication and characterization of novel monolayer InN quantum wells in a GaN matrix," Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B: Microelectronics and Nanometer Structures Processing, Measurement, and Phenomena 26(4), 1551–1559 (2008).
- 50. A. Yoshikawa, K. Kusakabe, N. Hashimoto, E.-S. Hwang, D. Imai, and T. Itoi, "Systematic study on dynamic atomic layer epitaxy of InN on/in +c-GaN matrix and fabrication of fine-structure InN/GaN quantum wells: Role of high growth temperature," Journal of Applied Physics **120**(22), 225303 (2016).
- 51. H. Zhao, G. Liu, J. Zhang, R. A. Arif, and N. Tansu, "Analysis of Internal Quantum Efficiency and Current Injection Efficiency in III-Nitride Light-Emitting Diodes," J. Display Technol., JDT **9**(4), 212–225 (2013).
- 52. H. Y. Ryu, K. H. Ha, S. N. Lee, T. Jang, J. K. Son, H. S. Paek, Y. J. Sung, H. K. Kim, K. S. Kim, O. H. Nam, Y. J. Park, and J. I. Shim, "High-Performance Blue InGaN Laser Diodes With Single-Quantum-Well Active Layers," IEEE Photonics Technology Letters 19(21), 1717–1719 (2007).

- B. Melanson, M. Seitz, and J. Zhang, "Demonstration of Trench Isolated Monolithic GaN μLED Displays Enabled by Photoresist Planarization," IEEE Photonics Journal 15(4), 1–8 (2023).
- 54. H. S. Wasisto, J. D. Prades, J. Gülink, and A. Waag, "Beyond solid-state lighting: Miniaturization, hybrid integration, and applications of GaN nano- and micro-LEDs," Applied Physics Reviews **6**(4), 041315 (2019).
- 55. Z. Wang, S. Zhu, X. Shan, Z. Yuan, X. Cui, and P. Tian, "Full-color micro-LED display based on a single chip with two types of InGaN/GaN MQWs," Opt. Lett., OL **46**(17), 4358–4361 (2021).
- 56. F. Olivier, S. Tirano, L. Dupré, B. Aventurier, C. Largeron, and F. Templier, "Influence of size-reduction on the performances of GaN-based micro-LEDs for display application," Journal of Luminescence **191**, 112–116 (2017).
- 57. L. Qi, X. Zhang, W. C. Chong, P. Li, and K. M. Lau, "848 ppi high-brightness active-matrix micro-LED micro-display using GaN-on-Si epi-wafers towards mass production," Opt. Express, OE **29**(7), 10580–10591 (2021).
- X. Zhang, L. Qi, W. C. Chong, P. Li, C. W. Tang, and K. M. Lau, "Active matrix monolithic micro-LED full-color micro-display," Journal of the Society for Information Display 29(1), 47–56 (2021).
- 59. T. Wu, C.-W. Sher, Y. Lin, C.-F. Lee, S. Liang, Y. Lu, S.-W. Huang Chen, W. Guo, H.-C. Kuo, and Z. Chen, "Mini-LED and Micro-LED: Promising Candidates for the Next Generation Display Technology," Applied Sciences **8**(9), 1557 (2018).
- 60. Y. Wu, J. Ma, P. Su, L. Zhang, and B. Xia, "Full-Color Realization of Micro-LED Displays," Nanomaterials **10**(12), 2482 (2020).
- 61. Z. Wang, X. Shan, X. Cui, and P. Tian, "Characteristics and techniques of GaN-based micro-LEDs for application in next-generation display," J. Semicond. **41**(4), 041606 (2020).
- 62. F. Templier, "GaN-based emissive microdisplays: A very promising technology for compact, ultra-high brightness display systems," Journal of the Society for Information Display **24**(11), 669–675 (2016).
- 63. C.-M. Kang, D.-J. Kong, J.-P. Shim, S. Kim, S.-B. Choi, J.-Y. Lee, J.-H. Min, D.-J. Seo, S.-Y. Choi, and D.-S. Lee, "Fabrication of a vertically-stacked passive-matrix micro-LED array structure for a dual color display," Opt. Express, OE **25**(3), 2489–2495 (2017).
- 64. Z. Liu, W. C. Chong, K. M. Wong, and K. M. Lau, "GaN-based LED micro-displays for wearable applications," Microelectronic Engineering **148**, 98–103 (2015).
- 65. Z. Bouhamri, Q. Li, R. J. Visser, and J. Kim, "Micro LEDs for AR," in SPIE AR, VR, MR Industry Talks 2022 (SPIE, 2022), **11932**, p. 119321Z.
- 66. J.-T. Lee, Y.-M. Choi, and S.-D. Kim, "The Comparison of Photocurrent and Luminance Degradation to Estimate the Lifetime of OLED," in 2022 6th International Conference on System Reliability and Safety (ICSRS) (2022), pp. 489–493.
- 67. N. Wei, H. Chu, B. Yu, H. Zhao, Y. Li, X. Wang, and H. He, "A Pixel Circuit for Compensating Electrical Characteristics Variation and OLED Degradation," Micromachines 14(4), 857 (2023).
- T. Ma, J. Chen, Z. Chen, L. Liang, J. Hu, W. Shen, Z. Li, and H. Zeng, "Progress in Color Conversion Technology for Micro-LED," Advanced Materials Technologies 8(1), 2200632 (2023).
- 69. T. Wu, T. Lu, Y.-W. Yeh, Z. Chen, H.-C. Kuo, T. Wu, T. Lu, Y.-W. Yeh, Z. Chen, and H.-C. Kuo, "Full-Color Micro-LED Devices Based on Quantum Dots," in *Light-Emitting Diodes* - *New Perspectives* (IntechOpen, 2022).
- 70. L. Qi, X. Zhang, W. C. Chong, and K. M. Lau, "Monolithically integrated high-resolution full-color GaN-on-Si micro-LED microdisplay," Photon. Res., PRJ **11**(1), 109–120 (2023).
- 71. A. I. Titov and S. O. Kucheyev, "Model for electrical isolation of GaN by light-ion bombardment," Journal of Applied Physics **92**(10), 5740–5744 (2002).

- 72. S. O. Kucheyev, J. S. Williams, and S. J. Pearton, "Ion implantation into GaN," Materials Science and Engineering: R: Reports **33**(2), 51–108 (2001).
- 73. E. A. Jones, F. F. Wang, and D. Costinett, "Review of Commercial GaN Power Devices and GaN-Based Converter Design Challenges," IEEE Journal of Emerging and Selected Topics in Power Electronics 4(3), 707–719 (2016).
- 74. S. J. Pearton, J. C. Zolper, R. J. Shul, and F. Ren, "GaN: Processing, defects, and devices," Journal of Applied Physics **86**(1), 1–78 (1999).
- W. Guo, J. Tai, J. Liu, and J. Sun, "Process Optimization of Passive Matrix GaN-Based Micro-LED Arrays for Display Applications," Journal of Elec Materi 48(8), 5195–5201 (2019).
- 76. Z. Zhang, J. Nie, K. Chen, B. Jiang, S. He, T. Yang, J. Sun, A. Su, N. Chen, J. Zhou, T. Guo, and Q. Yan, "53.1: Invited Paper: Process optimization of passive matrix GaN Micro-LED displays," SID Symposium Digest of Technical Papers 53(S1), 515–519 (2022).
- 77. P.-W. Chen, P.-W. Hsiao, P.-C. Shen, H.-J. Chen, Y.-A. Chen, R.-H. Horng, and D.-S. Wuu, "Improved Performance of Passive-Matrix Micro-LED Displays Using a Multi-Function Passivation Structure," IEEE Photonics Journal **12**(4), 1–11 (2020).
- 78. W. C. Chong, W. K. Cho, Z. J. Liu, C. H. Wang, and K. M. Lau, "1700 Pixels Per Inch (PPI) Passive-Matrix Micro-LED Display Powered by ASIC," in 2014 IEEE Compound Semiconductor Integrated Circuit Symposium (CSICS) (2014), pp. 1–4.
- 79. D.-S. Kim, C.-H. Won, H.-S. Kang, Y.-J. Kim, Y. T. Kim, I. M. Kang, and J.-H. Lee, "Growth and characterization of semi-insulating carbon-doped/undoped GaN multiple-layer buffer," Semicond. Sci. Technol. **30**(3), 035010 (2015).
- W. Li, K. Nomoto, K. Lee, S. M. Islam, Z. Hu, M. Zhu, X. Gao, J. Xie, M. Pilla, D. Jena, and H. G. Xing, "Activation of buried p-GaN in MOCVD-regrown vertical structures," Appl. Phys. Lett. 113(6), 062105 (2018).
- Y. Ma, M. Xiao, Z. Du, L. Wang, E. Carlson, L. Guido, H. Wang, L. Wang, Y. Luo, and Y. Zhang, "Activating Thick Buried p-GaN for Device Applications," IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices 69(8), 4224–4230 (2022).
- 82. S. Yan, M. Feng, S. Fan, R. Zhou, Y. Tang, T. Jiang, J. Liu, Y. Zhou, Q. Sun, and H. Yang, "Activation of buried p-GaN through nanopipes in large-size GaN-based tunnel junction LEDs," Nanotechnology **32**(30), 30LT01 (2021).
- 83. R. Yeluri, J. Lu, C. A. Hurni, D. A. Browne, S. Chowdhury, S. Keller, J. S. Speck, and U. K. Mishra, "Design, fabrication, and performance analysis of GaN vertical electron transistors with a buried p/n junction," Appl. Phys. Lett. **106**(18), 183502 (2015).
- 84. M. Hartensveld, "InGaN Color Tunable Full Color Passive Matrix," IEEE Electron Device Letters **44**(3), 460–463 (2023).
- B. Melanson, M. Seitz, and J. Zhang, "Photoresist planarized trench isolation for monolithic GaN μLED displays," in *Gallium Nitride Materials and Devices XVIII* (SPIE, 2023), **12421**, pp. 149–159.
- 86. B. Melanson, D. Starling, M. Hartensveld, G. Howland, S. Preble, and J. Zhang, "Narrow Linewidth Photoluminescence from Top-Down Fabricated 20 nm InGaN/GaN Quantum Dots at Room Temperature," in *Conference on Lasers and Electro-Optics* (OSA, 2020), p. STh4H.2.
- 87. M. J. Holmes, M. Arita, and Y. Arakawa, "III-nitride quantum dots as single photon emitters," Semicond. Sci. Technol. **34**(3), 033001 (2019).
- 88. M. J. Holmes, K. Choi, S. Kako, M. Arita, and Y. Arakawa, "Room-Temperature Triggered Single Photon Emission from a III-Nitride Site-Controlled Nanowire Quantum Dot," Nano Lett. **14**(2), 982–986 (2014).
- 89. L. Zhang, C.-H. Teng, P.-C. Ku, and H. Deng, "Site-controlled InGaN/GaN single-photonemitting diode," Appl. Phys. Lett. **108**(15), 153102 (2016).

- 90. T. Wang, T. J. Puchtler, T. Zhu, J. C. Jarman, L. P. Nuttall, R. A. Oliver, and R. A. Taylor, "Polarisation-controlled single photon emission at high temperatures from InGaN quantum dots," Nanoscale **9**(27), 9421–9427 (2017).
- 91. K. Choi, S. Kako, M. J. Holmes, M. Arita, and Y. Arakawa, "Strong exciton confinement in site-controlled GaN quantum dots embedded in nanowires," Appl. Phys. Lett. **103**(17), 171907 (2013).
- 92. M. Hartensveld, G. Ouin, C. Liu, and J. Zhang, "Effect of KOH passivation for top-down fabricated InGaN nanowire light emitting diodes," Journal of Applied Physics **126**(18), 183102 (2019).
- 93. Y. Lin, Y. Ye, and W. Fang, "Electrically driven single-photon sources," J. Semicond. **40**(7), 071904 (2019).
- 94. S. Deshpande, J. Heo, A. Das, and P. Bhattacharya, "Electrically driven polarized singlephoton emission from an InGaN quantum dot in a GaN nanowire," Nat Commun **4**(1), 1675 (2013).
- 95. M. Hartensveld, C. Liu, and J. Zhang, "Proposal and Realization of Vertical GaN Nanowire Static Induction Transistor," IEEE Electron Device Letters **40**(2), 259–262 (2019).
- 96. M. Kneissel and J. Rass, *III-Nitride Ultraviolet Emitters: Technology and Applications* (Springer International Publishing, 2016).
- 97. Y. K. Ooi, C. Liu, and J. Zhang, "Analysis of Polarization-Dependent Light Extraction and Effect of Passivation Layer for 230-nm AlGaN Nanowire Light-Emitting Diodes," IEEE Photonics Journal **9**(4), 4500172 (2017).
- 98. Y. K. Ooi and J. Zhang, "Light Extraction Efficiency Analysis of Flip-Chip Ultraviolet Light-Emitting Diodes With Patterned Sapphire Substrate," IEEE Photonics Journal **10**(4), (2017).
- 99. M. A. Würtele, T. Kolbe, M. Lipsz, A. Külberg, M. Weyers, M. Kneissl, and M. Jekel, "Application of GaN-based ultraviolet-C light emitting diodes – UV LEDs – for water disinfection," Water Research 45(3), 1481–1489 (2011).
- 100. S. Vilhunen, H. Särkkä, and M. Sillanpää, "Ultraviolet light-emitting diodes in water disinfection," Environ Sci Pollut Res **16**(4), 439–442 (2009).
- 101. M. Jo, N. Maeda, and H. Hirayama, "Enhanced light extraction in 260 nm light-emitting diode with a highly transparent p-AlGaN layer," Appl. Phys. Express **9**(1), 012102 (2016).
- 102. S. I. Inoue, N. Tamari, and M. Taniguchi, "150 mW deep-ultraviolet light-emitting diodes with large-area AlN nanophotonic light-extraction structure emitting at 265 nm," Applied Physics Letters **110**, 141106 (2017).
- 103. Y. Zhang, A. A. Allerman, S. Krishnamoorthy, F. Akyol, M. W. Moseley, A. M. Armstrong, and S. Rajan, "Enhanced light extraction in tunnel junction-enabled top emitting UV LEDs," Appl. Phys. Express 9(5), 052102 (2016).
- 104. T. Takano, T. Mino, J. Sakai, N. Noguchi, K. Tsubaki, and H. Hirayama, "Deep-ultraviolet light-emitting diodes with external quantum efficiency higher than 20% at 275 nm achieved by improving light-extraction efficiency," Appl. Phys. Express **10**(3), 031002 (2017).
- 105. C. P. Gerba, D. M. Gramos, and N. Nwachuku, "Comparative Inactivation of Enteroviruses and Adenovirus 2 by UV Light," Applied and Environmental Microbiology 68(10), 5167– 5169 (2002).
- 106. J. A. Guerrero-Beltr·n and G. V. Barbosa-C·novas, "Advantages and Limitations on Processing Foods by UV Light," Food sci. technol. int. **10**(3), 137–147 (2004).
- 107. H. Hirayama, N. Maeda, S. Fujikawa, S. Toyoda, and N. Kamada, "Recent progress and future prospects of AlGaN-based high-efficiency deep-ultraviolet light-emitting diodes," Japanese J. of Appl. Phys. 53(10), 100209 (2014).
- 108. J.-W. Kim, J.-H. Jang, M.-C. Oh, J.-W. Shin, D.-H. Cho, J.-H. Moon, and J.-I. Lee, "FDTD analysis of the light extraction efficiency of OLEDs with a random scattering layer," Opt. Express, OE **22**(1), 498–507 (2014).

- T. B. Lim, K. H. Cho, Y. H. Kim, and Y. C. Jeong, "Enhanced light extraction efficiency of OLEDs with quasiperiodic diffraction grating layer," Optics Express 24(16), 17950–17959 (2016).
- 110. Y. J. Lee, S. H. Kim, and Y. R. Do, "A high-extraction-efficiency nanopatterned organic light-emitting diode," Applied Physics Letters **82**, 3779–3781 (2003).
- 111. P. Zhu, G. Liu, J. Zhang, and N. Tansu, "FDTD Analysis on Extraction Efficiency of GaN Light-Emitting Diodes With Microsphere Arrays," J. Display Technol., JDT 9(5), 317–323 (2013).
- 112. P. Zhu, C.-K. Tan, W. Sun, and N. Tansu, "Aspect ratio engineering of microlens arrays in thin-film flip-chip light-emitting diodes," Appl. Opt., AO **54**(34), 10299–10303 (2015).
- 113. X.-H. Li, R. Song, Y.-K. Ee, P. Kumnorkaew, J. F. Gilchrist, and N. Tansu, "Light Extraction Efficiency and Radiation Patterns of III-Nitride Light-Emitting Diodes With Colloidal Microlens Arrays With Various Aspect Ratios," IEEE Photonics Journal 3(3), 489–499 (2011).
- 114. Y.-K. Ee, P. Kumnorkaew, R. A. Arif, H. Tong, J. F. Gilchrist, and N. Tansu, "Light extraction efficiency enhancement of InGaN quantum wells light-emitting diodes with polydimethylsiloxane concave microstructures," Opt. Express, OE **17**(16), 13747–13757 (2009).
- 115. Y.-K. Ee, R. A. Arif, N. Tansu, P. Kumnorkaew, and J. F. Gilchrist, "Enhancement of light extraction efficiency of InGaN quantum wells light emitting diodes using SiO2/polystyrene microlens arrays," Appl. Phys. Lett. 91(22), 221107 (2007).
- 116. Y.-K. Ee, P. Kumnorkaew, R. A. Arif, H. Tong, H. Zhao, J. F. Gilchrist, and N. Tansu, "Optimization of Light Extraction Efficiency of III-Nitride LEDs With Self-Assembled Colloidal-Based Microlenses," IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Quantum Electronics 15(4), 1218–1225 (2009).
- 117. X.-H. Li, P. Zhu, G. Liu, J. Zhang, R. Song, Y.-K. Ee, P. Kumnorkaew, J. F. Gilchrist, and N. Tansu, "Light Extraction Efficiency Enhancement of III-Nitride Light-Emitting Diodes by Using 2-D Close-Packed TiO2 Microsphere Arrays," Journal of Display Technology 9(5), 324–332 (2013).
- 118. Z. Zang, X. Zeng, J. Du, M. Wang, and X. Tang, "Femtosecond laser direct writing of microholes on roughened ZnO for output power enhancement of InGaN light-emitting diodes," Opt. Lett., OL **41**(15), 3463–3466 (2016).
- 119. T. Nishida, H. Saito, and N. Kobayashi, "Efficient and high-power AlGaN-based ultraviolet light-emitting diode grown on bulk GaN," Appl. Phys. Lett. **79**(6), 711–712 (2001).
- 120. S. Watanabe, N. Yamada, M. Nagashima, Y. Ueki, C. Sasaki, Y. Yamada, T. Taguchi, K. Tadatomo, H. Okagawa, and H. Kudo, "Internal quantum efficiency of highly-efficient InxGa1-xN-based near-ultraviolet light-emitting diodes," Appl. Phys. Lett. 83(24), 4906–4908 (2003).
- 121. M. Shatalov, W. Sun, A. Lunev, X. Hu, A. Dobrinsky, Y. Bilenko, J. Yang, M. Shur, R. Gaska, C. Moe, G. Garrett, and M. Wraback, "AlGaN Deep-Ultraviolet Light-Emitting Diodes with External Quantum Efficiency above 10%," Appl. Phys. Express 5(8), 082101 (2012).
- 122. "Rsoft FullWAVE," (n.d.).
- 123. C. Liu, Y. K. Ooi, S. M. Islam, J. Verma, H. (Grace) Xing, D. Jena, and J. Zhang, "Physics and polarization characteristics of 298 nm AlN-delta-GaN quantum well ultraviolet lightemitting diodes," Appl. Phys. Lett. **110**(7), 071103 (2017).
- 124. C. Liu, Y. K. Ooi, S. M. Islam, H. Xing, D. Jena, and J. Zhang, "234 nm and 246 nm AlN-Delta-GaN quantum well deep ultraviolet light-emitting diodes," Applied Physics Letters 112, 011101 (2018).
- 125. E. D. Palik, Handbook of Optical Constants of Solids (Academic Press, 1998).